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A copy of this prospectus has been filed with the securities regulatory authorities in each of the provinces and territories of Canada, except the 
province of Québec, but has not yet become final for the purpose of the sale of securities. Information contained in this prospectus may not be 
complete and may have to be amended. The securities may not be sold until a receipt for the prospectus is obtained from the securities regulatory 
authorities.

No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise. This prospectus constitutes 
a public offering of these securities only in those jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered for sale and therein only by persons permitted to 
sell such securities. These securities have not been, and will not be, registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended 
(the “U.S. Securities Act”), or the securities laws of any state of the United States and may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in the 
United States or in any other jurisdiction where the offer or sale of such securities is not permitted, except pursuant to an exemption from the 
registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws, or securities laws of any other relevant jurisdiction. This 
prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy any of these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer, sale or 
solicitation of an offer to buy any of these securities is not permitted. See “Plan of Distribution”.

PROSPECTUS
Initial Public Offering March 31, 2021

K.B. RECYCLING INDUSTRIES LTD.

C$1,420,434
4,898,048 Units

4,334,862 Ordinary Shares and 2,167,431 Warrants issuable on the deemed exercise of 4,334,862 
Subscription Receipts

This prospectus qualifies the distribution (the “Offering”) of an aggregate of 4,898,048 units (the “Units” or 
the “Offered Units”) of K.B. Recycling Industries Ltd., conducting business as ‘Alkemy’ (the “Company”, “K.B. 
Recycling”, “Alkemy”, “us” or “we”), at a price of C$0.29 per Unit (the “Offering Price”), the distribution of which 
shall be qualified by this Prospectus. Each Unit is comprised of one ordinary share of the Company (an “Ordinary 
Share”) and one-half of one warrant to purchase an Ordinary Share (each whole warrant, a “Warrant”). Each Warrant 
will entitle the holder thereof to acquire one Ordinary Share at a price of C$0.51 per Ordinary Share for a period 
ending at 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) on the date that is 24 months following Closing. The Units will immediately 
separate into Ordinary Shares and Warrants upon issuance. This Prospectus also qualifies the distribution of 4,334,862 
Subscription Receipt Units (the “Subscription Receipt Units”) to be issued upon the deemed exercise of 4,334,862 
subscription receipts of the Company (the “Subscription Receipts”). Each Subscription Receipt Unit is comprised of
one (1) Ordinary Share and one-half of one (0.5) Warrant, issuable on the deemed exercise of each Subscription 
Receipt. The Subscription Receipts were created on February 25, 2021 and issued to subscribers pursuant to private 
placement exemptions from the prospectus requirements in British Colombia, Ontario and in jurisdictions outside of 
Canada, at a price of C$0.29 per Subscription Receipt (the “Subscription Receipt Offering Price”) for aggregate 
gross proceeds to the Company of C$1,257,109.98 (the “Private Placement of Subscription Receipts”). The 
Subscription Receipts are not available for purchase pursuant to this Prospectus and no additional funds are to be 
received by the Company from the distribution of the Subscription Receipt Units, nor the Ordinary Shares and 
Warrants underlying the Subscription Receipt Units, upon the deemed exercise of the Subscription Receipts.

We are an innovator in Israel’s plastic recycling industry. Over the past few years, we have developed a one-step 
“waste-to-product” process for the recycling of plastic bags and sheets which we convert into plastic products with 
various applications, including in the construction industry. See “Business Overview”. The Company will use the net 
proceeds of the Offering as described in this Prospectus. See “Use of Proceeds”.
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Upon completion of the Offering and assuming no exercise of the Underwriters’ Option (as defined herein), the 
Principal Shareholders (as defined herein) will, collectively, directly or indirectly, own or control approximately
66.83% of the issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 59.01% on a fully-diluted basis. 
As a result, the Principal Shareholders will have significant influence over us and our affairs. See “Principal 
Shareholders” and “Risk Factors”. All of the Ordinary Shares held by the Principal Shareholders, our directors 
and executive officers and certain other shareholders upon completion of the Offering will be subject to 
restrictions on sale for a period of 180 days pursuant to agreements entered into with the Underwriters 
(as defined herein). See “Plan of Distribution — Lock-Up Arrangements”.

There is currently no market through which the Ordinary Shares and the Warrants may be sold and 
purchasers may not be able to resell Ordinary Shares and Warrants purchased under this Prospectus. This 
may affect the pricing of the Ordinary Shares and of the Warrants in the secondary market, the transparency 
and availability of trading prices, and the liquidity of the Ordinary Shares and of the Warrants. See “Risk 
Factors”.

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not applied to 
list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange, Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside of Canada and the United 
States of America. 

The Company has applied to list the Ordinary Shares and the Warrants on the TSX Venture Exchange (the 
“TSXV”) under the symbols “AKMY” and “AKMY.WT”, respectively. Listing is subject to approval of the TSXV 
in accordance with its original listing requirements. The TSXV has not conditionally approved the listing application 
and there is no assurance that it will do so. Closing (as defined herein) is conditional on the Ordinary Shares being 
approved for listing on the TSXV. See “Plan of Distribution”.  

An investment in the Offered Units is subject to a number of risks. Prospective purchasers should carefully consider 
the risk factors described under “Risk Factors” before purchasing the Offered Units.

___________

Price: C$0.29 per Unit
___________

Price to
the Public(1)

Underwriters’
Fee(2)

Net Proceeds to the
Company(3)

Per Unit(4) C$0.29 C$0.0203 C$0.2697

Total Offering(5) C$1,420,434 C$99,430.38 C$1,321,003.62

Notes:
(1) The Offering Price has been determined by negotiation between the Company and the Underwriters.
(2) Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Underwriting Agreement (as defined herein), the Underwriters will receive a commission equal to 

7.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds received by the Company in respect of the Offered Units (including any Offered Units issued pursuant 
to the Underwriters’ Option (as defined below). In addition, the Company has agreed to grant to the Underwriters, as additional compensation,
342,863 non-transferable broker warrants (“Underwriters’ Warrants”). Each Underwriters’ Warrant shall be exercisable at a price of C$0.29
per Unit and may be exercised in whole or in part by the Underwriter for a period of 24 months following the date of issuance of the Offered 
Units. The grant of the Underwriters’ Warrants is qualified by this Prospectus. The Company has also agreed to pay the Underwriters a financial 
advisory fee in the amount of C$379,476, and grant the Underwriters 1,308,539 Underwriters’ Warrants, in respect of the Private Placement of 
Subscription Receipts and the Private Placement of Class A Units. See “Plan of Distribution”.

(3) It is estimated that the total expenses of the Offering, not including the Underwriters’ fee, will be approximately C$1,761,000. We have also 
agreed to reimburse the Underwriters for their reasonable expenses in connection with the Offering. See “Use of Proceeds” and “Plan 
of Distribution”.

(4) From the price per Unit, the Company will allocate C$0.285 to each Ordinary Share and C$0.005 to each Warrant comprising the Units.
(5) The Company has granted the Underwriters an option (the “Underwriters’ Option”), exercisable, in whole or in part, at any time for a period 

of 30 days following the Closing Date (as defined herein), to purchase from the Company up to an additional 15% of the aggregate number of 
Offered Units and Subscription Receipt Units issued under the Offering on the same terms as set forth above. The Underwriters’ Option may 
be exercised by the Underwriters in respect of: (i) additional Units (“Additional Units”) at a price of C$0.29 per Additional Unit; (ii) additional 
Ordinary Shares (the “Additional Shares”) at a price of C$0.285 per Additional Share; (iii) additional Warrants (the “Additional Warrants”) 
at a price of C$0.005 per Additional Warrant; or (iv) any combination of Additional Shares and/or Additional Warrants (collectively with the 
Additional Units, the “Additional Securities”), so long as the aggregate number of Additional Shares and Additional Warrants which may be 
issued under the Underwriters’ Option does not exceed 1,384,936 Additional Shares and 692,468 Additional Warrants. If the Underwriters’ 
Option is exercised in full, the total “Price to the Public”, “Underwriters’ Fee” and “Net Proceeds to the Company” will be C$1,822,066, 



3

C$127,545 and C$1,694,521 respectively. This Prospectus also qualifies the grant of the Underwriters’ Option to the Underwriters and 
distribution of the Additional Securities issuable upon the exercise of the Underwriters’ Option. A purchaser who acquires Additional Units, 
Additional Shares and/or Additional Warrants forming part of the Underwriter’s over-allocation position acquires those securities under this 
Prospectus, regardless of whether the over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the over-allotment option or secondary 
market purchases. Unless the context otherwise requires, references to Units, Ordinary Shares and Warrants include the applicable Additional 
Securities. See “Principal Shareholders”, “Private Placement of Subscription Receipts” and “Plan of Distribution”.

INFOR Financial Inc. (“INFOR Financial”) and Cormark Securities Inc. (“Cormark” and together with INFOR 
Financial the “Underwriters”), will conditionally offer the Offered Units qualified under this Prospectus, on an 
underwritten basis in accordance with the conditions contained in the Underwriting Agreement among us and the 
Underwriters referred to under “Plan of Distribution”, and subject to the approval of certain legal matters on our behalf 
by Miller Thomson LLP (Canadian legal counsel) and Gornitzky & Co. (Israeli legal counsel) and on behalf of the 
Underwriters by Stikeman Elliott LLP (Canadian legal counsel). 

In connection with the Offering, the Underwriters may, subject to applicable law, over-allocate or effect transactions 
which stabilize or maintain the market price of the Ordinary Shares at levels other than those which otherwise might 
prevail on the open market. After a reasonable effort has been made to sell all of the Units at the Offering Price, the
Underwriters may subsequently reduce the selling price to investors from time to time in order to sell any of the Units
remaining unsold. Accordingly, the Underwriters may offer the Units at a lower price than that stated above. Any 
such reduction will not affect the proceeds received by the Company. See “Plan of Distribution”.

The following table sets out the number of securities that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of the Underwriters’ 
Option and Underwriters’ Warrants:

Underwriters’ Position
Number of Securities

Available Exercise Period Exercise Price

Underwriters’ Option 1,384,938 Offered Units For a period of 30 days 
following the Closing Date

C$0.29 per Offered Unit

Underwriters’ Warrants 96,946 Units 24 months following the 
Closing Date

C$0.29 per Unit

Subscriptions will be received subject to rejection or allocation in whole or in part and the Underwriters reserve the 
right to close the subscription books at any time without notice. The closing of the Offering (the “Closing”) is expected 
to occur on or about April 7, 2021 or such other date as the Company and the Underwriters may agree (the “Closing 
Date”). The Ordinary Shares will be deposited with CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. (“CDS”) in electronic 
form on the Closing Date through the non-certificated inventory system administered by CDS. A purchaser of 
Ordinary Shares will receive only a customer confirmation from the registered dealer from or through which the 
Ordinary Shares are purchased. See “Plan of Distribution — Non-Certificated Inventory System”. 

The Subscription Receipts were created and issued pursuant to the terms of a subscription receipt agreement dated 
February 25, 2021 (the “Subscription Receipt Agreement”) between the Company and TSX Trust Company (the 
“Escrow Agent”), in its capacity as subscription receipt agent thereunder. The Company paid a finders’ fee to one 
registrant (as that term is defined under Canadian securities legislation) in the total amount of $1,015 in connection 
with one subscription under the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts. The Company received aggregate net 
proceeds of $1,256,094.98 (the “Escrowed Proceeds”). The Escrowed Proceeds were deposited in escrow and are 
held by the Escrow Agent pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Receipt Agreement. There was no insider 
participation in the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts. There is no market through which the Subscription 
Receipts may be sold and none is expected to develop. The Subscription Receipt Offering Price and other terms of the 
Private Placement of Subscription Receipts were determined by the Company in consultation with the Underwriters. 
Although the Underwriters did not participate in the distribution, offer or sale of the Subscription Receipts, given the 
financial advisory fee payable to the Underwriters in respect of the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts, the 
Underwriters will be deemed to have participated in the distribution of the Subscription Receipt Units (including the 
Ordinary Shares and Warrants underlying the Subscription Receipt Units) upon the deemed exercise of the 
Subscription Receipts. Each Subscription Receipt is represented by certificate (each, a “Subscription Receipt 
Certificate”) and will be deemed exchanged, without any payment of any additional consideration and without any 
further action by the holder for one (1) Subscription Receipt Unit upon the satisfaction of the Escrow Release 
Conditions (defined herein). 
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The release of the Escrowed Proceeds by the Escrow Agent to the Company is subject to the following escrow release 
conditions (the “Escrow Release Conditions”): (i) the completion, satisfaction or waiver of all conditions precedent 
to a transaction that results in the Company or any successor entity becoming a “reporting issuer” (as such term is 
defined under Canadian securities legislation) in Canada (the “Going Public Transaction”); (ii) all shareholders and 
regulatory approvals being required for the Going Public Transaction have been received; (iii) following the 
satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions, the distribution of the Ordinary Shares underlying the Subscription 
Receipt Units being exempt from applicable prospectus and registration requirements of applicable securities laws 
and not subject to any hold or restricted period; and (iv) the Company delivering a notice to the Escrow Agent 
confirming that the Escrow Release Conditions have been satisfied. See “Private Placement of Subscription Receipts”. 

Concurrent with the Offering, the Company intends to issue approximately 14,358,545 class A units (each, a “Class 
A Unit”) to specified investors resident in Israel by way of a non-brokered private placement (the “Private Placement 
of Class A Units”). The Class A Units will be issued by the Company at a price of C$0.58 per Class A Unit for 
expected aggregate gross proceeds of C$8,327,956. The Class A Units will be issued separately from the Units offered 
under the Offering hereby. Each Class A Unit shall consist of two (2) Ordinary Shares and one (1) Class A Warrant 
(as defined herein). Each Class A Warrant is exercisable into one (1) Ordinary Share at a price of C$0.51 for a period 
of 24 months following the Closing. This Prospectus does not qualify the distribution of the Ordinary Shares and Class 
A Warrants comprising the Class A Units. 

The Class A Units will be issued to persons or companies outside of Canada pursuant to Section 2.2 of Ontario 
Securities Commission Rule 72-503 Distributions Outside of Canada, and have not been, or will be, registered under 
the U.S. Securities Act. The closing of the Private Placement of Class A Units is subject to acceptance by the TSXV. 
Mr. Leon Koffler is the sole insider of the Company expected to participate in the Private Placement of Class A Units. 
Mr. Koffler is expected to subscribe for a total of 542,241 Class A Units, reflecting approximately 3.8% of the total 
number of Class A Units issued pursuant to the Private Placement of Class A Units. The Underwriters are not involved, 
directly or indirectly, in the issuance, offer and sale of the Class A Units being distributed pursuant to the Private 
Placement of Class A Units. This Prospectus does not qualify the distribution of any securities issued pursuant to the 
Private Placement of Class A Units. The Company has agreed to pay the Underwriters a financial advisory fee in the 
amount of C$291,479, and grant the Underwriters 1,005,099 Underwriters’ Warrants, in respect of the Private 
Placement of Class A Units.

In February 2021, the Company subdivided its issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares on a one hundred for one basis 
(100:1) (the “Subdivision”). All references to Ordinary Shares in this Prospectus reflect the number of issued and 
outstanding Ordinary Shares following the Subdivision.

Prospective purchasers are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of Canadian 
federal income tax laws to their particular circumstances, as well as any other provincial, foreign and other tax 
consequences of acquiring, holding or disposing of the Ordinary Shares and the Warrants, including the 
Canadian federal income tax consequences applicable to a foreign controlled Canadian corporation that 
acquires the Ordinary Shares and the Warrants.

Our head and registered office is located at 3rd Ha-Avoda St., Beit She’an, Israel.

Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any 
person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or 
that resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process in Canada. See 
“Enforcement of Judgments Against Foreign Persons”.
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ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

An investor should rely only on the information contained in this Prospectus when making a decision to 
invest in the Offered Units. Neither the Company nor any of the Underwriters has authorized anyone to provide 
investors with additional or different information. The information contained on our website at www.alkemy.solutions
is not included in or incorporated by reference into this Prospectus and prospective investors should not rely on that 
information when deciding whether to invest in the Offered Units. The information contained in this Prospectus is 
provided only as of the date of this Prospectus or the date indicated, regardless of the time of delivery of this Prospectus
or of any sale of the Offered Units.

The information contained in this Prospectus is presented on a basis giving effect to the completion of the 
Offering but not giving effect to the exercise of the Underwriters’ Option, unless otherwise stated.

We and the Underwriters are not offering to sell the Offered Units in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale 
of such securities is not permitted.

This Prospectus includes a summary description of certain material agreements of the Company. See 
“Material Contracts”. The summary description is not complete and is qualified by reference to the full terms of the 
material agreements, which will be filed with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities and available on SEDAR
(as defined herein). Investors are encouraged to read the full text of such material agreements.
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GLOSSARY

The following terms used in this Prospectus have the meanings set forth below, unless otherwise indicated.

“A-Labs” means A-Labs Finance and Advisory Ltd.

“A-Labs Warrant” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Description of Share Capital – Warrants and Founders 
Warrants”.

“Additional Securities” means, collectively, the Additional Shares, Additional Warrants and Additional Units.

“Additional Shares” means the additional Ordinary Shares underlying the Underwriters’ Option, which may be 
exercised by the Underwriters at a price of C$0.29 per Additional Share.

“Additional Warrants” has the meaning ascribed thereto on the face page of this Prospectus.

“Additional Units” means the additional Units underlying the Underwriters’ Option, which may be exercised by the 
Underwriters at a price of C$0.29 per Additional Unit.

“Adjusted EBITDA” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Non-IFRS Financial Measures”.

“allowable capital loss” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax 
Considerations — Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses”.

“Annual Financial Statements” means the audited financial statements of the Company for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, including the notes thereto.

“Articles” means the amended and restated articles of association of K.B. Recycling, as amended from time to time, 
effective as of March 30, 2021.

“Audit Committee” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Summary of Certain Material Aspects of Israeli 
Corporate Law”.

“Awards” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation — Principal 
Elements of Compensation — Share Incentive Plan”.

“Board” or “Board of Directors” means the board of directors of the Company.

“Business Day” means a day on which Canadian chartered banks are open for the transaction of regular business in 
the City of Toronto, Ontario.

“C$” or “Canadian dollars” means Canadian dollars.

“CDS” means CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc.

“CDS Participants” means participants in the CDS depository service.

“CEO” means chief executive officer.

“CFO” means chief financial officer.

“Class A Unit” means class A units in the capital of the Company issued pursuant to the Private Placement of Class 
A Units.

“Class A Warrant” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Offering Summary”.

“Closing” means the closing of the Offering.

“Closing Date” means April 7, 2021 and in any event not later than April 30, 2021.
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“Clover Wolf” means Clover Wolf Capital Limited Partnership.

“Clover Wolf Warrant” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Description of Material Indebtedness – Loans and 
Guarantees”.

“Code of Ethics” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Directors and Executive Officers – Corporate 
Governance — Ethical Business Conduct”.

“Companies Law” means the Israeli Companies Law, 5759-1999, as amended, including the regulations promulgated 
thereunder.

“Company” or “K.B. Recycling” means K.B. Recycling Industries Ltd. and, unless the context otherwise requires, 
includes its direct and indirect subsidiaries and predecessors or other entities controlled by any of them.

“Compensation Committee” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Summary of Certain Material Aspects of Israeli 
Corporate Law”.

“Compensation Policy” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Director and Named Executive Officer 
Compensation — Compensation-Setting Process”.

“controlling shareholder” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Summary of Certain Material Aspects of Israeli 
Corporate Law – Board of Directors – External Directors”.

“Convertible Note” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Corporate Structure – History of the Business; Recent 
Developments”.

“Cormark” means Cormark Securities Inc.

“Corporate Transaction” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Director and Named Executive Officer 
Compensation — Share Incentive Plan”. 

“COVID-19” means the novel coronavirus, which was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization on 
March 11, 2020.

“CRA” means the Canada Revenue Agency.

“designated stock exchange” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”.

“Director” means a member of the Company’s Board of Directors.

“Diversity Policy” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Corporate Governance — Diversity Policy”. 

“EIIC Plan” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Government Grants and Incentives”.

“Escrow Agent” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Private Placement of Subscription Receipts”.

“Escrow Agreement” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Escrowed Securities”

“Escrow Deadline” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Private Placement of Subscription Receipts”.

“Escrow Release Condition” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Offering Summary”.

“Escrowed Funds” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Private Placement of Subscription Receipts”.

“Escrowed Proceeds” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Private Placement of Subscription Receipts”.

“Escrowed Securities” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Escrowed Securities”.

“excluded property” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”. 
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“extraordinary general meeting” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Description of Share Capital –
Shareholders’ Meetings and Resolutions”.

“Financial Intermediary” means any bank, trust company, credit union or other financial institution.

“Fiscal 2018” refers to the 12-month period ended December 31, 2018.

“Fiscal 2019” refers to the 12-month period ended December 31, 2019.

“Fiscal 2020” refers to the 12-month period ended December 31, 2020.

“Founders Warrants” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Corporate Structure – History of the Business; Recent 
Developments”.

“HDPE” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Corporate Structure – History of the Business; Recent 
Developments”.

“Holder” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations”.

“holding” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Israeli Tax Considerations – Taxation of Our Shareholders 
– Capital Gains”.

“IASB” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations – Basis of Presentation”.

“IFRS” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations”.

“IFRS 16 Lease Amendment” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Amendment to IFRS 16, "Leases"”.

“IIA” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Regulatory Matters – Background”.

“Inflationary Surplus” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Israeli Tax Considerations – Taxation of Our 
Shareholders – Capital Gains”.

“INFOR Financial” means INFOR Financial Inc.

“Interested Party” includes a holder of more than 5% of the company’s outstanding shares or voting rights, a person 
with the power to appoint one or more directors or a General Manager of the Company, and a person who serves as a 
Director or as General Manager of the Company, whether by virtue of its holdings of the Company’s shares or by 
virtue of a shareholders’ agreement.

“Interim Financial Statements” means the unaudited interim condensed financial statements of the Company for the 
nine-month, and three-month periods ended September 30, 2020.

“Investment Assets” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax 
Considerations — Offshore Investment Fund Property Rules”.

“Investment Law” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Israeli Tax Considerations – Laws for the 
Encouragement of Capital Investments”.

“Israel Securities Authority” means the Israel Securities Authority.

“Israeli Securities Law” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Directors and Executive Officers – Exculpation, 
Insurance and Indemnification of Office Holders”.

“Lock-Up Agreements” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Plan of Distribution — Lock-Up Arrangements”.
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“Manufacturing Site” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Corporate Structure – History of the Business; Recent 
Developments”.

“MD&A” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations”.

“means of control” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Summary of Certain Material Aspects of Israeli 
Corporate Law – Board of Directors – External Directors”.

“Means of Control” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Israeli Tax Considerations – Taxation of Our 
Shareholders – Capital Gains”.

“named executive officers” or “NEOs” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Director and Named Executive 
Officer Compensation – Introduction”.

“NI 52-110” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Regulatory Matters — Summary of Certain Material 
Aspects of Israeli Corporate Law — Board of Directors”.

“NI 58-101” means National Instrument 58-101 — Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices.

“NIS”, “shekels” or “Israeli Shekels” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Exchange Rate Data”.

“Note Purchase Agreement” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Corporate Structure – History of the Business; 
Recent Developments”.

“NP 46-201” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Escrowed Securities”.

“Offered Units” or “Units” means units of the Company, the distribution of which are qualified under this Prospectus.

“Offering” means the distribution of Offered Units qualified under this Prospectus.

“Offering Price” means the price at which each Ordinary Share will be sold pursuant to the Offering.

“OIF Rules” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations —
Offshore Investment Fund Property Rules”.

“Ordinance” means the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance [New Version], 1961, as now in effect or as hereafter amended, 
and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Ordinary Shares” means the ordinary shares of the Company.

“Patent Committee” means the Israeli Compensation and Royalties Committee, a body constituted under the Patent 
Law.

“Patent Law” means Israeli Patent Law, 5727-1967.

“Plan” means the Company’s share incentive plan, adopted on January 7, 2021.

“Principal Shareholders” means a person or company that is the direct or indirect beneficial owner of or exercises 
control or direction over more than 10 percent of any class or series of voting securities of the Company.

“Principals” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Escrowed Securities”.

“Private Placement of Subscription Receipts” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Offering Summary – Private 
Placement of Subscription Receipts”.

“Private Placement of Class A Units” has the meaning ascribed thereto on the face page of this Prospectus.

“prohibited investment” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”.
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“Qualified Institutional Buyers” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Plan of Distribution – General”.

“qualified investments” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”.

“R&D Law” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Regulatory Matters – Background”.

“RDSP” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”.

“Real Gain” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Israeli Tax Considerations – Taxation of Our 
Shareholders – Capital Gains”.

“Registered Plans” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”.

“Relative” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Israeli Tax Considerations – Taxation of Our Shareholders 
– Capital Gains”.

“RESP” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”.

“RRIF” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”.

“RRSP” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”.

“RSUs” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation – Principal 
Elements of Compensation”.

“Section 14 Arrangement” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Director and Named Executive Officer 
Compensation – Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements”.

“SEDAR” means the Canadian System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval.

“Severance Pay Law” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation 
– Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements”.

“significant interest” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”.

“Subdivision” means the subdivision of the Ordinary Shares on a one hundred for one basis (100:1) in February 2021.

“Subscription Receipt Agreement” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Private Placement of Subscription 
Receipts”.

“Subscription Receipt Offering Price” means the price per Subscription Receipt, being C$0.29.

“Subscription Receipt Units” means the Units to be issued upon the deemed exercise of 4,334,862 subscription 
receipts of the Company”.

“Subscription Receipts” means the subscription receipts of the Company issued pursuant to the Private Placement 
of Subscription Receipts.

“Substantial Shareholder” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Israeli Tax Considerations – Taxation 
of Our Shareholders – Capital Gains”.

“Sullam” means Sullam Holdings L.R Ltd.

“TASE” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Principal Shareholders – Tedea Technological Development and 
Automation Ltd.”.

“Tax Act” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”.

“Tax Proposals” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations”.
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“Taxable capital gain” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax 
Considerations — Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses”.

“Tedea” means Tedea Technological Development and Automation Ltd.

“Termination Date” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation 
— Share Incentive Plan”.

“TFSA” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”.

“Together with Another Person” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Israeli Tax Considerations –
Taxation of Our Shareholders – Capital Gains”.

“TSXV” means the TSX Venture Exchange.

“U.S.” means the United States of America.

“U.S. Person” shall have the meaning given to that term in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act.

“U.S. Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“Underwriters” means, collectively, INFOR Financial and Cormark.

“Underwriting Agreement” means the Underwriting agreement dated March 31, 2021 between the Company and 
the Underwriters.

“Underwriters’ Fee” means the fee payable to the Underwriters in connection with the Offering, Private Placement 
of Subscription Receipt Units and Private Placement of Class A Units.

“Underwriters’ Option” means the option granted by the Company to the Underwriters to purchase, on a pro rata
basis, up to an additional 15% of the aggregate number of Offered Units and Subscription Receipt Units at the Offering 
Price, exercisable, in whole or in part, at any time for a period of 30 days following the Closing Date.

“Underwriters’ Warrant Shares” means the Ordinary Shares issuable upon the exercise of the Underwriters’ 
Warrants.

“Underwriters’ Warrants” means non-transferable broker warrants representing 7.0% of the number of Offered
Units (including any Offered Units issued pursuant to the Underwriters’ Option), as well as those broker warrants to 
be issued in respect of the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts and the Private Placement of Class A Units.

“Units” or “Offered Units” means units of the Company, the distribution of which are qualified under this Prospectus.

“US$”, “$” or “U.S. dollars” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Exchange Rate Data”.

“Warrant” means one (1) whole Ordinary Share purchase warrant.

“Warrant Agent” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Plan of Distribution – General”.

“Warrant Indenture” the meaning ascribed thereto under “Plan of Distribution – General”.
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MEANING OF CERTAIN REFERENCES

Unless otherwise stated, all references to the Company’s outstanding Ordinary Shares and securities 
convertible or exercisable for Ordinary Shares in this Prospectus, including the exercise price associated with 
outstanding options exclude any Ordinary Shares that may be issued after the date of this Prospectus pursuant to the 
exercise of existing option awards made prior to or upon Closing. 

Certain terms used in this Prospectus have the meanings ascribed to them in the “Glossary”, unless the context 
indicates or requires otherwise. All references to “K.B. Recycling”, “Alkemy” the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our” 
mean K.B. Recycling Industries Ltd. after giving effect to the completion of the Offering.

EXCHANGE RATE DATA

Currently, a substantial portion of our revenues and our expenses are generated and incurred in NIS. The 
terms “shekels”, “Israeli Shekels” and “NIS” refer to New Israeli Shekels, the lawful currency of the State of Israel. 
The following is a summary of the U.S. dollar exchange rate to the NIS, according to the Bank of Israel, for the periods 
noted below.

3 Months Ended 9 Months Ended Year Ended

US$1.00 converted to NIS

September 
30, 2020

September 
30, 2019

September 
30, 2020

September 
30, 2019

December 
31, 2019

December 
31, 2018

Highest rate during the period 3.478 3.575 3.862 3.746 3.746 3.7810

Lowest rate during the period 3.353 3.4790 3.353 3.479 3.457 3.388

Average rate for the period 3.4172 3.5266 3.4785 3.5885 3.5645 3.5949

Rate at the end of the period 3.441 3.482 3.441 3.482 3.456 3.748

The following is a summary of the Canadian dollar exchange rate to the NIS, according to the Bank of Israel, 
for the periods noted below.

3 Months Ended 9 Months Ended Year Ended

C$1.00 converted to NIS

September 
30, 2020

September 
30, 2019

September 
30, 2020

September 
30, 2019

December 
31, 2019

December 
31, 2018

Highest rate during the period 2.6104 2.7355 2.7274 2.7854 2.7854 2.8490

Lowest rate during the period 2.5254 2.6198 2.4895 2.6198 2.5956 2.6414

Average rate for the period 2.5653 2.6719 2.5695 2.7005 2.6868 2.7755

Rate at the end of the period 2.5697 2.6267 2.5697 2.6267 2.6535 2.7517

On March 30, 2021, the rate of exchange posted by the Bank of Israel for conversion of U.S. dollars into NIS 
was U.S. dollars $1.00 equals NIS 3.3300.  The rate of exchange posted by the Bank of Canada for conversion of U.S. 
dollars into Canadian dollars was U.S. dollars $1.00 equals Canadian dollars C$1.2631 and the rate of exchange posted 
by the Bank of Canada for conversion of Canadian dollars into U.S. dollars was Canadian dollars $1.00 equals U.S. 
dollars US$0.7917. No representation is made that U.S. dollars could be converted into NIS or Canadian dollars or 
that Canadian dollars could be converted into NIS or U.S. dollars at those rates or any other rate.
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NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES

This Prospectus makes reference to “Adjusted EBITDA” which is a non-IFRS financial measure. See 
‘‘Management’s Discussions and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’’. This measure is not a 
recognized measure under IFRS. There is no prescribed definition of this measure and it is therefore unlikely to be 
comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Rather, this measure is provided as additional 
information to supplement IFRS measures by providing further understanding of our results of operations from 
management’s perspective. Accordingly, this measure should neither be considered in isolation nor as a substitute for 
analysis of our financial information reported under IFRS. This non-IFRS financial measure can also provide investors 
with a supplemental measure of our operating performance and thus highlight trends in our core business that may not 
otherwise be apparent when relying solely on IFRS measures. We also believe that securities analysts, investors and 
other interested parties frequently use non-IFRS financial measures in the evaluation of issuers. Our management also 
uses this non-IFRS financial measure in order to facilitate operating performance comparisons from period to period, 
to prepare annual operating budgets and forecasts and to determine components of management compensation. As 
required by Canadian securities laws, we reconcile this non-IFRS financial measure to the most comparable IFRS 
measure.

For a discussion of this measure and reconciliation thereof to the most directly comparable IFRS measure, 
see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation — Non-IFRS Financial
Measures”.
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This Prospectus contains “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable securities laws in 
Canada. Forward-looking information may relate to our future financial outlook and anticipated events or results and 
may include information regarding our financial position, business strategy, growth strategies, budgets, operations, 
financial results, taxes, dividend policy, plans and objectives. Particularly, information regarding our expectations of 
future results, performance, achievements, prospects or opportunities or the markets in which we operate is forward-
looking information. In some cases, forward-looking information can be identified by the use of forward-looking 
terminology such as “plans”, “targets”, “expects” or “does not expect”, “is expected”, “an opportunity exists”, 
“budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “outlook”, “forecasts”, “projection”, “prospects”, “strategy”, “intends”, 
“anticipates”, “does not anticipate”, “believes”, or variations of such words and phrases or state that certain actions, 
events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might”, “will”, “will be taken”, “occur” or “be achieved”. In addition, 
any statements that refer to expectations, intentions, projections or other characterizations of future events or 
circumstances contain forward-looking information. Statements containing forward-looking information are not 
historical facts but instead represent management’s expectations, estimates and projections regarding future events or 
circumstances.

Forward-looking information may be found, among other places, under “Prospectus Summary”, “Business 
Overview”, “Industry Overview”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations”, “Use of Proceeds”, “Description of Share Capital”, “Dividend Policy”, “Principal Shareholders”, 
“Consolidated Capitalization”, “Directors and Executive Officers”, “Executive Compensation”, “Director 
Compensation” and “Risk Factors”.

This forward-looking information includes, among other things, statements relating to:

 the Offering Price, the completion, size, expenses and timing of Closing;

 the automatic conversion of the Subscription Receipts issued under the Private Placement of 
Subscription Receipts;

 expectations regarding industry trends, overall market growth rates and our growth rates and 
growth strategies;

 the use of the net proceeds of the Offering;

 the performance of our business and operations;

 our expectations regarding revenues, expenses and anticipated cash needs;

 the ability to grow our business and operations in accordance with our business plan;

 the expected timing and completion of our near-term objectives;

 laws and regulations and any amendments thereto applicable to us;

 changes in export laws that may impact our expansion plans;  

 the plastic bag recycling market;

 the competitive conditions of the industry in which we operate;

 our competitive advantages and business strategies;

 our future product research and development;

 our current and future products, the market for such products, their demand, and changes to their 
consumption;

 our plans with respect to the payment of dividends;

 the market price for the Ordinary Shares;

 the secondary market for the Ordinary Shares and Warrants; and

 our plans with respect to the establishment of new manufacturing plants outside of Israel. 
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The forward-looking information in this Prospectus is based on our opinions, estimates and assumptions in 
light of our experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as 
well as other factors that we currently believe are appropriate and reasonable in the circumstances. Despite a careful 
process to prepare and review the forward-looking information, there can be no assurance that the underlying opinions, 
estimates and assumptions will prove to be correct. In providing forward-looking information, we have made certain 
assumptions in respect of our ability to build our market share; the performance of the Company’s business and 
operations; our ability to retain key personnel; our ability to maintain and expand geographic scope; our ability to 
execute upon our expansion plans; our ability to continue investing in infrastructure, research and development to 
support our growth; our ability to optimize production costs; our ability to obtain and maintain existing financing on 
acceptable terms; our timely receipt of equipment orders and raw materials; currency exchange and interest rates; the 
impact of competition; the changes and trends in our industry or the global economy; the size of the target markets for 
our products, our ability to maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property and the changes in laws, rules, 
regulations, and international standards.

The forward-looking information in this Prospectus is subject to known and unknown risks and other factors 
that may cause the actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from those 
expressed or implied, including but not limited to the risks described under “Risk Factors”.

If any of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if the opinions, estimates or assumptions underlying the 
forward-looking information prove incorrect, actual results or future events might vary materially from those 
anticipated in the forward-looking information. The opinions, estimates or assumptions referred to above and 
described in greater detail in “Risk Factors” should be considered carefully.

Although we have attempted to identify important risk factors that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those contained in forward-looking information, there may be other risk factors not presently known 
to us or that we presently believe are not material that could also cause actual results or future events to differ 
materially from those expressed in such forward-looking information. There can be no assurance that such information 
will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such 
information. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking information, which speaks only 
as of the date made. The forward-looking information contained in this Prospectus represents our expectations as of 
the date of this Prospectus (or as of a specified date) and are subject to change. However, we disclaim any obligation 
to update or revise any forward-looking information except as required under applicable securities laws.

Investors should read this Prospectus and consult their own professional advisors to ascertain and 
assess the various risk factors and other aspects of an investment in the Offered Units.

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

Market and industry data presented throughout this Prospectus was obtained from third party sources, 
industry reports and publications, websites and other publicly available information, as well as industry and other data 
prepared by us or on our behalf on the basis of our knowledge of the markets in which we operate, including 
information provided by suppliers, customers and other industry participants. We believe that the market and economic 
data presented throughout this Prospectus is accurate and, with respect to data prepared by us or on our behalf, that 
our estimates and assumptions are currently appropriate and reasonable, but there can be no assurance as to the 
accuracy or completeness thereof. The accuracy and completeness of the market and economic data presented 
throughout this Prospectus are not guaranteed and neither we nor any of the Underwriters make any representation as 
to the accuracy of such data. Actual outcomes may vary materially from those forecast in such reports or publications, 
and the prospect for material variation can be expected to increase as the length of the forecast period increases. 
Although we believe it to be reliable, neither we nor any of the Underwriters have independently verified any of the 
data from third party sources referred to in this Prospectus, analyzed or verified the underlying studies or surveys 
relied upon or referred to by such sources, or ascertained the underlying market, economic and other assumptions 
relied upon by such sources. Market and economic data is subject to variations and cannot be verified due to limits on 
the availability and reliability of data inputs, the voluntary nature of the data gathering process and other limitations 
and uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey.
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TRADEMARKS AND TRADE NAMES

This Prospectus includes certain trademarks and trade names which are protected under applicable 
intellectual property laws. Solely for convenience, such trademarks and trade names referred to in this Prospectus may 
appear without the ® or ™ symbol, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that the relevant owner 
will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, their rights to these trademarks and trade names. The 
trademarks and trade names used in this Prospectus are the property of their respective owners.

CURRENCY PRESENTATION

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, all references to dollars, “$” 
or “US$” are to U.S. dollars and all references to “C$” are to Canadian dollars.

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT

In the opinion of Miller Thomson LLP, Canadian counsel to the Company, and Stikeman Elliott LLP, 
Canadian counsel to the Underwriters, based on the current provisions of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax 
Act”), the Ordinary Shares and the Warrants acquired pursuant to the Offering on the Closing Date, and Ordinary 
Shares issued upon the exercise of Warrants, if issued on the date hereof, would be a “qualified investment” under 
the Tax Act for a trust governed by a registered retirement savings plan (“RRSP”), a deferred profit sharing plan, a 
registered retirement income fund (“RRIF”), a registered education savings plan (“RESP”), a registered disability 
savings plan (“RDSP”) and a tax-free savings account (“TFSA”) (collectively, “Registered Plans”), provided that, 
at the particular time, (i) in the case of the Ordinary Shares, such shares are listed on a “designated stock exchange”, 
as defined in the Tax Act (which currently includes Tier 1 and Tier 2 of the TSXV), and (ii) in the case of the Warrants: 
(a) either Warrants or the Ordinary Shares issued upon the exercise of Warrants are listed on a “designated stock 
exchange”, and (b) neither the Company, nor any person with whom the Company does not deal at arm’s length, is an 
annuitant, a beneficiary, an employer or a subscriber under, or a holder of, the particular Registered Plan.

The Ordinary Shares are not currently listed on a “designated stock exchange”. The Company has 
applied to list the Ordinary Shares (including Ordinary Shares issued upon the exercise of Warrants) and the 
Warrants on the TSXV and to have such listing on the TSXV occur before Closing. If the Ordinary Shares are 
not listed on the TSXV before Closing, then the Ordinary Shares and Warrants will not be “qualified 
investments” for a Registered Plan at the time of issuance. Significant penalties will be applicable if Ordinary 
Shares or Warrants are acquired by a Registered Plan at a time that such securities are not “qualified 
investments” for the Registered Plan.

Holders that intend to transfer Ordinary Shares or Warrants to a Registered Plan after the completion 
of the Offering should consult their own tax advisors about the applicable tax consequences with respect to 
such a transfer as, for example, income tax and penalties may be payable as a result of the transfer.

Notwithstanding that Ordinary Shares and Warrants may be a “qualified investment” for a Registered Plan, 
the annuitant under a RRSP or RRIF, the holder of a TFSA or RDSP, or the subscriber of a RESP will be subject to a 
penalty tax if such Ordinary Shares and Warrants are a “prohibited investment” (as defined in the Tax Act) for the 
RRSP, RRIF, RESP, RDSP or TFSA. The Ordinary Shares and Warrants will generally not be a “prohibited 
investment” for a particular RRSP, RRIF, RESP, RDSP or TFSA provided that the annuitant under the RRSP or RRIF, 
the holder of the TFSA or RDSP, or the subscriber of the RESP, as the case may be, deals at arm’s length with the 
Company for purposes of the Tax Act and does not have a “significant interest” (as defined in the Tax Act) in the 
Company. In addition, the Ordinary Shares will not be a prohibited investment if such shares are “excluded property” 
(as defined in the Tax Act for purposes of these rules) for the particular TFSA, RRSP, RESP, RDSP or RRIF. 
Prospective purchasers who intend to hold Ordinary Shares and Warrants in a trust governed by a TFSA, 
RRSP, RESP, RDSP or RRIF should consult their own tax advisors as to whether such securities will be a 
“prohibited investment” in their particular circumstances, including with respect to whether the Ordinary 
Shares would be “excluded property” in their particular circumstances.
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OFFERING SUMMARY

Issuer: K.B. Recycling Industries Ltd. carrying on business under the business name “Alkemy”. 

Offered Units: 4,898,048 Units

Offering Price: The Offering Price will be C$0.29 per Unit. 

Offering Size: C$1,420,434 (C$1,822,066 if the Underwriters’ Option is exercised in full)

Underwriters’ 
Option:

The Company has granted the Underwriters an option, exercisable in whole or in part, at 
any time for a period of 30 days following the Closing Date, to purchase up to an additional 
15% of the aggregate number of Offered Units issued under the Offering at the Offering 
Price solely to cover over-allotments, if any, and for market stabilization purposes. See 
“Plan of Distribution”.

Private Placement of 
Subscription 
Receipts:

The Company has issued by way of private placement 4,334,862 Subscription Receipts to 
certain Canadian accredited investors (the “Private Placement of Subscription 
Receipts”). The Subscription Receipts were issued by the Company at a price of C$0.29
per Subscription Receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of C$1,257,109.98.

Each Subscription Receipt shall be automatically converted and immediately thereupon 
cancelled, without any further action by the holder of the Subscription Receipts, and for 
no additional consideration, into one Subscription Receipt Unit on the Closing Date (the 
“Escrow Release Condition”). Each Subscription Receipt Unit consists of one (1) 
Ordinary Share and one-half of one (0.5) Ordinary Share purchase warrant (each full 
Ordinary Share purchase warrant, a Warrant), each whole Warrant exercisable into one 
(1) Ordinary Share at a price of C$0.51 for a period ending at 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) on 
the date that is 24 months following Closing. See “Private Placement of Subscription 
Receipts”.

Private Placement of 
Class A Units:

Concurrent with the Offering, the Company intends to issue approximately 14,358,545 
Class A Units to specified investors resident in Israel by way of a non-brokered private 
placement (the “Private Placement of Class A Units”). The Class A Units will be issued 
by the Company at a price of C$0.58 per Class A Unit for expected aggregate gross 
proceeds of C$8,327,956.

Each Class A Unit consists of two (2) Ordinary Shares and one (1) Ordinary Share
purchase warrant (each, a “Class A Warrant”). Each Class A Warrant is exercisable into 
one (1) Ordinary Share at a price of C$0.51 for a period ending at 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) 
on the date that is 24 months following Closing. See “Private Placement of Class A Units”.

Shares Outstanding: Upon completion of the Offering and the Private Placement of Class A Units, an aggregate 
of 116,160,201 Ordinary Shares (117,545,124 Ordinary Shares if the Underwriters’ 
Option is exercised in full) will be issued and outstanding.

Use of Proceeds: The aggregate net proceeds to be received by the Company from the Offering, the Private 
Placement of Subscription Receipts and the Private Placement of Class A Units are 
estimated to be approximately C$8,765,594 (C$9,139,111 if the Underwriters’ Option is 
exercised in full), after deducting the fee payable to the Underwriters in connection with 
the Offering, Private Placement of Subscription Receipt Units and Private Placement of 
Class A Units (the “Underwriters’ Fee”) and the expenses of the foregoing offerings
which are estimated to be C$1,761,000. We intend to use the net proceeds of the Offering, 
the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts and the Private Placement of Class A Units
to develop production processes for new products, invest in our current Israeli 
manufacturing facility (machinery and other equipment), form partnerships in other 
jurisdictions, and for working capital and general corporate expenses. See “Use of 
Proceeds”.
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Description of Share 
Capital:

Upon completion of the Offering, our authorized share capital will consist of 300,000,000
Ordinary Shares with a par value of NIS 0.01 per Ordinary Share. See “Description of 
Share Capital”.

Principal 
Shareholders:

Upon completion of the Offering, the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts and the 
Private Placement of Class A Units, it is expected that the Principal Shareholders, either 
directly or indirectly, will own an aggregate of 77,625,200 Ordinary Shares and
29,165,612 Warrants, representing an interest of approximately 59.01% in the Company
on a fully diluted basis (or 77,625,200 Ordinary Shares and 29,165,612 Warrants, 
representing a 58.29% interest in the Company on a fully diluted basis if the Underwriters’ 
Option is exercised in full). As a result, the Principal Shareholders will have a significant 
influence on the Company. See “Principal Shareholders” and “Risk Factors”.

Dividend Policy: We currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund the development and growth of 
our business and do not currently anticipate paying dividends on the Ordinary Shares. Any 
decision to pay dividends in the future will be determined by our Board of Directors and 
will be based upon conditions then existing, including, among others, our results of 
operations, financial condition, current and anticipated cash needs, contractual restrictions 
and other conditions and factors that our Board may deem relevant. See “Dividend 
Policy”.

Lock-Up 
Arrangements:

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, each of: (i) the Company; (ii) all existing 
securityholders of the Company holding, directly or indirectly, (together with that 
securityholder's associates and affiliates) Ordinary Shares outstanding prior to the Closing, 
excluding: (a) individual securityholders of the Company holding less than 5% of the 
Ordinary Shares outstanding prior to Closing (on an as-converted basis, if applicable), and 
(b) any purchasers of securities pursuant to the Private Placement of Subscription 
Receipts, and (iii) the Company’s directors and officers have agreed that they will not, 
directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of the Underwriters, issue, sell, 
offer to sell, contract or agree to sell, hypothecate, pledge, grant any option for the sale of, 
or otherwise, directly or indirectly, dispose of, monetize or engage in any hedging 
transaction, or enter into any form of agreement or arrangement the consequence of which 
is to alter economic exposure to, or announce any intention to do so, in a public offering 
or by way of private placement or otherwise, any Ordinary Shares, retained interest 
securities, or any securities convertible or exchangeable into Ordinary Shares, for a period 
of 180 days after the Closing Date without the prior written consent of the Underwriters, 
except, as applicable in the case of the Company or the applicable person, in conjunction 
with: (a) the issuance or sale of Offered Units to the Underwriters pursuant to any exercise 
of the Underwriters’ Option, (b) the grant of stock options and other securities in the 
normal course pursuant to equity incentive plans of the Company existing as of the Closing 
Date, and (c) the issuance of securities of the Company upon the conversion, exercise or 
exchange of convertible, exercisable or exchangeable securities existing on the Closing 
Date or upon the exercise, redemption or settlement of stock options or other security-
based compensation subsequently granted. 

Holders of approximately 77,625,200 Ordinary Shares, representing 66.83% of the 
Company’s issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares after the completion of the Offering 
(66.03% if the Underwriters’ Option is exercised in full) will be subject to these lock-up 
arrangements. See “Plan of Distribution – Lock-Up Arrangements”.

Risk Factors: An investment in the Offered Units is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. See 
“Risk Factors”, as well as the other information disclosed in this Prospectus for a 
discussion of the risks that an investor should carefully consider before deciding to invest 
in Offered Units.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Summary

We are an environmental technology company based in Israel that has developed an industrial process to 
recycle post-consumed polyethylene (plastic) bags and sheets.

Our recycling and production unit, which integrates the production of finished goods with the recycling 
process itself, is designed to reduce the cost of plastic raw material and increase the profit margin per metric ton of 
recycled plastic. Our process results in the production of a finished product, for use in various applications, including
initially, the construction industry. See “Business Overview – Initial Focus on Global Construction Market”.

Current Manufacturing Capacity and Planned International Expansion

Currently, our production site, which is located in Israel contains one fully-operational production line with 
an output capacity of approximately 150 metric tons per month (i.e., 1,800 metric tons per year). In 2021, we intend 
to invest in increasing the capacity of our current production site by improving existing machinery and adding new 
machinery, as necessary.  

We are currently in the process of looking for strategic partners and locations for new plants outside of Israel.
In order to successfully deploy our factory units and ‘waste-to-product’ process abroad, we intend to collaborate and 
develop relationships with two types of local partners: (1) waste management partners; and (2) target market industry 
partners. We aim to work with experienced local partners that have local business connections and an understanding 
of the relevant business ecosystem. Our plan is to enter into agreements with partners in the waste management or 
waste trading industry in order to obtain stable and ongoing sources of high quality raw materials (plastic sheets and 
bags post-consumed waste).

In each country, in conjunction with local partner(s), we intend to build and operate a local site to recycle 
plastic and produce products using our ‘waste-to-product’ process. Local partners will, subject to the finalization of 
agreements with any such applicable partner(s), strategically assist with waste management and recycling, as well as 
with the manufacturing and distribution of our products in such countries. Local partners will also help us evaluate 
and determine which products to manufacture (based on their knowledge of the local market), logistical advantages 
and disadvantages, competitors, and applicable regulations.
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Waste-to-Product Process 

We have developed a process and know-how for the recycling of post-consumed plastic bags and sheets 
which we refer to as ‘waste-to-product’. We produce a variety of recycled plastic products from highly pollutive 
recycled plastics (polyethylene), which we extract from domestic waste streams (i.e., garbage, grocery bags and food 
wrappings and packaging). 

Our one-step process reduces inputs such as energy, labour, machinery use and various other production 
expenses compared to traditional recycling and production methods. Traditional recycling and production methods 
typically recycle plastic with low contamination, use a mix of recycled plastic and virgin plastic and involve separate 
recycling and production processes. Our process is able to use 100% highly contaminated plastic waste and our 
products are produced in one step, directly from the contaminated plastic waste. This allows us to benefit from savings 
on labour, energy, machinery and transportation costs. Our ‘waste-to-product’ process involves a single melting and 
cooling of post-consumed plastic waste which results in the final recycled plastic product, all performed in one facility. 
Our process does not require separate recycling and production plants. 

We receive our plastic raw material waste in condensed bales that weigh between 400-800 kilograms. The 
bales are typically composed of 50%-85% sorted plastic extracted from domestic, agricultural and industrial waste 
streams. The balance of the materials included in such bales are non-recyclable materials customarily composed of 
non-polyethylene materials such as dirt, paper, laminates, metals and organic materials (contaminants). The bales are 
then stored for several days. Our waste-to-product process can transform the incoming bales of plastic waste into a 
final product within 30 minutes. From the time the plastic waste is loaded onto the recycling line, it takes 
approximately 20 minutes for the waste to be converted into small flakes of clean plastic sheets. The clean plastic 
output is then recycled into a final product in an additional 10 minutes.

TRADITIONAL MANUFACTURERS [ALKEMY]

Figure 1 shows the difference between our 'waste-to-product' process, which uses 100% 
recycled plastic waste, and the traditional recycling and manufacturing process.
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Initial Focus on Global Construction Market

The global construction plastics market was valued at US$75.6 billion in 2018 and is expected to reach 
US$128.12 billion by 2026, at a compound annual growth rate of 6.9%.1  North America is one of the leading markets 

and holds approximately 38% of the total market share globally.2 Like many other countries, the use of construction 
plastics in North America is increasing due to the growth of residential areas in the U.S. and Canada, which are key 
factors driving the growth of construction plastic market.

                                                          
1 Reports and Data, “Construction Plastics Market to Reach USD 128.12 Billion by 2026” (3 June 2019), online: Globe Newswire 
<www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2019/06/03/1863469/0/en/Construction-Plastics-Market-To-Reach-USD-128-12-Billion-By-
2026-Reports-And-Data.html>.
2 Ibid.
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We have begun adapting our process, which has been initially targeted to address the demand generated by 
the construction plastics market in Israel. Specifically, we have created four (4) product lines producing industrial 
grade surface protection and sealing plastic films for a wide range of construction uses and applications, including:

(i) Rhino. A 100% recycled polyethylene geomembrane, with or without a polypropylene or a polyethylene 
terephthalate (“PET”) non-woven fabric lamination. This product is designed for use in building and 
infrastructure underground sealing systems.

(ii) Armadillo. A 100% recycled polyethylene sheet, laminated with a PET and cotton mixed non-woven 
fabric applied as a surface protection sheet. This product is designed to provide heavy-duty surface 
protection during construction work and renovations.

(iii) Cricket. A 100% recycled polyethylene geomembrane root barrier. This product is designed for use in 
underground installations and helps prevent roots from growing into certain soil.

(iv) Elephant. A 100% recycled polyethylene geomembrane gas barrier. This product is a laminated 
polyethylene sheet with a BOPP sheet, with or without non-woven Polypropylene fabric, designated for 
prevention of underground gasses leaks (Radon, Methane, CO2 and more) into the building spaces.

We introduced our product lines to the Israeli market in 2018 and we believe that, since then, we have 
achieved significant market share of the sub-terrain concrete sealing protection segment (a relatively small 700-800 
metric tons per year market with a demand for high-quality products).

We believe the growth of our Israeli market share is largely attributable to the quality and competitive pricing 
of our products. Although the market size in Israel is relatively limited (a few dozen metric tons per month), these 
results are indicative of our potential to successfully operate in international markets that impose stringent minimum 
quality standards.

Planned Product Development Expansion

We intend to develop additional types of commercial plastic products that do not require virgin plastic as a 
raw material, such as soil stabilization products for road construction and landscaping, acoustic and thermal isolation 
products made of expanded polyethylene and large scale three dimensional products such as bins and containers. 
Currently, all of the polyethylene used in manufacturing our products is 100% recycled, and are sourced from domestic 
and agricultural waste streams, including waste management companies, recycling corporations and waste traders. We 
also operate one agricultural waste site in Israel where we receive pre-sorted plastic waste from farmers which we 
then sort and compact into bales for our own needs. 

We intend to adapt our commercialization and product development strategy based on each country and 
region in which we intend to construct our facilities. While the research and development center and Company’s 
headquarters will remain in Israel, we intend to conduct comprehensive market research in each geographical location 
in which we intend to enter into joint ventures with local strategic partners. Our decisions on where to focus our efforts 
in terms of the product types and locations will be done through a comprehensive study on each region and its 
opportunities, taking into account, among other things, the investment required, estimated market size, demand and 
regulatory requirements.

Competitive Landscape

We operate in the plastic recycling industry, as well as in the target markets for our plastic products. As a 
result, we compete with both recycling companies and companies that produce plastic products.

Plastic product markets are highly competitive and consist of numerous manufacturers, relatively low raw 
material costs, advanced production processes, and multinational production sites with limited barriers to 
entry. Certain of the multinational manufacturers, with relatively larger research and development budgets are also 
attempting to anticipate new product demand, and often introduce new products that compete with our existing and 
prospective products. Key competitive differentiators in our industry include, among other things, innovation, product 
quality, regulatory compliance, pricing and quality of customer service. 
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The barriers to entry in the recycling industry are generally low as the required machinery is commonplace 
and low-cost raw materials are generally available.

Our principal competition in the Israeli recycling market are medium-to-large recycling companies such as 
Amnir Recycling Industries Ltd., which operates in the paper and plastic recycling markets, and Shahaf Upgraded 
Materials Ltd., a plastic recycling company. Both companies are, to our knowledge, limited in the types of plastic they 
recycle, produce plastic resin pellets and do not produce final products. With respect to our existing products, our 
main competition is the plastic product import market and local companies involved in small-scale plastic production. 

Our ‘waste-to-product’ process provides us with a competitive advantage in cost savings and efficiency. Our 
ability to maximize the use of recycled plastic as opposed to virgin plastic in our production process also enables us 
to satisfy perceived trends toward environmentally friendly processes and products on the part of the broader public. 

Alkemy’s Competitive Advantages

As opposed to traditional recycling companies (and some other companies that recycle and convert plastic 
waste directly into final products using a one-step process), we believe that our ‘waste-to-product’ process allows us 
to manufacture plastic products at a significantly lower cost than the traditional production of products from recycled
plastic. This is due to a combination of three factors: (i) we use plastic waste that has limited demand in the market; 
(ii) our one step ‘waste-to-product’ process allows us to gain significant savings in energy consumption, labour and 
machinery use and to control the entire production chain, as the recycling and production operations are at the same 
location; and (iii) we manufacture products from 100% post-consumed recycled plastic waste. 

Traditional recycling companies usually recycle post-consumed plastic to produce recycled plastic resin 
granules to be used as raw material (recycled granules) in the manufacturing process of a variety of products. The 
recycling process involves high consumption of machinery, energy and labor, and includes washing, drying, melting, 
and filtering the sorted plastic waste and then cooling it to form its final granule shape. These granules are then 
transported to a final product manufacturer, where they will be melted (again) and cooled (again) to form the applicable 
final product. In addition, it is common for manufacturers that rely on recycled plastic granules in their production 
process to use only a small percentage of it combined with a higher percentage of virgin plastic.

In addition to our input-saving process, our plastic products are made of 100% post-consumed recycled 
plastic waste without any virgin resins. By producing final products from recycled post-consumed plastic bags and 
sheets, we save a significant amount of energy, labor and transportation costs and reduce the amount of pollution 
resulting from the recycling process.

We have filed an application with the Israeli patent office for a patent for our ‘waste-to-product’ process. 
This application is currently pending the approval of the Israeli patent office and, following approval, will provide us 
with certain patent protections abroad as we plan to file similar applications in other jurisdictions. No assurances can 
be given that the patent applications we have filed in Israel will be granted or that we will be successful in being 
granted patents in other jurisdictions. See “Risk Factors”.
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Global Plastic Recycling Market Overview

We operate in the plastic recycling market. The recycling process of plastics entails the recovery, 
reprocessing and conversion of waste or scrap left out of plastic products into useful products. Since plastic material 
is non-biodegradable, it is recycled to reduce the harmful effects caused due to dumping of plastic products in the 
earth. The process of recycling involves seven major steps, collection, sorting, shredding, cleaning, melting, filtering 
and cooling of the plastic raw material to form pellets which are utilized in the production of plastic products. The 
dumped waste plastic is collected by waste collectors and brought to the sorting facilities for further processing. The 
plastic recycling market was valued globally in 2018 at US$41.73 billion, and is expected, according to industry 
sources, to grow at a compound annual growth rate of 6.6% through 2027. It is anticipated that increased 
environmental concerns together with government incentives will enhance demand for recycled plastic products. 

The Environmental Challenge

The versatility of plastics has led to their use in almost all major product categories. Plastics packaging and 
bags are the largest application by weight, but plastics are also used widely in the textile, consumer goods, transport, 
and construction sectors. Some polymers of plastic are used primarily 
for a single application (e.g., polyethylene in packaging) while others 
are used for a wider array of applications (e.g. polypropylene). This 
distinction also has implications for end-of-life plastics management: 
developing effective sorting and recycling technologies is likely to 
be simpler for polymers used in a range of applications. The 
proliferation of plastics use, in combination with poor end-of-life 
waste management, has resulted in widespread, persistent plastics 
pollution.

In 2015, the United States recycled only approximately 9% 
of its plastic waste. Since then, that number has decreased further. 
The U.S. is now incinerating six times more plastic than it is 
recycling, despite the fact that incineration reportedly releases 
carcinogens and creates toxic ash, both of which require 
environmentally safe disposal. The vast majority of the estimated 8.3 
billion metric tons of plastic produced worldwide ends up in local 
landfill or is exported for disposal. For example, the U.S. ships a 
certain amount of its ‘recycled’ plastic to China, with most of the 
plastic in these shipments being burned or buried instead of being 
recycled into new products. In May 2018, the U.S. sent 64.9 million 
kilograms of plastic scrap to 58 countries. The situation is worse with 
plastic bags, one of the most commonly used plastics commodities in 
the world. Less than 1% of the plastic bags used each year in the U.S. are recycled.3

Certain governments have begun addressing this growing challenge through legislation. All European Union 
member states will be required to recycle 50% of their plastic packaging by 20254. Requirements that are more 
stringent contemplate a purity ratio of raw materials in plastic products, requiring at least 5% of recycled plastic to be 
included as part of the mix of materials used in their production.

                                                          
3 The World Counts, “How many plastic bags are used each year?” (last visited 4 February 2021), online: The World Counts < 

www.theworldcounts.com/challenges/planet-earth/waste/plastic-bags-used-per-year/story>.
4 Sambyal, Swati Singh, “50% of plastic packaging to be recycled by 2025: European Council” (23 May 2018), online: DownToEath

<www.downtoearth.org.in/news/waste/50-of-plastic-packaging-to-be-recycled-by-2025-european-council-60635>.
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In addition, approximately 8 million metric tons annually of plastic waste is disposed of into the oceans from 
coastal nations. Once in the ocean, plastics have a number of significant adverse environmental impacts. Marine 
wildlife is harmed through ingestion of plastics or entanglement, with negative implications for ecosystem health and 
the overall sustainability of fisheries. Taken together, the economic cost of these impacts has been estimated to be
US$13 billion per year5. Plastic pollution also poses risks for human health. Research has found microplastic 
contamination in tap water and bottled water across a number of countries, and plastic contamination has also been 
found in sea salt. Plastic pollution warrants considerable attention for two additional reasons. The first relates to the 
longevity of plastics: those that accumulate in the natural environment will only decompose over hundreds of years, 
during which time they fragment into smaller toxic microplastics and nanoplastics. The second relates to uncertainty 
about the magnitude of the damage. Significant quantities of plastic have only been introduced into the natural 
environment relatively recently. While the full impact on marine and terrestrial ecosystems will only emerge in the 
longer term, certain environmental effects of plastic pollution are already readily determinable.

Plastic Recycling is the Solution

There are a vast number of potential products that may be manufactured from recycled plastic being used in 
various other industries, including but not limited to construction, agriculture, and infrastructure. 

6

In order to decrease the environmental and public health damages created by the mismanagement of post-
consumed plastics, governments have taken steps to impose a higher level of regulation on the plastic waste 
management process. One of the key factors towards enabling an effective waste-management process is to adopt a 
process that is economically attractive which will incentivize private sector companies to more effectively collect, 
transport and recycle their plastic waste. By expanding our recycling process internationally, we will be in a position 
to capitalize on these incentives and become a destination for the disposal of plastic waste, which our facilities can 
transform into viable and saleable products, while at the same time benefiting from public and private sector initiatives 
to improve the waste-management ecosystem in order to decrease environmental hazards caused by poor plastic waste 
management.

                                                          
5 UN Environment Programme, “Plastic Waste Causes Financial Damage of US$13 Billion to Marine Ecosystems Each Year as Concern 

Grows over Microplastics” (last visited 4 February 2021), online: UN Environment <www.unenvironment.org/news-and-
stories/press-release/plastic-waste-causes-financial-damage-us13-billion-marine-ecosystems>.

6 OECD, “Improving Plastics Management: trends, policy responses, and the role of international co-operation and trade” (2018) OECD 
Environment Policy Paper No. 12. online: OECD <https://www.oecd.org/environment/waste/policy-highlights-improving-plastics-
management.pdf>.
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International Market Regulation

Several countries, regions and cities have recently introduced regulations and legislation focused on plastic 
usage and recycling. These are primarily aimed at use and disposal to improve waste management and to reduce waste 
dumping and incineration. Although there are currently no policies or regulations that directly target the primary 
production of plastics, companies involved in producing raw materials for plastics (including oil and gas companies) 
may be affected indirectly through policies which aim to boost plastic recycling and reduce fossil fuel dependence 
and greenhouse gas emissions. Plastic is covered under various international treaties and conventions. Driven by 
international defined goals to create models that will target sustainable recycling goals in countries and regions, 
governments will be motivated to create incentive plans for businesses in the recycling industry that can assist them 
in achieving these goals. These incentives may consist of, among other things, the promotion of certain recycled 
products by different agreed-upon labels that can increase awareness among consumers and targeted tax incentives. 

Recycling and plastic production industries are subject to regulation by governmental agencies. These 
agencies include, among others: (i) standardization agencies that regulate technical and mechanical requirements for 
products, processes and quality; (ii) environmental protection agencies that regulate our present and prospect 
manufacturing facilities; (iii) safety and health agencies that regulate the working and production conditions of 
manufacturing sites; (iv) local and international agencies that regulate trade and customs; (v) the labour rights 
authorities that regulate the rights of employees, their compensation, pension rights and working conditions; and (vi) 
all other regulators and agencies that involve and regulate industry facilities, taxation, fair trade, intellectual property 
rights, social duties and local and international laws and regulations.
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CERTAIN REGULATORY MATTERS

Background

As an industrial company domiciled in Israel and currently marketing and selling its products mainly in Israel, 
we are subject to a variety of local laws, regulations and standards that relate to various aspects of our operations. 

Our manufacturing operations are subject to, among others, the requirements of environmental, health and 
safety laws, regulations and standards in Israel, as well as specific conditions set forth in the business licenses and 
permits related to the use, storage and discharge of hazardous materials granted by national authorities, such as the 
Israeli Ministry of Health and the Ministry of Environmental Protection, and municipal authorities in Israel. Some of 
these laws include the Israeli Clean Air Law, 5768-2008, the Israeli Law for the Prevention of Injuries, 5721-1961, 
the Regulations for the Prevention of Injuries (Unreasonable Noises), 5750-1990, Regulations for the Prevention of 
Injuries (Preventing Noise), 5752-1992, the Dangerous Materials Law, 5753-1993, Removal of Plastic Sheets 
Regulations, 5753-1993,the Water Law, 5719-1959, and the Law for the Prevention of Ocean Pollution from Land 
Sources, 5748-1988. 

Our business license for our site contains conditions related to a number of requirements, including with 
respect to disposal of effluent, air quality, process sludge and the handling of waste and chemicals. From time to time, 
we are subject to customary environmental compliance related inquiries in connection with our manufacturing site in 
Israel. Other than as described above, we believe that we operate our site in compliance in all material respects with 
applicable environmental and business license requirements. However, there can be no guarantee that such matters 
and compliance will not result in material costs in the future. 

We have received funding from the Israeli government through the Israel Innovation Authority (“IIA”) for 
certain research and development activities and may apply for and, pending IIA approval, receive additional grants in 
the future. The terms of those grants may result in additional payments to the IIA if we manufacture products or 
transfer or license any related intellectual property outside of Israel, as we may incur penalties in such cases or upon 
the sale of intellectual property pursuant to the Israeli Encouragement of Research, Development and Technological 
Innovation Law, 5744-1984, and the regulations promulgated thereunder the (“R&D Law”). See “Risk Factors –
Limitations surrounding the use of Israeli government funding”. See also “Government Grants and Incentives”.

As of the date of this Prospectus, we have received grants from the IIA totalling approximately US$590,000 
under four separate IIA programs.  Under the terms of these grants we are required to pay royalties to the IIA ranging 
from 1.3% to 3% on sales of products developed with the use of the IIA grants. Out of this sum, approximately 
US$420,000 was subject to repayment. As of the date of this Prospectus, approximately US$350,000 remains subject 
to repayment.  In addition to the royalties, the Company is required to abide by other restrictions associated with IIA 
funding which continue to apply even following repayment. See “Risk Factors – Limitations surrounding the use of 
Israeli government funding”.
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SUMMARY OF CERTAIN MATERIAL ASPECTS OF ISRAELI CORPORATE LAW

We are incorporated in Israel and therefore are subject to the Israeli Companies Law, 5759-1999, as amended, 
including the regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Companies Law”), including, among other things, the 
provisions thereof relating to matters such as external directors, financial experts, our audit committee (the “Audit 
Committee”), our compensation committee (the “Compensation Committee”) and our internal auditor. These 
requirements under the Companies Law are in addition to the requirements of the TSXV and the requirements of 
Canadian securities laws applicable to us as a reporting issuer in Canada.

There are differences between the Israeli and Canadian statutory regimes in the area of corporate law. Our 
Articles, to the extent they are not inconsistent with the Companies Law, provide certain of the protections to our 
shareholders which are comparable to those that would be available to a shareholder of a company that is incorporated 
under the Canada Business Corporations Act. Certain other matters, such as the composition of our Board and Board 
committees, reflect changes we intend to implement in connection with the Closing. Note that, while certain features 
of Canadian corporate law are discussed in this section, this summary does not contain a comprehensive review of all 
applicable aspects of Canadian corporate law.

The following is a summary of some noteworthy features of the Companies Law and is not an exhaustive 
review of Israeli corporate law.

Board of Directors 

Under the Companies Law, our Board of Directors is responsible for setting our general policies and 
supervising the performance of management. Our Board of Directors may exercise all powers and may take all actions 
that are not specifically granted to our shareholders or to management. Our executive officers are responsible for our 
day-to-day management and have individual responsibilities established by our Board of Directors. Our CEO is 
appointed by, and serves at the discretion of, our Board of Directors, subject to the terms of his employment agreement. 
All other executive officers who are not directors are appointed by our CEO and are subject to the terms of any 
applicable employment agreements that we may enter into with them.

Upon Closing, our Board of Directors will consist of five directors including Yoav Horowitz, Mordechai 
Gorfung, Tal Recanati, Boaz Gorfung and Lenny Recanati. Additionally, we intend to appoint two external directors, 
Renah Persofsky and Leon Koffler immediately following Closing of the Offering. The appointment of Renah 
Persofsky and Leon Koffler will fulfill the Companies Law requirement that we have two external directors, subject 
to ratification of their election as external directors under the Companies Law by our shareholders. See “External 
Directors”. These two directors, as well as the balance of our directors, will qualify as independent directors under the 
corporate governance standards of TSXV Policy 3.1 and National Instrument 52-110 — Audit Committees of the 
Canadian Securities Administrators (“NI 52-110”). See also: “Directors and Executive Officers — Biographical 
Information Regarding the Directors and Executive Officers”.

According to our Articles, the number of members of our Board of Directors must be at least five (5) and 
cannot be more than eleven (11). Other than the external directors, for whom special election requirements apply under 
the Companies Law, the vote required to appoint a director is a simple majority vote of holders of our voting shares 
participating and voting at the relevant meeting. In addition, our Articles allow our Board of Directors to appoint new 
directors to fill vacancies on our board of directors, including filling empty board seats up to the maximum number of 
directors permitted under our Articles, if the number of directors is below the maximum number provided in our 
Articles.

Each of our directors, other than our external directors, will serve from the date of election or appointment 
until the next annual meeting of shareholders. The approval of at least a majority of the voting power in the Company 
is generally required to remove any of our directors from office, other than external directors.

Under the Companies Law and our Articles, our Board of Directors may independently exercise all powers 
and take all actions that do not require shareholder approval under the Companies Law or under our Articles, including 
the power to borrow money for the purposes of our Company.
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Pursuant to the Companies Law and our Articles, a resolution proposed at any meeting of our Board of 
Directors at which a quorum is present is adopted if approved by a vote of a majority of the directors present and 
voting. A quorum of the Board of Directors requires at least a majority of the directors then in office who are lawfully 
entitled to participate in the meeting.

In addition, under the Companies Law, our Board of Directors must determine the minimum number of 
directors who are required to have financial and accounting expertise. Under applicable regulations, a director with 
financial and accounting expertise is a director who, by reason of his or her education, professional experience and 
skill, has a high level of proficiency in and understanding of business accounting matters and financial statements. He 
or she must be able to thoroughly comprehend the financial statements of the listed company and initiate debate 
regarding the manner in which financial information is presented. In determining the number of directors required to 
have such expertise, the Board of Directors must consider, among other things, the type and size of the company and 
the scope and complexity of its operations. Our Board of Directors has determined that we require at least one director 
with the requisite financial and accounting expertise. 

External Directors 

Under the Companies Law, companies incorporated under the laws of the State of Israel that are “public 
companies,” including companies with shares listed on the TSXV, are generally required to have at least two external 
directors who meet certain independence criteria to ensure that they are unaffiliated with the company and any 
controlling shareholder. Our external directors must be elected by our shareholders no later than three months 
following the completion of this offering. We intend to propose for appointment by our shareholders two external 
directors within three months following Closing as required by the Companies Law.

An external director must also have either “financial and accounting expertise” or “professional 
qualifications”, as defined in the regulations promulgated under the Companies Law, and at least one of the external 
directors is required to have financial and accounting expertise, similar to the standards of financial literacy as 
determined in accordance with, and as required by, NI 51-110, as an independent director. An external director may 
not be appointed to an additional term unless: (1) such director has “accounting and financial expertise;” or (2) he or 
she has “professional expertise,” and on the date of appointment for another term there is another external director 
who has “accounting and financial expertise” and the number of “accounting and financial experts” on the board of 
directors is at least equal to the minimum number determined appropriate by the board of directors.

The regulations promulgated under the Companies Law define an external director with requisite professional 
qualifications as a director who satisfies one of the following requirements: (1) the director holds an academic degree 
in either economics, business administration, accounting, law or public administration, (2) the director either holds an 
academic degree in any other field or has completed another form of higher education in the company’s primary field 
of business or in an area which is relevant to his or her office as an external director in the company, or (3) the director 
has at least five years of experience serving in any one of the following, or at least five years of cumulative experience 
serving in two or more of the following capacities: (a) a senior business management position in a company with a 
substantial business scope, (b) a senior position in the company’s primary field of business, or (c) a senior position in 
public administration.

An external director is entitled to reimbursement of expenses and compensation as provided in the regulations 
promulgated under the Companies Law but is otherwise generally prohibited from receiving any other compensation 
from us or any controlling shareholder, directly or indirectly, during his or her term and for two years thereafter.

A person may not be appointed as an external director if the person is, or is a relative of, a controlling 
shareholder or if on the date of the person’s appointment or within the preceding two years the person or his or her 
relatives, partners, employers or anyone to whom that person is subordinate, whether directly or indirectly, or entities 
under the person’s control have or had any affiliation with any of the following, or an affiliated entity: (i) the Company; 
(ii) any person or entity controlling the Company on the date of such appointment; (iii) any relative of a controlling 
shareholder; or (iv) any entity controlled, on the date of such appointment or within the preceding two years, by the 
Company or by a controlling shareholder. If there is no controlling shareholder or any shareholder holding 25% or 
more of voting rights in the company, a person may not be appointed as an external director if the person has any 
affiliation to the chairman of the board of directors, the chief executive officer (referred to in the Companies Law as 
a general manager), any shareholder holding 5% or more of the company’s shares or voting rights or the senior 
financial officer as of the date of the person’s appointment.
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The term “controlling shareholder” means a shareholder with the ability to direct the activities of the 
company, other than by virtue of being an office holder. A shareholder is presumed to have “control” of the company 
and thus to be a controlling shareholder of the company if the shareholder holds 50% or more of the “means of control” 
of the company. “Means of control” is defined as (1) the right to vote at a general meeting of a company or a 
corresponding body of another corporation; or (2) the right to appoint directors of the company or its general manager. 
For the purpose of approving related-party transactions, the term also includes any shareholder that holds 25% or more 
of the voting rights of the company if the company has no shareholder that owns more than 50% of its voting rights. 
For the purpose of determining the holding percentage stated above, two or more shareholders who have a personal 
interest in a transaction that is brought for the company’s approval are deemed as joint holders.

The term affiliation includes:

 an employment relationship;
 a business or professional relationship maintained on a regular basis;
 control; and
 service as an office holder, excluding service as a director in a private company prior to the first 

offering of its shares to the public if such director was appointed as a director of the private company 
in order to serve as an external director following the initial public offering.

The Companies Law defines “relative” as a spouse, sibling, parent, grandparent, descendant, spouse’s 
descendant, sibling and parent and the spouse of each of the foregoing.

The term “office holder” is defined as the chief executive officer (referred to sometimes as the general 
manager), chief business manager, deputy general manager, vice general manager, any other person assuming the 
responsibilities of any of these positions regardless of that person’s title, a director and any other manager directly 
subordinate to the general manager.

A person may not serve as an external director if that person or that person’s relative, partner, employer, a 
person to whom such person is subordinate (directly or indirectly) or any entity under the person’s control has a 
business or professional relationship with any entity that has an affiliation with any affiliated entity, even if such 
relationship is intermittent (excluding insignificant relationships). Additionally, any person who has received 
compensation intermittently other than compensation permitted under the Companies Law may not continue to serve 
as an external director.

No person can serve as an external director if the person’s position or other affairs create, or may create, a 
conflict of interest with the person’s responsibilities as a director or may otherwise interfere with the person’s ability 
to serve as a director or if such a person is an employee of the Israeli Securities Authority or of an Israeli stock 
exchange. If at the time an external director is appointed all current members of the board of directors, who are not 
controlling shareholders or relatives of controlling shareholders, are of the same gender, then the external director to 
be appointed must be of the other gender. In addition, there is a prohibition as to ‘cross-directorship’, meaning that if 
one of our directors serves as an external director of another company, no person serving as a director of that other 
company may be elected as an external director of our Company. 

Under the Companies Law, external directors must be elected at a shareholders’ meeting by a simple majority 
of the votes cast on the matter, provided that such majority includes a majority of the votes cast by non-controlling 
shareholders and shareholders who do not have a personal interest in the election of the external director (excluding a 
personal interest that did not result from the shareholder’s relationship with the controlling shareholder), excluding 
abstentions, unless the votes cast by such shareholders against the election do not exceed 2% of the aggregate 
voting rights in the company.

External directors serve for one term of three years and may continue to serve for two additional terms of 
three years under certain circumstances. Even if an external director is not nominated by our Board of Directors for 
re-election for a second or third term, shareholders holding at least 1% of our voting rights or the external director 
himself or herself may nominate the external director for re-election. In such a case, the re-election can be approved 
by a majority of the votes cast by non-controlling shareholders and shareholders who do not have a personal interest 
in the election (excluding a personal interest that did not result from the shareholder’s relationship with the controlling 
shareholder) and the votes cast by such shareholders approving the election exceed 2% of our aggregate voting rights. 
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An external director who ceases to satisfy the qualifications for an external director under the Companies 
Law must immediately notify the company thereof and his or her term shall terminate automatically upon serving such 
notice. An external director may be removed by the same special majority of the shareholders required for his or her 
election, only if the board of directors determines that the external director ceased to meet the statutory qualifications 
for appointment or if he or she violates his or her duty of loyalty to the company. An external director may also be 
removed by order of an Israeli court if the court finds that the external director is unable to exercise his or her office, 
has ceased to meet the statutory qualifications for his or her appointment, has violated his or her duty of loyalty to the 
company, or has been convicted by a court outside Israel of certain offenses detailed in the Companies Law. If an 
external directorship becomes vacant and there are fewer than two external directors on the Board of Directors at the 
time, then the Companies Law requires that the Board of Directors call a shareholders meeting as soon as practicable 
to appoint such number of new external directors so that the company thereafter has at least two external directors.

Each committee of the Company’s Board of Directors that is authorized to exercise powers as delegated by 
the Board of Directors is required to include at least one external director. In addition, all external directors then 
serving on the Board of Directors of the Company must have a seat on each of the Audit Committee and the 
Compensation Committee. The Audit Committee shall consist of at least three directors who meet certain 
independence criteria and must include all of the Company’s external directors. The Audit Committee may not include 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors, a controlling shareholder of the Company, a relative of a controlling 
shareholder, a director employed by or providing services on a regular basis to the Company, to a controlling 
shareholder or to an entity controlled by a controlling shareholder, or a director who derives most of his or her income 
from a controlling shareholder. In addition, under the Companies Law, the majority of the directors serving on the 
Audit Committee must be unaffiliated directors. In general, an “unaffiliated director” under the Companies Law is 
defined as either an external director or as a director who meets the following criteria: (a) he or she meets the primary 
qualifications for being appointed as an external director, except for the requirements that the director possess 
accounting and financial expertise or professional qualifications; and (b) he or she has not served as a director of the 
Company for a period exceeding nine consecutive years, subject to extension for additional terms under certain 
circumstances. For this purpose, an interruption of less than two years in the service shall not be deemed to interrupt 
the continuation of the service.

Shareholder Duties

Under the Companies Law, a shareholder has a duty to act in good faith and in a customary manner toward 
the Company and other shareholders and to refrain from abusing their power in the Company, including, among other 
things, in voting at a meeting of shareholders on the following matters:

 an amendment to our Articles;

 an increase of the Company’s authorized share capital;

 a merger; and

 interested party transactions that require shareholder approval.

A shareholder also has a general duty to refrain from discriminating against other shareholders.

The types of remedies generally available in connection with a breach of contract are the same types of 
remedies that apply in the event of a breach of the above-mentioned shareholder duties. However, additional remedies 
may be available in circumstances where there has been unequal treatment of other shareholders.

In addition, certain shareholders have a duty of fairness toward the Company. These shareholders include 
any controlling shareholder, any shareholder who knows that it possesses the power to determine the outcome of a 
shareholder vote and any shareholder who, under our Articles, has the power to appoint or to prevent the appointment 
of a director or officer of the Company or another power with respect to the Company. The Companies Law does not 
define the substance of this duty of fairness, except to state that the remedies generally available upon a breach of 
contract will also apply in the event of a breach of the duty to act with fairness, taking the shareholder’s position in 
the company into account. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Status as an Israeli Company”.
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Mergers

The Companies Law permits merger transactions with the approval of each party’s board of directors and 
shareholders (unless certain requirements described under the Companies Law are met). The Companies Law provides 
that a merger may be approved at a shareholders meeting by a majority of the voting power represented at the meeting, 
in person or by proxy, and voting on that resolution, and, in the case of the target company, a majority vote of each 
class of its shares, voted on the proposed merger at a shareholders meeting. The board of directors of a merging 
company is required pursuant to the Companies Law to discuss and determine whether in its opinion there exists a 
reasonable concern that as a result of a proposed merger, the surviving company will not be able to satisfy its 
obligations towards its creditors, taking into account the financial status of the merging companies. If the board of 
directors has determined that such a concern exists, it may not approve a proposed merger.

For purposes of the shareholder vote, unless a court rules otherwise, the merger will not be deemed approved 
if a majority of the shares represented at the shareholders meeting that are held by parties other than the other party to 
the merger, or by any person (or group of persons acting in concert) who holds 25% or more of the outstanding shares 
or the right to appoint 25% or more of the directors of the other party, vote against the merger. In addition, if the non-
surviving entity of the merger has more than one class of shares, the merger must be approved by each class of 
shareholders. If the transaction would have been approved but for the separate approval of each class or the exclusion 
of the votes of certain shareholders as provided above, a court may still approve the merger upon the request of holders 
of at least 25% of the voting rights of a company, if the court holds that the merger is fair and reasonable, taking into 
account the value of the parties to the merger and the consideration offered to the shareholders.

Under the Companies Law, a merging company must inform its creditors of the proposed merger. Any 
creditor of a party to the merger may seek a court order seeking to prevent the merger if there is a reasonable concern 
that the surviving company will not be able to satisfy all of the obligations of the parties to the merger. In addition, a 
merger may not be completed until at least 50 days have passed from the date that a merger proposal was filed with 
the Israeli Registrar of Companies by each party and 30 days have passed since the merger was approved by the 
shareholders of each party. See “Description of Share Capital — Restrictions”.

Tender Offers

The Companies Law provides that an acquisition of shares in an Israeli public company must be made by 
means of a special tender offer if, as a result of the acquisition, the purchaser would become the holder of at least 25% 
or more of the voting rights in such Israeli public company. This rule does not apply if there is already another holder 
of at least 25% of the voting rights in the company. Similarly, the Companies Law provides that an acquisition of 
shares in an Israeli public company must be made by means of a special tender offer if as a result of the acquisition 
the purchaser would become the holder of more than 45% of the voting rights in the company, unless there is already 
a shareholder of the company holding more than 45% of the voting rights in the company. These requirements do not 
apply if the acquisition (i) occurs in the context of a private placement by the company that received shareholder 
approval (upon certain other conditions), (ii) is from a shareholder holding at least 25% of the voting rights in the 
company and results in the acquirer becoming a holder of at least 25% of the voting rights in the company, or (iii) is 
from a holder of more than 45% of the voting rights in the company and results in the acquirer becoming a holder of 
more than 45% of the voting rights in the company. The tender offer must be extended to all shareholders, but the 
offeror is not required to purchase more than 5% of the company’s voting rights, regardless of how many shares are 
tendered by shareholders. The tender offer may be consummated only if (i) at least 5% of the voting power attached 
to the company’s outstanding shares will be acquired by the offeror and (ii) the number of shares tendered in the offer 
exceeds the number of shares whose holders objected to the offer (excluding the controlling shareholders of the 
offeror, holders of 25% or more of the voting rights in the company or any person having a personal interest in the 
acceptance of the tender offer or any of their relatives or any entity controlled by them). If a special tender offer is 
accepted, then the purchaser or any person or entity controlling it or under common control with the purchaser or such 
controlling person or entity may not make a subsequent tender offer for the purchase of shares of the target company 
and may not enter into a merger with the target company for a period of one year from the date of the offer, unless the 
purchaser or such person or entity undertook to effect such an offer or merger in the initial special tender offer.

If as a result of an acquisition of shares the acquirer will hold more than 90% of an Israeli public company’s 
issued and outstanding shares or that of a certain class of shares, the acquisition must be made by means of a full 
tender offer to all of the company’s shareholders or to the shareholders who hold shares of the same class for the 
purchase of all of the issued and outstanding shares of the company or the certain class, as applicable. If (i) the 
shareholders who do not respond to or accept the offer hold less than 5% of the issued and outstanding share capital 
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of the company or the applicable class and (ii) more than half of the shareholders who do not have a personal interest 
in the acceptance of the offer accept the offer, then all the shares that the acquirer offered to purchase will be transferred 
to it. However, a full tender offer will also be accepted if the shareholders who do not accept the offer hold less than 
2% of the issued and outstanding shares of the company or the applicable class of shares. The Companies Law provides 
for appraisal rights if any shareholder files a request in court within six months following the consummation of a full 
tender offer, but the acquirer is entitled to stipulate as part of the tender offer documents that tendering shareholders 
forfeit their appraisal rights. If (i) the shareholders who did not respond or accept the tender offer hold at least 5% of 
the issued and outstanding share capital of the company or the applicable class, or the shareholders who accept the 
offer constitute less than a majority of the offerees that do not have a personal interest in the acceptance of the tender 
offer, or (ii) the shareholders who do not accept the offer hold 2% or more of the outstanding shares of the company 
(or the applicable class), then the acquirer may not acquire shares that will cause his shareholdings to exceed 90% of 
the outstanding shares of the company or the applicable class from shareholders who accepted the offer.

Shares purchased in contravention of the tender offer rules under the Companies Law will have no rights and 
will become dormant shares.

Aspects of Israeli Tax Law Relevant to Certain Corporate Transactions

Israeli tax considerations may make potential transactions unappealing to us or to our shareholders whose 
country of residence does not have a tax treaty with Israel exempting such shareholders from Israeli tax. With respect 
to mergers, Israeli tax law allows for tax deferral in certain circumstances but makes the deferral contingent on the 
fulfillment of numerous conditions, including, in some cases, a holding period of two (2) years from the date of the 
transaction during which sales and dispositions of shares of the participating companies are, subject to certain 
exceptions, restricted. Moreover, with respect to certain share swap transactions, the tax deferral is limited in time, 
and when the time expires, tax then becomes payable even if no actual disposition of the shares has occurred. These 
provisions could delay, prevent or impede an acquisition of us or our merger with another company, even if such an 
acquisition or merger would be beneficial to us or to our shareholders.

Register of Shareholders

We must maintain, in addition to our shareholder register, a register of shareholders who hold 5% or more of 
our issued share capital or of our voting rights.

Access to Corporate Records

Under the Companies Law and the TSXV rules, shareholders are generally required to be given access to 
minutes of our general meetings, our shareholders register and principal shareholders register, our Articles in effect 
from time to time, our financial statements and any document that we are required by law to file publicly with the 
Israeli Companies Registrar. In addition, shareholders may request to be provided with any document related to an 
action or transaction requiring shareholder approval under the related party transaction provisions of the Companies 
Law and we must provide it if so requested, unless we believe it has not been made in good faith or if such denial is 
necessary to protect our interest or protect a trade secret or patent.

Dividends

According to the Companies Law and our Articles, our Board of Directors is authorized to distribute 
dividends, provided that there is no reasonable concern that payment of such dividends will prevent us from satisfying 
our existing and foreseeable obligations as they become due. Pursuant to the Companies Law, the distribution amount 
is limited to the greater of retained earnings or earnings generated over the previous two (2) years, after deduction of 
previous distributions that were not already deducted from the surpluses, according to our then last reviewed or audited 
financial statements, provided that the date of the financial statements is not more than six months prior to the date of 
the distribution, or we may distribute dividends that do not meet such criteria only with court approval. In each case, 
we are only permitted to distribute a dividend if our Board of Directors and the court, if applicable, determines that 
there is no reasonable concern that payment of the dividend will prevent us from satisfying our existing and foreseeable 
obligations as they become due. Declaration of dividends requires a resolution of our Board of Directors and does not 
require shareholder approval. For further information, see “Dividend Policy”. 
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Under Israeli law, holders of Ordinary Shares are permitted to freely convert dividends and liquidation 
distributions into non-Israeli currencies. Such amounts may be subject to Israeli withholding tax and certain reporting 
obligations may apply. Pursuant to Israeli law, currency control measures may be imposed by governmental action at 
any time.

Fiduciary Duties of Directors and Officers

The Companies Law imposes a duty of care and a duty of loyalty on all directors and officers of a company, 
of which certain features are set out below.

In respect of the duty of care, our directors and officers are required to exercise the degree of skill and care 
that a reasonable director or officer would exercise in comparable circumstances. The duty of care includes, among 
other things, a duty to use reasonable means, in light of the circumstances, to obtain:

 information on the prudence of a given action requiring a director’s or officer’s approval or 
performed by virtue of such director’s or officer’s position; and

 all other important information pertaining to such action.

In respect of the duty of loyalty, our directors and officers are required to act in good faith and for the benefit 
of the company, and includes, among other things, the duty to:

 refrain from any act involving a conflict of interest between the performance of his or her duties in 
the company and his or her other duties or personal affairs;

 refrain from any activity that is competitive with the business of the Company;

 refrain from exploiting any business opportunity of the Company for the purpose of gaining a 
personal advantage for himself or herself or others; and

 disclose to the Company any information or documents relating to the company’s affairs which the 
director or officer received as a result of his or her position as a director or officer.

We may approve an act specified above that would otherwise constitute a breach of the duty of loyalty of an 
office holder, provided that the office holder acted in good faith, the act or its approval does not harm the Company, 
and the office holder discloses his or her personal interest, including any related material information or document, a 
sufficient time before the approval of such act. Any such approval is subject to the terms of the Companies Law setting 
forth, among other things, the methods of obtaining such approval.

Approval of Related Party Transactions and Disclosure of Personal Interest

Under the Companies Law, a related party transaction may be approved by the relevant corporate entities of 
the company only if it is for the benefit of the company. A transaction that is not an extraordinary transaction in which 
a director or officer has a personal interest requires the approval of the Board of Directors, unless our Articles provide 
otherwise. If the transaction is an extraordinary transaction, it must be approved by the Audit Committee and the 
Board of Directors, and, under certain circumstances, it must be further approved by the shareholders of the Company 
in the manner set forth below. An “extraordinary transaction” is defined under the Companies Law as a transaction 
other than in the ordinary course of business, that is either on other than on market terms or that may have a material 
impact on the company’s profitability, assets or liabilities.
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Extraordinary transactions in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest require the approval of 
the Audit Committee (or, in the case of compensation, indemnification or insurance of a controlling shareholder, the 
Compensation Committee), the Board of Directors and the shareholders of the Company. Shareholder approval must 
be by a simple majority of all votes cast, provided that (i) such majority includes a simple majority of the votes cast 
by non-controlling shareholders having no personal interest in the matter or (ii) the total number of votes of 
shareholders mentioned in clause (i) above who voted against such transaction does not exceed 2% of the total voting 
rights in the company. To the extent that any such transaction with a controlling shareholder is for a period extending 
beyond three (3) years and under certain conditions, five (5) years from a company’s initial public offering, approval 
is required at the end of such period unless, with respect to certain transactions, the Audit Committee determines that 
the duration of the transaction is reasonable given the circumstances related thereto.

The Companies Law generally prohibits any director who has a personal interest in an extraordinary 
transaction from being present for the discussion and voting pertaining to such transaction in the audit committee or 
board of directors, except in circumstances where the majority of the board of directors or the audit committee has a 
personal interest in the transaction, in which case such transaction also requires shareholder approval.

Pursuant to regulations promulgated under the Companies Law, certain transactions with a controlling 
shareholder or his or her relative, or with directors or other office holders, that would otherwise require approval of a 
company’s shareholders may be exempt from shareholder approval under certain conditions.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

We are incorporated under the laws of Israel, and Israeli corporate law differs significantly from Canadian 
corporate law in certain respects. See “Summary of Certain Material Aspects of Israeli Corporate Law”. Our head and 
registered office is located at 3rd Ha'Avoda Beit Shean, Israel. See “Business Overview” elsewhere in this Prospectus 
for additional information regarding our business.

History of the Business; Recent Developments

The Company was incorporated as a private company on January 22, 2008, by a family, operating in the 
agricultural plastic waste collection and trade, to establish a plastic recycling business. In early 2017, due to lower 
market prices for plastic and recycled plastic, we changed our strategy to focus on research and development activities, 
launching our first prototype production line at the end of 2017.

In September 2019, we decided to close our high density polyethylene (HDPE) resin production to focus on 
our ‘waste to product’ process. Subsequently, in January 2020, we ceased our recycled HDPE resin production. 

In early 2020, we began our marketing and brand penetration efforts outside of Israel. In February 2020, due 
to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, we encountered challenges to our ability to establish relations with potential 
business partners due to significant restrictions on international travel. The pandemic caused many enterprises to 
suspend their expansion efforts and postpone discussions regarding new products and engagements with new 
suppliers.  At the peak of the pandemic, governments imposed lockdowns in Israel and abroad, which significantly 
reduced our activities and our clients’ operations.

In March 2020, we implemented a restructuring plan and suspended our production of recycled plastic resin. 
Under this plan, we reduced our labour force by 65% and we began limiting the plant’s operations to the fulfilment of 
specific orders. In addition, we significantly reduced our marketing and sales development activities. 

On August 20 2020, the Company entered into a Note Purchase Agreement, as amended on November 15, 
2020, with Clover Wolf Capital Limited Partnership (“Clover Wolf”) for the issuance of a convertible note in the 
principal amount of US$3,000,000 (the “Convertible Note”).  For a description of the material terms of the Note 
Purchase Agreement, see “Description of Material Indebtedness”. 

On December 23, 2020, we filed an application with the Israeli patent office for a patent for our ‘waste-to-
product process. This application is currently pending the approval of the Israeli patent office and, following approval,
will provide us with certain patent protections abroad as we plan to file similar applications in other jurisdictions. No 
assurances can be given that the patent applications we have filed in Israel will be granted or that we will be successful 
in being granted patents in other jurisdictions. See “Risk Factors”.

In March 2021, the Company approved the grant of a warrant to each of Sullam and Tedea, respectively,
warrants to purchase up to 13.0% of the Company’s share capital on a fully diluted basis immediately following the 
Closing (the “Founders Warrants”).  Pursuant to the Founders Warrant each of Sullam and Tedea  have, following 
Closing, the right to purchase at a price per share equal to NIS0.01 per Ordinary Share: (i) 2.5% of the Company’s 
share capital on a fully diluted basis immediately following Closing upon the establishment of an operational 
manufacturing site outside of Israel for the production of the Company’s products, whether through the purchase of 
an existing site, construction of a new factory, or following a joint venture, partnership or entering into a sub-
contracting agreement with any third party for the production of the Company’s products in a pre-existing factory (a 
“Manufacturing Site”) within two (2) years from the Closing; (ii)  as to an additional 2.5% following the 
establishment of an additional Manufacturing Site within 2 (two) years of the Closing; and (iii) as to an additional 
1.5% if the Company’s annual revenues, based on its audited Annual Financial Statements, together with the 
Company’s proportional share in the annual revenues of a Manufacturing Site (provided the financial results of such 
Manufacturing Site are not consolidated into the Company’s audited Annual Financial Statements) for any of the 
calendar years 2021, 2022, or 2023 exceeds US$8,000,000.

On February 25, 2021 the Company completed a private placement of the Subscription Receipts to certain 
investors. See “Private Placement of Subscription Receipts”.

Concurrent with the Offering, the Company intends to complete a private placement of Class A Units to 
certain investors based in Israel. See “Private Placement of Class A Units”. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS

The following management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) provides information concerning our 
financial condition and results of operations as at September 30, 2020 and the three and nine month period ended 
September 30, 2019, and the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. This MD&A should be read in 
conjunction with our Annual Financial Statements and our Interim Financial Statements. This MD&A contains 
forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including statements regarding 
anticipated developments in future financial periods and our plans and objectives. There can be no assurance that such 
information will prove to be accurate, and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking 
statements. See “Forward-Looking Information” and “Risk Factors”. 

Basis of Presentation

Our Annual Financial Statements and Interim Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and, unless otherwise noted, all dollar 
amounts in this MD&A are expressed in U.S. dollars in thousands (other than share and per share amounts). All 
references in this MD&A to “Fiscal 2019” are to our fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, “Fiscal 2018 ” to our 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, “Q3 2020” to the three (3) and nine (9) month period ended September 30, 
2020, and “Q3 2019” to the three (3) and nine (9) month period ended September 30, 2019.

This MD&A is presented as of the date of this Prospectus and is current to that date unless otherwise stated. 

Foreign Exchange

Our Annual Financial Statements and Interim Financial Statements are presented in U.S. dollars in thousands, 
while the functional currency of the Company is the NIS. Once we commence exports out of Israel and establish new 
activities outside of Israel, we will be impacted by currency fluctuations as we expect that a significant portion of our
revenues will be in currency other than the NIS. 

The following is a summary of the U.S. dollars exchange rates to the NIS, according to the Bank of Israel:

3 months Ended 9 months Ended 12 months Ended

US$1.00 converted to NIS
September 

30, 2020
September 

30, 2019
September 30, 

2020
September 

30, 2019
December 31, 

2019
December 31, 

2018

Highest rate during the period 3.478 3.575 3.862 3.746 3.746 3.7810
Lowest rate during the period 3.353 3.4790 3.353 3.479 3.457 3.388
Average rate for the period 3.4172 3.5266 3.4785 3.5885 3.5645 3.5949
Rate at the end of the period 3.441 3.482 3.441 3.482 3.456 3.748

Non-IFRS Financial Measures 

This MD&A makes reference to certain non-IFRS financial measures including Adjusted EBITDA. This 
measure is not a recognized measure under International Financial Reporting Standards (‘‘IFRS’’). There is no 
prescribed definition of this measure and it is therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by 
other companies. Rather, this measure is provided as additional information to supplement IFRS measures by 
providing further understanding of our results of operations from management’s perspective. Accordingly, this 
measure should neither be considered in isolation nor as a substitute for analysis of our financial information reported 
under IFRS. This non-IFRS financial measure can also provide investors with supplemental measure of our operating 
performance and thus highlight trends in our core business that may not otherwise be apparent when relying solely on 
IFRS measures. We also believe that securities analysts, investors and other interested parties frequently use non-
IFRS financial measures in the evaluation of issuers. Our management also uses this non-IFRS financial measure in 
order to facilitate operating performance comparisons from period to period, to prepare annual operating budgets and 
forecasts and to determine components of management compensation. As required by Canadian securities laws, we 
reconcile this non-IFRS financial measure to the most comparable IFRS measure.
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Forward-Looking Information

Some of the information contained in this MD&A is forward-looking information. This information is based 
on management’s assumptions and beliefs, which we believe to be reasonable in light of the information currently 
available to us, and is made as of the date of this MD&A. However, we do not undertake to update any such 
forward-looking information whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be 
required under applicable securities laws. Actual results and the timing of events may differ materially from those 
anticipated in this information as a result of various factors. See “Forward-looking Information” and “Risk Factors” 
elsewhere in this Prospectus for a discussion of the uncertainties, risks and assumptions associated with this 
information.

Business Overview

We are an environmental technology company based in Israel that has developed an industrial process to 
recycle post-consumed polyethylene (plastic) bags and sheets.

Our recycling and production unit, which integrates the production of finished goods with the recycling 
process itself, is designed to reduce the cost of plastic raw material and increase the profit margin per metric ton of 
recycled plastic. . The equipment required to carry out our industrial process can be modified to be installed in existing 
facilities. Our process results in the production of a finished product, for use in various applications, including, 
initially, in the construction industry. See “Business Overview – Initial Focus on Global Construction Market”.

Corporate History 

The Company was incorporated on January 22, 2008 to create a plastic recycling company. By 2012, we had 
become a recycling company for post-consumed agricultural plastic waste such as greenhouse covering plastic sheets, 
land covering plastic sheets, irrigation pipes, planting trays, plastic bottles and containers, which were recycled and 
converted into plastic granules. In early 2017, as a result of lower market prices for plastic and recycled plastic, we 
changed our strategy to focus on research and development, as well as product development, launching our first 
prototype production line at the end of 2017.

See “Corporate Structure – History of the Business; Recent Developments” elsewhere in this Prospectus for 
additional information regarding our business.

Corporate Highlights

In November 2020, we conducted a strategic analysis of our business and the ecosystem within which it 
operates. Following the analysis, we decided to focus our efforts on three key objectives: (i) initiating joint ventures 
with local strategic partners outside of Israel; (ii) direct sales of our products to local and international markets; and 
(iii) adding additional verticals using the injection of slow flow polyethylene and additional sheet based products.

Recent Developments

On November 15, 2020, the Company amended the Note Purchase Agreement. For a description of the 
material terms of the Note Purchase Agreement, see “Description of Material Indebtedness”.

On February 25, 2021, the Company completed a private placement of 4,334,862 Subscription Receipts
pursuant to prospectus and registration exemptions at a price of C$0.29 per Subscription Receipt for aggregate gross 
proceeds of C$1,257,109.98.  See “Private Placement of Subscription Receipts”.

See “Corporate Structure — History of the Business; Recent Developments” elsewhere in this Prospectus.
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Summary of Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations

Our ability to continue to grow our business and enhance our financial performance depends on our ability 
to: (i) successfully utilize our ‘waste-to-product’ process and “know-how” to manufacture new products; and (ii) 
improve our manufacturing capacity by entering into strategic partnerships internationally. Our success depends on 
our ability to efficiently produce our products, maintain our technological advantages, adapt to changing regulatory 
regimes, continue to develop new products (and production processes for new segments) and enter into successful 
strategic partnerships locally and internationally. 

Maintaining Our Technological Advantage

The success of our business depends on our ability to continue to take advantage of our “know-how” and 
unique one-step ‘waste-to-product’ process to develop a variety of new high quality products. In addition, in order to 
maintain our technological advantage we will have to form and maintain strategic relationships with leading 
technological partners, academic institutions and individuals, among others. Furthermore, we will need to keep our 
production process highly cost-efficient in comparison to other actors in the industry and also in comparison to virgin 
plastic manufacturers. 

Strategic Relationships

Our continued success and ability to become an industry leader in the recycling and production of plastic 
products will depend to a large extent on our ability to form and maintain long-term relationships with waste 
management companies, distributors, agents and local governments. These relationships allow us to secure a 
sustainable and long-term supply of raw materials and distribute our products.

Adapting to Changing Legal and Regulatory Regimes

The recycling industry as well as the plastic production industries are both heavily regulated. The industry is 
heavily dependent on incentive programs from national and local governments to encourage activities as well as 
regulations restricting waste dumping and incineration, while, at the same time, subject to restrictions and regulations 
for industrial corporations. The use of our products in certain verticals may be subject to different regulations and 
standards that may differ from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and may impact our ability to distribute our products. 

The Availability of Plastic Waste

We are highly dependent on the availability of post-consumed polyethylene bags and sheets and any material 
change in the availability and percentage of plastic in the composition of domestic waste or changes in the regulatory 
environment affecting the usage of plastic sheets and bags may have a material effect on our business.

How We Assess the Performance of Our Business

The key financial measures indicated below are used by management in evaluating and assessing the 
performance of our business. We refer to certain key performance indicators used by management and typically used 
by our competitors in the plastic recycling and relevant plastic products market, certain of which are not recognized 
under IFRS. These non-IFRS financial measures which are used by management do not have any standardized 
meaning prescribed by IFRS and may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. See “Non-
IFRS Financial Measures” above in this MD&A as well as “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” elsewhere in this 
Prospectus.

Revenues from Sales

The Company primarily operates in the plastic recycling industry which currently includes sales of our 
products to the construction industry. We recognize revenues from sales at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, net of estimated sales incentives that were provided to customers and excluding taxes and/or duties. 
Revenue is recognized when the customer takes ownership of the product, title has transferred, all the risks of 
ownership have transferred to the customer, recovery of consideration is probable and we have satisfied our 
performance obligations under the arrangement and have no ongoing involvement with the product. Revenues are 
therefore recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to us and the revenues can be reliably 
measured, regardless of when the payment is received.
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Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues consists of our production costs which are comprised primarily of labour, energy, materials, 
consumables, consultants, water and sludge treatment, overhead, maintenance, lease of a plant building, lease of 
facilities and equipment, city taxes, insurance, amortization on production equipment, shipping, packaging and other 
expenses required to produce our products sold during the period. Cost of revenues related to the recycling of plastic 
waste and production of our final products to the point at which the products are packed and ready for delivery are 
capitalized and included in the value of inventory. Once goods are sold, the associated capitalized costs are recognized 
as production costs. Gross profit (loss) represents profit (loss) earned before the net revenue from sales of products 
less the cost of revenues. 

Gross Loss

Gross loss represents the loss incurred from the production activity of the Company and is the outcome of
the total sales net of the cost of sales expenses of the Company.

Development Expenses

Development expenses consist of costs related to the development of production processes, production 
improvements, new products and machinery improvements and adoption. Such expenses may include, inter alia, 
related salary expenses, cost of materials, consultants, laboratory tests and field testing. Development expenses do not 
include the total amount of supporting grants received from the IIA. See “Certain Regulatory Matters”.  

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales expenses consist of costs incurred as part of the act of sale, including transportation costs for the 
delivery of the sold goods and agent fees. Marketing expenses consist of costs related to the activities and efforts to 
increase the Company’s sales, such as, related salaries, publishing, conventions, traveling, advertising, internet site, 
brochures, products samples, advisors and agents.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses are incurred in the day-to-day operations of the Company and may not 
be directly tied to a specific function within the Company. Such expenses may include, inter alia, lease payments, 
utilities, insurance, legal fees, audit fees, communication expenses and employee salaries.

Operating Loss

Operating loss represents the loss incurred from operations and is the outcome of the total sales net of the 
operating expenses of the Company. The calculation of operating loss does not include the effects of financial expenses 
or taxes.

Finance Expenses, Net

Finance expenses, net consists of expenses incurred in the course of the Company’s financial activities, such 
as loans, bank account maintenance, and business transactions executed in different currencies. Such expenses may 
include, inter alia, expenses and income from interest, expenses and income from exchange rates, bank fees and 
commissions.

Net Loss

Net loss represents the loss incurred from all income and expenses of the Company of any kind, and is 
computed as the total income of the Company less its total expenses.
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Adjusted EBITDA

Management defines Adjusted EBITDA as the income (loss) from operations, as reported, before interest 
and tax, adjusted by removing other non-recurring or non-cash items, including impairment of fixed assets, realized 
fair value adjustments on inventory sold in the period, share-based compensation expense, and depreciation, 
amortization and impairment costs included in operating expenses. Management believes Adjusted EBITDA is a 
useful financial metric to assess its operating performance on a cash adjusted basis before the impact of non-recurring 
or non-cash items.

Selected Financial Information

The following table sets out a summary of our results of operations for Q3 2020, Q3 2019, Fiscal 2019 and 
Fiscal 2018, as well as selected balance sheet data as at the end of Fiscal 2019 and end of Fiscal 2018. The selected 
financial information for Q3 2020 and Q3 2019 has been derived from our unaudited Interim Financial Statements. 
The selected financial information for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018 is derived from our audited Annual Financial 
Statements.

Three months 
ended

Nine months 
ended

Year ended

September 30, September 30,
December 

31, 
December 

31, 

2020 2019 2020 2019 2019 2018

U.S. dollars in 
thousands

U.S. dollars in 
thousands

U.S. dollars in 
thousands

Revenues from sales 172 414 710 1,183 1,510 1,578

Cost of sales 436 653 1,452 2,033 2,828 3,090 

Gross loss (264) (239) (742) (850) (1,318) (1,512)

Development expenses (less Government 
grants)

19 30 62 (7) 20 228 

Selling and marketing expenses 26 98 115 307 366 258 

General and administrative expenses 301 126 684 404 552 791 

Other expenses, net (9) - 5 - - -

Operating loss (601) (493) (1,608) (1,554) (2,256) (2,789)

Finance expenses, net (364) (42) (444) (113) (154) (222)

Loss (965) (535) (2,052) (1,667) (2,410) (3,011)

Other comprehensive loss (income) (net of tax 
effect):

- -

Amounts that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:

- -

Adjustments arising from translating financial 
statements from functional currency to 
presentation currency

8 33 (2) 89 85 (9)

Total comprehensive loss (957) (502) (2,054) (1,578) (2,325) (3,020)
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September 30, December 31, 

2020 2019 2019 2018

Unaudited Audited

U.S. dollars in 
thousands

U.S. dollars in 
thousands

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,640 34 55 40 

Restricted cash - 35 36 33 

Trade receivables 320 709 508 649 

Other accounts receivable 172 45 55 134 

Inventories 78 133 144 137 

3,210 956 798 993 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:

Long term - deposits 67 66 66 61 

Right-of-use assets 1,029 1,163 1,127 1,162 

Property, plant and equipment, net 1,712 1,813 1,786 1,719 

2,808 3,042 2,979 2,942 

6,018 3,998 3,777 3,935 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Credit from banks 95 (113) 148 157

Current maturities of lease liabilities 111 (141) 131 104

Trade payables 375 - 586 906

Other accounts payable 587 (748) 524 588

Convertible Note 3,010 (478)

4,178 (1,480) 1,389 1,755

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Lease liabilities (1,022) (1,088) 1,071 1,096

Other liabilities (186) (178) 168 90

Warrant (158) - - -

(1,366) (1,266) 1,239 1,186

EQUITY:

Share capital and share premium (35,697) (33,743) 34,376 31,000

Shareholders' loans - - - 906
Adjustments arising from translating financial 

statements from    functional currency to presentation 
currency

(74) (72) 76 (9)

Reserve from share-based payment transactions (72) (12) 14 4

Accumulated deficit 35,369 32,575 (33,317) (30,907)

Total equity (deficit) (474) (1,252) 1,149 994

(6,018) (3,998) 3,777 3,935
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Results of Operation

Analysis of Results for Q3 2020, Q3 2019, Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018.

IFRS Measures

Revenues from Sales

Revenues from sales for the three (3) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 were 
US$172 and US$414, respectively. For the nine (9) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, 
revenues from sales were US$710 and US$1,183, respectively. The decrease in revenue from sales mainly resulted 
from the shutdown of our plastic raw material manufacturing vertical.

Revenues from sales for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018 were US$1,510, and US$1,578, respectively. In Fiscal 
2019, the Company sold plastic sheets based products in the total amount of US$1,257, as opposed to US$1,086 in 
Fiscal 2018. The sales of plastic raw materials in 2019 were US$289 as opposed to US$495 in 2018. The decrease in 
revenue from sales of raw materials resulted from the reduction of our presence in the raw materials production market 
combined with a decrease in raw material prices in 2019.

Cost of Sales

Costs of sales for the three (3) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 were US$436 and 
US$653, respectively. For the nine (9) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, costs of sales were 
US$1,452 and US$2,033, respectively. The decrease in cost of sales mainly resulted from the shutdown of the plastic 
raw material manufacturing vertical, combined with the reorganization of the Company in March 2020. See “Business 
Overview”.

Cost of sales for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018 were US$2,828, and US$3,090, respectively. The decrease in 
cost of sales mainly resulted from the shutdown of the plastic raw material manufacturing vertical.

Gross Loss

Gross losses for the three (3) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 were US$264 and 
US$239, respectively. For the nine (9) month periods ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, gross losses 
were US$742 and US$850, respectively. The decrease in gross losses was mainly attributed to the shutdown of the 
plastic raw material manufacturing vertical, combined with the reorganization of the Company in March 2020.

Nine months ended Year ended

September 30 December 31

2020 2019 2019 2018

Unaudited Audited

Adjusted EBITDA - Loss
U.S. dollars in 

thousands 
U.S. dollars in 

thousands 

Operating loss (1,608) (1,554) (2,256) (2,789)

Depreciation and amortization
                   

263 
                   

259 
                         

348 
                    

295

Shares based compensation
                     

58 
                       

8 
                           

10 
                        

4 

Valuation losses (gains) of Convertible Note and Warrants
                   

168 
                      

-   
                            

-   
                       

-   

Adjusted EBITDA - Loss
           

(1,119)
           

(1,287)
               

(1,898)
           

(2,490)
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Gross losses for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018 were US$1,318, and US$1,512, respectively. The decrease in 
gross losses was mainly due to the Company’s decision to gradually reduce its presence in the raw material production 
market. Furthermore, gross losses in Fiscal 2019 decreased due to an increase of revenues from plastic sheets based 
products on the account of revenues generated from plastic raw materials.

Development Expenses (less Government grants)

Development expenses for the three (3) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 were 
US$19 and US$30, respectively. For the nine (9) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, 
development expenses were US$62 and US$(7), respectively.

Development expenses for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018 were US$20, and US$228, respectively.

Development costs, include, inter alia, labor, materials and energy costs involved with development activity 
as well as laboratory tests, advisory fees and all other costs incurred in the Company's process and products 
developments, net of grants received from the IIA in connection with such developments.  Development grants 
received from the IIA for Q3 2019 were US$86 and for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018 US$89 and US$80, respectively.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses for the three (3) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 
were US$26 and US$98, respectively. For the nine (9) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, 
sales and marketing expenses were US$115 and US$307, respectively. The decrease in sales and marketing expenses 
was mainly due to the halt of marketing activities in response to the COVID-19 outbreak, as well as the reduction in 
sales expenses as a result of the sales decrease in the plastic raw material vertical.

Sales and marketing expenses for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018 were US$366 and US$258, respectively. The 
increase of sales and marketing expenses in Fiscal 2019 was mainly due to the execution of the management’s 
branding and marketing plans executed to support the launch of our new plastic sheet-based products. Such plans 
included the hiring of an additional marketing officer and the production of new marketing materials as well as the 
participation in relevant international professional conventions.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses, for the three (3) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 
2019 were US$301 and US$126, respectively. For the nine (9) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 
2019, general and administrative expenses were US$684 and US$404, respectively. The increase in general and 
administrative expenses for these periods was mainly to due to one-time expenses in connection with the Company’s 
new branding, certain investment banking activities and the recruitment of Mr. Shmulik Porre as the Company’s Chief 
Executive Officer. 

General and administrative expenses for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018 were US$552 and US$791, 
respectively. The decrease in general and administrative expenses in Fiscal 2019 was mainly due to a decrease of 
approximately US$178 in provision for bad debt made in Fiscal 2018, a decrease in professional advisory expenses 
of approximately US$87 due to payments made in Fiscal 2018 to the former Chairman of the board and Chief 
Executive Officer, taking into account the offsetting of an increase in labor expenses of approximately US$65 and an 
additional increase in the depreciation of vehicles in Fiscal 2019 as opposed to Fiscal 2018.

Operating Losses

Operating losses for the three (3) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 were US$601 
and US$493, respectively. For the nine (9) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, operating 
losses were US$1,608 and US$1,554, respectively. The increase in the operating losses for the periods was due to 
several one-time expenses in connection with the rebranding of the Company and certain investment banking 
activities, taking into account a deduction of the decrease in expenses due to the efficiency measures implemented by 
management as well as the closing of the plastic raw material manufacturing segment.
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Operating losses for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018 were US$2,256, and US$2,789, respectively. The decrease 
in operating losses was mainly due to the change of sales composition and an increase in the sales of plastic sheet 
based products on account of the sales of raw materials.

Financial Expenses.

Financial expenses for the three months (3) ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 were US$364 
and US$42, respectively. For the nine (9) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, financial 
expenses were US$444 and US$113, respectively. Financial expenses for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018 were US$154, 
and US$222, respectively. The increase in financial expenses was mainly due to finance expenses related to leases 
and governmental grants. We note that in Fiscal 2019 the Company implemented IFRS 16 on leases for the first time.

Losses

Losses for the three months (3) ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 were US$965 and 
US$535, respectively. For the nine (9) months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, losses were 
US$2,052 and US$1,667, respectively. The increase in losses for the periods was due to several one-time expenses in 
connection with the rebranding of the Company and certain investment banking activities, taking into account a 
deduction of the decrease in expenses due to the efficiency measures implemented by management as well as the 
closing of the plastic raw material manufacturing segment.

Losses for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018 were US$2,410, and US$3,011, respectively. The decrease in losses 
was mainly due to the change of sales composition and an increase in the sales of plastic sheet based products on 
account of the sales of raw materials.

Loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to holders of ordinary shares of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the applicable period.

Diluted loss per share is determined by adjusting the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares, 
which include convertible notes and options and warrants issued to shareholders, employees, directors and consultants.
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Basic loss per share

The computation of basic loss per share was based on the net loss attributable to ordinary shares divided by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the applicable period.

Three 
months 
ended

Nine months 
ended

Year ended

September 
30,

September 
30,

December 
31, 

December 
31, 

2020 2019 2020 2019 2019 2018

Unaudited Unaudited Audited Audited

U.S. dollars 
in 

thousands

U.S. dollars 
in thousands

U.S. dollars in 
thousands

Net loss used in computation of basic earnings per share  
                       

965 
                       

535 
                   

2,052 
                   

1,667 
                   

2,410 
                   

3,011 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
                       

629 
                       

621 
                       

629 
                       

593 
                       

602 
                       

579

Basic loss per share
                      

1.53 
                      

0.86 
                      

3.26 
                      

2.81 
                      

4.00 
                      

5.21 

Number of 
shares in 

thousands

Number of 
shares in 

thousands

Number of shares in 
thousands

Balance at the beginning of the year   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
. . . . . . . . 

629 579 629 579 579 578

The effect of conversion of Shareholders loans to 
ordinary shares  . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

- 42 - 14 23 1

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in 
computation of basic loss per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

629 621 629 593 602 579
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The computation of diluted loss per share was based on the net loss attributed to the ordinary shares divided 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, after adjustment for all potentially dilutive ordinary 
shares, as follows:

Three 
months 
ended

Nine months 
ended

Year ended

September 
30,

September 
30,

December 
31, 

December 
31, 

2020 2019 2020 2019 2019 2018

Unaudited Unaudited Audited Audited

U.S. dollars 
in thousands

U.S. dollars 
in thousands

U.S. dollars in 
thousands

Net loss used in computation of basic and 
diluted earnings per share  

                       
965 

                       
535 

                   
2,052 

                   
1,667 

                   
2,410 

                   
3,011 

Number of 
shares in 

thousands

Number of 
shares in 

thousands

Number of shares in 
thousands

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used 
in computation of basic and diluted loss per share

629 621 629 593 602 579

U.S. dollars U.S. dollars U.S. dollars

Diluted Loss per share:
                      
1.53 

                      
0.86 

                      
3.26 

                      
2.81 

                      
4.00 

                      
5.21 

Non-IFRS Financial Measures

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA for the nine (9) month periods ended September 30 2020 and September 30, 2019 
amounted to a loss of US$1,119 and US$1287, respectively. This decrease in Adjusted EBITDA loss was mainly due 
to lower operating losses for the nine (9) months ended September 2020 as opposed to nine (9) months ended 2019, 
mainly due to the restructuring made in Q1 2020 and the termination of the raw material production and sales activity. 
Adjusted EBITDA for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018 amounted to a loss of US$1,898 and US$2,490, respectively. The 
decrease in Adjusted EBITDA loss was mainly due to lower operating losses for Fiscal 2019 as opposed to Fiscal 
2018, mainly due to the Company’s restructuring plan.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

The Company believes it has sufficient liquidity to support continued operations and to meet its short-term 
liabilities and commitments as they become due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by monitoring its operating
requirements. The Company prepares budget and cash forecasts to ensure it has sufficient funds to fulfill obligations. 
In managing working capital, the Company may, where necessary, limit or control the amount of working capital used 
for operations or other initiatives, pursue additional financing, manage the timing of its expenditures or sell assets.

The Company is not subject to any financial ratio maintenance covenants in its bank borrowings or other 
outstanding debt obligations. To maintain current operational capacity, additional sources of capital and/or financing 
will be required to meet planned growth and to fund our development activities. Liquidity will fluctuate based on 
demand for working capital resources required for these initiatives.



45

The Company’s expected sources of capital consist of the proceeds of this Offering. See “Use of Proceeds”. 
Additional capital resources may be raised from bank borrowings and loans or grants from governmental institutions. 
Currently, the Company cannot estimate the nature, amounts and probability of receiving any such loans or grants. 
The Company intends to submit additional grant applications to the IIA in connection with future research and 
development programs. Currently, the Company cannot estimate the probability of receiving IIA approval for such 
grants and the expected amounts of such grants.

Financial Instruments

As of September 30, 2020, the Company had available cash and cash equivalents of US$2,640, as opposed 
to US$55, at the end of Fiscal 2019. The increase was mainly due to the cash proceeds from the issuance of the
Convertible Note under the Note Purchase Agreement in August 2020 and additional investments by the Principal 
Shareholders in the aggregate amount of US$1,321.

As of September 30, 2019, the Company had available cash and cash equivalents of US$34, as opposed to 
US$40, at the end of Fiscal 2018. The increase was mainly due to the cash proceeds from additional investments by 
the Principal Shareholders in the aggregate amount of US$1,837.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had available cash and cash equivalents of US$55, as opposed to 
US$40, at the end of Fiscal 2018. The increase was mainly due to the cash proceeds from additional investments by 
the Principal Shareholders in the aggregate amount of US$2,470.

The Company does not utilize any financial instruments other than bank deposits.  The Company maintains 
bank accounts in Euro, U.S. dollar and NIS in accordance with the expected future use of funds. To date, the Company 
has not hedged its exposure to currency fluctuations.

See “Corporate Structure — History of the Business; Recent Developments” elsewhere in this Prospectus.

Working Capital

The table below sets out the cash and cash equivalents, working capital (deficit) and current and long-term 
debt and bank credit at September 30, 2020 compared to September 30, 2019, and the end of Fiscal 2019 compared 
to the end of Fiscal 2018.

September 30, December 31,

2020 2019 2019 2018

Unaudited Audited

U.S. dollars in thousands U.S. dollars in thousands 

Cash and cash equivalents 2,640 34 55 40

Working capital (deficit) including 
cash & cash equivalents and 
convertible notes liability

       (968)         (524)         (591)         (762)

Current & long term debt & 
convertible note liability          3,449            291            316            234

The Company’s working capital deficit, including cash and cash equivalents, as of September 30, 2020 and 
September 30, 2019 was US$968 and US$524, respectively.

The increase was mainly due to proceeds used to finance the deficit originated by the net loss of the Company 
during that period, capital investments and net of cash proceeds from additional investments by the Principal
Shareholders and the issuance of the Convertible Note.

The increase in the Company’s working capital deficit is mainly composed of an increase of cash and cash 
equivalents of US$2,606, a decrease in credit from banks and current maturities of lease liabilities in the amount of 
US$48, a decrease in trade and other account payables in the total amount of US$264, net of a decrease of 
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approximately US$389 in accounts receivables, a decrease of inventories in the amount of US$55 and an increase of 
in convertible notes in the amount of US$3,168.

The decrease in accounts receivables as well as in accounts payable was mainly due to the decrease in the 
production and sales activity of the Company in the period as a result of the closing of the plastic raw material line of 
business.

The Company’s working capital deficit including cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2019 and 
December 31, 2018 was US$591 and US$762, respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the cash proceeds from 
additional investment by the Principal Shareholders, net of proceeds used to finance company’s net loss and capital 
investments in the period.

The decrease in the Company’s working capital deficit is mainly composed of a decrease in account and 
other payables of US$384 and of a decrease in accounts receivables of approximately US$141.

The decrease in accounts receivables was mainly as a result of the closing of the plastic raw material activity, 
and the increase in inventories was mainly due to the Company’s decision to maintain higher inventory levels of sheet 
based products in order to meet its customer’s demands.

The Company's management and Board of Directors estimate, after analyzing the finance and liquidity 
resources of the Company, that the Company has the financial stability to continue its operations for the next twelve 
months. This estimation is based on, among other things, the measures undertaken by the Company to save costs and 
reduce the number of employees, funds raised during the reported period in a total amount of US$3,000,000 under the 
Convertible Note, as well as the current cash balance of the Company.

Cash Flows

The Company’s sources of cash include cash generated primarily from financing activities and available bank 
borrowings, convertible notes and other capital raising activities, as well as cash generated from our revenues. Our 
positive cash flows from bank borrowings, convertible notes and capital raising are expected to provide the Company 
with enough working capital to meet its short-term financial commitments as they become due.

The table below highlights the Company’s cash flows for nine (9) month periods ended September 30, 2020 
and September 30, 2019, and for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018.

Cash Flow Statements
Nine months ended Year Ended

September 30, December 31,

2020 2019 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities:

Loss (2,052) (1,667) (2,410) (3,011)

Adjustments to the profit or loss items: 

Depreciation and amortization 263 259 348 295 

Cost of share-based payment 58 8 10 4 

Finance expense (income), net 133 110 141 170 
Valuation losses (gains) of Convertible Note and 
Warrants 168 0 0 0 

622 377 499 469 
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Changes in asset and liability items:

Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 188 (11) 190 (393)

Decrease (increase) in other accounts receivable (115) 95 87 15 

Decrease (increase) in inventories 66 15 5 48 

Increase (decrease) in trade payable (211) (228) (392) (101)

Increase (decrease) in other accounts payable 55 (165) (135) 19 

(17) (294) (245) (412)

Cash paid and received during the year for: 

Interest paid (92) (88) (117) (126)

Interest received

Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities (1,539) (1,672) (2,362) (3,080)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Investment in bank deposits - - - (34)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (68) (101) (109) (412)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment - - - 23 

Withdrawal of bank deposits 35 - - -

Net cash provided by (used in) investing 
activities (33) (101) (109) (423)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Receipt of grants from the IIA - 86 86 83 

Repayment of grants received from the IIA (20) (17) (17) (13)
Repayment of long-term loans and other 
liabilities - (13) (13) 138)
Repayment of short-term credit from banks and 
others, net (53) (40) (7) 36

Repayment of lease liabilities (88) (97) (129) (93)

Receipt of shareholders loans - - - 2,036 

Capital investment 1,321 1,837 2,470 1,504 

Receipt of Convertible Note and Warrants 3,000 - - -

Net cash provided by (used in) financing 
activities 4,160 1,756 2,390 3,415 

Exchange rate differences on balances of cash 
and cash equivalents (3) 11 7 27 
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Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,585 (6) 15 (61)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the year 55 40 40 101 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2,640 34 55 40 

Analysis of Cash Flows for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020 compared to the nine-month period 
ended September 30, 2019, and for Fiscal 2019 compared to Fiscal 2018

The Company’s sources of cash include cash generated primarily from financing activities, net of cash 
expenses used for financing the Company’s loss from its operation and proceeds used for its investing activities in 
each of the reported periods.

Net cash used for operating activities of the Company amounted to US$1,539, US$1,672, US$2,362 and 
US$3,080 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 and for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018, respectively. 
The decrease in cash used for operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, as opposed to 2019 
was mainly due to mainly due to the restructuring made in Q1 2020 and the termination of the raw material production 
and sale activity. The decrease in cash used for operating activities for Fiscal 2019 compared to Fiscal 2018 is mainly 
due to the increase in the plastic sheet based final products activity on the expense of the raw materials production 
activity.

Net cash used for investing activities of the Company amounted to of US$33, US$101, US$109 and US$423 
for the nine months ended September 30 2020 and 2019 and for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2020, respectively. Investment 
were made in property and equipment.

Main cash and cash equivalents generated from the Company's financing activity consisted of: (1) capital 
investments from shareholders in the amounts of US$1,321, US$1,837, US$2,470 and US$1,504 for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 and for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2018, respectively, (2) loans received from 
shareholders in the amount of US$2,036 in Fiscal 2018 and (3) the issuance of a convertible note in August 2020 in 
the amount of US$3,000. Our cash flows from these capital raisings are expected to provide the Company with enough 
working capital to meet its short-term financial commitments as they become due.

Fourth Quarter Events

On November 15, 2020, the Company amended the Note Purchase Agreement. For a description of the 
material terms of the Note Purchase Agreement, see “Description of Material Indebtedness”. 

Capital Expenditures

Net capital expenditure of the Company amounted to US$33,000, US$101,000, US$109,000 and 
US$423,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 and for Fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
Capital expenditures at the period as aforesaid were mainly in machinery improvements and adaptations, establishing 
machinery backup and replacement parts and additional required machinery.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Guarantees

In connection with the lease agreement for our premises in Beit She’an, as security for compliance with the 
Company’s obligations, the Company provided its landlord with: (i) a bank guarantee in the amount of approximately 
NIS 128,000 in favor of the landlord (the amount underlying the bank guarantee is linked to the consumer price index); 
and (ii) two promissory notes in the aggregate amount of NIS 597,500.
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Share Incentive Plan

The Company’s share incentive plan, adopted on January 7, 2021 (the “Plan”), offers our executive officers, 
directors, eligible employees and non-employee consultants equity-based or equity-like compensation which has 
historically been awarded in the form of stock options. See “Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation —
Principal Elements of Compensation — Share Incentive Plan” for more information.

Related Party Transactions

As at 
September 30, As at December 31,

2020 2019 2019 2018

Unaudited Audited

U.S. dollars 
in thousands 

U.S. dollars in 
thousands 

Other accounts receivables..........................................................
0 18 14 0

Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities ............................
8 8 15 20

Commencing on January 2018 and continuing through September 30, 2020, the Company has sold products 
to Nitzavim Ltd., an Israeli private company owned by Tedea Technological Development and Automation Ltd. 
(“Tedea”) in the aggregate amount of US$85. The contract was reviewed and approved by the Company’s independent 
board members which confirmed that it was entered into on market terms. 

Danny Haklai, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, provides his services to the Company as an 
independent contractor pursuant to a consulting agreement between the Company and Mordechai Haklai & Sons 
(1998) CPA Company, effective as of September 1, 2020.

In March 2021 the Company issued the Founders Warrants to Tedea and Sullam Holdings L.R. Ltd. 
(“Sullam”). See “Corporate Structure – History of the Business; Recent Developments”.

Risk Factors

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to a number of financial risks and business related-
risks. The Company’s primary risk management objective is to protect its income and cash flows and, ultimately, 
shareholder value. Given the nature of the Company’s position in the Israeli market, and ordinary course risks such as 
credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk, and interest rate risk are not material to the Company at this time. The 
Company has risk management strategies in place which are designed to ensure the Company’s risks and the related 
exposures are consistent with its business objectives and risk tolerance. See “Risk Factors”.

Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of the Annual Financial Statements and Interim Financial Statements in conformity with 
IFRS requires management to make various judgments and estimates in applying the Company’s accounting policies 
that affect the reported amounts and disclosures made in the Company’s financial statements and accompanying notes. 
Management continually evaluates the estimates and assumptions it uses. These judgements and estimates are based 
on management’s historical experience, knowledge of current events and conditions and other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and 
assumptions described in this section depend upon subjective or complex judgement that may be uncertain and 
changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially impact the Company’s financial statements. The 
following are the accounting policies that are subject to judgments and estimates.
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Discount Rate for a Lease Liability

When the Company is unable to readily determine the discount rate implicit in a lease in order to measure 
the lease liability, the Company uses an incremental borrowing rate. That rate represents the rate of interest that the 
Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar term and with similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an 
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. When there are no financing 
transactions that can serve as a basis, the Company determines the incremental borrowing rate based on its credit risk, 
the lease term and other economic variables deriving from the lease contract's conditions and restrictions. In certain 
situations, the Company is assisted by an external valuation expert in determining the incremental borrowing rate.

Grants from the Israel Innovation Authority

Government grants received from the IIA are recognized as a liability if future economic benefits are 
expected from the research and development activity that will result in royalty-bearing sales. There is uncertainty 
regarding the estimated future cash flows used to measure the amount of the liability.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

The Company evaluates the need to record an impairment of property, plant and equipment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount is not recoverable. This requires management to estimate 
the recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment is their fair value less costs of sale based on a 
valuation of an appraiser. The valuation takes into consideration the mechanical condition of the assets, their level of 
maintenance, hours of operation and year of manufacture. The valuation measures fair value using a market approach 
based on current prices and other relevant information generated from recent market transactions involving 
comparable assets. This information is subject to change due to possible future changes in market conditions that are 
uncertain and difficult to estimate. These changes could have a material impact on the fair value of these assets.

Lease Extension Options

In evaluating whether it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise an option to extend a lease, the 
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive for the Company to do so, 
such as: significant amounts invested in leasehold improvements, the significance of the underlying asset to the 
Company's operation and whether it is a specialized asset, the Company's past experience with similar leases, etc.

Upon its commencement, the Company reassesses the term of the lease upon the occurrence of a significant 
event or a significant change in circumstances that affects whether the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an 
option or not exercise an option previously included in the determination of the lease term, such as significant 
leasehold improvements that had not been anticipated on the lease commencement date, sublease of the underlying 
asset for a period that exceeds the end of the previously determined lease period, etc.

Adoption of Accounting Standards 

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 are the first the Company has prepared in 
accordance with IFRS. For the periods up to and including the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company prepared 
its financial statements in accordance with local generally accepted accounting principles (Israeli GAAP). 
Accordingly, the Company has prepared financial statements that comply with IFRS applicable as at December 31, 
2019, together with the comparative period data for the year ended December 31, 2018. In preparing the financial 
statements, the Company’s opening statement of financial position was prepared as of January 1, 2018, the date of the 
Company’s transition to IFRS. For further information see our Annual Financial Statements for the period ending
December 31, 2019, and in particular, “Note 22: Reconciliation between Israeli GAAP and IFRS” thereto. 
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Accounting Standards Implemented in Fiscal 2020

Amendment to IFRS 16, "Leases":

In view of the global coronavirus crisis, in May 2020, the IASB issued "COVID-19-Related Rent 
Concessions - Amendment to IFRS 16, Leases" (the “IFRS 16 Lease Amendment”). The objective of the IFRS 16 
Lease Amendment is to allow a lessee to apply a practical expedient according to which COVID-19 related rent 
concessions will not be accounted for as lease modifications but as variable lease payments. The relief applies to 
lessees only.

The IFRS 16 Lease Amendment applies only to COVID-19 related rent concessions and only if all of the 
following conditions are met:

The revised future lease payments are substantially the same or less than the original lease payments 
immediately preceding the change;

 The reduction in lease payments relates to payments due on or before June 30, 2021; and
 No other substantive changes have been made to the terms of the lease.
 The Amendment is to be applied retrospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after June 1, 

2020, with earlier application permitted.

The Company has evaluated the effects of the IFRS 16 Lease Amendment and estimates that its adoption is 
not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements since no material COVID-19 related rent 
concessions have occurred or are expected to occur.

Future Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted 

Please see our Annual Financial Statements for the period ending December 31, 2019, and in particular, 
“Note 2r: Significant Accounting Policies” thereto.

Disclosure of Outstanding Security Data

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has 58,475,000 fully paid and non-assessable Ordinary Shares 
issued and outstanding.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The aggregate net proceeds to be received by us from the Offering, the Private Placement of Subscription 
Receipts and the Private Placement of Class A Units are estimated to be approximately $8,765,594 ($9,139,111 if the 
Underwriters’ Option is exercised in full), after deducting the Underwriters’ Fee payable by the Company in 
connection with the Offering, Private Placement of Subscription Receipt Units and Private Placement of Class A Units
and the expenses of the foregoing offerings which are estimated to be $1,761,000.

The table hereunder, expresses our current intentions for utilization of the net proceeds from the Offering, 
the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts and the Private Placement of Class A Units.  The proposed utilization 
of the net proceeds of the Offering for Research and Development and Capital Expenditures & Expansion are further 
itemized in this section.  For ease of reference the net proceeds of the Offering have been converted to U.S. dollars at 
the rate of exchange posted by the Bank of Canada for conversion of Canadian dollars into U.S. dollars.  See 
“Exchange Rate Data”.  

Use of Proceeds
(in thousands of US$)

Research & Development: Development of new products’ 
production processes

US$550

Capital Expenditures & Expansion: Investments in current Israeli 
manufacturing facility (machinery 
and other equipment)

US$500

Forming partnerships in other 
jurisdictions

US$3,300

Other: Working capital US$48

General corporate expenses US$2,572

Total estimated use of net proceeds: US$6,970

The allocation of proceeds for our different uses, as described above, express our current intention. Actual 
uses and allocation may be materially different, due to, among other things, market conditions and business 
developments. See “Risk Factors – Use of Proceeds”. All proceeds received by us in respect of the Underwriters’ 
Option, if any, will be used by us for general corporate purposes, including working capital, operating expenses and 
capital expenditures.

The Company incurred losses totaling US$2,052,000 and US$1,667,000 during the nine months periods 
ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and it had negative cash flows from continuing operating activities 
totaling US$1,539,000 and US$1,672,000 during the nine months periods ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively.

The Company's management and Board of Directors estimate, after analyzing the finance and liquidity 
resources of the Company, that the Company has the financial stability to continue its operation in the near future. 
This estimation is based on, among other things, the implementation by the Company of cost reduction measures, 
capital funds received during the period of US$3,000,000 and the current cash balance of the Company in the amount
of US$800,000.
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Research and Development

R&D expenses

Project(s) under development: (in thousands of US$)

Ultrasonic welded 3D products 215

Injection of 3D products 215

Expended polyethylene products 60

Wide thermomechanical welded sheets 25

Anti-slip sheets 15

Reinforced sheets 10

Tightly sealed gas barrier sheets 10

Total 550

Investment in Israeli Plant

Our investment in our Israeli processing and manufacturing facility for 2021 and 2022 is expected to provide 
for (i) the expansion of its production capacity up to 5,000 metric tons per year; (ii) building a stand-alone Research 
& Development facility, Quality Assurance Laboratory and to diversify its products offering.

Investment

(in thousands of US$)

Central waste washing line  155

Extrusion line 165

Downstream line 125

Infrastructure 25

Laboratory 15

Other   15

Total 500
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Investment in Joint Ventures

The Company anticipates establishing new facilities outside of Israel. While each facility will be designed to 
accommodate two production lines, the Company anticipates that the proceeds from this Offering will be used to 
establish a facility that will initially have a single production line. 

Use of Proceeds

(in thousands of US$)

Pre-washing sorting line 100

Central waste washing line 800

Water treatment line 60

Extrusion lines 900

Downstream lines 450

Infrastructure 300
Ancillary equipment (chillers, 
compressors, etc.) 100
Heavy-duty mechanical equipment
(forklifts, etc.) 100

Laboratory 60

Critical spare parts 120

Maintenance equipment 120

Other  190

Total 3,300
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DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL

The following describes material terms of our share capital. The following description of our share capital 
and provisions of our Articles are summaries and are qualified by reference to our Articles. All references to our 
articles of association in this section refer to our Articles.

See “Private Placement of Subscription Receipts”, “Private Placement of Class A Units” and “Plan of 
Distribution” for a description of certain of the Company’s outstanding securities, including the Subscription Receipts, 
Units and Warrants.

General

We are an Israeli company incorporated with limited liability, and our affairs are governed by the provisions 
of our Articles, as amended and restated from time to time, and by the provisions of applicable Israeli law, including 
the Companies Law. Other material terms and provisions of our Ordinary Shares under our Articles are described 
below in “Description of Share Capital — Ordinary Shares”.

Ordinary Shares 

As of the Closing Date, our authorized share capital will consist of 300,000,000 Ordinary Shares with a par 
value of NIS 0.01 per Ordinary Share, of which 116,160,201 Ordinary Shares will be issued and outstanding 
immediately following Closing (assuming the Underwriters do not exercise the Underwriters’ Option). All of our 
Ordinary Shares have been validly issued, fully paid and are non-assessable.

Dividends and Liquidation Rights

Subject to the rights of holders of shares with preferential or special rights that may be authorized in the 
future, holders of our Ordinary Shares are entitled to dividend payments from us on a pro rata basis in accordance 
with the amounts paid up or credited as paid up on the par value of such Ordinary Shares at the time of payment. In 
the event of our liquidation, holders of our Ordinary Shares are entitled to a pro rata share of surplus assets remaining 
over liabilities, subject to rights conferred on any class of shares which may be issued in the future, in accordance with 
the amounts paid-up or credited as paid-up on the par value of such Ordinary Shares.

Voting Rights

Holders of our Ordinary Shares are entitled to one vote per Ordinary Share held on all matters submitted to 
a vote of shareholders, subject to any special rights of any class of shares that may be authorized in the future. Our 
Ordinary Shares do not have cumulative voting in the election of directors.

Modification of Shareholders’ Rights

The rights attached to a class of shares may be altered by the approval of the shareholders of such class 
holding a majority of the voting rights of such class.

Quorum

The quorum required for a meeting of shareholders consists of at least two shareholders, present in person or 
by proxy, holding at least 2% of our issued shares conferring voting rights. A shareholders’ meeting will be adjourned 
for lack of a quorum, after one hour from the time set for such meeting, to the same day of the following week at the 
same time and place, or to such other day, time or place as indicated by our board of directors if so specified in the 
notice of the meeting. If at such adjourned meeting a quorum as specified above is not present within half an hour 
from the time designated for holding the adjourned meeting, subject to certain exceptions, any two shareholders 
present in person or by proxy shall constitute a quorum. 
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Preferred Shares

The Companies Law allows us to create and issue shares having rights different from those attached to our 
Ordinary Shares, including shares providing certain preferred rights with respect to voting, distributions or other 
matters and shares having preemptive rights. As of the closing of this Offering, no preferred shares will be authorized 
under our Articles. In the future, if we do authorize, create and issue a specific class of preferred shares, such class of 
shares, depending on the specific rights that may be attached to it, may have the ability to frustrate or prevent a takeover 
or otherwise prevent our shareholders from realizing a potential premium over the market value of their Ordinary 
Shares. The authorization and designation of a class of preferred shares will require an amendment to Articles, which 
requires the prior approval of the holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares.

Preemptive Rights

There are no preemptive rights attached to our Ordinary Shares under the provisions of our Articles or the 
Companies Law.

Other Restrictions

The ownership or voting of our Ordinary Shares by non-residents of Israel is not restricted in any way by our 
Articles or the laws of Israel, except for ownership by nationals of Iran or certain countries that are, or have been, in 
a state of war with Israel.

Shareholders’ Meetings and Resolutions

The Chair of our Board of directors is entitled to preside as Chair of each shareholders’ meeting. If he or she 
is absent, another director or other person designated by the Board of Directors will preside. If no such person is 
present, then another person elected by the present shareholders will preside. A simple majority of the votes held by 
shareholders present at such shareholders’ meeting, either in person or by proxy, is sufficient to approve most 
shareholders’ resolutions, including any amendment to our Articles, unless otherwise required by law or by our 
Articles. For example, resolutions with respect to certain Interested Party transactions, or with respect to tender offers 
may, in certain circumstances, require a special majority. See “Approval of Related Party Transactions” and 
“Tender Offer”.

In accordance with the Companies Law, we are required to hold an annual meeting of our shareholders once 
every calendar year, which meeting must be within six months from the end of our fiscal year, and in any event by no 
later than fifteen months from the previous annual meeting. All meetings other than the annual meeting of shareholders 
are referred to as “extraordinary general meetings”. Our Board of directors may call extraordinary general meetings 
at such time and place as it may determine. In addition, the Companies Law provides that the Board of directors of a 
public company is required to convene an extraordinary general meeting upon the request of:

 any two directors of the company or one quarter of the Board of Directors; or
 one or more shareholders holding, in the aggregate: (i) at least 5% of the outstanding shares of the company 

and at least 1% of the voting power in the company; or (ii) at least 5% of the voting power in the company.

Subject to the Companies Law, our Board of directors may fix a record date to allow us to determine the 
shareholders entitled to notice of, or to vote at, any meeting of our shareholders, which may generally be not more 
than 40 and not less than four days prior to the date of the meeting. The Companies Law requires that a notice of a 
shareholders’ meeting be provided to shareholders at least 14, 21 or 35 days prior to the meeting date, depending on 
the items on the agenda. Under applicable Canadian securities laws, subject to our ability to abridge certain timing 
requirements, the record date for notice of a meeting must be no fewer than 30 and no more than 60 days before the 
meeting date, and notification of the meeting and record dates must be sent at least 25 days prior to the record date. 
Under the Companies Law, one or more shareholders holding at least 1% of the voting rights at a general meeting of 
shareholders may request that the Board of directors include a matter on the agenda of a general meeting of 
shareholders to be convened in the future, provided that such matter is appropriate for discussion at the general 
meeting. Under the Companies Law, shareholders of a public company are not permitted to take action by way of 
written consent in lieu of a meeting. The provisions in our Articles pertaining to general meetings also apply to any 
special meeting of a class of shareholders.
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Warrants

In March 2021, the Company issued the Founders Warrants to Tedea and Sullam. See “Corporate Structure 
– History of the Business; Recent Developments”. As of the Closing Date, 53,845,315 Warrants will be issued and 
outstanding immediately following Closing (assuming the Underwriters do not exercise the Underwriters’ Option). 
See “Warrants and Options”, “Private Placement of Class A Units” and “Private Placement of Subscription Receipts”.  

The Company entered into an amended services agreement with A-Labs Finance and Advisory Ltd. (“A-
Labs”) effective as of February 11, 2021 for consulting and advisory services. Under the terms of the amended 
services agreement, A-Labs is entitled to a cash fee of US$560,000 and one warrant (the “A-Labs Warrant)”. The 
A-Labs Warrant entitles A-Labs to purchase 3,263,886 Ordinary Shares exercisable at a price of US$0.152 per 
Ordinary Share, and may be exercised in whole or in part by A-Labs for a period of 24 months following the Closing 
Date.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our Ordinary Shares and do not intend to pay dividends on 
our Ordinary Shares in the foreseeable future. We intend to use our earnings and other cash resources to continue the 
development and expansion of our business. Any future dividend policy will be determined by our Board of Directors 
and will be based upon conditions then existing, including our results of operations, financial condition, current and 
anticipated cash needs, contractual restrictions and other conditions and factors that our Board may deem relevant.

According to the Companies Law and our Articles, our Board of Directors is authorized to distribute 
dividends, provided that there is no reasonable concern that payment of such dividends will prevent us from satisfying 
our existing and foreseeable obligations as they become due. Pursuant to the Companies Law, the distribution amount 
is limited to the greater of retained earnings or earnings generated over the previous two years, after deduction of 
previous distributions that were not already deducted from the surpluses, according to our then last reviewed or audited 
financial statements, provided that the date of the financial statements is not more than six months prior to the date of 
the distribution, or we may distribute dividends that do not meet such criteria only with court approval. In each case, 
we are only permitted to distribute a dividend if our Board of Directors and the court, if applicable, determines that 
there is no reasonable concern that payment of the dividend will prevent us from satisfying our existing and foreseeable 
obligations as they become due. Declaration of dividends requires a resolution of our Board of Directors and does not 
require shareholder approval.
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

Upon the completion of the Offering, the Principal Shareholders will, collectively, directly or indirectly own 
or control approximately 66.83% of the issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares (representing approximately 59.01% 
if the Underwriters’ Option is not exercised, and 58.29% if the Underwriters’ Option is exercised in full, in each case
on a fully-diluted basis). As a result, the Principal Shareholders will have a significant influence over us and our 
affairs. See “Risk Factors”. The Principal Shareholders will enter into contractual Lock-Up agreements with respect 
to the Ordinary Shares held by them with the Underwriters. See “Plan of Distribution — Lock-Up Arrangements”.

The following table sets out certain information with respect to the Principal Shareholders who will, to our 
knowledge, beneficially own, control or direct, directly or indirectly, voting securities carrying 10% or more of the 
voting rights attached to any class of our voting securities. See “Prior Sales”. 

Prior to Closing

Immediately following Closing,
assuming no exercise of the

Underwriters’ Option

Name of Shareholder
Type of

Ownership

Number of
Ordinary

Shares
Owned

Percentage
of

Outstanding
Ordinary 

Shares

Number of
Ordinary

Shares
Owned

Percentage
of

Outstanding
Ordinary 

Shares

Percentage
of Total
Voting
Rights

Tedea
Owned both of 

record and 
beneficially

28,945,000 49.5% 28,945,000 24.9% 24.9%

Sullam
Owned both of 

record and 
beneficially

28,945,000 49.5% 28,945,000 24.9% 24.9%

Clover Wolf (1)
Owned both of 

record and 
beneficially

Nil. Nil. 19,735,200 16.99% 16.99%

Notes:
(1) Clover Wolf is an investment fund in Israel. Clover Wolf holds securities of the Company for investment purposes only and has not elected 

or appointed, nor has the right to elect or appoint, one or more directors or senior officers of the Company. 

Sullam Holdings L.R Ltd.

Sullam is a private company incorporated under the Laws of the State of Israel. Sullam is a private investment 
company. None of Sullam’s other holdings or businesses have any connection with the Issuer. For clarity, there are 
no other business relationships between Sullam and the Issuer.

Sullam is wholly-owned by Lenny Recanati, who is also the sole director of Sullam. Lenny Recanati is the 
father of Tal Recanati. Tal Recanati was the former CEO of Sullam (as of 3 years ago). 

Both Lenny and Tal Recanati are current members of the board of directors of Alkemy. See “Directors and 
Executive Officers”.

Tedea Technological Development and Automation Ltd.

Tedea is a company incorporated under the Laws of the State of Israel. Tedea is a public company that trades
on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (the “TASE”) under the symbol “TEDE”. Tedea is an investment company that 
invests in companies in various industries, either directly or through its respective subsidiaries. 

The following shareholders collectively hold approximately 41% of Tedea’s issued and outstanding share 
capital and voting rights: 

(a) Mr. Mordechai Gorfung, the Chief Executive Officer and a member of the board of directors of Tedea. Mr. 
Gorfung holds approximately 25.23% of the issued and outstanding share capital and voting rights of Tedea 
(held both directly and indirectly);
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(b) Mr. Amir Rahav, a member and the Chairman of the board of directors of Tedea. Mr. Rahav holds 
approximately 8.10% of the issued and outstanding share capital and voting rights of Tedea (held both 
directly and indirectly); and 

(c) Mr. Matti Raz, a member of the board of directors of Tedea. Mr. Raz holds approximately 8% of the issued 
and outstanding share capital and voting rights of Tedea (held both directly and indirectly).  

The full composition of Tedea’s board of directors is as follows: 

• Mr. Amir Rahav (Chairman); 
• Mr. Mordechai Gorfung; 
• Mr. Matti Raz; 
• Mr. Boaz Gorfung; 
• Mr. Itzack Zauberman; 
• Ms. Tali Yaron Eldar; 
• Mr. Dror Nagel; 
• Ms. Yael Efron.

Mr. Mordechai Gorfung is the father of Mr. Boaz Gorfung. Both Mordechai Gorfung and Boaz Gorfung are 
members of the board of directors of Alkemy. See “Directors and Executive Officers”.

DESCRIPTION OF MATERIAL INDEBTEDNESS

Description of Material Indebtedness

The following is a description of our material indebtedness, which summarizes the material terms of the 
applicable agreements.

Loans and Guarantees 

We have provided as security for our obligations under the lease agreement between the Company and Mivne 
Real Estate (K.D) Ltd. dated August 24, 2008, governing our lease for our premises in Beit She’an: (i) a bank guarantee 
in the amount of approximately NIS 128,000 (the amount underlying the bank guarantee is linked to the consumer 
price index); and (ii) two promissory notes in the aggregate amount of NIS 597,500.

We have credit facilities with a leading Israeli bank in the aggregate amount of NIS 640,000. These credit 
lines bear an annual interest rate equal to the Israeli Prime Rate published by the Central Bank of Israel plus 2.25%. 
Our financial obligations under these credit facilities are secured by a floating charge on all of our assets.

On November 15, 2020, we amended the Note Purchase Agreement. The Note Purchase Agreement was 
issued to Clover Wolf and governs the sale and issuance of the Convertible Note on the following terms: 

(i) immediately following Closing, the principal amount of US$3,000,000 is convertible at the option 
of the Company into 19,735,200 Ordinary Shares; and 

(ii) if Closing does not occur on or prior to August 19, 2022 , Clover Wolf may either: (i) convert the 
principal amount underlying the Convertible Note into Ordinary Shares at a price of US$0.15 per 
Ordinary Share; or (b) receive full repayment of the Convertible Note, plus accrued interest 
calculated at a rate of 5% per annum. 

In addition, Clover Wolf was issued a warrant exercisable to purchase 5,638,629 Ordinary Shares at an 
exercise price of US$0.27 per Ordinary Share (the “Clover Wolf Warrant”). The Clover Wolf Warrant is exercisable 
for a period of five years from the Closing Date. 
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GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND INCENTIVES

In 2014, the Company received grants from the Israeli government pursuant to the “Encouragement of 
Investments for Industrial Companies” plan (the “EIIC Plan”) in the aggregate amount of approximately US$190,000. 
In accordance with the EIIC Plan, the Company was required to meet certain conditions, including, among other 
things, certain export thresholds. The Company did not meet all of the thresholds set under the EIIC Plan and has not 
received all of the amounts it was originally approved for under the EIIC Plan. Currently, the Company is in 
negotiations with governmental authorities regarding the repayments of the amounts received (including interest), in 
the total amount of approximately US$257,000. The Company cannot assess how and when the abovementioned 
negotiations will conclude. For more information, please see the Annual Financial Statements. 

We have received funding from the Israeli government through the IIA for certain research and development 
activities and may receive additional grants in the future. The terms of those grants may trigger additional payments 
to the IIA following our decision to manufacture products or transfer or license any related intellectual property outside 
of Israel, and we may be required to pay penalties in such cases or upon sale of intellectual property, under the R&D 
Law. See “Risk Factors”.

As of the date of this Prospectus, we have received IIA grants in the aggregate amount of approximately 
US$590,000. These grants are subject to certain restrictions. For example, US$420,000 is subject to royalties ranging 
from 1.3% - 3% of future sales of products developed by us with the support of the IIA grants. As of the date of this 
Prospectus, approximately US$350,000 remains subject to repayment.  In addition to royalties, we must abide by 
certain other restrictions that will continue to apply even following the repayment of such grants. See “Risk Factors”.

On January 1, 2021 we submitted a request with the IIA in connection with a research and development 
project. The project relates to the development of production processes under our waste-to-product technology. More 
specifically, the project will include the production of expended polyethylene products (acoustic and thermal 
insulation), injected three dimensional products (piles, containers and bins), ultrasonic welded three dimensional 
products (soil stabilization nets), thermomechanical welded sheets (super-wide geo-membranes), rough surface sheets 
(anti-slip sheets), reinforced polyethylene sheets (heavy duty geo-membranes) and tightly sealed geo-membranes 
(subterranean gas barriers). The expected budget for the project is US$1,200,000; we have requested half of that 
amount from the IIA in the form of a grant (approximately US$600,000). We have no guarantee as to whether our 
request for this grant will be approved by the IIA. Moreover, we intend to apply for additional funding during the first 
quarter of 2022 for other expenses we expect to incur in 2022.
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CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our capitalization as at the date of this Prospectus. This table is presented and 
should be read in conjunction with our Interim Financial Statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this 
Prospectus and with the information set forth under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations” and “Description of Share Capital”. The information contained in this section reflects
numbers as at September 30, 2020 and does not reflect the Subdivision. Other than as described in “Prior Sales” or as 
contemplated by the Offering, the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts, the Private Placement of Class A Units 
or the Subdivision, there have been no material changes to the share or loan capital of the Company on a consolidated 
basis since September 30, 2020.

As at September 30 2020

(in thousands of U.S. dollars) Actual
(unaudited)

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       2,640 

Debt
Credit from banks . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .            95 
Current maturities of lease liabilities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .            111 
Long-term lease liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .          1,022 
Long-term loans from banks  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .             -   
Convertible loans. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       3,010 
Other long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .          344

Total Debt. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .       4,582

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital and premium . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     35,697 
Reserve from share-based payment transactions . . . . .             72 
Translation reserve. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 74
Accumulated deficit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (35,369)

Total equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 474 

Total capitalization, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (2,416)
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CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES

Options

The Board has authorized the grant of an aggregate of 7,236,300 options to certain individuals under the Plan 
on February 13, 2021.

Category Date of Grant

Number of
Options to

acquire
Ordinary 

Shares
Exercise
Price(1)

Expiration
Date

Share Incentive Plan

Yoav Horowitz,
Chairman of the Board of Directors

February 13, 
2021

1,973,500 NIS 0.20
At the end of 10 years from the 
Grant Date or according to the 
provisions of Section 7.5 of the 
Plan (as the case may be).

Shmulik Porre, 
Chief Executive Officer

February 13, 
2021

1,973,500 NIS 0.20

At the end of 10 years from the 
Grant Date or according to the 
provisions of Section 7.5 of the 
Plan (as the case may be).

Amichai Krupik,

Founder, Technology & Innovation

February 13, 
2021

1,973,400 NIS 0.20

At the end of 10 years from the 
Grant Date or according to the 
provisions of Section 7.5 of the 
Plan (as the case may be).

Amichai Krupik,

Founder, Technology & Innovation

February 13, 
2021

1,315,800 NIS 0.01

At the end of 10 years from the 
Grant Date or according to the 
provisions of Section 7.5 of the 
Plan (as the case may be).

Tal Recanati,

Director

March 14, 
2021

100 NIS 0.20

At the end of 10 years from the 
Grant Date or according to the 
provisions of Section 7.5 of the 
Plan (as the case may be).

Total 7,236,300

Notes:
(1) For a description of our equity-based incentive compensation plans, see “Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation — Principal 

Elements of Compensation”. 
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Warrants

In March 2021, the Company issued the Founders Warrants to Tedea and Sullam. See “Corporate Structure 
– History of the Business; Recent Developments”. As of the Closing Date, 53,845,315 Warrants will be issued and 
outstanding immediately following Closing (assuming the Underwriters do not exercise the Underwriters’ Option).

The Company entered into an amended services agreement with A-Labs Finance and Advisory Ltd. (“A-
Labs”) effective as of February 11, 2021 for consulting and advisory services. Under the terms of the amended 
services agreement, A-Labs is entitled to a cash fee of US$560,000 and the A-Labs Warrant, which will be issued to 
A-Labs on Closing. The A-Labs Warrant entitles A-Labs to purchase 3,263,886 Ordinary Shares exercisable at a price 
of US$0.152 per Ordinary Share, and may be exercised in whole or in part by A-Labs for a period of 24 months 
following the Closing Date.

Warrantholder Term Amount Exercise Price

Clover Wolf Ltd.
Five (5) years from the 

Closing Date
5,638,629 warrants US$0.266

Tedea Technological 
Development and 
Automation Ltd.

See “Corporate Structure 
– History of the Business; 

Recent Developments”

11,763,492 Founders 
Warrants

Nominal (par value)

Sullam Holdings L.R. 
Ltd.

See “Corporate Structure 
– History of the Business; 

Recent Developments”

11,763,492 Founders 
Warrants

Nominal (par value)

A-Labs Finance and 
Advisory Ltd.

Two (2) years from the 
Closing Date

1 warrant for 3,263,886 
Ordinary Shares

US$0.152

Holders of Warrants
Two (2) years from the 

Closing Date
4,616,455 Warrants C$0.51

Holders of Class A 
Warrants

Two (2) years from the 
Closing Date

14,358,545 Class A 
Warrants

C$0.51

Underwriters
Two (2) years from the 

Closing Date
1,651,402 Underwriters’ 

Warrants
C$0.29
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PRIOR SALES

The following table summarizes issuances of our Ordinary Shares, or securities convertible into Ordinary 
Shares, during the 12-month period preceding the date of this Prospectus.

Date of Issuance Number of Securities Issued
Issuance/Exercise Price 
per Security

February 25, 2021 4,334,862 Subscription Receipts (1) C$0.29

February 21, 2021 Founders Warrants (2) Nominal (par value)

December 31, 
2020

585,000 Ordinary Shares (3)   Nominal (par value)

August 16, 2020 Warrant exercisable into 5,638,629 Ordinary Shares (4) US$0.27

August 16, 2020
$3 million aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Note, which, 
at the option of the Company, will convert into 19,735,200 Ordinary 
Shares (5)

US$0.15

Notes: 
(1) See “Private Placement of Subscription Receipts”.
(2) See “Corporate Structure – History of the Business; Recent Developments”.
(3) Issued on December 31, 2020 to Benny Bachrach, the Company’s former Chairman, pursuant to the terms of the Service Agreement between 

Mr. Bachrach and the Company dated August 15, 2018. These Ordinary Shares are being held in trust for Mr. Bachrach by Plan Management 
and Trust Services Ltd., an Israeli trust company, to be released to Mr. Bachrach upon the confirmation by the Israeli Tax Authority to the 
Company that the applicable taxes in connection with such issuance have been paid by Mr. Bachrach.

(4) See “Description of Material Indebtedness – Loans and Guarantees”.
(5) See “Description of Material Indebtedness – Loans and Guarantees”.
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ESCROWED SECURITIES 

National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public Offerings (“NP 46-201”) provides that all securities of an 
issuer owned or controlled by a Principal (as defined in NP 46-201) must be placed in escrow at the time the issuer 
distributes its securities or convertible securities to the public by prospectus pursuant to an initial public offering, 
unless the securities held by the Principal or issuable to the Principal upon conversion of convertible securities held 
by the Principal collectively represent less than 1% of the total issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares of the Company 
after giving effect to the initial public offering.

The following table sets forth, as of the date of this Prospectus, the number of securities of each class of 
securities of the Company held, to our knowledge, in escrow and the percentage that number represents of the 
outstanding securities of that class.

Designation of Class Number of Securities Held in Escrow Percentage of Class

Ordinary Shares 57,890,000 99%

Warrants 23,526,984 80.66%

Options 7,236,300 100%

On Closing, Tedea, Sullam as well as certain directors and officers of the Company (collectively, the 
“Principals”), will enter into an escrow agreement (the “Escrow Agreement”) with the Escrow Agent, pursuant to 
which the Principals will collectively deposit 57,890,000 Ordinary Shares, 23,526,984 Warrants and 7,236,300 
Options into escrow (the “Escrowed Securities”), representing approximately 99% of the issued and outstanding 
Ordinary Shares, 80.66% of the issued and outstanding Warrants and 100% of the issued and outstanding Options 
prior to giving effect to the Offering (or approximately 49.84% of the issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares, 44.34% 
of the issued and outstanding Warrants and 100% of the issued and outstanding Options after giving effect to the 
Offering, assuming the Underwriters’ Option is not exercised).

In accordance with NP 46-201, the Escrowed Securities will be subject to a three (3) year escrow and subject 
to the following release schedule:

Date Amount of Escrowed Securities Released

Closing Date
5,789,000 Ordinary Shares

2,352,698 Warrants
723,630 Options

6 months following the Closing Date
8,683,500 Ordinary Shares

3,529,048 Warrants
1,085,445 Options

12 months following the Closing Date
8,683,500 Ordinary Shares

3,529,048 Warrants
1,085,445 Options

18 months following the Closing Date
8,683,500 Ordinary Shares

3,529,048 Warrants
1,085,445 Options

24 months following the Closing Date
8,683,500 Ordinary Shares

3,529,047 Warrants
1,085,445 Options

30 months following the Closing Date
8,683,500 Ordinary Shares

3,529,048 Warrants
1,085,445 Options

36 months following the Closing Date
8,683,500 Ordinary Shares

3,529,047 Warrants
1,085,445 Options
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Seed Share Resale Restrictions

Securities that are issued to “Non-Principals” (as that term is defined in the policies of the TSXV) of the 
Company prior to the Offering at a price which is below the price of the Offering are subject to hold periods in 
accordance with seed share resale restrictions under the policies of the TSXV. The purchase price of such securities, 
and the time of purchase relative to the date of the receipt for the prospectus in respect of the Offering, determine 
which TSXV hold periods apply. Seed share resale restrictions will be imposed on the securities by imprinting legends 
on the applicable certificates representing such securities, and do not apply to persons who are subject to the Escrow 
Agreement.
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PRIVATE PLACEMENT OF SUBSCRIPTION RECEIPTS

On February 25, 2021, the Company completed the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts pursuant to 
private placement exemptions from the prospectus requirements in British Colombia, Ontario and in jurisdictions 
outside of Canada. The Subscription Receipts were issued by the Company at the Subscription Receipt Offering Price 
for aggregate gross proceeds to the Company of C$1,257,109.98. The Subscription Receipts were created and issued 
pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Receipt Agreement between the Company and the Escrow Agent, in its 
capacity as subscription receipt agent thereunder. 

Each Subscription Receipt is represented by a Subscription Receipt Certificate and shall be automatically 
converted and immediately thereupon cancelled, without any further action by the holder of the Subscription Receipts, 
and for no additional consideration, upon the satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions, into one Subscription 
Receipt Unit on the fifth Business Day following the Closing. This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the 
Subscription Receipt Units, with each Subscription Receipt Unit being comprised of one (1) Ordinary Share and one 
half of one (0.5) Warrant, issuable on the deemed exercise of each Subscription Receipt.

The Subscription Receipt Offering Price and other terms of the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts 
were determined by the Company in consultation with the Underwriters. The Company has agreed to pay the 
Underwriters a financial advisory fee in the amount of C$87,998, and grant the Underwriters 303,440 Underwriters’ 
Warrants, in respect of the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts. Although the Underwriters did not participate 
in the distribution, offer or sale of the Subscription Receipts, given the financial advisory fee payable to the 
Underwriters in respect of the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts, the Underwriters will be deemed to have 
participated in the distribution of the Subscription Receipt Units (including the Ordinary Shares and Warrants 
underlying the Subscription Receipt Units) upon the deemed exercise of the Subscription Receipts. The Company 
paid a finders’ fee to one registrant (as that term is defined under Canadian securities legislation) in the total amount 
of $1,015 in connection with one subscription under the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts. The Escrowed 
Proceeds were deposited in escrow and are held by the Escrow Agent pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Receipt 
Agreement. There was no insider participation in the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts. The Subscription 
Receipts are not available for purchase pursuant to this Prospectus and no additional funds are to be received by the 
Company from the distribution of the Subscription Receipt Units, nor the Ordinary Shares and Warrants underlying 
the Subscription Receipt Units, upon the deemed exercise of the Subscription Receipts. There is no market through 
which the Subscription Receipts may be sold and none is expected to develop.

None of the Escrowed Proceeds will be released to the Company prior to Closing and will be held in escrow 
on behalf of the holders of the Subscription Receipts by the Escrow Agent and may be invested in short term 
obligations of the Government of Canada or in other short term investment grade debt obligations as determined by 
the Company. The Escrowed Proceeds together with any accrued interest thereon (collectively, the “Escrowed 
Funds”), will be released to the Company, less any fees owing to the Escrow Agent, upon satisfaction or waiver of 
the Escrow Release Condition. 

The release of the Escrowed Proceeds by the Escrow Agent to the Company is subject to the following 
Escrow Release Conditions, being: (i) the completion, satisfaction or waiver of all conditions precedent to the Going 
Public Transaction; (ii) all shareholders and regulatory approvals being required for the Going Public Transaction 
have been received; (iii) following the satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions, the distribution of the Ordinary 
Shares underlying the Subscription Receipt Units being exempt from applicable prospectus and registration 
requirements of applicable securities laws and not subject to any hold or restricted period; and (iv) the Company 
delivering a notice to the Escrow Agent confirming that the Escrow Release Conditions have been satisfied. 

If the Escrow Release Condition is not satisfied or waived on or before 5:00 P.M. on April 30, 2021 or such 
later date as determined by the holders of Subscription Receipts pursuant to the Subscription Receipt Agreement (the 
"Escrow Deadline"), the Subscription Receipts will automatically be cancelled and, as soon as reasonably possible, 
and in any event within five (5) Business Days following the Escrow Deadline, the Escrowed Funds will be returned 
to the holders of the Subscription Receipts by the Escrow Agent in an amount per Subscription Receipt equal to: (i) 
the pro rata share of the Escrowed Proceeds; and (ii) a pro rata share of interest, if any, actually earned thereon to the 
date of cancellation. To the extent that the Escrowed Funds are insufficient to refund 100% of the purchase price of 
the Subscription Receipts to the holders thereof, the Company will be responsible for any shortfall.
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PRIVATE PLACEMENT OF CLASS A UNITS

Concurrent with the Offering, the Company intends to issue approximately 14,358,545 Class A Units to 
specified investors resident in Israel by way of a non-brokered private placement (the “Private Placement of Class 
A Units”). The Class A Units will be issued by the Company at a price of C$0.58 per Class A Unit for expected 
aggregate gross proceeds of C$8,327,956. The Class A Units will be issued separately from the Units offered under 
the Offering hereby. Each Class A Unit shall consist of two (2) Ordinary Shares and one (1) Class A Warrant. Each 
Class A Warrant is exercisable into one (1) Ordinary Share at a price of C$0.51 for a period of 24 months following 
the Closing. This Prospectus does not qualify the distribution of the Ordinary Shares and Class A Warrants comprising 
the Class A Units.

The Class A Units will be issued to persons or companies outside of Canada pursuant to Section 2.2 of 
Ontario Securities Commission Rule 72-503 Distributions Outside of Canada, and have not been, or will be, registered 
under the U.S. Securities Act. The closing of the Private Placement of Class A Units is subject to acceptance by the 
TSXV. Mr. Leon Koffler is the sole insider of the Company expected to participate in the Private Placement. Mr. 
Koffler is expected to subscribe for a total of 816,313 Class A Units, reflecting approximately 3.8% of the total number 
of Class A Units issued pursuant to the Private Placement of Class A Units. The Underwriters are not involved, directly 
or indirectly, in the issuance, offer and sale of the Class A Units being distributed pursuant to the Private Placement 
of Class A Units. This Prospectus does not qualify the distribution of any securities issued pursuant to the Private 
Placement of Class A Units. The Company has agreed to pay the Underwriters a financial advisory fee in the amount 
of C$291,479, and grant the Underwriters 1,005,099 Underwriters’ Warrants, in respect of the Private Placement of 
Class A Units. 
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Directors

The following table sets forth the names, ages, residence and positions of the current directors of the 
Company as well as individuals expected to be directors of the Company immediately following the Offering as well 
as the committee memberships they are expected to hold. The term of office of each director will expire on the date 
of the next annual general meeting of shareholders. Additional biographical information for each individual is 
provided below.

Name and Municipality of 
Residence Age

Principal Occupation
during the 5 preceding years

Director 
Since

Number of Ordinary 
Shares beneficially 

owned, or controlled or 
directed, directly or 

indirectly

Yoav Horowitz (1)(4)(7)

Gezer Municipal District, 
Israel

60
Chief of Staff and General at the 
Israeli Prime Minister’s Office

2020 Nil.

Mordechai Gorfung (1)

Herzliya, Israel

80 Chief Executive Officer and director 
of Tedea

2018 7,297,034(8)

Tal Recanati (1)(2)

Tel Aviv, Israel

38 Chief Executive Officer of Stealth 
Mode Startup and Guardian Optical 

Technologies
2013 Nil.

Boaz Gorfung (1)(4)

Ramat-Hasharon, Israel

53 Director and Vice President of 
Business Development of Tedea

2018 1,094,555(8)

Lenny Recanati (1)(2)

Tel-Aviv, Israel

67 Managing Director of Sullam and 
Vice Chairman of the Israel Cancer 

Association
2012 28,945,000(9)

Renah Persofsky (1)(3)(5)(6)

Toronto, Canada

62
Chief Executive Officer of 

Strajectory Corp. and Vice Chair of 
Aphria Inc.

To be 
appointed 
following 
Closing

Nil.

Leon Koffler (1)(3)(5)(6)

Herzliya, Israel

69
Chairman of the board of directors 

of Super-Pharm (Israel) Ltd.

To be 
appointed 
following 
Closing

Nil.

Notes:
(1) Independent director for the purposes of NI 58-101. See "Corporate Governance – Board of Directors – Independence of the Board of 

Directors".
(2) This individual has held their position for five years.
(3) Member of the Compensation Committee.
(4) Member of the Audit Committee.
(5) External director nominee under the Companies Law.
(6) To be appointed following Closing.
(7) Chairman of the Board of Directors.
(8) Held indirectly through Tedea.
(9) Held indirectly through Sullam.
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Management

The following table sets forth the names, residences, ages, and positions of the executive officers of the 
Company as of the date of this Prospectus. Additional biographical information for each individual is provided below.

Name and Municipality of 
Residence Age Position 

Principal Occupation 
during the 5 preceding 

years

Number of Shares 
beneficially owned, or 
controlled or directed, 
directly or indirectly

Shmulik Porre(2)

Northern Israel
65

Chief Executive 
Officer

Chief Executive Officer of 
Tnuva Romania Dairy 

Products (FMCG); 
Freelance Consultant

Nil.

Danny Haklai(1)(3)(5)

Tel Aviv, Israel
65

Chief Financial 
Officer

Chief Financial Officer of 
Tedea

Nil.

Amichai Krupik(4)

Herzliya, Israel
47

Founder, 
Technology and 

Innovation

Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company; Chief 
Executive Officer of 

Taurus Management and 
Investment Company

Nil.

Yael Ghetta(2)

Ein Hanatziv, Israel
36

Head of Quality 
Assurance and 
Research and 

Development of the 
Company

Head of Quality 
Assurance and Production 
Manager of the Company Nil.

Notes:
(1) Services provided through a consulting company, as described below.
(2) Full-time executive officer. 
(3) Provides services as required by the Company. 
(4) Part time employee of the Company. 
(5) Member of the Audit Committee.

Ownership of Ordinary Shares

The directors and executive officers of the Company will collectively beneficially own, or control or direct, 
directly or indirectly, a total of 37,336,589 Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 32% of the Ordinary Shares (on
a non-diluted basis) issued and outstanding immediately following the Closing of the Offering (assuming no exercise
of the Underwriters’ Option). 

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements

We have entered into written employment or services agreements with Yoav Horowitz, Renah Persofsky and 
all of our NEOs. Each of these agreements contain customary provisions regarding confidentiality, and ownership and 
assignment of intellectual property and certain restrictive covenants that will continue to apply following the 
termination of employment, including noncompetition and non-solicitation provisions. The enforceability of 
employment agreement covenants not to compete are subject to customary limitations and, under applicable Israeli 
law, may not be enforceable if they are considered prejudicial to the individual’s ability to earn a livelihood. In 
addition, we are required to provide notice prior to terminating the employment of our executive officers, other than 
in circumstances where an executive officer is not entitled to severance pay under Israeli law, a breach of trust, a 
material breach of the applicable agreement by the executive, or the executive officer’s breach of the terms of 
confidentiality, non-competition/non-solicitation and ownership of intellectual property provisions of the relevant 
agreement. The material terms of each agreement we have entered into with our directors and NEOs are set out below.



72

Biographical Information Regarding the Directors and Executive Officers

Shmulik Porre, Chief Executive Officer

Shmulik Porre (65) has served as the Company's CEO since May 2020 and resides in Northern Israel. 
Previously, Mr. Porre served as CEO of Tnuva Romania Dairy Products (FMCG) and CEO of Tambour (Chemical 
and Paints) Ltd. Mr. Porre is a specialist in marketing, sales, and distribution, particularly in managing international 
activities and scale-up of business development. Mr. Porre holds a Masters of Business Administration in Marketing 
from Tel Aviv University and a Bachelor’s Degree in Shipping and Transportation Economy from Haifa University 

Danny Haklai, Chief Financial Officer

Danny Haklai (65) has served as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer as an independent contractor 
pursuant to a consulting agreement between the Company and Mordechai Haklai & Sons (1998) CPA Company since 
September 2020 and resides in Tel Aviv, Israel. In addition, Mr. Haklai currently provides CFO services to Tedea, 
Molodan Ltd. and Private Secretary Ltd. through the consulting company, Mordechai Haklai & Sons (1998) CPA 
Company. Mr. Haklai has a Bachelor of Arts in Accounting and Economics studies from Tel Aviv University. Mr. 
Haklai is certified as a Certified Public Accountant. 

Yael Ghetta, Head of Quality Assurance and Research and Development

Yael Ghetta (36) has been with the Company since March 2015 and currently serves as the Company’s Head 
of Quality Assurance and Research and Development and resides in Northern Israel. Ms. Ghetta is highly experienced 
in the development of innovative production processes, quality control and standardization, environmental regulation, 
lab management, and production safety. Yael Ghetta holds a Master’s Degree in Biotechnology Engineering from 
Polytechnique, Marseille, France.

Amichai Krupik, Founder, Technology and Innovation

Amichai Krupik (47) served as the Company's CEO from 2017 until May 2020, and began serving as Founder
for Innovation and Technology Development in October 2020. Mr. Krupik resides in Herzliya, Israel. Prior to joining 
the Company, Mr. Krupik has served as CEO and director for several publicly and privately traded companies, 
including Gmul Investment Company Ltd., Adumim LTD. and Joel – Equital Group. In addition, Mr. Krupik currently 
presides as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Tourus Management and Investments. Mr. Krupik is a Certified 
Public Accountant (Israel) and has Master’s Degree in Law from Bar-Ilan University in Israel and a Bachelor of Arts 
in Business from the College of Management Academic Studies in Israel.

Yoav Horowitz, Director (Chairman)

Yoav Horowitz (60) resides in the Gezer Municipal District, Israel. Mr. Horowitz has served on the 
Company’s Board of Directors since 2020. In his previous roles, Mr. Horowitz has served as the Director-General of 
the Prime Minister's Office, Mr. Benjamin Netanyahu, and as the Prime Minister's chief of staff. Mr. Horowitz is 
highly experienced in managing large enterprises and serves as the CEO of Kardan Vehicle Ltd. (Avis). Mr. Horowitz 
has managed a number of other companies in the Automobile space. Mr. Horowitz initiated large-scale projects and 
business collaborations globally. Formerly served as head of the China-Israel Joint Economic Task Force and was 
designated by the government to lead Israel's national Smart Mobility Initiative. Mr. Horowitz holds a Bachelor of 
Arts in Law.

Mordechai (Mota) Gorfung, Director

Mota Gorfung (80) resides in Herzliya, Israel has served as a Director since 2018. Mr. Gorfung is currently 
the CEO of Tedea and has previously served as a director at Ham-Let (Israel-Canada) Ltd and Chairman at Molodan 
Ltd. In addition, Mr. Gorfung currently presides as Director at Studs P.O.W.E.R Ltd. Mr. Gorfung has a Bachelor of 
Arts in Economics from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem.
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Boaz Gorfung, Director

Boaz Gorfung (53) Resides in Ramat-Hasharon, Israel and has served as a director of the Company 
since 2018. Since 2013, Mr. Gorfung has served as director and Vice President of Business Development of Tedea, a 
publicly listed company on the TASE. Previously, Mr. Gorfung served as a director of Space Communication Ltd, a 
large public company listed on the TASE. In addition, Mr. Gorfung currently presides as CEO of Molodan Ltd. and 
is a director of iPhotonix Inc., Centerity Ltd. and Studs P.O.W.E.R Ltd. Mr. Boaz Gorfung holds a Bachelor of Laws 
from Coventry University in the United Kingdom.

Lenny Recanati, Director 

Lenny Recanati (67) resides in Tel-Aviv, Israel and has served on the Company’s Board of Directors since 
2012. Mr. Recanati is an experienced entrepreneur and investor. Mr. Recanati was a senior executive and part of the 
controlling interest of IDB Holding Corporation, formerly the largest investment company in all of Israel. He is 
currently Vice Chairman of the Israel Cancer Association and runs his own private equity firm. Mr. Recanati holds a 
Bachelor of Science in Economics from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem and a Master of Business Administration
from Columbia University. 

Tal Recanati, Director 

Mr. Recanati (38) has served on the Company’s Board of Directors since November 2013 and resides in Tel 
Aviv, Israel. Mr. Recanati served as the Chief Executive Officer of Sullam Holdings L.R. Ltd., a private investment 
company that mainly invests in high-tech, industrial and real estate companies. In addition, Mr. Recanati currently 
presides as Chief Executive Officer of Guardian Optical Technologies. Mr. Recanati holds a Bachelor of Arts in 
Entrepreneurship and a Bachelor of Laws from IDC Herzliya.

Renah Persofsky, External Director

The Company intends to appoint Renah Persofsky as a director of the Company shortly following Closing.
Ms. Persofsky has over 40 years of business experience. Ms. Persofsky is the Vice Chair of Aphria Inc., where she is 
a member of the audit committee and has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Strajectory Corp. since 2010 and 
as an executive consultant of Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce since 2011. Ms. Persofsky previously served as 
a director and audit committee member of Medworxx Solutions Inc., a TSXV-listed company. Currently, Ms. 
Persofsky sits on the audit committee of Hydrofarm Holdings Group Inc., a company listed on the NASDAQ Global 
Select Market. Ms. Persofsky has also served as the Chairwoman of BookJane Inc. since October 2016, the Vice 
Chairwoman and Lead Director of Aphria Inc. since October 2017, and the Chairwoman of Green Gruff Inc. since 
July 2019. Ms. Persofsky has also previously served as an executive consultant to many iconic brands including Tim 
Hortons, Canadian Tire, Canada Post and Interac, and was an executive officer of the Bank of Montreal for five years.

Ms. Persofsky previously co-chaired the Canadian Minister’s Advisory Committee on Electronic Commerce, 
as well as served as a special advisor to the Minister of Foreign Affairs and Trade. Ms. Persofsky received her degree 
from the Rotman School of Management at the University of Toronto. Ms. Persofsky was selected to serve on our 
board of directors because of her global business, e-commerce expertise, and her board experience.

Leon Koffler, External Director

The Company intends to appoint Mr. Koffler as a director of the Company shortly following Closing. Leon 
Koffler resides in Herzliya, Israel and has over 40 years of business experience, with a focus on the pharmaceutical 
industry. Mr. Koffler is the founder and controlling shareholder of the pharmacy chain Super-Pharm and serves as 
Chairman of the Board of Super-Pharm (Israel) Ltd., Mr. Koffler previously served as Super-Pharm's CEO. Mr. 
Koffler has received degrees from Ryerson University and the University of Grenoble. 
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Corporate Cease Trade Orders

To our knowledge, no current or proposed director or executive officer is, as at the date of this Prospectus, 
or was within 10 years before the date of this Prospectus, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer 
of any company (including the Company) that:

a) was subject to a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the company access to any 
statutory exemptions, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; or

b) was subject to a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the company access to any 
statutory exemptions, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, that was 
issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief 
financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting in the 
capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer.

Bankruptcies

To our knowledge, no current or proposed director or executive officer or shareholder holding a sufficient 
number of our securities to affect materially the control of the Company:

a) is, as at the date of this Prospectus, or has been within the 10 years before the date of this Prospectus, 
a director or executive officer of any company (including the Company) that, while that person was 
acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became 
bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject 
to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receive, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or

b) has, within the 10 years before the date of this Prospectus, became bankrupt, made a proposal under 
any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold assets of the director, executive officer or shareholder.

Penalties or Sanctions

To our knowledge, no current or proposed director or executive officer or a shareholder holding a sufficient 
number of our securities to affect materially the control of the Company, has been subject to:

a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities 
regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory 
authority; or

b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be 
considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision.

Corporate Governance

The following is a description of our corporate governance and our governance framework that will be in 
effect following Closing.
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Composition of our Board and Board Committees

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles, our Board of Directors can consist of a minimum of five and a maximum 
of eleven directors as determined from time to time. Upon completion of the Offering, our Board of Directors will 
consist of seven directors. Under the Companies Law, a director may be removed with or without cause by a resolution 
passed by an ordinary majority of the votes cast by shareholders present in person or by proxy at a meeting and who 
are entitled to vote, provided that the director had a reasonable opportunity to present his or her position to the 
shareholders. The directors, other than the external directors, will be elected by shareholders at each annual meeting 
of shareholders, and will hold office for a term expiring at the close of the next annual meeting. In addition, our 
Articles allow our Board of Directors to appoint new directors to fill vacancies on our board of directors, including 
filling empty board seats up to the maximum number of directors permitted under our Articles, if the number of 
directors is below the maximum number provided in our Articles.

Director Independence

Under NI 58-101, a director is considered to be independent if he or she is independent within the meaning 
of the general independence requirements of Section 1.4 of NI 52-110, without regard to the additional independence 
requirements set out in Section 1.5 of NI 52-110 which apply only to members of the audit committee. Pursuant to 
Section 1.4 of NI 52-110, an independent director is a director who is free from any direct or indirect relationship 
which could, in the view of our Board, be reasonably expected to interfere with a director’s independent judgment, 
and who is also not disqualified from independence under any of the “bright line” independence requirements set out 
in Section 1.4 of NI 52-110. Based on information provided by each director concerning his or her background, 
employment and affiliations, we have determined that each of the directors of the Company can be considered 
independent.

Meetings of Independent Directors and Conflicts of Interest

We believe that, given its size and structure, the Board will be able to facilitate independent judgment in 
carrying out its responsibilities and will continue to do so following Closing. To enhance such independent judgment, 
the independent members of our Board may meet in the absence of senior executive officers or any non-independent 
directors.

Director Term Limits and Other Mechanisms of Board Renewal

Our Board has not adopted director term limits or other automatic mechanisms of board renewal. Rather than 
adopting formal term limits, mandatory age-related retirement policies and other mechanisms of board renewal, we 
will seek to maintain the composition of our Board in a way that provides, in the judgment of our Board, the best mix 
of skills and experience to provide for our overall stewardship. 

Orientation and Continuing Education

Following Closing, we will implement an orientation program for new directors under which a new director 
will meet with the Chair, members of senior management and, if appointed, our secretary. It is anticipated that new 
directors will be provided with comprehensive orientation and education as to the nature and operation of the Company 
and our business, the role of our Board and its committees, and the contribution that an individual director is expected 
to make. The chair of each committee will be responsible for coordinating orientation and continuing director 
development programs relating to the committee’s mandate.

Ethical Business Conduct

We intend to adopt a written code of ethics (the “Code of Ethics”) that applies to all of our officers, directors 
and employees acting on our behalf. The objective of the Code of Ethics is to provide guidelines for maintaining our 
integrity, trust and respect. The Code of Ethics addresses compliance with laws, rules and regulations, conflicts of 
interest, confidentiality, commitment, preferential treatment, financial information, internal controls and disclosure, 
protection and proper use of our assets, communications, fair dealing, fair competition, due diligence, illegal payments, 
equal employment opportunities and harassment, privacy, use of our computers and the internet, political and 
charitable activities and reporting any violations of law, regulation or the Code of Ethics. Any person subject to the 
Code of Ethics is required to report all violations of law, regulation or of the Code of Ethics of which they become 
aware to any one of our senior executives.
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Diversity Policy

Under the Companies Law, if at the time an external director is appointed all current members of the Board 
of Directors who are not controlling shareholders or relatives of controlling shareholders are of the same gender, we 
are required to appoint an external director of the other gender at that time. 

Board Mandate

A discussion of the Board’s two standing committees, namely the Audit Committee and Compensation 
Committee, follows. At present, we do not have a nominating committee, nor do we have a formal process for 
identifying new candidates for board nomination.

Audit Committee

Our Audit Committee shall be comprised of three directors, all of whom are persons determined by our Board 
to satisfy the prescribed requirements for audit committee members under applicable Canadian securities laws and the 
Companies Law as outlined below:

Canadian Requirements (NI 52-110) Israeli Requirements (Companies Law)

The Audit Committee must consist of at least three 
directors.

The Audit Committee must consist of at least three 
directors.

Subject to certain exceptions, as a venture issuer, a 
majority of the members of the Audit Committee must 
not be executive officers, employees or control persons 
of the Company or an affiliate of the Company.

The Audit Committee must include all of our external 
directors, but may also include one or more directors who 
are not external directors provided he or she satisfies the 
criteria set out below.(1)

The chair of the Audit Committee must be an external 
director.

The Audit Committee may not include the Chairman of 
the Board of Directors, a controlling shareholder of the 
Company, a relative of a controlling shareholder, a 
director employed by or providing services on a regular 
basis to the Company, to a controlling shareholder or to 
an entity controlled by a controlling shareholder, or a 
director who derives most of his or her income from a 
controlling shareholder.

The majority of the Audit Committee members must be 
unaffiliated directors and at least one of the external 
directors must have “financial expertise”. See “Certain 
Regulatory Matters — Summary of Certain Material 
Aspects of Israeli Corporate Law — External 
Directors”.(2)

Notes:
(1) See “Certain Regulatory Matters — Summary of Certain Material Aspects of Israeli Corporate Law — External Directors”.
(2) In general, an “unaffiliated director” under the Companies Law for “public companies,” including companies listed on the TSXV, is defined 

as either an external director or as a director who meets the following criteria:

 he or she meets the primary qualifications for being appointed as an external director, except for the requirements that the director 
possess accounting and financial expertise or professional qualifications; and

 he or she has not served as a director of the company for a period exceeding nine consecutive years, subject to extension for additional 
terms under certain circumstances. For this purpose, an interruption of less than two years in the service shall not be deemed to interrupt 
the continuation of the service.

The quorum required for the convening of meetings of the Audit Committee and for adopting resolutions by 
the audit committee is a majority of the members of the audit committee, provided such majority is comprised of a 
majority of independent directors, at least one of whom is an external director.
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Under the Companies Law, the approval of the audit committee is required to effect specified actions and 
transactions with office holders and controlling shareholders and their relatives, or in which they have a personal 
interest. See “Fiduciary Duties of Directors and Officers”. The Audit Committee may not approve an action or a 
transaction with a controlling shareholder or with an office holder unless at the time of approval the Audit Committee 
meets the composition requirements under the Companies Law.

Our Audit Committee is currently comprised of Boaz Gorfung, Yoav Horowitz and Danny Haklai each of 
whom are financially literate within the meaning of NI 52-110. Following Closing, it is expected the Company will
appoint Renah Persofsky and Leon Koffler to the Audit Committee, replacing Mr. Horowitz and Mr. Haklai. The 
financial literacy of each current Audit Committee member, Ms. Persofsky and Mr. Koffler is further described under 
the section entitled “Directors and Executive Officers — Biographical Information Regarding the Directors and 
Executive Officers”. Mr. Gorfung, Mr. Horowitz, Ms. Persofsky and Mr. Koffler are all independent, as such term is 
defined in NI 52-110. 

In connection with the Offering, our Board has adopted a written charter, as attached in Appendix A, setting 
forth the purpose, composition, authority and responsibility of our Audit Committee, consistent with both the Canadian 
securities law requirements of NI 52-110 and the Israeli corporate law requirements of the Companies Law. The Audit 
Committee will have the duties and responsibilities applicable under both the Companies Law and NI 52-110, and the 
role of the Audit Committee will also include to assist our Board in fulfilling its oversight of:

 our financial statements and financial reporting processes;
 our systems of internal accounting and financial controls;
 the annual independent audit of our financial statements;
 legal and regulatory compliance;
 reviewing and recommending debt and equity financings, reviewing and monitoring compliance 

with debt covenant and reviewing the process and reports with which we measure financial results 
or performance;

 reviewing and approving Interested Party transactions and establishing pre-approved criteria for 
such transactions;

 where the Board of Directors approves the working plan of the internal auditor, to examine such 
working plan before its submission to the board of directors and proposing amendments thereto;

 examining our internal controls and internal auditor’s performance, including whether the internal 
auditor has sufficient resources and tools to dispose of its responsibilities;

 examining the scope of our auditor’s work and compensation and submitting a recommendation 
with respect thereto to our board of directors or shareholders, depending on which of them is 
considering the appointment of our auditor;

 establishing anonymous whistleblower procedures, including those providing for the receipt, 
retention and treatment of anonymous complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, 
internal accounting controls, or auditing matters;

 determining whether certain related party actions and transactions are “material” or “extraordinary” 
for the purpose of the requisite approval procedures under the Companies Law and establishing 
procedures for considering proposed transactions with a controlling shareholder;

 determining whether there are deficiencies or irregularities in the business management practices of 
our company, including in consultation with our internal auditor or the independent auditor, and 
making recommendations to the board of directors to improve such practices;

 determining the approval process for transactions with a controlling shareholder or in which a 
controlling shareholder has a personal interest; and

 public disclosure items such as quarterly press releases, investor relations materials and other public 
reporting requirements.

It will be the responsibility of the Audit Committee to maintain free and open means of communication 
between the Audit Committee, the external auditors and the management of the Company. The Audit Committee will 
be given full access to the Company’s management and records and external auditors as necessary to carry out these 
responsibilities. The Audit Committee will also have the authority to carry out such investigations as it sees fit in 
respect of any matters within its various roles and responsibilities. The Company shall provide appropriate funding, 
as determined by the Audit Committee, for the payment of compensation to the independent auditor to render or issue 
an audit report and to any advisors employed by the Audit Committee.
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Internal Auditor

Under the Companies Law, the Board of Directors is required to appoint an internal auditor recommended 
by the Audit Committee, whose role is to examine, among other things, whether the Company’s actions comply with 
applicable law and proper business procedures. The internal auditor may not be an Interested Party, an officer or 
director of the Company, or a relative of any of the foregoing, nor may the internal auditor be our independent 
accountant or a representative thereof. We intend to appoint an internal auditor upon completion of the Offering in 
compliance with the Companies Law.

Compensation Committee

Following the Closing, the Board will form a Compensation Committee that will initially be comprised of 
three directors, each of whom will be a person determined by our Board to be an independent director, and the 
committee will be charged with reviewing, overseeing and evaluating our compensation, corporate governance and 
nominating policies. Under the Companies Law, the Compensation Committee must consist of at least three directors 
who meet certain independence criteria and must include all of the Company’s external directors, one of whom must 
serve as chair of the committee.

Our Board will adopt a written charter setting forth the purpose, composition, authority and responsibility of 
our Compensation Committee consistent with the Corporate Governance Guidelines, including our Diversity Policy. 
Our Compensation Committee’s purpose will be to assist our Board in:

 the appointment, performance, evaluation and compensation of our senior executives;
 recommending to the board of directors with respect to the approval of the compensation policy for 

office holders and, once every three years, or five years from a company’s initial public offering, 
regarding any extensions to a compensation policy that was adopted for a longer period of time;

 reviewing the implementation of the compensation policy and periodically recommending to the 
board of directors with respect to any amendments or updates of the compensation plan;

 the recruitment, development and retention of our senior executives;
 maintaining talent management and succession planning systems and processes relating to our 

senior management; 
 developing a compensation structure for senior executives including salaries, annual and long-term;
 establishing incentive plans including plans involving share issuances and other share-based awards;
 establishing policies and procedures designed to identify and mitigate risks associated with our 

compensation policies and practices;
 assessing the compensation of our directors;
 developing benefit retirement and savings plans;
 developing our corporate governance guidelines and principles and providing us with governance 

leadership;
 identifying individuals qualified to be nominated as members of our Board;
 monitoring compliance with the Code of Ethics, once implemented; 
 reviewing the structure, composition and mandate of our Board committees;
 evaluating the performance and effectiveness of our Board and of our Board committees; and
 exempting, under certain circumstances, a transaction with our chief executive officer from 

requiring approval at a meeting of our shareholders.

Our Compensation Committee will be responsible for establishing and implementing procedures to evaluate 
the performance and effectiveness of our Board, committees of our Board and the contributions of individual Board 
members. Our Compensation Committee will also take reasonable steps to evaluate and assess, on an annual basis, 
directors’ performance and effectiveness of our Board, committees of our Board, individual Board members, our Chair 
and committee chairs. The assessment will address, among other things, individual director independence, individual 
director and individual director financial literacy. Our Board will receive and consider the recommendations from our 
Compensation Committee regarding the results of the evaluation of the performance and effectiveness of our Board, 
committees of our Board, individual Board members, our Chair and committee chairs. Our Compensation Committee 
will also be responsible for orientation and continuing education programs for our directors. See also ‘‘Directors and 
Executive Officers — Corporate Governance — Orientation and Continuing Education’’.
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Further, and pursuant to the Companies Law, the responsibilities of the Compensation Committee will 
include recommending to the Board of Directors, for ultimate shareholder approval by a special majority of 
shareholders, our compensation policy governing the compensation of officers and directors based on specified 
criteria; reviewing modifications to our compensation policy from time to time; reviewing its implementation; and 
approving, if required by the Companies Law, the actual compensation terms of officers and directors prior to approval 
by the Board of Directors, under circumstances where board approval is required under the Companies Law. See also 
‘‘Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation — Compensation-Setting Process’’.

The Board of Directors is responsible for approving the compensation of our executive officers, upon the 
recommendation of the Compensation Committee. In anticipation of becoming a public company, the Board of 
Directors will adopt certain changes to the existing executive compensation framework. All such changes are subject 
to and conditional upon the successful completion of the Offering. See also ‘‘Director and Named Executive Officer 
Compensation — Summary Compensation Table’’.

Exculpation, Insurance and Indemnification of Office Holders

Under the Companies Law, a company may not exculpate an office holder from liability for a breach of the 
duty of loyalty. An Israeli company may exculpate an office holder in advance from liability to the company, in whole 
or in part, for damages caused to the company as a result of a breach of duty of care but only if a provision authorizing 
such exculpation is included in its articles of association. Our Articles include such a provision. An Israeli company 
may not exculpate a director from liability arising out of a prohibited dividend or distribution to shareholders.

An Israeli company may indemnify an office holder in respect of the following liabilities and expenses 
incurred for acts performed as an office holder, either in advance of an event or following an event, provided a 
provision authorizing such indemnification is contained in its articles of association:

 a financial liability imposed on him or her in favor of another person pursuant to a judgment, 
including a settlement or arbitrator’s award approved by a court. However, if an undertaking to 
indemnify an office holder with respect to such liability is provided in advance, then such an 
undertaking must be limited to events which, in the opinion of the board of directors, can be foreseen 
based on the company’s activities when the undertaking to indemnify is given, and to an amount or 
according to criteria determined by the board of directors as reasonable under the circumstances, 
and such undertaking shall detail the abovementioned events and amount or criteria;

 reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by the office holder (1) as a result 
of an investigation or proceeding instituted against him or her by an authority authorized to conduct 
such investigation or proceeding, provided that (i) no indictment was filed against such office holder 
as a result of such investigation or proceeding; and (ii) no financial liability, such as a criminal 
penalty, was imposed upon him or her as a substitute for the criminal proceeding as a result of such 
investigation or proceeding or, if such financial liability was imposed, it was imposed with respect 
to an offense that does not require proof of criminal intent; and (2) in connection with a monetary 
sanction;

 reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by the office holder or imposed 
by a court in proceedings instituted against him or her by the company, on its behalf or by a 
third-party or in connection with criminal proceedings in which the office holder was acquitted or 
as a result of a conviction for an offense that does not require proof of criminal intent; and 

 expenses, including reasonable litigation expenses and legal fees, incurred by an office holder in 
relation to an administrative proceeding instituted against such office holder, or certain 
compensation payments made to an injured party imposed on an office holder by an administrative 
proceeding, pursuant to certain provisions of Israeli Securities Law, 5728-1968, as amended (the 
“Israeli Securities Law”).
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An Israeli company may insure an office holder against the following liabilities incurred for acts performed 
as an office holder if and to the extent provided in the company’s articles of association:

 a breach of the duty of loyalty to the company, to the extent that the office holder acted in good faith 
and had a reasonable basis to believe that the act would not prejudice the company;

 a breach of the duty of care to the company or to a third-party, including a breach arising out of the 
negligent conduct of the office holder;

 a financial liability imposed on the office holder in favor of a third-party;
 a financial liability imposed on the office holder in favor of a third-party harmed by a breach in an 

administrative proceeding; and
 expenses, including reasonable litigation expenses and legal fees, incurred by the office holder as a 

result of an administrative proceeding instituted against him or her, pursuant to certain provisions 
of the Israeli Securities Law.

 An Israeli company may not indemnify or insure an office holder against any of the following:
 a breach of the duty of loyalty, except to the extent that the office holder acted in good faith and had 

a reasonable basis to believe that the act would not prejudice the company;
 a breach of the duty of care committed intentionally or recklessly, excluding a breach arising out of 

the negligent conduct of the office holder;
 an act or omission committed with intent to derive illegal personal benefit; or
 a fine, monetary sanction or forfeit levied against the office holder.

Under the Companies Law, exculpation, indemnification and insurance of office holders must be approved 
by the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors (and, with respect to directors and the chief executive 
officer, by the shareholders). However, under regulations promulgated under the Companies Law, the insurance of 
office holders shall not require shareholder approval and may be approved by only the compensation committee, if  
the engagement terms are determined in accordance with the company’s compensation policy, which was approved 
by the shareholders by the same special majority required to approve a compensation policy, provided that the 
insurance policy is on market terms and  the insurance policy is not likely to materially impact the company’s 
profitability, assets or obligations.

Our Articles allow us to exculpate, indemnify and insure our office holders for any liability imposed on them 
as a consequence of an act (including any omission) which was performed by virtue of being an office holder. Our 
office holders are currently covered by a directors and officers’ liability insurance policy. See “Directors’ and Officers’ 
Liability Insurance”.

We have entered into agreements with each of our directors and executive officers exculpating them in 
advance, to the fullest extent permitted by law, from liability to us for damages caused to us as a result of a breach of 
duty of care, and undertaking to indemnify them to the fullest extent permitted by law. This indemnification is limited 
to events determined as foreseeable by the board of directors based on our activities, and to an amount or according 
to criteria determined by the board of directors as reasonable under the circumstances.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

Our directors and officers are covered under our existing directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. Under 
this insurance coverage, the Company will be indemnified for insured claims where we have made payments under 
indemnity provisions on behalf of our directors and officers, subject to a deductible for each loss, which the Company 
will pay. Our individual directors and officers will also be indemnified for insured claims arising during the 
performance of their duties for which they are not indemnified by us. Our insurance does not cover illegal acts, acts 
which result in personal profit and certain other acts.

In addition, we have purchased Public Offering of Securities Insurance (POSI) policy, which will provide 
coverage to our directors and officers in relation to this Offering. 
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DIRECTOR AND NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMPENSATION

Introduction

The following discussion describes the significant elements of the compensation of our President, CEO, CFO, 
and certain other executive officers of the Company (collectively, the “named executive officers” or “NEOs”).

Overview

We operate in a dynamic and rapidly evolving market. To succeed in this environment and to achieve our 
business and financial objectives, we need to attract, retain and motivate a highly talented team of executive officers.

Our executive officer compensation program is designed to achieve the following objectives:

 provide market-competitive compensation opportunities in order to attract and retain talented, 
high-performing and experienced executive officers, whose knowledge, skills and performance are 
critical to our success;

 motivate our executive officers to achieve our business and financial objectives;
 align the interests of our executive officers with those of our shareholders by tying a meaningful 

portion of compensation directly to the long-term value and growth of our business; and
 provide incentives that encourage appropriate levels of risk-taking by our executive officers and 

provide a strong pay-for-performance relationship.

We offer our executive officers cash compensation in the form of base salary and equity-based or equity-like 
compensation which has historically been awarded in the form of stock options under our Plan. We believe that 
equity-based compensation awards motivate our executive officers to achieve our business and financial objectives, 
and also align their interests with the long-term interests of our shareholders. See “Director and Named Executive 
Officer Compensation — Share Incentive Plan”. We provide a base salary to compensate employees for their 
day-to-day responsibilities, at levels that we believe are necessary to attract and retain executive officer talent. While 
we have determined that our current executive officer compensation program is effective at attracting and maintaining 
executive officer talent, we intend to evaluate our compensation practices on an ongoing basis to ensure that we are 
providing market-competitive compensation opportunities for our executive team.

As we transition from being a privately-held company to a publicly-traded company, we will continue to 
evaluate our compensation philosophy and compensation program as circumstances require and plan to continue to 
review compensation on an annual basis. As part of this review process, we expect to be guided by the philosophy and 
objectives outlined above, as well as other relevant factors and the compensation policy-related requirements under 
the Companies Law.

Compensation-Setting Process

Our Compensation Committee will be responsible for assisting our Board in fulfilling its governance and 
supervisory responsibilities, and overseeing our human resources, succession planning, and compensation policies, 
processes and practices, including implementation of the compensation policy to be adopted pursuant to the 
Companies Law and which will apply to our office holders (the “Compensation Policy”). Our Compensation 
Committee will also be responsible for ensuring that our compensation policies and practices provide an appropriate 
balance of risk and reward consistent with our risk profile. For more information, please see “Committees of our 
Board — Compensation Committee”.
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Under the Companies Law, we are required to obtain shareholder approval of our Compensation Policy with 
respect to our directors and officers once every three years. However, if a company that initially offers its securities 
to the public, like us, adopts a compensation policy in advance of its initial public offering, and describes it in its 
prospectus for such offering, then such compensation policy shall be deemed a validly adopted policy in accordance 
with the Companies Law requirements described above. Furthermore, if the Compensation Policy is established in 
accordance with the aforesaid method, then it will remain in effect for a term of five (5) years from the date such 
company becomes a public company. We intend to adopt the Compensation Policy and to obtain all necessary 
shareholder approvals in connection therewith following the Closing. The Compensation Policy must serve as the 
basis for decisions concerning the financial terms of employment or engagement of officers, including compensation, 
benefits, exculpation, insurance and indemnification. The Compensation Policy must take into account, among other 
things, certain factors, including the advancement of the Company’s objectives, the Company’s business plan, the 
Company’s long-term strategy, risk management, and creation of appropriate incentives. The Compensation Policy 
must also include certain principles, such as: a link between variable compensation and long-term performance and 
measurable criteria; the relationship between variable and fixed compensation; and the minimum holding or vesting 
period for variable, equity-based compensation. Given these requirements, our Compensation Policy will govern and 
provide for the following matters: base salary, benefits and perquisites, cash commissions, equity based compensation, 
retirement and termination of service arrangements, exculpation, indemnification and insurance and non-employee 
directors’ compensation.

Under the Companies Law, external directors may be compensated only in accordance with the applicable 
regulations. These regulations permit the payment of cash compensation within a specified range, based on the size 
of the company, or cash or equity compensation that is consistent with the compensation paid to the other independent 
directors.

Following the recommendation of our Compensation Committee and pursuant to the Companies Law, the 
Compensation Policy must also be approved by our Board of Directors and shareholders. In public companies such as 
our Company, shareholder approval by a majority vote of the ordinary shares present and voting at a meeting of 
shareholders called for such purpose is required, provided that either: (i) such majority includes the majority of the 
votes of those shareholders who are non-controlling shareholders and do not have a personal interest in the approval 
of the Compensation Policy, who voted at the meeting (excluding abstentions) or (ii) the total number of votes against 
the proposal among the shareholders mentioned in paragraph (i) does not exceed 2% of the voting rights in the 
company. If our shareholders do not approve the Compensation Policy, the Board of Directors may resolve to approve 
the Compensation Policy if and to the extent the Compensation Committee and the Board determine, in its judgment 
following internal discussions and after reconsidering the Compensation Policy, that approval of the Compensation 
Policy is in the best interests of the Company.

Generally, under the Companies Law, the compensation terms of directors, the chief executive officer and 
any employee or service provider who is considered a controlling shareholder must also be approved by the 
Compensation Committee, the Board and the shareholders. However, shareholder approval is not required for director 
compensation payable in cash up to the maximum amount set forth in the regulations governing the compensation of 
external directors under the Companies Law. The compensation terms of other officers who report directly to the chief 
executive officer require the approval of the Compensation Committee and the Board, subject to certain exceptions

Principal Elements of Compensation

Following completion of the Offering, the principal elements of compensation of our executive officers will 
be comprised of: (i) base salary; and (ii) long-term equity incentives, consisting of options and restricted share units 
(“RSUs”) granted from time to time under our Plan.

Base salary is provided as a fixed source of compensation for our executive officers. Adjustments to base 
salaries are expected to be determined annually and may be increased based on the executive officer’s success in 
meeting or exceeding individual objectives, as well as to maintain market competitiveness. Additionally, base salaries 
can be adjusted as warranted throughout the year to reflect promotions or other changes in the scope or breadth of an 
executive officer’s role or responsibilities. Base salaries may include some other money-valuated compensations, such 
as vehicle maintenance.
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets out information concerning the compensation earned by, paid to, or awarded to 
the NEOs for Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2020:

COMPENSATION (EXCLUDING COMPENSATION SECURITIES)

Name and Principal
Position

Fiscal 
Year

Salary, 
Consulting Fee, 

Retainer or 
Commission

(US$)(1)
Bonus 
(US$)

Committee or 
Meeting Fees 

(US$)
Perquisites 

(US$)

All Other 
Compensation 

(US$)

Total 
Compensation 

(US$)

Yoav Horowitz, 
Chairman of the 
Board of 
Directors

2019 - - - - - -

2020 46,000 - - - - 46,000

Shmulik Porre, 
Chief Executive 
Officer

2019 - - - - - -

2020 69,000 - - - 34,000(1) 103,000

Danny Haklai,

Chief Financial 
Officer

2019 - - - - - -

2020 3,000 - - - - 3,000

Yael Ghetta, 

Head of Quality 
Assurance and 
Research and 
Development

2019 57,000 - - - 16,000(1) 73,000

2020 45,000 - - - 12,000(1) 57,000

Amichai 
Krupik,

Founder, 
Technology &
Innovation

2019 99,000 - - - - 99,000

2020 75,000 - - - - 75,000

Notes:
(1) Includes expenses related to vehicle lease and maintenance. 



84

Stock Options and other Compensation Securities

The following table sets out information concerning the option-based and share-based awards granted to our 
NEOs that we expect to be outstanding upon completion of the Offering:

COMPENSATION SECURITIES

Name and Principal
Position

Type of 
Compensation 

Security

Number of 
Compensation 

Securities, 
Number of 
Underlying 

Securities, and 
Percentage of 

Class

Date of 
Issue or 
Grant

Issue, 
Conversion 
or Exercise 
Price ($)(2)

Closing Price 
of Security or 
Underlying 
Security on 

Date of Grant

Closing Price 
of Security or 
Underlying 
Security at 

Year End ($)
Expiry 
Date

Shmulik Porre, 
Chief Executive 
Officer

Options 657,700
February 
13, 2021

NIS 0.20 — —
February 
12, 2031

Yoav Horowitz, 
Chairman of the 
Board of 
Directors

Options 657,700
February 
13, 2021

NIS 0.20 — —
February 
12, 2031

Amichai Krupik,

Founder, 
Technology &
Innovation

Options 657,800
February 
13, 2021

NIS 0.20 — —
February 
12, 2031

Amichai Krupik,

Founder, 
Technology &
Innovation

Options 1,315,800
February 
13, 2021

NIS 0.10 — —
February 
12, 2031

Tal Recanati,

Director
Options 100

March 
14, 2021 NIS 0.20

— —
March 

13, 2031

Notes:
(1) The options reflected in this column were granted pursuant to the Plan, and each such option will become exercisable for one Ordinary Share

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements

We have entered into written employment or services agreements with each of our directors and NEOs. Each 
of these agreements contains provisions regarding confidentiality, non-competition/non-solicitation and ownership of 
intellectual property. The enforceability of employment agreement covenants not to compete are subject to customary 
limitations and, under applicable Israeli law, may not be enforceable if they are considered prejudicial to the 
individual’s ability to earn a livelihood. In addition, we are required to provide notice prior to terminating the 
employment of our executive officers, other than in circumstances where an executive officer is not entitled to 
severance pay under Israeli law, a breach of trust, a material breach of the applicable agreement by the executive, or 
the executive officer’s breach of the terms of confidentiality, non-competition/non-solicitation and ownership of 
intellectual property provisions of the relevant agreement. The material terms of each agreement we have entered into 
with our directors and NEOs are set out below.

Shmulik Porre, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Porre’s employment agreement provides for base salary and benefits, including an undertaking by us to 
grant Mr. Porre options to purchase 1,973,500 Ordinary Shares of the Company at an exercise price of NIS 0.20 per 
option. Such options were granted to Mr. Porre on February 13, 2021 and are expected to vest as follows: (i) 657,700 
options will vest on March 1, 2021, and (ii) the remainder of the options will vest in two equal portions of 657,900 on 
March 1, 2022 and March 1, 2023, respectively.
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Mr. Porre’s employment agreement contains customary provisions regarding confidentiality, ownership and 
assignment of intellectual property and certain restrictive covenants that will continue to apply following the 
termination of his employment, including noncompetition and non-solicitation provisions which are in effect during 
Mr. Porre’s employment and for the one-year period following the termination of his employment. The enforceability 
of employment agreement covenants not to compete are subject to customary limitations and, under applicable Israeli 
law, may not be enforceable if they are considered prejudicial to the individual’s ability to earn a livelihood.

In addition, Mr. Porre’s employment agreement contains a provision requiring 60 days’ notice prior to the 
termination of the agreement by either party, except in circumstances where Mr. Porre is terminated by the Company 
for cause. If Mr. Porre is terminated without cause, then in addition to, among other things, his accrued but unpaid 
base salary, vacation pay, recuperation pay and benefits continue up to the termination date. In accordance with 
Section 14 of Israel’s Severance Pay Law, 5723-1963 (the “Severance Pay Law”), Mr. Porre has an arrangement 
with the Company whereby, as part of his severance, Mr. Porre will be entitled to monthly deposits with third-party 
insurance companies and pension funds at a rate of 8.33% of his monthly salary (a “Section 14 Arrangement”). These 
payments release the Company from future obligations under the Severance Pay Law.

Amichai Krupik, Founder, Technology and Innovation

Mr. Krupik’s employment agreement provides for base salary and benefits, including an undertaking to grant 
Mr. Krupik options to purchase 3,289,200 Ordinary Shares of the Company. Such options were granted to Mr. Krupik 
on February 13, 2021 and are expected to vest as follows: (i) 1,315,800 options will vest on the grant date at an 
exercise price of NIS 0.01, and (ii) 1,973,400 options shall vest over a period of three (3) years commencing on March 
1, 2021, in three equal portions of 657,800, at an exercise price of NIS 0.20. Furthermore, the Company has provided
Mr. Krupik an undertaking to grant him that number of options equal to 1.5% of the Company's fully-diluted share 
capital upon the establishment of two new facilities by the Company outside of Israel.

Mr. Krupik’s employment agreement contains customary provisions regarding confidentiality, and 
ownership and assignment of intellectual property and and certain restrictive covenants that will continue to apply 
following the termination of his employment, including noncompetition and non-solicitation provisions which are in 
effect during Mr. Krupik’s employment and for the twelve month period following the termination of his employment. 
The enforceability of employment agreement covenants not to compete are subject to customary limitations and, under 
applicable Israeli law, may not be enforceable if they are considered prejudicial to the individual’s ability to earn a 
livelihood.

In addition, Mr. Krupik’s employment agreement contains a provision requiring 60 days’ notice prior to the 
termination of the agreement by either party, except in circumstances where Mr. Krupik is terminated by the Company 
for cause. With respect to severance, Mr. Krupik has a Section 14 Arrangement. The severance payments made in 
accordance with the Section 14 Arrangement release the Company from future obligations under the Severance Pay 
Law.

Yael Ghetta, Head of Quality Assurance and Research and Development

Ms. Ghetta’s employment agreement provides for a salary (consisting of base salary and global overtime 
payments) and benefits.

Ms. Ghetta’s employment agreement contains customary provisions regarding confidentiality, and ownership 
and assignment of intellectual property and certain restrictive covenants that will continue to apply following the 
termination of her employment, including noncompetition and non-solicitation provisions which are in effect during 
Ms. Ghetta’s employment and for the six month period following the termination of her employment. The 
enforceability of employment agreement covenants not to compete are subject to customary limitations and, under 
applicable Israeli law, may not be enforceable if they are considered prejudicial to the individual’s ability to earn a 
livelihood.

In addition, Ms. Ghetta’s employment agreement is subject to the statutory notice period (30 days after one 
year service) prior to the termination of the agreement by either party, other than in circumstances where Ms. Ghetta 
is terminated by the Company for cause. With respect to severance payment, Ms. Ghetta has a Section 14 
Arrangement. The payments made in accordance with the Section 14 Arrangement release the Company from future 
obligations under the Severance Pay Law.
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Danny Haklai, Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Haklai provides his services pursuant to a consulting agreement with the Company. For his services, Mr. 
Haklai receives a monthly consulting fee, as well as a one-time payment of NIS 120,000 for his services in connection 
with this Offering.  

Mr. Haklai’s agreement contains customary provisions regarding confidentiality, and ownership and 
assignment of intellectual property and and certain restrictive covenants that will continue to apply following the 
termination of his services, including noncompetition and non-solicitation provisions which are in effect during the 
term of the agreement and for the six month and twelve month periods, respectively, following the termination thereof. 
The enforceability of employment agreement covenants not to compete are subject to customary limitations and, under 
applicable Israeli law, may not be enforceable if they are considered prejudicial to the individual’s ability to earn a 
livelihood. 

Yoav Horowitz, Chairman of the Board of Directors

Mr. Horowitz has entered into a services agreement with the Company, pursuant to which he receives a 
monthly fee for his services and an undertaking by the Company to grant Mr. Horowitz options to purchase 1,973,500 
Ordinary Shares of the Company at an exercise price of NIS 0.20 per option. Such options were granted to Mr. 
Horowitz on February 13, 2021 and are expected to vest as follows: (i) 657,700 options will vest on March 1, 2021, 
and (ii) the remainder of the options will vest in two equal portions of 657,900 on March 1, 2022 and March 1, 2023, 
respectively. Mr. Horowitz is also entitled to the immediate acceleration of his options in the event the Company has
a net profit in any given year.

Mr. Horowitz’s agreement contains customary provisions regarding confidentiality, and ownership and 
assignment of intellectual property.

Share Incentive Plans 

On January 7, 2020, our Board of Directors approved the Plan. The Plan allows for the grant of options, 
shares, restricted shares and RSUs (collectively, the “Awards”), to provide long-term incentives to our employees, 
directors, officers, consultants or any individual employed by a person providing management services to the 
Company, which are required for the ongoing successful operation of the business enterprise of the Company. The 
Plan promotes greater alignment of interests between employees and shareholders, and supports the Company’s 
longer-term performance objectives, while providing a long-term retention element. While primarily governed by the 
requirements of the Companies Law, in connection with the Offering, the Company amended the Plan on March 31, 
2021 to comply with the applicable rules of the TSXV.

Our Board will be responsible for administering the Plan, and the Compensation Committee will make 
recommendations to our Board in respect of matters relating to the Plan.

In connection with the adoption of the Plan, the Company received a ruling from the Israel Tax Authority on 
March 1, 2021 confirming that the cancellation of certain past commitments, pursuant to certain employment 
agreements, and the granting of options to such individuals will replace such past commitments and shall be granted 
under the Plan and such cancellations shall not be deemed as a tax event. Furthermore, the ruling confirmed that the 
granting of options to such individuals under the Plan qualifies for treatment under Section 102 of the Ordinance.

As of the date of this Prospectus, 7,236,300 Ordinary Shares are issuable upon the exercise of outstanding 
Awards, granted in accordance with the Companies Law. The aggregate number of Ordinary Shares which may be 
subject to issuance pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan, inclusive of all outstanding Awards, shall not be greater 
than 16,042,633 Ordinary Shares. 
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Awards granted under the Plan are subject to vesting schedules set forth in the applicable grant letter
governing such Awards. Unless determined otherwise by the administrator, any period in which a grantee is not our 
employee or has taken an unpaid leave of absence (excluding a leave for military reserves duty or the mandatory 
maternity leave determined by law), or in which a grantee shall cease to serve as “service provider” (as defined in the 
Plan) of the Company, will not be included in such vesting period.

Our Plan provides that Awards granted thereunder are intended to be in compliance with Section 102 of the 
Israeli Income Tax Ordinance, 1961, which provides for employees, directors and officers, who are not controlling 
shareholders and are Israeli residents, favorable tax treatment for compensation in the form of shares or share-based 
awards issued or granted, as applicable, to a trustee under the “capital gains track” for the benefit of the relevant 
employee, director or officer and are, or were, to be held by the trustee for at least two years after the date of grant or 
issuance. Under the capital gains track, we are not allowed to deduct an expense with respect to the grant or issuance 
of such shares or share-based awards.

According to the Plan, upon cessation of the grantee’s services with the Company, all the outstanding Awards 
that have vested expire immediately on the date the services cease (the “Termination Date”). Awards that are vested 
will remain exercisable for a period of ninety (90) days from the grantee’s Termination Date (but not later than the 
expiration date of the Award). If the cessation of the grantee’s services is for cause (as defined in the Plan), all the 
Awards, vested or unvested, terminate immediately and be of no legal effect. Upon cessation of the grantee’s services 
as a result of death, or disability (as defined in the Plan), the vested Awards will be exercisable by the grantee or by 
his legal representative, estate or other person to whom his rights are transferred by will or by laws of descent or 
distribution at any time until the lapse of twenty-four (24) months from such date of the cessation of employment 
or service. 

In the event of a corporate transaction (a “Corporate Transaction”), immediately prior to the effective date 
of such Corporate Transaction, the Board, at its sole and absolute discretion of the Board, among other things, may: 
(i) cause each Award may be substituted for, or assumed by, a successor entity award such that the grantee may 
exercise the successor entity Award or have it become vested, as the case may be, for such number and class of 
securities of the successor entity which would have been issuable to the grantee in consummation of such Corporate 
Transaction, had the Award vested or been exercised (as applicable), immediately prior to the effective date of such 
Corporate Transaction, given the exchange ratio or consideration paid in the Corporate Transaction, the vesting period 
and performance conditions (if any) of the Awards, and such other terms and factors that the administrator of the Plan 
determines to be relevant for purposes of calculating the number of successor entity Awards granted to each grantee; 
(ii) provide the grantee with the option to exercise the Award as to all or part of the shares, and may provide for an 
acceleration of vesting of unvested Awards; or (iii) cancel the Award and pay consideration equal to the difference 
between the price received by the shareholders of the Company in the Corporate Transaction and the exercise price, 
purchase price, or nominal value, as the case may be, of such Award. The administrator of the Plan shall not be 
obligated to treat all Awards, all Awards held by a grantee, or all Awards of the same type, similarly. Immediately 
following the consummation of the Corporate Transaction, all outstanding Awards shall terminate and cease to be 
outstanding, except to the extent assumed by a successor entity.

Subject to any provision in the Articles of the Company and to the Board’s sole and absolute discretion, in 
the event of a Corporate Transaction, each grantee may be obligated to participate in the Corporate Transaction and 
sell his or her shares and/or Awards in the Company, provided, however, that each such share or Award shall be sold 
at a price equal to that of any other Ordinary Share sold under the Corporate Transaction (and, unless determined 
otherwise by the Board, less the applicable exercise price), while accounting for changes in such price due to the 
respective terms of any such Award, and subject to the absolute discretion of the Board.
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Our Board may, in its sole discretion, suspend or terminate the Plan at any time, or from time to time, amend, 
revise or discontinue the terms and conditions of the Plan or of any Award granted under the Plan and any grant 
agreement relating thereto, subject to any required TSXV and shareholder approval, provided that such suspension, 
termination, amendment, or revision does not adversely alter or impair any Award previously granted except as 
permitted by the terms of the Plan or as required by applicable laws. Pursuant to the Companies Law, equity 
compensation plans and material amendments thereto require the approval of the Compensation Committee and 
shareholders, as well as the Board, where such arrangements are for the compensation of the chief executive officer 
or directors. In addition, with respect to the issuance of securities in certain circumstances, we intend to follow the 
Companies Law applicable to us, which requires shareholder approval in the event of issuances to certain related 
parties, as described above under “Certain Regulatory Matters — Summary of Certain Material Aspects of Israeli 
Corporate Law — Approval of Related Party Transactions and Disclosure of Personal Interest”.

Our Board will be authorized to amend the Plan or any Award granted thereunder at any time without the 
consent of a participant provided that such amendment shall (i) not adversely alter or impair any Award previously 
granted except as permitted by the terms of the Plan or applicable law, (ii) be in compliance with applicable law and 
subject to any regulatory approvals including, where required, the approval of the TSXV, and (iii) be subject to 
shareholder approval where required by law the requirements of the TSXV or the Plan. Shareholder approval shall not 
be required for the following amendments and our Board may make any alterations, amendments or variances which 
may include but are not limited to:

 amendments of a general housekeeping or clerical nature that, among others, clarify, correct or 
rectify any ambiguity, defective provision, error or omission in the Plan;

 changes that alter, extend or accelerate the terms of vesting or settlement applicable to any 
award; and

 a change to the eligible participants under the Plan; and
 any other amendment that does not require shareholder approval pursuant to the amendment 

provisions of the Plan or the TSXV rules.

Shareholder approval will be required for any alteration, amendment or variance that:

 increases the maximum number of Ordinary Shares issuable under the Plan, other than pursuant to 
adjustment pursuant to a change in capitalization;

 reduces the exercise price of outstanding Awards or extends the expiry date of an Award benefitting 
an insider; or

 results in any change to the amendment provision of the Plan that is subject to shareholder approval 
under the TSXV’s rules.

No such amendment to the Plan shall cause the Plan in respect of RSUs to cease to be a plan described in 
Section 7 of the Tax Act or any successor to such provision and no such amendment to the Plan shall cause the Plan
in respect of deferred share units to cease to be a plan described in Regulation 6801(d) of the Tax Act or any successor 
to such provision.

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

None of our directors, executive officers, employees, former directors, former executive officers or former 
employees, and none of their respective associates, is or has within 30 days before the date of this Prospectus or at 
any time since the beginning of the most recently completed financial year been indebted to us or another entity whose 
indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar agreement or 
understanding provided by us.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

General

Pursuant to the terms and conditions contained in the Underwriting Agreement, the Company has agreed to sell 
and the Underwriters have severally agreed to purchase, as principals, on the Closing Date, 4,898,048 Units for 
consideration of C$1,321,003.62, representing the net proceeds of the Offering after deducting the Underwriters’ Fee 
(assuming no exercise of the Underwriters’ Option) payable in cash to the Company against delivery by the Company 
of the Ordinary Shares and Warrants comprising the Units. The obligations of the Underwriters under the Underwriting 
Agreement are several and not joint, and may be terminated at their discretion upon the occurrence of certain stated 
events. If an Underwriter fails to purchase the Units which it has agreed to purchase under the Underwriting 
Agreement, the other Underwriters may, but are not obligated to, purchase such Units. The Underwriters are, however, 
obligated to take up and pay for all of the securities if any of the securities are purchased under the Underwriting 
Agreement. 

The Offered Units are being offered to the public in each province and territory of Canada, except the province 
of Québec, in an initial public offering, are being offered to subscribers in the United States on a private placement 
basis pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and are being offered to 
subscribers in jurisdictions outside of Canada and the United States on a private placement or equivalent basis in 
accordance with applicable laws, provided that such laws permit the offer and sale of the Offered Units on a private 
placement basis and without any obligation on the part of the Company to prepare or file any registration statement, 
prospectus or other disclosure document and without triggering any disclosure obligations on the part of the Company.

Each Unit is comprised of one Ordinary Share and one-half of one Warrant. Each whole Warrant will entitle the 
holder thereof to purchase one Ordinary Share at an exercise price of C$0.51 per Ordinary Share, subject to adjustment, 
at any time until 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on the date that is 24 months after the Closing Date, after which time the 
Warrants will expire and be void and of no value. The Warrants will be created and issued pursuant to the terms of a 
warrant indenture (the “Warrant Indenture”) to be entered into between the Company and TSX Trust Company (the 
“Warrant Agent”) on Closing, which will contain provisions designed to protect the holders of the Warrants against 
dilution upon the occurrence of certain events. No fractional Ordinary Shares will be issued upon the exercise of any 
Warrants.

The Offering Price for the Units was established through arm’s length negotiations between the Company 
and the Underwriters.  The Underwriters will receive a commission equal to 7.0% of the gross proceeds received by 
the Company in respect of the Offered Units (including any Offered Units issued pursuant to the Underwriters’ 
Option). In addition, the Company has agreed to grant the Underwriters, as additional compensation, 342,863
Underwriters’ Warrants.  Each Underwriters’ Warrant shall be exercisable at a price of C$0.29 per Unit and may be 
exercised in whole or in part by the Underwriters for a period of 24 months following the date of issuance of the 
Offered Units. The Company has also agreed to pay the Underwriters a financial advisory fee in the amount of 
C$379,476, and grant the Underwriters 1,308,539 Underwriters’ Warrants, in respect of the Private Placement of 
Subscription Receipts and the Private Placement of Class A Units. The grant of the Underwriters’ Warrants and the 
distribution of 4,334,862 Ordinary Shares and 2,167,431 Warrants issuable on the deemed exercise of 4,334,862 
Subscription Receipts are each qualified by this Prospectus.  In addition, the Company will reimburse the Underwriters 
for expenses (including legal counsels’ expenses) incurred in connection with the Offering, plus applicable taxes and 
disbursements. 

The Company has granted the Underwriters the Underwriters’ Option, exercisable, in whole or in part, at any 
time for a period of 30 days following the Closing Date, to purchase from the Company up to an additional 15% of 
the aggregate number of Offered Units issued under the Offering on the same terms as set forth above. The 
Underwriters’ Option may be exercised by the Underwriters in respect of: (i) the Additional Units at a price of C$0.29
per Additional Unit; (ii) Additional Shares at a price of C$0.29 per Additional Share; (iii) Additional Warrants at a 
price of C$0.51 per Additional Warrant; or (iv) any combination of Additional Securities, so long as the aggregate 
number of Additional Shares and Additional Warrants which may be issued under the Underwriters’ Option does not 
exceed 734,705 Additional Shares and 367,353 Additional Warrants. If the Underwriters’ Option is exercised in full, 
the total “Price to the Public”, “Underwriters’ Fee” and “Net Proceeds to the Company” will be C$1,822,066, 
C$127,545 and C$1,694,521, respectively. This Prospectus also qualifies the grant of the Underwriters’ Option to the 
Underwriters and distribution of the Additional Securities issuable upon the exercise of the Underwriters’ Option. A 
purchaser who acquires Additional Units, Additional Shares and/or Additional Warrants forming part of the 
Underwriter’s over-allocation position acquires those securities under this Prospectus, regardless of whether the over-
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allocation position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the over-allotment option or secondary market purchases.
Unless the context otherwise requires, references to Units, Ordinary Shares and Warrants include the applicable 
Additional Securities.

There is currently no market through which the Offered Units, Ordinary Shares or Warrants may be sold. 
The Company has applied to list the Ordinary Shares and the Warrants on the TSXV under the symbol “AKMY” and 
“AKMY.WT”, respectively. Listing is subject to approval of the TSXV in accordance with its original listing 
requirements. The TSXV has not conditionally approved the listing application and there is no assurance that it will 
do so. See “Risk Factors”.  Closing is expected to occur on April 7, 2021 or such other date as the Company and the 
Underwriters may agree, but in any event not later than April 30, 2021. Closing is conditional upon the Ordinary 
Shares being approved for listing on the TSXV.

The Underwriters have reserved the right to form a selling group of appropriately registered dealers and brokers, 
with compensation to be negotiated between the Underwriters and such selling group participants, but at no additional 
cost to the Company. 

The Ordinary Shares and the Warrants comprising the Units offered hereby and the Ordinary Shares issuable 
upon exercise of the Warrants have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act or any state 
securities laws and may not be offered, sold or delivered, directly or indirectly, to, or for the account or benefit of, a
person in the United States or a U.S. Person. 

The Underwriters have agreed that, except as permitted by the Underwriting Agreement and as expressly 
permitted by applicable U.S. federal and state securities laws, it will not offer or sell the Offered Units at any time to, 
or for the account or benefit of, any person in the United States or any U.S. Person as part of the Offering. The 
Underwriting Agreement permits the Underwriters to re-offer and re-sell the Offered Units that it has acquired 
pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement to “qualified institutional buyers” (as defined in Rule 144A under the U.S. 
Securities Act (“Qualified Institutional Buyers”)) that are, or are acting for the account or benefit of, a person in the 
United States or a U.S. Person in compliance with Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act (and pursuant to similar 
exemptions under applicable state securities laws). Moreover, the Underwriting Agreement provides that the 
Underwriters will offer and sell the Offered Units outside the United States to non-U.S. Persons only in accordance 
with Rule 903 of Regulation S. The Offered Units, and the Ordinary Shares and the Warrants comprising the Offered 
Units, that are offered or sold to, or for the account or benefit of, a person in the United States or a U.S. Person, and 
any Ordinary Shares issued upon the exercise of such Warrants, will be “restricted securities” within the meaning of 
Rule 144(a)(3) under the U.S. Securities Act and will be subject to restrictions to the effect that such securities have 
not been registered under the U.S. Securities Act or any applicable state securities laws and may only be offered, sold, 
pledged or otherwise transferred pursuant to certain exemptions from the registration requirements of the U.S. 
Securities Act and applicable state securities laws.

The Warrants and the Ordinary Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act or 
any applicable state securities laws, and the Warrants will not be exercisable by or on behalf of a person in the United 
States or a U.S. Person, nor will certificates representing the Ordinary Shares be registered or delivered to an address 
in the United States, unless an exemption from registration under the U.S. Securities Act and any applicable state 
securities laws is available and the Company has received an opinion of counsel of recognized standing or other 
evidence to such effect in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company; provided, however, that a 
holder who is a Qualified Institutional Buyer at the time of exercise of the Warrants who purchased Offered Units in 
the Offering to, or for the account or benefit of, persons in the United States or U.S. Persons will not be required to 
deliver an opinion of counsel or such other evidence in connection with the exercise of Warrants that form a part of 
those Offered Units.

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of the Offered Units to, 
or for the account or benefit of, a person in the United States or a U.S. Person. In addition, until forty (40) days after 
the commencement of the Offering, an offer or sale of the Offered Units, Ordinary Shares or Warrants within the 
United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the Offering) may violate the registration requirements of 
the U.S. Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with exemptions from registration 
under the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws.

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Company has agreed to indemnify the Underwriters and their 
respective affiliates, directors, officers and employees against any and all expenses, losses (other than loss of profits), 
claims, actions, damages or liabilities, whether joint or several (including the aggregate amount paid in reasonable 
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settlement of any actions, suits, proceedings or claims, that arise out of or are based, directly or indirectly, upon the 
performance of the professional services rendered to the Company by the Underwriters or their respective affiliates, 
directors, officers and employees. This indemnity does not apply to the extent such fees, costs, expenses, losses, 
claims, actions, damages, fines, penalties, or liabilities as to which indemnification is claimed arise out of gross 
negligence, dishonesty or fraud in the performance of such professional services, as determined by a court of 
competent jurisdiction in a final judgment that has become non-appealable.

Price Stabilization, Short Positions and Passive Market Making

In connection with the Offering, the Underwriters may over-allocate or effect transactions that stabilize or 
maintain the market price of the Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants at levels other than those which might otherwise 
prevail on the open market, including stabilizing transactions, short sales, purchases to cover positions created by short 
sales, imposition of penalty bids and syndicate covering transactions. Such transactions, if commenced, may be 
discontinued at any time.

Stabilizing transactions consist of bids or purchases made for the purpose of preventing or retarding a decline 
in the market price of the Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants while the Offering is in progress. These transactions may 
also include over-allocating or making short sales of the Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants, which involves the sale by 
the Underwriters of a greater number of Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants than they are required to purchase in the 
Offering. Short sales may be “covered short sales”, which are short positions in an amount not greater than the 
Underwriters’ Option, or may be “naked short sales”, which are short positions in excess of that amount.

The Underwriters may close out any covered short position either by exercising the Underwriters’ Option, in 
whole or in part, or by purchasing Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants in the open market. In making this determination, 
the Underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants available for 
purchase in the open market compared with the price at which they may purchase Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants
from the Company through the Underwriters’ Option.

The Underwriters must close out any naked short position by purchasing Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants, 
as applicable, in the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the Underwriters are concerned 
that there may be downward pressure on the price of the Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants in the open market. Any 
naked short sales will form part of the Underwriters’ over-allocation position. A purchaser who acquires Ordinary 
Shares and/or Warrants forming part of the Underwriters’ over-allocation position resulting from any covered short 
sales or naked short sales will, in each case, acquire such Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants under this Prospectus, 
regardless of whether the Underwriters’ over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the 
Underwriters’ Option or secondary market purchases.

In addition, in accordance with rules and policy statements of certain Canadian securities regulatory 
authorities and the Universal Market Integrity Rules (“UMIR”), the Underwriters may not, at any time during the 
period of distribution, bid for or purchase Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants. The foregoing restriction is, however, 
subject to exceptions where the bid or purchase is not made for the purpose of creating actual or apparent active trading 
in, or raising the price of the Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants. These exceptions include a bid or purchase permitted 
under the by-laws and rules of applicable regulatory authorities and the TSXV, including UMIR, relating to market 
stabilization and passive market making activities and a bid or purchase made for and on behalf of a customer where 
the order was not solicited during the period of distribution.

As a result of these activities, the price of the Ordinary Shares and/or Warrants may be higher than the price 
that otherwise might exist in the open market. The Underwriters may carry out these transactions on any stock 
exchange on which the Ordinary Shares are listed, in the over-the-counter market, or otherwise.

Non-Certificated Inventory System

No certificates representing the Ordinary Shares to be sold in the Offering will be issued to purchasers in this 
Offering. Registration will be made in the depository service of CDS, or to its nominee, and electronically deposited 
with CDS on the Closing Date. Each purchaser of Ordinary Shares will receive only a customer confirmation of 
purchase from CDS Participants from or through which such Ordinary Shares are purchased, in accordance with the 
practices and procedures of such CDS Participant. Transfers of ownership of Ordinary Shares will be effected through 
records maintained by the CDS Participants, which include securities brokers and dealers, banks and trust companies. 
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Indirect access to the CDS book entry system is also available to other institutions that maintain custodial relationships 
with a CDS Participant, either directly or indirectly.

Lock-Up Arrangements

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, each of the Company, all existing securityholders of the Company 
holding, directly or indirectly, (together with that securityholder's associates and affiliates) Ordinary Shares 
outstanding prior to the Closing (on an as-converted basis, if applicable), excluding (i) individual securityholders of the Company 
holding less than 5% of the Ordinary Shares outstanding prior to Closing (on an as-converted basis, if applicable), and (ii)
any purchasers of securities pursuant to the Private Placement of Subscription Receipts, and the Company's
directors and officers (and each such person's associates and affiliates) have agreed that they will not, directly or 
indirectly, without the prior written consent of the Underwriters, issue, sell, offer to sell, contract or agree to sell, 
hypothecate, pledge, grant any option for the sale of, or otherwise, directly or indirectly, dispose of, monetize or 
engage in any hedging transaction, or enter into any form of agreement or arrangement theconsequenceof which
is to alter economic exposure to, or announce any intention to do so, in a public offering or by way of private
placement or otherwise, any Ordinary Shares, retained interest securities, or any securities convertible or
exchangeable into Ordinary Shares, for a period of 180 days after the Closing Date without the prior written
consent of the Underwriters, except, as applicable in the case of the Company or the applicable person, in 
conjunction with: (a) the issuance or sale of Offered Units to the Underwriters pursuant to any exercise of the
Underwriters’ Option, (b) the grant of stock options and other securities in the normal course pursuant to equity
incentive plansoftheCompany existing as of the Closing Date, and (c) the issuance of securities of the Company 
upon the conversion, exercise or exchange of convertible, exercisable or exchangeable securities existing on the
Closing Date or upon the exercise, redemption or settlement of stock options or other security-based 
compensation subsequently granted (the “Lock-Up Agreements”).

The holders of approximately 77,625,200 Ordinary Shares, representing 66.83 % of the Company’s issued 
and outstanding Ordinary Shares after the completion of the Offering, and assuming that the Underwriters’ Option is 
not exercised (66.03% if the Underwriters’ Option is exercised in full) have entered into Lock-Up Agreements.
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CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

In the opinion of Miller Thomson LLP, Canadian counsel to the Company, and Stikeman Elliott LLP, 
Canadian counsel to the Underwriters, the following summary describes, as of the date hereof, of the principal 
Canadian federal income tax considerations under the Tax Act generally applicable to a holder who acquires, as 
beneficial owner, Ordinary Shares and Warrants pursuant to the Offering and Ordinary Shares upon the exercise of 
the Warrants, and who, at all relevant times, for purposes of the Tax Act, (a) is, or is deemed to be, resident in Canada; 
(b) deals at arm’s length with the Company and the Underwriters; (c) is not affiliated with the Company or the 
Underwriters; and (d) holds the Ordinary Shares and Warrants as capital property (a “Holder”).  Generally, the 
Ordinary Shares and the Warrants will be considered to be capital property to a Holder provided the Holder does not 
acquire or hold such securities in the course of carrying on a business of trading or dealing in securities and has not 
acquired them in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure or concern in the nature of trade. The Ordinary 
Shares and the Warrants are not “Canadian securities”, within the meaning of the Tax Act, for the purpose of the 
irrevocable election under subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act to treat all such “Canadian securities” owned by a Holder 
as capital property, and therefore such election will not apply to such securities.  Holders who do not hold the Ordinary 
Shares and Warrants as capital property should consult their own tax advisors regarding their particular circumstances.

This summary is not applicable to a Holder (a) that is a “financial institution”, as defined in the Tax Act, for 
purposes of the mark-to-market rules in the Tax Act, (b) that is a “specified financial institution”, as defined in the 
Tax Act, (c) an interest in which is a “tax shelter investment”, as defined in the Tax Act, (d) that has made an election 
under the Tax Act to determine its Canadian tax results in a currency other than the Canadian dollar, (e) if the Company 
is or will be a “foreign affiliate” (as defined in the Tax Act) of such Holder or of a corporation that does not deal at 
arm’s length with such Holder (f) that has entered, or will enter, into a “derivative forward agreement” or a “synthetic 
disposition arrangement”,  as defined in the Tax Act, with respect to the Ordinary Shares or Warrants, or (f) that is 
exempt from tax under Part I of the Tax Act.  Any such Holder to which this summary does not apply should consult 
its own tax advisor with respect to the tax consequences of the Offering.

This summary is based on the provisions of the Tax Act in force on the date hereof, all specific proposals to 
amend the Tax Act publicly announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof 
(the “Tax Proposals”) and counsel’s understanding of the current administrative policies and assessing practices of 
the CRA published in writing prior to the date hereof. This summary assumes that the Tax Proposals will be enacted 
in the form proposed. However, no assurances can be given that the Tax Proposals will be enacted as proposed, or at 
all. This summary does not otherwise take into account or anticipate any changes in law or administrative policy or 
assessing practice whether by legislative, administrative or judicial action nor does it take into account tax legislation 
or considerations of any province, territory or foreign jurisdiction, which may differ from those discussed herein. 

This summary assumes that at all relevant times, the Company is not, and will not be deemed to be, a resident 
of Canada for the purposes of the Tax Act.  If the Company is or becomes resident in Canada for purposes of the Tax 
Act, the Canadian federal income tax consequences to a Holder will differ from those described herein. 

This summary is of a general nature only and is not, and is not intended to be, nor should it be 
construed to be, legal or tax advice or representations to any prospective purchaser or holder of Offered Units. 
This summary is not exhaustive of all Canadian federal income tax considerations. Accordingly, prospective 
purchasers of Offered Units should consult their own tax advisors having regard to their own particular 
circumstances.

Allocation of Offering Price

The total purchase price paid for Offered Units by a Holder must be allocated on a reasonable basis between 
the Ordinary Shares and the Warrants that comprise such Offered Units to determine the respective costs of each 
Ordinary Share and Warrant to such Holder for purposes of the Tax Act.  For its purposes, with respect to the Offering 
Price for a Class A Unit, the Company intends to allocate C$0.285 to each Ordinary Share and C$0.005 to each 
Warrant. Although the Company believes that its allocation is reasonable, it is not binding on the CRA or the Holder. 

The cost of each Ordinary Share comprising part of an Offered Unit acquired by a Holder will be averaged with the 
adjusted cost base to the Holder of all other Ordinary Shares, if any, held by the Holder at that time as capital property 
to determine the adjusted cost base of each Ordinary Share to the Holder.
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Exercise of Warrants

The exercise of a Warrant to acquire an Ordinary Share will not constitute a disposition of property for the 
purposes of the Tax Act and, consequently, no gain or loss will be realized by a Holder upon the exercise of the 
Warrant to acquire an Ordinary Share. An Ordinary Share acquired by a Holder upon the exercise of a Warrant will 
have an aggregate cost to the Holder equal to the aggregate of the exercise price paid to acquire such share and the 
adjusted cost base to the Holder of the Warrant so exercised. The cost of each Ordinary Share acquired by a Holder 
upon the exercise of Warrants will be averaged with the adjusted cost base to the Holder of all other Ordinary Shares 
held by the Holder at that time as capital property to determine the adjusted cost base of each such share to the Holder.

Expiry of Warrants

The expiry or termination for no consideration of an unexercised Warrant will result in a capital loss to a 
Holder equal to the Holder’s adjusted cost base of such Warrant immediately before its expiry or termination. See 
“Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses” for a general description of the income tax treatment of capital gains 
and losses under the Tax Act.

Dividends 

Generally, a Holder will be required to include in computing such Holder’s income for a taxation year the 
full amount of any dividends received (or deemed to be received) on the Ordinary Shares, including amounts deducted 
for Israeli withholding tax.  In the case of a Holder who is an individual, such dividends will not be subject to the 
gross-up and dividend tax credit rules in the Tax Act normally applicable to taxable dividends received from “taxable 
Canadian corporations” (as defined in the Tax Act). In the case of a Holder that is a corporation, such dividends will 
not be eligible for the deduction that is generally available for taxable dividends received from a “taxable Canadian 
corporation”.

To the extent that Israeli withholding tax is payable by a Holder in respect of any dividends received on 
shares Ordinary Shares, the Holder may be eligible for a foreign tax credit against the Holder’s federal income taxes 
or a deduction in computing such Holder’s income under the Tax Act to the extent and under the circumstances 
described in the Tax Act. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the availability of a foreign tax 
credit or deduction, having regard to their particular circumstances.

A Holder that is throughout a taxation year a “Canadian-controlled private corporation” as defined in the Tax 
Act may be liable to pay, in addition to the tax otherwise payable under the Tax Act, a refundable tax determined by 
reference to its aggregate investment income for the year, which includes dividends received on Ordinary Shares.

Dispositions 

Generally, on a disposition or deemed disposition of an Ordinary Share or Warrant (otherwise than by the 
expiry or exercise of a Warrant), a Holder will realize a capital gain (or capital loss) equal to the amount, if any, by 
which the proceeds of disposition, net of any reasonable costs of disposition, exceed (or are less than) the adjusted 
cost base to the Holder of such share or Warrant immediately before the disposition or deemed disposition.  For greater 
certainty, a Holder will be considered to have disposed of Ordinary Shares in the event that the Holder sells any such 
shares to the Company in a tender offer or if the Company redeems such shares. 

Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses

Generally, a Holder is required to include in computing its income for a taxation year one-half of the amount 
of any capital gain (a “taxable capital gain”) realized in the year. Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of 
the Tax Act, a Holder is required to deduct one-half of the amount of any capital loss (an “allowable capital loss”) 
realized in a taxation year from taxable capital gains realized by the Holder in the year. Allowable capital losses in 
excess of taxable capital gains for a year may be carried back and deducted in any of the three preceding taxation 
years or carried forward and deducted in any subsequent taxation year against net taxable capital gains realized in 
such years to the extent and under the circumstances described in the Tax Act. 
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A Holder that is throughout a taxation year a “Canadian-controlled private corporation” as defined in the Tax 
Act may be liable to pay, in addition to the tax otherwise payable under the Tax Act, a refundable tax determined by 
reference to its aggregate investment income for the year, which includes an amount in respect of taxable capital gains.

Capital gains realized by individuals and certain trusts may be subject to alternative minimum tax under the 
Tax Act. 

Offshore Investment Fund Property Rules

The Tax Act contains rules (the “OIF Rules”) which may, in certain circumstances, require a Holder to 
include in income in each taxation year an amount in respect of the holding of an “offshore investment fund property” 
(as defined in the Tax Act). These rules could apply to a Holder in respect of shares of the Ordinary Shares and 
Warrants if:

(a) the Ordinary Shares and Warrants may reasonably be considered to derive their value, directly or indirectly, 
primarily from portfolio investments in: (i) shares of one or more corporations, (ii) indebtedness or annuities, 
(iii) interests in one or more corporations, trusts, partnerships, organizations, funds or entities, (iv) 
commodities, (v) real estate, (vi) Canadian or foreign resource properties, (vii) currency of a country other 
than Canada, (viii) rights or options to acquire or dispose of any of the foregoing, or (ix) any combination of 
the foregoing (collectively, “Investment Assets”); and

(b) it may reasonably be concluded, having regard to all the circumstances, that one of the main reasons for the 
Holder acquiring, holding or having an interest in an Ordinary Share or Warrant, as the case may be, was to 
derive a benefit from portfolio investments in Investment Assets in such a manner that the taxes, if any, on 
the income, profits and gains from such property for any particular year are significantly less than the tax that 
would have been applicable under Part I of the Tax Act if the income, profits and gains been earned directly 
by such Holder.

In making the determination under point (b) in the preceding paragraph, the OIF Rules provide that regard 
must be had to all of the circumstances, including (i) the nature, organization and operation of any non-resident entity, 
including the Company, and the form of, and the terms and conditions governing, the Holder’s interest in, or 
connection with, any such non-resident entity, (ii) the extent to which any income, profit and gains that may reasonably 
be considered to be earned or accrued, whether directly or indirectly, for the benefit of any non-resident entity, 
including the Company, are subject to an income or profits tax that is significantly less than the income tax that would 
be applicable to such income, profits and gains if they were earned directly by the Holder, and (iii) the extent to which 
any income, profits and gains of any non-resident entity, including the Company, for any fiscal period are distributed 
in that or the immediately following fiscal period.

If applicable, the OIF Rules would generally require a Holder to include in income for each taxation year in 
which such Holder holds Ordinary Shares or Warrants an imputed amount determined by applying a prescribed rate 
of interest to the “designated cost” (within the meaning of the Tax Act) to the Holder of the Ordinary Share or Warrant, 
as the case may be, at the end of each month in the year, less, in the case of the Ordinary Shares, the amount of 
dividends, if any, received by the Holder on such shares in the year. Any amount required to be included in computing 
a Holder’s income in respect of the Company’s securities under these rules would be added to the Holder’s adjusted 
cost base of the applicable securities.

The OIF Rules are complex and their application will depend, in part, on the reasons for a Holder acquiring 
or holding Ordinary Shares or Warrants (as applicable). Holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding 
the application and consequences of the OIF Rules in their particular circumstances.

Foreign Property Information Reporting

A Holder that is a “specified Canadian entity” as defined in the Tax Act for a taxation year or a fiscal period 
and whose total “cost amount” of “specified foreign property” (each as defined in the Tax Act), at any time in the year 
or fiscal period exceeds C$100,000 will be required to file an information return with the CRA for the taxation year 
or fiscal period disclosing certain prescribed information in respect of such property. 



96

Subject to certain exceptions, a taxpayer resident in Canada will be a “specified Canadian entity” and the 
Ordinary Shares and Warrants will be “specified foreign property” to a Holder.  Penalties may apply where a Holder 
fails to file the required information return in respect of such Holder’s “specified foreign property” on a timely basis 
in accordance with the Tax Act.

The reporting rules in the Tax Act relating to “specified foreign property” are complex and this summary 
does not purport to address all circumstances in which reporting may be required by a Holder. Holders should consult 
their own tax advisors regarding the reporting rules contained in the Tax Act.
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CERTAIN ISRAELI TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following description is not intended to constitute a complete analysis of all tax consequences relating 
to the acquisition, ownership and disposition of our Ordinary Shares. You should consult your own tax advisor 
concerning the tax consequences of your particular situation, as well as any tax consequences that may arise under the 
laws of any state, local, foreign or other taxing jurisdiction.

Israeli Tax Considerations and Government Programs

The following is a summary of the current tax regime in the State of Israel, which applies to us and to persons 
who hold our Ordinary Shares and any rights derived therefrom.

This summary does not discuss all the aspects of Israeli tax law that may be relevant to a particular investor 
in light of his or her personal investment circumstances or to some types of investors subject to special treatment under 
Israeli tax law. Examples of this kind of investor include, inter alia, traders in securities or persons who do not hold 
our Ordinary Shares as a capital asset. Some parts of this discussion are based on new Israeli tax legislation which has 
not been subject to judicial or administrative interpretation. This summary should not be construed as legal or 
professional tax advice and does not cover all possible tax considerations and consequences.

HOLDERS AND POTENTIAL INVESTORS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS 
AS TO THE ISRAELI OR OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND 
DISPOSITION OF OUR COMMON SHARES, INCLUDING, IN PARTICULAR, THE EFFECT OF ANY 
FOREIGN, STATE OR LOCAL TAXES.

General Corporate Tax Structure in Israel

The standard corporate tax rate in Israel is currently 23.0%. Capital gains derived by an Israeli resident 
company are generally subject to tax at the prevailing corporate tax rate.

Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments

The Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 5719-1959, (the “Investment Law”), provides 
certain incentives for capital investments in a production facility (or other eligible assets). Generally, an investment 
program that is implemented in accordance with the provisions of the Investment Law, which may be either an 
“Approved Enterprise” a “Privileged Enterprise” or a “Preferred Enterprise”, is entitled to benefits that may include 
cash grants from the Israeli government and tax benefits, based upon, among other things, the location of the facility 
in which the investment is made or the election of the grantee.

Our investment plan in the amount of NIS 10 million was recognized as “Approved Enterprise” (that was 
later changed to “Preferred Enterprise”) in accordance with the provisions of the Investment Law. Accordingly, we 
were entitled to various benefits, the main of which is investment grants in the amount of 20% (NIS 2 million) based 
upon the location of the facility in which the investment is made. 

As part of the mentioned investment program, we made an investment of NIS 10 million and received a grant 
in the amount of NIS 660,000 on account of the total approved grant of NIS 2 million. Subsequently, since we have 
not complied with some of the requirements of the Investment Law and, therefore, we were no longer entitled to the 
remaining amount of the grant and any additional benefits provided under the Investment Law, and we may be required 
to repay all or part of the grants we received, plus interest and linkage differentials thereon. We recorded the full 
liability amount of approximately US$190,000 in the financial statements.
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Taxation of Our Shareholders

Capital gains

Israeli capital gains tax is imposed on the disposal of capital assets by an Israeli resident for tax purposes, 
and on the disposal of capital assets by a non-resident of Israel if those assets (i) are located in Israel, (ii) are shares or 
a right to shares in an Israeli resident corporation, or (iii) represent, directly or indirectly, rights to assets or inventory 
located in Israel or represent, directly or indirectly, rights to assets or inventory which constitute, indirect rights to 
acquire real estate property or an asset in a real estate association located in Israel. The Ordinance distinguishes 
between “Real Gain” and “Inflationary Surplus”. Real Gain is the excess of the total capital gain over Inflationary 
Surplus. The Inflationary Surplus is a portion of the total capital gain which is equivalent to the increase of the relevant 
asset’s price that is attributable to the increase in the Israeli consumer price index or, in certain circumstances, a foreign 
currency exchange rate, between the date of purchase and the date of sale of the capital asses. Inflationary Surplus is 
currently exempt from taxation.

Real Gain accrued by individuals on the sale of our Ordinary Shares will be taxed at the rate to 25%. However, 
if the individual shareholder is a “Substantial Shareholder” (i.e., a person who holds, directly or indirectly, alone or 
“Together with Another Person,” 10% or more of any one of the “Means of Control” of the Israeli resident company 
for Israeli tax purposes) at the time of sale or at any time during the preceding 12-month period, such gain will be 
taxed at the rate of 30%. For purposes of this paragraph, the term “Together with Another Person” means together 
with his or her “Relative,” as well as with a person who is not his or her Relative and who has a permanent cooperation 
with him or her under an agreement in material matters of the Company, directly or indirectly. The term “Relative” 
for purposes of this section refers to any of the following: (i) a spouse, brother, sister, parent, parent of a parent, 
descendant and descendant of a spouse, and spouse of any of the aforementioned; (ii) a descendant of a brother or 
sister and a brother or sister of a parent; and (iii) a legal entity held by a person or its relative, a person holding the 
legal entity, and a legal entity held by a person holding the legal entity. For the purpose of this definition, “holding” 
means, directly or indirectly, alone or Together with Another Person, at least 25% in one or more of any type of means 
of control. Also, for purposes of this paragraph, the term “Means of Control” generally includes the right to vote in a 
general meeting of shareholders, the right to receive profits, the right to nominate a director or a general manager, the 
right to receive assets upon liquidation (after payment of all debts), or the right to instruct someone who holds any of 
the aforesaid rights regarding the manner in which he or she is to exercise such right(s), and whether by virtue of 
shares, rights to shares or other rights, or in any other manner, including by means of voting agreements or trust 
agreements. In addition, capital gains generated by an individual claiming deduction of financing expenses in respect 
of such gain will be taxed at the rate of 30%.

Individual and corporate shareholders dealing in securities in Israel are taxed at the tax rates applicable to 
business income — in 2021, a tax rate of 23% for corporations and a marginal tax rate of up to 47% and a 3% surtax 
(if applicable) for individuals.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, capital gains derived from the sale of our Ordinary Shares by a shareholder 
who is a non-Israeli for tax purposes may be exempt from Israeli taxation, provided that all of the following conditions 
are met: (i) the Ordinary Shares were purchased upon or after the listing of the securities on the stock exchange, (ii) the 
seller does not have a permanent establishment in Israel to which the derived capital gain is attributable, (iii) if the 
seller is a corporation, no more than 25% of its Means of Control, as defined above, are held, directly and indirectly, 
by shareholders who are Israeli residents, alone or Together with Another Person, as defined above, or along with 
another Israeli resident, and (iv) if the seller is a corporation, there are no Israeli residents that are directly or indirectly 
entitled to 25% or more of the revenues or profits of the corporation. In addition, the sale of our Ordinary Shares by a 
non-Israeli resident shareholder may be exempt from Israeli capital gains tax under the provisions of an applicable 
tax treaty.

Upon the sale of securities, the purchaser, the stockbroker or the financial institution through which the shares 
are held is obligated, subject to the certain exemptions, to withhold Israeli capital gain tax from the Real Gain at the 
rate of 25% or 23% in respect of an individual or corporation, respectively.
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Upon the sale of securities traded on a stock exchange, Israeli residents who are obligated to file an annual 
income tax return to the Israeli Tax Authority are required to file a detailed return, including a computation of the tax 
due on such sale and make an advance tax payment no later than January 31 and July 31 of every tax year, in respect 
of sales of securities made during the six months that preceded the date of the filing. However, if all tax due was 
withheld according to applicable provisions of the Ordinance and the regulations promulgated thereunder, there is no 
need to file a tax return and no advance tax payment must be paid. Capital gains are also reportable on the annual 
income tax return.

Dividends

A shareholder who is an Israeli resident individual for Israeli tax purposes generally will be subject to income 
tax at a rate of 25% on dividends paid by us. However, a 30% tax rate will apply if the dividend recipient is a 
Substantial Shareholder, as defined above, at the time of distribution or at any time during the preceding 12-month 
period. If the recipient of the dividend paid by us is an Israeli resident corporation, such dividend generally should be 
exempt from Israeli income tax, provided, inter alia, that the source of the dividend is income that was derived or 
accrued within Israel.

Dividends distributed by an Israeli resident company to a non-Israeli (either individual or corporation) are 
generally subject to tax at the rate of 25% (30% if the dividend recipient is a Substantial Shareholder at the time of 
distribution or at any time during the preceding 12-month period). These rates may be reduced under the provisions 
of an applicable tax treaty. Such dividends paid to non-Israeli residents are generally subject to Israeli withholding tax 
at a rate of 25% so long as the shares are registered with a Nominee Company (as that term is defined in the Ordinance)
(whether the recipient is a Substantial Shareholder or not), unless a reduced tax rate is provided under an applicable 
tax treaty, provided that a withholding tax certificate from the Israel Tax Authority allowing for a reduced withholding 
tax rate or withholding tax exemption, is obtained in advance.

We are obligated to withhold tax upon the distribution of dividends.

A non-resident of Israel who receives dividends from which Israeli tax was withheld is generally exempt 
from the obligation to file an Israeli tax returns with respect to such income, provided, inter alia, that (i) such income 
was not generated from any business conducted in Israel by the non-resident, and (ii) the non-resident has no other 
taxable sources of income in Israel with respect to which a tax return is required to be filed.

Surtax

Individuals who are subject to income tax in Israel (whether such individual is an Israeli resident or non-
Israeli resident) are also subject to an additional tax at the rate of 3% on annual income exceeding a certain threshold 
(NIS 651,600 for 2020), which amount is linked to the annual change in the Israeli consumer price index, including, 
but not limited to, income derived from dividends, interest and capital gains.

Foreign exchange regulations

Non-residents of Israel who hold our Ordinary Shares are able to receive any dividends, and any amounts 
payable upon the dissolution, liquidation and winding up of our affairs, in non-Israeli currency at the prevailing rate 
of exchange. However, Israeli income tax is generally required to be withheld from these amounts. In addition, the 
statutory framework for the potential imposition of currency exchange control has not been eliminated, and these 
controls may be restored at any time by administrative action.

Estate and gift tax

Israeli tax law presently does not impose any estate or gift taxes.
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RISK FACTORS 

In addition to all other information set out in this Prospectus, the following specific factors could materially 
adversely affect us and should be considered when deciding whether to make an investment in the Company and the 
Offered Units. Other risks and uncertainties that we do not presently consider to be material, or of which we are not 
presently aware, may also become important factors that affect our future financial condition and results of operations. 
The occurrence of any of the risks discussed below could materially adversely affect our business, prospects, financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flow. The Offered Units are only suitable for investors (i) who understand the 
potential risk of capital loss, (ii) for whom an investment in the Offered Units is part of a diversified investment 
program and (iii) who fully understand and are willing to assume the risks involved in such an investment program. 
Prospective purchasers of Offered Units should carefully consider the following risks before investing in us and the 
Offered Units.

Risk Related to COVID-19

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and measures intended to prevent its spread could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

In December 2019, COVID-19 was first reported in Wuhan, China, and on March 11, 2020, the World Health 
Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic. The outbreak has reached more than 160 countries and has led 
governments and other authorities around the world, to impose measures intended to control its spread, including 
restrictions on freedom of movement and business operations such as travel bans, border closings, business closures, 
quarantines and shelter-in-place orders.

The outbreak of COVID-19 and the restrictions imposed in an effort to prevent the spread of COVID-19, 
mainly the “lockdowns” introduced in Israel from mid-March until the end of May 2020 and during August 2020 had 
a material adverse impact on the Company’s operations and caused a decrease in the Company’s revenues during the 
nine and three month periods ended September 30, 2020.

The COVID-19 pandemic and further measures to prevent its spread could have an additional negative impact 
our business in a number of ways, including, among other things, our ability to produce and operate our existing and 
prospective sites, ability to market and sell our products in Israel and around the world and have significant impact on 
our chains of supply of plastic waste, replacement parts, machinery and equipment. Following the COVID-19 
outbreak, inquiries and partnerships processes have decreased materially.

The COVID-19 pandemic has also caused, and is likely to continue to cause, severe economic, market and 
other disruptions worldwide. We cannot assure you that conditions in the bank lending, capital and other financial 
markets will not continue to deteriorate as a result of the pandemic, or that our access to capital and other sources of 
funding will not become constrained. In addition, the deterioration of global economic conditions as a result of the 
pandemic may ultimately decrease environmental awareness that supports our business plan.

Risks Related to Production 

We operate our business in an industrial working environment that includes, inter alia, use of heavy machinery, 
hazardous processes and materials that may cause body injury to our employees or other third party. In the event 
that such damage is caused, it may have a material effect on our business.

Our current and planned operations, including prospect production sites, include the use of potentially 
dangerous machinery, hazardous materials, high voltage electricity, high-pressured processes, and high temperature 
processes. In addition, our production environment may include high-decibel noise, extreme weather conditions, as 
well as other hazardous working conditions and activities. We may be required to compensate employees or third 
parties suffering injuries by reason of our operations and may have further civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed 
on us for violations of applicable safety laws or regulations. 
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We rely on key components to sustain our production process.

Our manufacturing systems are comprised of multiple machinery lines, some of which are operated under 
extreme conditions of heat, pressure, moisture and other erosive conditions. Some of our machinery has only one 
replacement parts supplier, in addition to long delivery schedules that range from a few weeks to a few months.

The efficient and effective maintenance of machinery are key factors in maintaining a high level of 
production. We cannot always foresee breakdowns and malfunctions that reduce production capacity and availability, 
the occurrence of which could materially adversely affect our business. In addition, our supply chains are complex 
and continuously exposed to a variety of internal and external risks.

We rely on the availability of post-consumed polyethylene bags and sheets in significant quantities and in different 
locations in our production process, a disruption in the availability of this key component, or an increase in its cost, 
could adversely affect our business.

Our business, its operations and growth are highly dependent on our ability to secure unlimited quantities of 
polyethylene bags and sheets extracted and sorted out of waste streams as well as electricity, water and other utilities. 
Our production process consumes considerable energy, making us vulnerable to rising energy costs. Any significant 
interruption, price increase or negative change in the availability or economics of required materials and supplies and, 
in particular, the availability and price of sorted post-consumed polyethylene bags and sheets, or rising or volatile 
energy costs, could adversely affect us.

In addition, our ability to compete and grow is dependent on having access, at a reasonable cost and in a 
timely manner, to electricity, labour, equipment and other inputs. No assurances can be given that we will be successful 
in maintaining our required supply of labour, equipment and other inputs. 

Our supply chain may rely on third parties professional service providers and external advisors for our 
manufacturing, research and development and distribution. There is no assurance that such third party services will be 
of satisfactory quality or delivered in a timely manner. Any prolonged disruption of a third-party’s ability to provide 
its services could have an adverse effect on us. Rising costs associated with the third-party services we require to 
manufacture, develop or distribute our products may also adversely impact our business and our ability to operate 
profitably.

We are subject to environmental, health and safety regulations and risks, which may subject us to liability under 
these regulations and risks.

Our current and planned operations are and will be, as the case may be, subject to environmental, health and 
safety regulation and standards in the jurisdictions in which we and any of our facilities operate. These regulations 
mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air, water, and soil quality standards. They also establish limitations 
on emissions and discharges to water, air and land, the generation, handling, transportation, storage and disposal of 
solid and hazardous waste, and employee health and safety. 

We believe that environmental legislation is evolving in a manner that will impose strict standards and 
enforcement, increased fines and penalties for any non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of 
proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and employees. 
Changes in environmental or employee health and safety laws or more vigorous enforcement thereof could require 
extensive changes to our operations or give rise to material liabilities.

We may not have been, or may not be, at all times, in complete compliance with all requirements, and we 
may incur material costs or liabilities in connection with such requirements, or in connection with remediation at sites 
we own, or third-party sites where it has been alleged that we have liability, in excess of the amounts we have accrued. 
We may also incur unexpected interruptions to our operations, administrative injunctions requiring operation 
stoppages, fines and other penalties. 
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Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and other permits and licenses may result in significant 
fines or other enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing 
operations to cease or be curtailed, and require us to take corrective measures including significant additional capital 
expenditures for installation of additional equipment. We may also be required to compensate those suffering 
environmental loss or damage by reason of our operations and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed 
on us for violations of applicable environmental laws or regulations. 

Manufacturing difficulties, disruptions or delays could limit supply of our products and limit our product sales.

Manufacturing recycled products that possess the same characteristics as virgin plastic products is difficult 
and complex. Our ability to adequately manufacture and supply our products in a timely manner is dependent on the 
uninterrupted and efficient operation of our facilities, which may be impacted by: (i) the availability of power; (ii) the 
capacity of manufacturing facilities; (iii) contamination from microorganisms, viruses, or foreign particles during the 
manufacturing process; (iv) compliance with regulatory requirements, including the potential shut down of our 
facilities by regulators for non-compliance; (v) the timing and actual number of production runs and production 
success rates and yields; (vi) the availability of skilled employees; (vii) updates of manufacturing specifications; (viii) 
contractual disputes with our suppliers and contract manufacturers; (ix) the timing and outcome of product quality 
testing, which may result in the write-off of failed batches; and/or (x) the breakdown, failure, substandard performance 
or improper installation or operation of equipment and electricity fallouts.

If the efficient manufacture and supply of our products is interrupted, we may experience delayed shipments, 
obsoleting of products, supply constraints, stock-outs, adverse event trends, contract disputes and/or recalls of our 
products. If we are at any time unable to provide an uninterrupted supply of our products to customers, customers may 
elect to use, competing products instead of our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our product 
sales, business, reputation and results of operations.

An inability to renew our leases, or a renewal of our leases with a higher rental rate, may disrupt our operations 
or increase our operating costs.

We may be unable to renew or maintain our leases on commercially acceptable terms or at all. In addition, 
in the event of the non-renewal of any of our leases, we may be unable to locate suitable replacement properties for 
our facilities or we may experience delays in relocation that could lead to a disruption in our operations. 

As we are part of the waste industry we are exposed to the ‘NIMBY’ phenomenon that may have a material effect 
on our operations

Our operations involve the transportation of plastic waste for recycling and there processing. Furthermore, 
our facilities involve high traffic of trucks, industrial noise, malodor and other collateral hazards. Therefore, we may 
suffer from the phenomenon colloquially known as the ‘NIMBY’ (Not In My Back Yard) phenomenon. We may 
confront hard opposition by individuals and public officials, living, working and operating near our existing and 
prospective sites. In some cases, due to the ‘waste industry’s’ negative image and perception in the public, our presence 
may provoke local opposition from residents and activists. Thus, the Company may be adversely affected if our 
projects are blocked or delayed. Furthermore, we may suffer from ongoing complaints and claims from local residents 
and other parties in each of our facilities. Such complaints may cause us to incur heavy expenditures to satisfy such 
complaints and loss from delays and the cessation of operations of such facilities.

The execution of our strategic plan is dependent on management’s ability to enter into successful joint ventures 
and partnerships with third parties in different regions.

We aim to expand our business to different regions through the establishment of local joint ventures and 
partnerships with strategic partners. Our strategy aims to provide us with access to new markets, introducing multiple 
distribution networks, to share investment risks. In addition, collaborating with local strategic partners will give us 
immediate access to necessary knowledge and expertise in local laws and regulations, players relating to our business, 
waste market, and our products market. Failure in the execution of our plan as previously mentioned may materially 
impact our business and may involve significant cost may cause significant delays to our growth.
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By entering into joint ventures with local partners, we will have to accept a certain level of risk, due to, inter 
alia, our inability to protect and keep our know-how, dependence on our partners’ good will to share their knowledge 
and connections, potential lack of honesty by a local partner, potential gap of expectations between the partners, failure 
in the choose of the right partner with the expected capabilities, skills and expertise, the ability to 
effectively control the joint venture operations etc.

Risks Related to Management and Personnel

We rely on our management and need additional key personnel to grow our business, and the loss of key employees 
or inability to hire new key personnel could harm our business.

We believe our success has depended, and continues to depend, on the efforts and talents of our executives 
and employees. Our future success depends on our continuing ability to attract, develop, motivate and retain highly 
qualified and skilled employees. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we may incur significant costs to attract 
and retain them. In addition, the loss of any of our senior management or key employees could have a material and 
adverse effect our ability to execute our business plan and strategy, and we may not be able to find adequate 
replacements in a timely manner, or at all. We do not maintain key person life insurance policies on any of 
our employees. Our production process and technology are based on several persons who hold most of the Company’s 
accumulated experience and knowledge. If those persons are to leave, we may suffer an overwhelming loss of valued 
experience, skills and expertise that may jeopardise our business and growth.

In addition, we are subject to a variety of business risks generally associated with growing companies, 
including capacity constraints and pressure on our internal systems and controls. Our ability to manage growth 
effectively will require us to continue to implement and improve our operational and financial systems and to expand, 
train and manage our employee base. Future growth and expansion could place significant strain on our management 
personnel and will likely require us to recruit additional management personnel.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our expanding operations (including any 
acquisitions) effectively, that we will be able to sustain or accelerate our growth or that such growth, if achieved, will 
result in profitable operations. Additionally, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to attract and retain sufficient 
management personnel necessary for continued growth, or that we will be able to successfully make strategic 
investments or acquisitions.

Our senior management team has limited experience managing a public company in Canada, and regulatory 
compliance may divert its attention from the day to day management of our business and will increase our expenses.

Most of individuals who now constitute our senior management team have limited experience managing a 
publicly-traded company and limited experience complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public 
companies compared to senior management of other publicly-traded companies. Our senior management team may 
not successfully or efficiently manage our transition to being a public company subject to significant regulatory 
oversight and reporting obligations under Canadian securities laws. In particular, these new obligations will require 
substantial attention from our senior management and could divert their attention away from the day to day 
management of our business.

We expect to incur significant accounting, legal, insurance and other expenses as a result of being a public 
company, which could cause our results of operations and financial condition to suffer. Compliance with applicable 
securities laws in Canada and the rules of the TSXV substantially increase our expenses, including our accounting and 
legal costs. Furthermore, compliance with applicable securities laws and regulations makes some activities more time-
consuming and costlier. Reporting obligations as a public company and our anticipated growth may place a strain on 
our financial and management systems, processes and controls, and on our personnel.

Furthermore, we expect that compliance with the laws, rules and regulations that public companies are subject 
to will make it more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and may require us to accept 
reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. As a 
result, it may be more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our Board of Directors or 
as officers.
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We may face significant difficulties due to our team’s lack of experience in operating manufacturing sites abroad

Our management team may lack experience in operating manufacturing sites internationally. As a result, we 
may experience difficulties in overseeing the operations and marketing of our existing and future products in potential 
markets. 

Our success depends on attracting and retaining talented people within our business. Significant shortfalls in 
recruitment or retention could adversely affect our ability to compete and achieve our strategic goals.

Attracting, developing, and retaining talented employees, including our engineers, experienced workforce 
and sales persons, is essential to the successful delivery of our products and success in the applicable market. 
Furthermore, as we continue to focus on innovation, our need for talented engineers and other professionals will 
increase. An important factor in our ability to realize our anticipated benefits from the expansion of our sites abroad 
is our, and our partners, ability to retain key employees at each site. The ability to attract and retain talented employees 
is critical in the development of new products and technologies which is a major component of our growth strategy.

Competition for employees can be intense and if we are unable to successfully integrate, motivate and reward 
our current employees in our company, we may not be able to retain them. If we are unable to retain these employees 
or attract new employees in the future, our ability to effectively compete with our competitors and to grow our business 
could be adversely affected.

We may become subject to liability arising from any fraudulent or illegal activity by our employees, contractors 
and consultants.

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors and consultants may engage in 
fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent 
conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to us that violates: (i) government regulations; (ii) manufacturing 
standards; (iii) federal, Israeli and provincial healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations; or (iv) laws that require 
the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data. It is not always possible for us to identify 
and deter misconduct by our employees and other third parties, and the precautions taken by us to detect and prevent 
this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from 
governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws 
or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or 
asserting our rights, those actions could result in the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, 
damages, monetary fines or contractual damages on us, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and 
curtailment of our operations.

Risks Related to Regulation

If we are unable to comply with regulatory requirements and industry standards, including those regarding product 
safety, quality, efficacy and environmental impact, we could incur significant costs and suffer reputational harm 
which could adversely affect results of operations. 

We plan to develop, produce and market our products in a number of jurisdictions around the world. This 
would make us subject to federal, regional and local legislation and regulations in each of the various countries. Our 
products, which among other industries, are intended for use in construction, soil stabilization, agriculture and other 
industrial fields, may be subject to strict quality and regulatory standards. As a result, we in turn are required to meet 
these strict standards which, in recent years, have become increasingly stringent and affect both existing as well as 
new products.

The development, manufacture and sale of our products may subject to various regulatory requirements in 
each of the countries in which our products may be developed, manufactured and sold. In addition, we may become 
subject to product safety and compliance requirements established by governments and industry-specific regulatory 
bodies, or contractually by our customers, including requirements concerning product safety, quality and efficacy, 
environmental impacts (including packaging, energy and water use and waste management) and other sustainability 
or similar issues.
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Our products and operations will be subject to regulation by governmental agencies in each of the markets 
in which we operate. These agencies include, among others: (i) standardization agencies that regulate technical and 
mechanical requirements for products, processes and quality; (ii) environmental protection agencies that regulate our 
present and prospect manufacturing facilities; (iii) safety and health agencies that regulate the working and production 
conditions of our manufacturing sites; (iv) local and international agencies that regulate trade and customs; (v) the 
labor rights authorities that regulate the rights of our employees, their compensation, pension rights and working 
condition; and (vi) all other regulators and agencies that involve and regulate industry facilities, taxation, fair trade, 
intellectual property rights, social duties and local and international laws and regulations.

In recent years, we are witnessing an increase in standardization, registration and reporting requirements 
concerning many of the above regulations in Israel and around the world.

In addition, we will be subject to various rules relating to health, work safety and the environment at the local 
and international levels in the various countries in which we plan to operate. Our manufacturing facilities may be 
subject to environmental standards relating to air emissions, sewage discharges, and the use of hazardous materials, 
waste disposal practices and clean-up of existing environmental contamination. In recent years, there has been a 
significant increase in the stringency of environmental regulation and enforcement of environmental standards, and 
the costs of compliance have risen significantly. We expect this trend will continue in the future.

The regulatory and standardization requirements have a material effect on our business and require significant 
company resources. Any change in each of them may have significant effect on our business, its structure and activity 
and operations and may incur significant additional costs and expenditures. If we are unable to comply with regulatory 
requirements and industry standards, including those regarding product safety, quality, efficacy and environmental 
impact, we could incur significant costs and suffer reputational harm which could adversely affect results of 
operations. Furthermore, gaps in our operational processes or those of our suppliers or distributors can result in 
products that do not meet our quality control or industry standards or fail to comply with the relevant regulatory 
requirements, which in turn can result in products that do not comply with applicable standards and requirements. 
Products that are mislabeled, contaminated or damaged could result in a regulatory non-compliance event or even a 
product recalls. 

Any violation of any of the relevant regulations or standardization, may cause significant impacts on our 
business, that may include, among others, products disqualifications and returns, major law suits, civil and criminal 
actions against the company and its management including significant fines, delays or shut downs of facilities and 
activities, major damage to our reputation and brands, and business collaboration refusals.

Risks Related to Product Liability

We face the risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation if our products cause loss 
or injury.

As a manufacturer and distributor of products designed to be used in the construction industry, we face a risk 
of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation if our products cause, or are alleged to have 
caused, significant loss or injury. We may be subject to various product liability claims, including, among others, that 
the products produced by us caused injury or loss to our clients, include inadequate instructions for use or include 
inadequate installation.

If any of the products that we produce or intend to produce are recalled due to an alleged product defect or for 
any other reason, we could be required to incur the unexpected expense of the recall and any legal proceedings 
that might arise in connection with the recall.

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products for 
a variety of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, malfunctions or harmful side effects, packaging 
safety and inadequate or inaccurate labeling disclosure. We may lose a significant amount of sales and may not be 
able to replace those sales at an acceptable margin or at all. In addition, a product recall may require significant 
attention from our management. There can be no assurance that any quality, potency, or contamination problems will 
be detected in time to avoid unforeseen product recalls, regulatory action, or lawsuits. Additionally, if one of the 
products produced by us were subject to recall, our image and the image of that product (and other products sold by 
us) could be harmed. A recall for any of the foregoing reasons could lead to decreased demand for our products.
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We may not be able to obtain insurance coverage for all of the risks we face, exposing us to potential uninsured 

liabilities.

Our current liability insurance provider renewed our product liability insurance policy in July 2020. However, 
there is no assurance that we will be able to obtain product liability insurance in the future on the same terms, including 
with the premium under our current policy, or at all. If our current insurance provider does not renew our product 
liability insurance policy in the future, it is uncertain at this time whether we will be able to obtain insurance coverage 
from other insurance providers in the future. If our insurance provider refuses to renew our insurance or our policy is 
terminated early and we are unable to obtain coverage from other providers, we may incur significant legal expenses 
and become liable for damages that are not covered by insurance, and our management could expend significant time 
addressing such claims. These events could have a material adverse effect on our business and the results of our 
operations.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

We rely on intellectual property and may not be able to protect intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Our success is heavily dependent upon intangible property and technology that we own and/or licence from 
others. We rely upon copyrights, patents, trade secrets, unpatented proprietary know-how and continuing innovation 
to protect the intangible property, technology and information we consider important to the development and success 
of our business. We utilize various methods to protect our proprietary rights, including confidentiality agreements 
with consultants, service providers and management that contain terms and conditions prohibiting unauthorized use 
and disclosure of confidential information. However, despite efforts to protect intangible property rights, unauthorized 
parties may attempt to copy or replicate intangible property, technology or processes. Further, identifying the 
unauthorized use of intellectual property rights is difficult as we may be unable to effectively monitor and evaluate 
the products being distributed by our competitors. There can be no assurance that the steps taken by us to protect 
intangible property, technology and information will be adequate to prevent misappropriation or independent third-
party development of our intangible property, technology or processes. To the extent that any of the above would 
occur, revenue could be negatively affected, and in the future, we may have to litigate to enforce our intangible 
property rights, which could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and other resources.

Further, we may be unable to obtain registrations for our intellectual property rights for various reasons, 
including refusal by regulatory authorities to register trademarks, patents or other intellectual property protections, 
prior registrations of which we are not aware, or we may encounter claims from prior users of similar intellectual 
property in areas where we operate or intend to conduct operations. If any of our products are approved and marketed 
for an indication for which we do not have an issued patent, our ability to use our patents to prevent a competitor from 
commercializing a non-branded version of our commercial products for that non-patented indication could be 
significantly impaired or even lost. In addition, we cannot be certain that issued patents will be enforceable or provide 
adequate protection or that pending or contemplated patent applications will result in issued patents. Competitors may 
independently develop similar products, duplicate our products, design around our patent rights, or obtain patents and 
proprietary rights that block or compete with our products.

Policing the unauthorized use of our current or future intellectual property rights could be difficult, expensive, 
time-consuming and unpredictable, as may be enforcing these rights against unauthorized use by others. Actions taken 
to protect or preserve intellectual property rights may require significant financial and other resources, and filing, 
prosecuting, and defending patents on all of our product candidates in all jurisdictions throughout the world would be 
prohibitively expensive. Therefore, we have filed applications and/or obtained patents only in key markets, such as 
Israel, Canada, the United States and certain countries in Europe. Competitors may use our technologies in 
jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and their products may 
compete with ours.

In addition, if competitors infringe on our intellectual property, we may have to participate in litigation, 
interference or other proceedings that are expensive and divert management’s attention to determine the right to a 
patent or other intellectual property or the validity of any patent granted. In any infringement proceeding, some or all 
of our current or future trademarks, patents or other intellectual property rights or other proprietary know-how, or 
arrangements or agreements seeking to protect the same for our benefit, may be found invalid, unenforceable, anti-
competitive or not infringed. An adverse result in any litigation or defence proceedings could put one or more of our 
current or future trademarks, patents or other intellectual property rights at risk of being invalidated or interpreted 
narrowly and could put existing intellectual property applications at risk of not being issued.
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We have entered into assignment of invention agreements with our research and development employees 
pursuant to which such individuals agreed to assign to us all rights to any inventions created during or as a result of 
their employment or engagement with us or in our field of business. A significant portion of our intellectual property 
has been developed by our employees in the course and as a result of their employment with us. Under the Israeli 
Patent Law, 5727-1967, (“Patent Law”), inventions conceived by an employee during the scope of his or her 
employment with a company and as a result thereof are regarded as “service inventions,” which belong to the 
employer, absent a specific agreement between the employee and employer giving the employee service invention 
rights. The Patent Law also provides that if there is no agreement between an employer and an employee with respect 
to the employee’s right to receive compensation for such “service inventions,” the Israeli Compensation and Royalties 
Committee (the “Patent Committee”), a body constituted under the Patent Law, shall determine whether the 
employee is entitled to remuneration for his or her service inventions and the scope and conditions for such 
remuneration. The Patent Committee (decisions of which have been upheld by the Israeli Supreme Court) has held 
that employees may be entitled to remuneration for their service inventions despite such employees having specifically 
waived any such rights to remuneration. A recent decision by the Patent Committee clarifies that the right to receive 
consideration for “service inventions” can be waived by the employee and that in certain circumstances; such waiver 
does not necessarily have to be explicit. In order to determine the scope and validity of such wavier, the Patent 
Committee will examine, on a case-by-case basis, the general contractual framework between the parties, using 
interpretation rules of the general Israeli contract laws. Further, the Patent Committee has not yet determined one 
specific formula for calculating this remuneration (but rather uses the criteria specified in the Patent Law). As a result 
of certain of the Patent Committee’s decisions and uncertainty regarding how the Patent Committee reaches decisions, 
there is considerable uncertainty around the application of the Patent Law.

Although our employees have agreed to assign to us service invention rights and have specifically waived 
their right to receive any special remuneration for such assignment beyond their regular salary and benefits, we may 
face claims that the assignment is not enforceable or demanding remuneration in consideration for assigned inventions. 
As a consequence of such claims, we could be required to pay additional remuneration or royalties to current and/or 
former employees, or be forced to litigate such claims, which could negatively affect our business

Risks Related to Our Status as an Israeli Company

Limitations surrounding the use of Israeli government funding

We have received funding from the Israeli government through the IIA for certain research and development 
activities and may receive additional grants in the future. Any Israeli government funding that we receive for research 
and development expenditures may limit or prohibit our ability to manufacture products and transfer know-how 
outside of Israel and require us to satisfy specified conditions. The terms of such grants may trigger additional 
payments to the IIA following our decision to manufacture products or transfer or license any related IP outside of 
Israel, and we may be required to pay penalties in such cases or upon sale of IP, under the R&D Law.

As of the date of this Prospectus, we have received a total amount of US$590,000 from the IIA, such amount 
has to be repaid as 1.3-3% of sales of products developed with the use of the IIA grants. As of the date of this 
Prospectus the future possible payments under such grants are approximately US$350,000 remains outstanding on 
such grants. In addition to paying any royalty due, we must abide by other restrictions associated with IIA funding, 
that continue to apply even following repayment to the IIA.

Although products based on IIA-funded technologies and know-how may be sold freely, the transfer of or 
grant of any right (including licenses or liens) in the underlying IIA-funded technologies and know-how is restricted. 
Any such transfer, license or grant of right is subject to the approval of the IIA and if the transfer, license or grant of 
right is made to an entity outside of Israel, then it is generally conditioned on payment of a redemption fee, which may 
be substantial. Any approval, if given, will generally be subject to additional financial obligations. These restrictions 
may impair our ability to outsource manufacturing, engage in change of control transactions or otherwise transfer or 
license our know-how outside of Israel by being required to obtain the approval of the IIA for certain actions and 
transactions and pay additional royalties, penalties and other amounts to the IIA. Such amounts may be up to six times 
the total of the grants actually received plus interest (minus any royalties paid). In addition, any change of control and 
any change of ownership of shares that would make a non-Israeli citizen or resident an “interested party” (as that term 
is defined in the R&D Law), requires written notice to the IIA.
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If we fail to comply with the restrictions and conditions imposed in connection with IIA funding, we may be 
subject to the sanctions that are set forth under Israeli law, including the possible refund of any payments previously 
received together with interest and an adjustment based on the Israeli consumer price index, and in certain 
circumstances we may also be subject to criminal charges. The difficulties and cost of obtaining the approval of the 
IIA for the transfer or license of manufacturing rights, technology or know-how outside of Israel could prevent us 
from entering into strategic alliances or other transactions that provide for such a transfer or license, which in turn 
could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Your rights and responsibilities as a shareholder will be governed by Israeli law, which differs in some material 
respects from the rights and responsibilities of shareholders of Canadian companies.

The rights and responsibilities of the holders of our Ordinary Shares are governed by our amended and 
restated Articles and by Israeli law. These rights and responsibilities differ in some material respects from the rights 
and responsibilities of shareholders in Canadian companies. Certain provisions in the Companies Law may be 
interpreted to impose additional obligations and liabilities on holders of our Ordinary Shares that are not typically 
imposed on shareholders of Canadian companies. For example, a shareholder of an Israeli company has a duty to act 
in good faith and in a customary manner in exercising its rights and performing its obligations towards the company 
and other shareholders, and to refrain from abusing its power in the company, including, among other things, voting 
at a general meeting of shareholders on matters such as amendments to a company’s articles of association, increases 
in a company’s authorized share capital, mergers and acquisitions and related party transactions requiring shareholder 
approval. In addition, a shareholder who is aware that it possesses the power to determine the outcome of a shareholder 
vote or to appoint or prevent the appointment of a director or executive officer in the company has a duty of fairness 
toward the company. There is limited case law available to assist us in understanding the nature of these duties or the 
implications of these provisions. These provisions may be interpreted to impose additional obligations and liabilities 
on holders of our Ordinary Shares that are not typically imposed on shareholders of Canadian corporations. See 
“Certain Regulatory Matters — Summary of Certain Material Aspects of Israeli Corporate Law”.

Our corporate headquarters and principal research and development activities are located in Israel and, therefore, 
our business and operations may be adversely affected by political, economic and military conditions in Israel.

We are incorporated under Israeli law and our corporate headquarters, including our principal manufacturing 
and research and development facilities, are located in Israel. In addition, certain of our key employees and directors 
and officers are residents of Israel. Accordingly, political, economic and military conditions in the Middle East in 
general, and in Israel in particular, may directly affect our business, product development and results of operations, 
and we may be adversely affected by a significant increase in the rate of inflation or a significant downturn in economic 
or financial conditions in Israel.

Since the State of Israel was established in 1948, a number of armed conflicts have occurred between Israel 
and its neighboring countries, and there have been occurrences of terrorist violence. In recent years, hostilities between 
Israel and Hezbollah in Lebanon (and Syria) and Hamas in the Gaza Strip have both involved missile strikes in various 
parts of Israel causing disruption of economic activities. Our corporate headquarters and principal manufacturing and 
research and development activities are located in the range of missiles that could be fired from Lebanon, Syria or the 
Gaza Strip into Israel. In addition, Israel faces threats from more distant neighbors, in particular, Iran (which is 
believed to be an ally of Hamas in Gaza and Hezbollah in Lebanon). Any armed conflicts involving Israel or in the 
region or any political instability in the region, including acts of terrorism as well as cyberattacks or any other 
hostilities involving or threatening Israel, would likely negatively affect business conditions and could make it more 
difficult for us to conduct our operations in Israel, which could increase our costs and adversely affect our financial 
results. In addition, the political and security situation in Israel may result in parties with whom we have agreements 
involving performance in Israel claiming that they are not obligated to perform their commitments under those 
agreements pursuant to force majeure provisions in such agreements. Our commercial insurance does not cover losses 
that may occur as a result of an event associated with the security situation in the Middle East, such as damages to our 
facilities resulting in disruption of our operations. Although the Israeli government is currently committed to covering 
the reinstatement value of direct damages that are caused by terrorist attacks or acts of war, we cannot assure you that 
this government coverage will be maintained, or if maintained, will be sufficient to compensate us fully for damages 
incurred. Any losses or damages incurred by us could have a material adverse effect on our business. Any armed
conflict involving Israel could adversely affect our operations and results of operations.
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Several countries, principally in the Middle East, as well as certain companies, organizations and movements, 
restrict their commercial activities with Israel or Israeli companies, and additional countries may impose restrictions 
on doing business with Israel and Israeli companies. In addition, there have been increased efforts by activists to cause 
companies and consumers to boycott Israeli goods based on Israeli government policies. Similarly, Israeli companies 
are subject to limitations while conducting business with entities from several countries. Such business restrictions 
and boycotts, particularly if they become more widespread, may materially and adversely impact our ability to sell 
our products and the expansion of our business. We could be adversely affected by the interruption or curtailment of 
trade between Israel and its trading partners.

Strikes and work stoppages in Israel and the obligations of our personnel to perform military service may prevent 
us from continuing our production and marketing activities.

General strikes or work stoppages, including at Israeli ports, have occurred periodically or have been 
threatened in the past by Israeli trade unions due to labor disputes. These general strikes or work stoppages may have 
an adverse effect on the Israeli economy and on our business, including our ability to deliver products to our customers 
and to receive raw materials from our suppliers in a timely manner and could have a material adverse effect on our 
results of operations.

As of the date of this Prospectus we had 17 employees (which includes consultants) based in Israel. Our 
operations could be disrupted by the obligations of some of our personnel to perform military service. Certain of our 
employees in Israel, including executive officers, may be called upon to perform obligatory military reserve service 
on an annual basis until they reach the age of 40 (and in some cases, up to age 49) and, in certain emergency 
circumstances, may be called to immediate and prolonged active duty on very short notice. Our operations could be 
disrupted by the absence for military service for extended periods of a significant number of our employees. Such 
disruption could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Enforcing a Canadian judgment against us and our current executive officers and directors, or asserting Canadian 
securities law claims in Israel, may be difficult.

As a corporation incorporated and headquartered in Israel, service of process upon us and upon our directors 
and officers and any Israeli experts named in this Prospectus, most of whom reside outside of Canada, may be difficult 
from within Canada. Furthermore, because a majority of our assets and most of our directors, officers and such Israeli 
experts are located outside of Canada, any judgment obtained in Canada against us or any of them may be difficult to 
collect within Canada and may not be enforced by an Israeli court.

We have irrevocably appointed Miller Thomson LLP as our agent to receive service of process in any action 
against us in any Canadian federal or provincial jurisdiction arising out of this offering or any purchase or sale of 
securities in connection with this offering. 

Name of Agent Address of Agent
Miller Thomson LLP 40 King St. W. Suite 5800,

Toronto, ON M5H 4A9
Attention: Lawrence Wilder

We have been informed by our legal counsel in Israel that it may be difficult to assert Canadian securities 
laws claims in original actions instituted in Israel. Israeli courts may refuse to hear a claim based on an alleged 
violation of Canadian securities laws on the basis that Israel is not the most appropriate forum in which to bring such 
a claim. In addition, even if an Israeli court agrees to hear a claim, it may determine that Israeli law and not Canadian 
law is applicable to the claim. There is little binding case law in Israel addressing these matters. If Canadian law is 
found to be applicable, the content of applicable Canadian law must be proven as a fact which can be a time-consuming 
and costly process. Certain matters of procedure will also be governed by Israeli law. Consequently, our investors 
may be effectively prevented from pursuing remedies under Canadian securities laws against us or any of our non-
Canadian directors and officers.

See “Enforcement of Judgments against Foreign Persons” for additional information on your ability to 
enforce civil claim against us and our executive officers and directors.
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Provisions of Israeli law and tax considerations may delay, prevent or make difficult an acquisition of us, which 
could prevent a change of control and negatively affect the price of our Ordinary Shares.

Israeli corporate law regulates mergers and requires tender offers for acquisitions of shares above specified 
thresholds; requires special approvals for certain transactions involving directors, officers or significant shareholders; 
and regulates other matters that may be relevant to these types of transactions. These provisions of Israeli law may 
delay, prevent or make difficult an acquisition of us, which could prevent a change of control and therefore negatively 
affect the price of our Ordinary Shares. For example, under the Companies Law, upon the request of a creditor of 
either party to a proposed merger, the court may delay or prevent the merger if it concludes that there exists a 
reasonable concern that as a result of the merger the surviving company will be unable to satisfy the obligations of 
any of the parties to the merger.

Our Company must comply with both Canadian and Israeli tax laws, and Israeli tax considerations may make 
potential transactions difficult unappealing to us or to our shareholders, especially for those shareholders whose 
country of residence does not have a tax treaty with Israel, which exempts such shareholders from Israeli tax. With 
respect to mergers, Israeli tax law allows for tax deferral in certain circumstances but makes the deferral contingent 
on the fulfillment of a number of conditions, including, in some cases, a holding period of two years from the date of 
the transaction, during which sales and dispositions of shares of the participating companies are subject to certain 
restrictions. Moreover, with respect to certain share swap transactions, the tax deferral is limited in time, and when 
such time expires, the tax becomes payable even if no disposition of the shares has occurred. In order to benefit from 
the tax deferral, a pre-ruling from the Israel Tax Authority might be required.

Risks Related to this Offering and Ownership of Our Ordinary Shares

There are risks related to forward-looking information in this Prospectus.

The forward-looking information included in this Prospectus relating to, among other things, our future 
results, performance, achievements, prospects, intentions or opportunities or the markets in which we operate or expect 
to operate (including, in particular, the information contained in “Prospectus Summary”, “Business Overview”, 
“Industry Overview”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”, 
“Description of Share Capital”, “Dividend Policy”, “Principal Shareholders”, “Directors and Executive Officers”, 
“Executive Compensation”, “Director Compensation” and this section, “Risk Factors”) is based on opinions, 
assumptions and estimates made by our management in light of our experience and perception of historical trends, 
current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors that we believe are appropriate and 
reasonable in the circumstances. However, there can be no assurance that such estimates and assumptions will prove 
to be correct. Our actual results in the future may vary significantly from the historical and estimated results and those 
variations may be material. We make no representation that our actual results in the future will be the same, in whole 
or in part, as those described in this Prospectus. See “Forward-Looking Information”.

The Principal Shareholders hold significant voting power in the Company and the interests of the Principal 
Shareholders may not be the same as those of the Company’s other shareholders.

The Principal Shareholders hold significant voting power in the Company, and the interests of each of Sullam 
and Tedea may conflict with or differ from the interests of the Company’s shareholders. It is expected that upon 
completion of the Offering, each of Tedea and Sullam will hold approximately 24.9% of the Company’s issued and 
outstanding Ordinary Shares, or approximately 22.49% on a fully diluted basis. Clover Wolf is expected to hold 
approximately 16.99% of the Company’s issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares, or approximately 14.02% on a fully 
diluted basis.

Additionally, each of Sullam and Tedea (and their respective affiliates) may hold or may acquire investments 
and assets that may compete with the Company. Accordingly, the interests of Sullam, Tedea and their respective 
affiliates, may not be the same as those of the Company’s other shareholders, and conflicts of interest may arise from 
time to time that may be resolved in a manner detrimental to the Company or the Company’s minority shareholders.
The Principal Shareholders and their affiliates may also pursue, for their own account, acquisition opportunities that 
could be complementary to our business, and, as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be available to us. 

As long as the Principal Shareholders own or control a significant number of our outstanding Ordinary 
Shares, they will have the ability to exercise substantial control over all corporate actions requiring shareholder 
approval, irrespective of how our other shareholders may vote, including the election and removal of directors and the 
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size of our Board, any amendments to our Articles of Association, or the approval of any merger, acquisition or other 
significant corporate transaction, including a sale of all or substantially all of our assets. See “Principal Shareholders”. 
Circumstances may occur in which the interests of the Principal Shareholders and their affiliates could be in conflict 
with the interests of other shareholders, and the Principal Shareholders would have significant influence to cause the 
Company to take actions that align with its interests. In addition, this concentration of ownership could have the effect 
of delaying or preventing a change in control or otherwise discouraging a potential acquiror from attempting to obtain 
control of the Company, which could cause the market price of the Ordinary Shares to decline or prevent shareholders 
from realizing a premium over the market price for their Ordinary Shares.

The market price of our Ordinary Shares may be volatile, which could result in substantial losses for investors 
purchasing Ordinary Shares in this Offering.

The price of our Ordinary Shares will fluctuate with market conditions and other factors, and it may decline 
below the Offering Price. If a holder of Ordinary Shares sells its Ordinary Shares, the price received may be more or 
less than the original investment. Some of the factors that may cause the market price of our Ordinary Shares to 
fluctuate include:

 actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations;
 recommendations by securities research analysts;
 changes in the economic performance or market valuations of companies in the industry in which 

we operate;
 addition or departure of our executive officers and other key personnel;
 sales or perceived sales of additional Ordinary Shares;
 significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital 

commitments by or involving us or our competitors; and
 operating and share price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to the 

Company or from a lack of market comparable companies.

We expect that our officers, directors and Principal Shareholders (greater than 10% shareholders) will 
collectively control, directly or indirectly, approximately 42.89% of the voting power and interests in our outstanding 
Ordinary Shares upon completion of the Offering on a fully-diluted basis. Subsequent sales of our Ordinary Shares by 
these shareholders, or the market perception that holders of a large number of Ordinary Shares intend to sell Ordinary 
Shares, could have the effect of lowering the market price of our Ordinary Shares. Further, the perceived risk 
associated with the possible sale of a large number of Ordinary Shares by these shareholders, or the adoption of 
significant short positions by hedge funds or other significant investors, could cause some of our shareholders to sell 
their Ordinary Shares, thus causing the market price of our Ordinary Shares to decline. In addition, actual or anticipated 
downward pressure on our stock price due to actual or anticipated sales of Ordinary Shares by our officers, directors 
or Principal Shareholders could cause other institutions or individuals to engage in short sales of the Ordinary Shares, 
which may further cause the market price of our Ordinary Shares to decline.

From time to time, our directors and executive officers may sell Ordinary Shares on the open market. These 
sales will be publicly disclosed in filings made with securities regulators. In the future, our directors and executive 
officers may sell a significant number of Ordinary Shares for a variety of reasons unrelated to the performance of our 
business. Our shareholders may perceive these sales as a reflection on management’s view of the business and result 
in some shareholders selling their Ordinary Shares. These sales could cause the market price of our Ordinary Shares 
to decline. Any decline in the market price of Ordinary Shares may also impede our ability to raise additional capital 
and might cause remaining holders of Ordinary Shares to lose all or part of their investment.

There are risks associated with the potential dilution of our Ordinary Shares.

We may raise additional funds in the future by issuing equity securities. Such equity securities could contain 
rights and preferences superior to those of the Ordinary Shares issued pursuant to the Offering and holders of Ordinary 
Shares will have no pre-emptive rights in connection with such further issues. The Board of Directors has the discretion 
to determine if an issuance of equity securities is warranted, the price at which such issuance is effected and the other 
terms of issue of any equity securities, including Ordinary Shares or equity securities convertible into Ordinary Shares. 
In addition, additional Ordinary Shares may be issued by us in connection with the exercise of options granted 
following the completion of the Offering. To the extent holders of our options or other convertible securities convert 
or exercise their securities and sell the Ordinary Shares they receive, the trading price of the Ordinary Shares may 
decrease due to the additional number of Ordinary Shares available in the market. Such additional equity issuances 
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could, depending on the price at which such securities are issued, substantially dilute the interests of the holders of 
Ordinary Shares. In addition, we cannot predict the size of future issuances of our equity securities, including Ordinary 
Shares, or the effect, if any, that future issuances and sales of our equity securities, including Ordinary Shares will 
have on the market price of our Ordinary Shares. Sales of substantial amounts of our Ordinary Shares, or the perception 
that such sales could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices for our Ordinary Shares.

After Closing, assuming the exercise of the Underwriters’ Option in full, we will have 117,545,124 Ordinary 
Shares outstanding. Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, each of the Company, our directors and executive 
officers and certain of our other shareholders have agreed that they will not, directly or indirectly, without the prior 
written consent of the Underwriters, (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld), issue, offer, sell, grant any option 
to purchase or otherwise dispose of (or announce any intention to do so) any of our equity securities, or securities 
convertible or exchangeable into our equity securities for a period commencing on the Closing Date and ending 
180 days after the Closing Date, subject to certain exceptions. Following the expiration of the 180-day period, the 
Ordinary Shares that will be outstanding immediately following completion of the Offering will be available for sale 
in the public markets subject to restrictions under applicable securities laws in Canada. In addition, following Closing 
there will be Options to acquire 7,236,300 Ordinary Shares outstanding. The Ordinary Shares issuable upon the 
exercise of these Options, will, to the extent permitted by any applicable vesting requirements, lock-up agreements 
and restrictions under applicable securities laws in Canada, also become eligible for sale in the public market.

The Underwriters might waive the provisions of these Lock-Up Agreements and allow the subject 
shareholders to sell their Ordinary Shares at any time. There are no pre-established conditions for the grant of such a 
waiver by the Underwriters, and any decision by them to waive those conditions may depend on a number of factors, 
which might include market conditions, the performance of our Ordinary Shares in the market and our financial 
condition at such time. If the restrictions in such Lock-Up Agreements are waived, additional Ordinary Shares will be 
available for sale into the public market, subject to applicable securities laws, which could reduce the market price for 
Ordinary Shares.

An active, liquid and orderly trading market for our Ordinary Shares may not develop, and you may not be able to 
resell Ordinary Shares at or above the initial public offering price.

We have applied to have the Ordinary Shares listed on the TSXV. Listing is subject to the approval of the 
TSXV in accordance with its original listing requirements. The TSXV has not conditionally approved our listing 
application and there is no assurance that the TSXV will approve the listing application.

Although listing on the TSXV is a condition to the Closing, there is currently no market through which our 
Ordinary Shares may be sold and, if a market for our Ordinary Shares does not develop or is not sustained, you may 
not be able to resell your Ordinary Shares purchased in this Offering. This may affect the pricing of the Ordinary 
Shares in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of the Ordinary Shares 
and the extent of issuer regulation. The Offering Price of our Offered Units was determined through negotiations 
between the Company and the Underwriters. We cannot predict the prices at which the Ordinary Shares will trade 
upon Closing and the Offering Price may not be indicative of the market price of our Ordinary Shares after the 
Offering. If an active and liquid trading market for the Ordinary Shares does not develop or is not maintained, investors 
may have difficulty selling their Ordinary Shares. There can be no assurance that there will be sufficient liquidity of 
the Ordinary Shares on the trading market, or that we will continue to meet the listing requirements of the TSXV or 
any other public listing exchange on which the Ordinary Shares may subsequently be listed.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavourable research about us 
or our business, our trading price and volume could decline.

The trading market for our Ordinary Shares will depend, in part, on the research and reports that securities 
or industry analysts publish about us or our business. We do not currently have and may never obtain research coverage 
by securities and industry analysts. If no securities or industry analysts commence covering us, the trading price for 
our Ordinary Shares would be negatively impacted. If we obtain securities or industry analyst coverage and one or 
more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our Ordinary Shares or publish inaccurate or unfavourable research 
about our business, or more favourable relative recommendations about our competitors, our trading price may 
decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our 
Ordinary Shares could decrease, which could cause our trading price and volume to decline.
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We may not be able or willing to pay any dividends.

No dividends on the Ordinary Shares have been paid to date and there is no assurance as to whether we will 
be profitable enough to pay dividends, or determine to do so even if sufficiently profitable. We anticipate that, for the 
foreseeable future, we will retain future earnings and other cash resources for the operation and development of our 
business. Payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors after considering many 
factors, including our earnings, operating results, financial condition, current and anticipated cash needs, and 
restrictions in financing agreements. Our Board must also approve any dividends at their sole discretion. There is no 
assurance that future dividends will be paid, and, if dividends are paid, there is no assurance with respect to the amount 
of any such dividends.

We lack adequate financing.

We have limited capital and resources and there is no assurance that we will have sufficient capital to fully 
implement our business plan. Currently, we generate negative cash flows from our operations and we are required to 
fund our operations as well as our planned investments and expansion. We do not have any significant bank credit 
facility or other working capital credit line under which we may borrow funds for working capital, capital investments 
or other general corporate purposes. Should we fail in future efforts to provide adequate working capital, and other 
sources of finance, we will experience difficulties in all areas. This would have a material adverse effect on our 
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Management may be unable to use the proceeds of the Offering effectively.

We currently intend to allocate the net proceeds received from the Offering as described under ‘‘Use of 
Proceeds’’, however, management will have discretion in the actual application of the net proceeds, and may elect to 
allocate the net proceeds differently from that described under ‘‘Use of Proceeds’’ if it believes it would be in our best 
interests to do so. Shareholders may not agree with the manner in which management chooses to allocate and spend 
the net proceeds of the Offering. Any failure by management to apply these funds effectively could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations, or cause the price of our Ordinary Shares 
to decline significantly. Additionally, we may not be successful in implementing our business strategies and plans and 
our actual capital expenditures and capital expenditure requirements may be materially different from expected 
expenditures described in this Prospectus.

Risks Related to Exchange Rate

Exchange rate fluctuations between the Canadian dollar, the U.S. dollar, Israeli Shekel and other foreign 
currencies may negatively affect our future revenues.

We will be exposed to the financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates. We generate 
substantially all of our revenues in NIS. The majority of our operating expenses are incurred in Israel, including 
executive compensation, employee salaries and payments to service providers in Israel. We also enter into foreign 
currency transactions for imported goods and equipment predominantly from Europe, and are subject to fluctuations 
due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes between the U.S. dollar, the Euro and the NIS. 
In addition, a portion of our financial assets is held in NIS. As a result, our financial results may be affected by 
fluctuations in the exchange rates of currencies between the NIS and other currencies. Although exposure to currency 
fluctuations to date has not had a material adverse effect on our business, there can be no assurance that any future 
hedging transactions we engage in will provide sufficient protection and that such fluctuations in the future will not 
have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition. To date, we have not hedged our 
exposure to currency fluctuations.

Risks Related to Competition

We operate in a highly competitive industry, and may not be able to maintain our operations or develop them as 
currently proposed if we are unable to outperform our competitors.

An increase in the number of companies competing in the recycling industry in general, and plastic bag and 
sheet recycling specifically, could limit our ability to expand our operations abroad. Some competitors may have more 
expertise and may be able to develop higher quality equipment or products, at the same or a lower cost. There is no 
assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors. Mergers and acquisitions 



114

in the recycling and waste management industries may result in more concentrated resources among a smaller number 
of competitors. To remain competitive, we will require continued investment in research and development, marketing, 
sales and client support. We may not have sufficient resources to maintain research and development, marketing, sales 
and client support efforts on a competitive basis.

We may fail to develop and manufacture high quality products that compete successfully against other products or 
solutions 

Our business development and growth are highly dependent on the development of new products that we will 
produce in our existing and prospect sites. Our success depends on our ability to develop more efficient production 
processes for existing market products to be distributed and sold around the world. Such future products need to be 
able to compete in high competition environments, and therefore will need to meet require regulations, high standards 
and quality and to maintain reasonable profits under competitive prices in order for the Company to effectively 
compete.

Because of the importance of developing production process and producing new market-existing 
products, failure to develop and adapt new products production process or major delays in such developments and 
production implementation, could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our existing and prospective products are in competitive landscapes which are characterized as having strong 
competition and low barriers to entry.

The industrial, agricultural and construction plastic products markets are highly competitive and consist of 
many manufacturers, low raw materials cost, advanced production processes, worldwide production sites with no real 
boundaries. Some of the worldwide manufacturers are also constantly monitoring and attempting to anticipate new 
products demand, seeking ideas which will appeal to consumers, and introducing new products that compete with our 
existing and prospect products.

Competition in our business is further based, among other things, on innovation, product quality, regulatory 
compliance, pricing, quality of customer service, and understanding of potential customers. It is difficult for us to 
predict the timing, scale and success of our competitors in these areas. In particular, the discovery and development 
of new products, materials and solutions, protection of our know-how and development and retention of key 
employees are critical to our ability to effectively compete in our business. Advancement in technologies have also 
enhanced the ability of our competitors to develop substitutable products. Increased competition by existing or future 
competitors, including aggressive price competition, could result in the loss of sales, reduced pricing and margin 
pressure and could adversely impact our sales and profitability. New products and other solutions to our existing and 
prospective products, as well as higher quality, lower prices and better branding of solutions and products by our 
existing and future competitors, may adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Risk Related to Cyber Threats 

Significant data breaches or other disruptions to our information technology systems could disrupt our operations, 
result in the loss of confidential information or personal data, and adversely impact our reputation, business or 
results of operations.

We rely on information technology systems, including some managed by third-party providers, to conduct 
business and support our business processes, including those relating to product design, product development, 
manufacturing, sales, order and invoice processing, production, distribution, internal communications and 
communications with third parties throughout the world, processing transactions, summarizing and reporting results 
of operations, complying with regulatory, tax or legal requirements, and collecting and storing customer, supplier, 
employee and other stakeholder information. Cybersecurity incidents, data breaches and operational disruptions 
caused by cyberattacks or cyber-intrusions are constantly evolving in nature, becoming more sophisticated and are 
being made by groups and individuals with a wide range of expertise and motives.
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Risk Related to Natural Disasters

Earthquakes or other catastrophic events out of our control may damage our facilities or those of our contractors 
and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We have significant operations near major earthquake faults, and our Israeli headquarters in Beit Shean, 
Israel which is near the Jordan Rift Valley. A catastrophic event where we have important operations, such as an 
earthquake, tsunami, flood, typhoon, fire, or other natural or manmade disaster, could disrupt our operations or those 
of our contractors and impair production or distribution of its products, damage inventory, interrupt critical functions, 
or otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Risk Related to our Clients’ Financial Condition

Liquidity problems or bankruptcy of our key customers, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, and results of operations.

Our sales to customers are typically made on credit without collateral. There is a risk that key customers will 
not pay, or that payment may be delayed because of bankruptcy, contraction of credit availability to such customers, 
weak sales, or other factors beyond our control, which could increase our exposure to losses from bad debts. In 
addition, when key customers cease doing business with us because of bankruptcy, or significantly reduce the number 
of orders, it can have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are, from time to time, involved in legal proceedings of a nature considered normal to our business. We 
believe that none of the litigation in which we are currently involved, or have been involved since the beginning of 
the most recently completed financial year, individually or in the aggregate, is material to our consolidated financial 
condition or results of operations.

LEGAL MATTERS

The matters referred to under “Eligibility for Investment” and “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax 
Considerations”, as well as certain other legal matters relating to the issue and sale of the Offered Units, will be passed 
upon on our behalf by Miller Thomson LLP (Canadian legal counsel) and Gornitzky & Co. (Israeli legal counsel) and 
on behalf of the Underwriters by Stikeman Elliott LLP (Canadian legal counsel). 

INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

Other than as described elsewhere in this Prospectus, there are no material interests, direct or indirect, of any 
of our directors or executive officers, any shareholder that beneficially owns, or controls or directs (directly or 
indirectly), more than 10% of any class or series of our outstanding voting securities, or any associate or affiliate of 
any of the foregoing persons, in any transaction within the three years before the date hereof that has materially 
affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect us. See “Description of Share Capital – Ordinary Shares” and 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Related 
Party Transactions”.

AUDITOR, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer, a member of Ernst & Young Global, located at 144 Menachem Begin Road, 
Tel Aviv 649102, Israel, is our auditor and has confirmed that it is independent of the Company within the context of 
the CPA Code of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario.

The transfer agent and registrar for the Ordinary Shares will be TSX Trust Company at its principal office in 
Toronto, Canada.
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INTEREST OF EXPERTS

No person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by such person or 
company and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this Prospectus, or prepared or certified a report 
or valuation described or included in this Prospectus, has received or shall receive or holds a direct or indirect interest 
in any securities or property of the Company or any associates or affiliates of the Company.

ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS AGAINST FOREIGN PERSONS

We are incorporated under the laws of the State of Israel. Service of process upon us and upon our directors 
and officers and any Israeli experts named in this Prospectus, most of whom reside outside of Canada, may be difficult 
to obtain within Canada. Furthermore, because a majority of our assets and most of our directors, officers and such 
Israeli experts are located outside of Canada, any judgment obtained in Canada against us or any of them may be 
difficult to collect within Canada.

We have irrevocably appointed Miller Thomson LLP as our agent to receive service of process in any action 
against us in any Canadian court arising out of this offering or any purchase or sale of securities in connection with 
this offering.

We have been informed by our legal counsel in Israel that it may be difficult to assert Canadian securities 
laws claims in original actions instituted in Israel. Israeli courts may refuse to hear a claim based on an alleged 
violation of Canadian securities laws on the basis that Israel is not the most appropriate forum in which to bring such 
a claim. In addition, even if an Israeli court agrees to hear a claim, it may determine that Israeli law and not Canadian 
law is applicable to the claim. There is little binding case law in Israel addressing these matters. If Canadian law is 
found to be applicable, the content of applicable Canadian law must be proven as a fact which can be a time-consuming 
and costly process. Certain matters of procedure will also be governed by Israeli law.

Subject to specified time limitations and legal procedures, under the rules of private international law 
currently prevailing in Israel, Israeli courts may enforce a Canadian judgment in a civil matter which, subject to certain 
exceptions, is non-appealable, including a judgment based upon the civil liability provisions of Canadian securities 
laws and including a monetary or compensatory judgment in a non-civil matter, provided that, among other things, 
the following key conditions are met:

 the judgment is obtained after due process before a court of competent jurisdiction, according to the 
laws of the jurisdiction in which the judgment is given and the judgment is enforceable according 
to the law of the foreign jurisdiction in which the relief was granted;

 the obligation imposed by the judgment is enforceable according to the rules relating to the 
enforceability of judgments in Israel; and

 the substance of the judgment and its enforcement is not contrary to the law, public policy, security 
or sovereignty of the State of Israel.

Even if the above conditions are met, an Israeli court will not enforce a Canadian judgment in a civil matter if:

 the judgment was given in a jurisdiction whose laws do not provide for the enforcement of 
judgments of Israeli courts (subject to exceptional cases);

 the judgment was obtained by fraud;
 the opportunity given to the defendant to bring its arguments and evidence before the court was not 

reasonable in the opinion of the Israeli court;
 the judgment was rendered by a court not competent to render it according to the laws of private 

international law as they apply in Israel;
 the judgment is contradictory to another judgment that was given in the same matter between the 

same parties and that is still valid; or
 at the time the action was brought in the foreign court, a lawsuit in the same matter and between the 

same parties was pending before a court or tribunal in Israel.
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If a foreign judgment is enforced by an Israeli court, it generally will be payable in NIS, which can then be 
converted into non-Israeli currency and transferred out of Israel. Under existing Israeli law, a foreign judgment payable 
in foreign currency may be paid in Israeli currency at the rate of exchange in force on the date of the payment. Current 
Israeli exchange control regulations also permit a judgment debtor to make payment in foreign currency. Pending 
collection, the amount of the judgment of an Israeli court stated in NIS ordinarily will be linked to the Israeli consumer 
price index plus interest at the annual statutory rate set by Israeli regulations prevailing at the time. Judgment creditors 
must bear the risk of unfavorable exchange rates.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

This Prospectus includes a summary description of certain of our material agreements. The summary 
description discloses all attributes material to an investor in the Offered Units but is not complete and is qualified by 
reference to the terms of the material agreements, which will be filed with the Canadian securities regulatory 
authorities and available on SEDAR, at www.sedar.com, under our profile. Investors are encouraged to read the full 
text of such material agreements. 

Other than certain agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business, the following are our only 
material contracts that will be in effect on Closing:

a) Consulting Agreement between the Company and Mordechai Haklai & Sons (1998) CPA Company, 
dated January 17, 2021 under which Danny Haklai performs services as Chief Financial Officer for the 
Company.

b) Note Purchase Agreement, as amended on November 15, 2020 and as further assigned to Clover Wolf 
Ltd. on January 11, 2021.

c) Founders Warrants Issuance Agreements between the Company and each of Tedea and Sullam, 
respectively, to be entered into prior to Closing. 

d) Underwriting Agreement between the Company and the Underwriters dated March 31, 2021.
e) Subscription Receipt Agreement between the Company and the Subscription Receipt Agent dated 

February 25, 2021. 
f) Warrant Indenture between the Company and the Warrant Agent to be entered into prior to Closing. 
g) Escrow Agreement between the Company and the Escrow Agent to be entered into prior to Closing. 
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PURCHASERS’ STATUTORY AND CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces and territories of Canada provides purchasers with the right 
to withdraw from an agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after 
receipt or deemed receipt of a prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces and territories, the securities 
legislation further provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the price or 
damages if the prospectus and any amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, 
provided that the remedies for rescission, revisions of the price or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the 
time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory. The purchaser should refer 
to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory for the particulars of 
these rights or consult with a legal adviser.

In an offering of warrants (including Warrants partially comprising the Units), investors are cautioned that 
the statutory right of action for damages for a misrepresentation contained in a prospectus is limited, in certain 
provincial securities legislation, to the price at which the warrant is offered to the public under the prospectus offering. 
This means that, under the securities legislation of certain provinces, if the purchaser pays additional amounts upon 
exercise of the security, those amounts may not be recoverable under the statutory right of action for damages that 
applies in those provinces. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the 
purchaser’s province for the particulars of this right of action for damages or consult with a legal advisor.

The Company has granted to each holder of a Subscription Receipt a contractual right of rescission of the 
prospectus-exempt transaction under which the Subscription Receipt was initially acquired. The contractual right of 
rescission provides that if a holder of a Subscription Receipt who acquires another security of the Company on exercise 
of the Subscription Receipt as provided for in this Prospectus is, or becomes, entitled under the securities legislation 
of a jurisdiction to the remedy of rescission because of the Prospectus or an amendment to the Prospectus containing 
a misrepresentation,

a) the holder is entitled to rescission of both the holder’s exercise of its Subscription Receipt and the private 
placement transaction under which the Subscription Receipt was initially acquired, 

b) the holder is entitled in connection with the rescission to a full refund of all consideration paid to the 
underwriter or issuer, as the case may be, on the acquisition of the Subscription Receipt, and

c) if the holder is a permitted assignee of the interest of the original Subscription Receipt subscriber, the 
holder is entitled to exercise the rights of rescission and refund as if the holder was the original 
subscriber.

The Company and the Underwriters hereby confirm that purchasers who acquired Subscription Receipts through the 
Company have the same rights and remedies for rescission and/or damages against the Company and the Underwriters, 
as the case may be, as if the purchasers had acquired the Subscription Receipts through the Underwriters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of

K.B. RECYCLING INDUSTRIES LTD.

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of K.B. Recycling Industries Ltd. (the “Company”), which comprise the 
statements of financial position as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and as of January 1, 2018, and the statements of 
comprehensive loss, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2019 
and 2018, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and January 1, 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion

Other information included in The Company’s 2019 Annual Report

Other information consists of the information included in the 2019 Annual Report, other than the financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.



F-4

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 

cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Batel Dadon.

Tel-Aviv, Israel KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER
January 31, 2021 A Member of Ernst & Young Global
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

December 31, January 1,

2019 2018 2018

Note U.S. dollars in thousands

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 55 40 101
Restricted deposits 36 33 -
Trade receivables 4 508 649 294
Other accounts receivable 5 55 134 243
Inventories 144 137 198

798 993 836

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Right of use assets 6 1,127 1,162 1,312
Long-term deposits 66 61 66
Property, plant and equipment, net 7 1,786 1,719 1,602

2,979 2,942 2,980

3,777 3,935 3,816

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Credit from banks 8 148 157 195
Current maturities of lease liabilities 12 131 104 69
Trade payables 9 586 906 1,091
Other payables 10 524 588 589

1,389 1,755 1,944

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Loan from banks - - 22
Loan from shareholder 20 - - 300
Lease liabilities 12 1,071 1,096 1,240
Other liabilities 11 168 90 94

1,239 1,186 1,656

EQUITY:
Share capital and share premium 15 34,376 31,000 809
Shareholders' loans 15 - 906 27,303
Adjustments arising from translating financial 

statements from functional currency to presentation 
currency 76 (9) -

Reserve from share-based payment transactions 14 4 -
Accumulated deficit (33,317) (30,907) (27,896)

1,149 994 216

3,777 3,935 3,816

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

January 31, 2021
Date of approval of the Yoav Horowitz Shmuel Porre Danny Haklai

financial statements Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Year ended

December 31, 

2019 2018

Note U.S. dollars in thousands

Revenues from sales 1,510 1,578

Cost of sales 17a 2,828 3,090

Gross loss (1,318) (1,512)

Development expenses (net of government grants) 17b 20 228

Selling and marketing expenses 17c 366 258

General and administrative expenses 17d 552 791

Operating loss (2,256) (2,789)

Finance expenses 17e (154) (222)

Loss (2,410) (3,011)

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Amounts that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit

  or loss:

Adjustments arising from translating financial statements

from functional currency to presentation currency 85 (9)

Total comprehensive loss (2,325) (3,020)

Basic and diluted loss per share (in U.S. dollars) 18 (4.00) (5.21)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share 
capital and 

share 
premium 

Shareholders' 
loans

Reserve from 
share-based 

payment 
transactions

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Accumulated 
deficit

Total
equity

U.S. dollars in thousands

Balance at January 1, 2018 809 27,303 - - (27,896)         216

Loss - - - - (3,011) (3,011)

Total other comprehensive loss - - - (9) - (9)

Total comprehensive loss - - - (9) (3,011) (3,020)

Cost of share-based payment - - 4 - - 4
Receipt of shareholders’ loans - 2,036 - - - 2,036
Conversion of shareholders' loans 

into equity 28,687 (28,433) - - - 254
Equity investments 1,504 - - - - 1,504

Balance at December 31, 2018 31,000 906 4 (9) (30,907) 994

Share 
capital and 

share 
premium 

Shareholders' 
loans

Reserve from 
share-based 

payment 
transactions

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Accumulated 
deficit

Total
equity

U.S. dollars in thousands

Balance at January 1, 2019 31,000 906 4 (9) (30,907)         994

Loss - - - - (2,410) (2,410)

Total other comprehensive 
income - - - 85 - 85

Total comprehensive loss - - - 85 (2,410) (2,325)

Cost of share-based payment - - 10 - - 10
Conversion of shareholders' loan 

into equity
906 (906)

- - - -
Equity investments 2,470 - - - - 2,470

Balance at December 31, 2019 34,376 - 14 76 (33,317) 1,149

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended

December 31, 

2019 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands

Cash flows from operating activities:

Loss (2,410) (3,011)

Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Adjustments to the profit or loss items: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 186 150

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 162 145

Finance expenses 141 170

Cost of share-based payment 10 4

499 469

Changes in asset and liability items:

Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 190 (393)

Decrease in other accounts receivable 87 15

Decrease in inventories 5 48

Decrease in trade payables (392) (101)

Increase (decrease) in other payables (135) 19

(245) (412)

Cash paid during the period for:

Interest paid (117) (126)

Net cash used in operating activities (2,362)  (3,080)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended

December 31, 

2019 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (109) (412)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - 23

Investment in restricted deposits - (34)

Net cash used in investing activities (109) (423)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Receipt of grants from the IIA 86 83

Repayment of grants received from the IIA (17) (13)

Repayment of long-term loans from banks and shareholders (13) (138)

Credit from banks, net (7) 36

Repayment of lease liabilities (129) (93)

Receipt of shareholders' loans - 2,036

Equity investments 2,470 1,504

Net cash provided by financing activities 2,390 3,415

Exchange rate differences on balances of cash and cash equivalents 7 27

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 15 (61)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 40 101

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 55 40

Significant non-cash transaction:

Right-of-use asset recognized with corresponding lease liabilities 35 92

Conversion of shareholders' loans into equity (see Note 15(b)(3) and 

Note 15(b)(5)) 906 28,687

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTE 1:- GENERAL

a. K.B. Recycling Industries Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of Israel as a 
private company. The Company's registered address is 3 Ha'avoda St., Beit Shean, Israel. The 
Company began its operations in April 2008 and operates in the plastic recycling market.

The Company recycles post consumed household waste plastic bags and sheets combined with post 
consumed agricultural plastic sheets and manufactures polyurethane sheets and geomembranes 
utilized mainly by the building and infrastructure industry. The sheets are used for underground 
water and gas sealing systems, surfaces and floor protection, and sub terrain barriers against roots. 
The Company's manufacturing process was developed over the course of a number of years. The 
Company’s process involves the processing of the waste and its direct conversion of the waste into 
a finished product. The Company recycles nylon plastic bags that are generally not recycled and are 
usually incinerated or stored.

b. Company's financial position and management's plans:

The Company incurred losses totaling $ 2,410 thousand and $ 3,011 thousand and had negative cash 
flows from operating activities totaling $ 2,273 thousand and $ 3,080 thousand during the years 
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In addition, the Company had a working capital 
deficiency in a total amount of $ 591 thousand and $ 762 thousand as of December 31, 2019 and 
2018, respectively. As described in Note 21, subsequent to the reporting period, the Company 
received proceeds of $3,000 thousand from the issuance of a Convertible Note and Warrants. The 
repayment date of the Convertible Note, if not converted, is in August 2022. 

   The Company’s management has prepared a cash flow forecast for its operations through April 
2022. The forecast includes the effects of measures already taken by the Company to reduce 
employee and other operating costs while maintaining its current revenue stream from existing 
customers. Based on this forecast and its cash balances, including the proceeds from the issuance of 
the Convertible Note and Warrants as described above, the Company’s management and Board of 
Directors estimate that the Company will have sufficient funds to continue its operations and meet 
its financial obligations at least through April 2022. 

See also c below. 

c. The implications of COVID-19

In December 2019, an outbreak of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) ("COVID-19") occurred in 
China and, after the reporting date, it spread around the world, including in Israel. The spread of 
COVID-19 is a large-scale event, dynamic and emerging which is characterized by uncertainty and 
frequent and rapid changes in Israel and in many countries around the world. Following this " 
ongoing event", declared by the World Health Organization as a global pandemic, many countries, 
including Israel, have taken significant steps in an effort to prevent the spread of COVID-19, such 
as restrictions on citizen mobility, gatherings, travel and trade, border closures, and restrictions on 
the transportation of goods. 

The Company obtained an approval to characterize its plant as an "exempted industry" and the 
Company has acted in accordance with the related instructions for maintaining employees' good 
health while preparing for various scenarios and taking various steps to ensure its business 
continuity. 

In the meantime, in March 2020, as a result of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, and in order 

to allow the Company to sustain its activity and to extend its runway, the Company implemented a 

material restructuring plan, according to which management  significantly reduced the Company's 

work force and other operating expenses to the minimum required to allow the continuous of its 

operations and R&D efforts. 

Since the end of May 2020, when most of the COVID-19 restrictions were removed at that time, the 

Company’s production lines have been operating adjusted for changes in sales volume, in 

accordance with the guidelines of the Israeli regulated "purple badge" for businesses. 
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NOTE 1:- GENERAL (Cont.)

During August 2020, Israel experienced a second wave of COVID-19 infections and varying 

restrictions were imposed on mobility, gatherings and activity in the public sphere, which had an 

adverse effect on the scope and nature of activities in the public and private business sectors.

The outbreak of COVID-19 and the restrictions imposed in an effort to prevent the spread of 

COVID-19, mainly the " lockdown restrictions" introduced in Israel from mid-March until the end 

of May 2020 and since September 2020 had a material adverse impact on the Company's operations 

and have caused a decrease in the Company's revenues during the nine months ended September 30, 

2020.

In addition, due to the restrictions on movement of passengers and border closures around the world 
the Company delayed its plans to explore new markets mainly in Europe and most of its marketing 
efforts were put on hold from April 2020. As a result, the Company’s managements estimate that 
this will cause a delay in the Company's export plans. 

d. Definitions:

In these financial statements: 

The Company - K.B. Recycling Industries Ltd.

Related parties - as defined in IAS 24. 

ILS - New Israeli Shekel.
USD or $ - United States Dollar.

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in the financial statements for 

all periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 

a. Basis of presentation:

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards ("IFRS"). 

For all periods up to and including the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company originally 
prepared its financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in 
Israel (Israeli GAAP). These financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, together 
with comparative data for the year ended December 31, 2018, are the first financial statements the 
Company has prepared in accordance with IFRS. See Note 22 for information as to how the 
Company adopted IFRS and for the reconciliation between reporting pursuant to Israeli GAAP and 
reporting pursuant to IFRS. 

          The Company's financial statements have been prepared on a cost basis, except for financial 

instruments which are presented at fair value through profit or loss.

The Company has elected to present the profit or loss items using the function of expense method.

b. Functional currency, presentation currency and foreign currency:

The functional currency of the Company is ILS. 

The financial statements are presented in USD, the presentation currency, since the Company 
believes that financial statements in USD provide more relevant information to the investors and 
users of the financial statements who are located outside of Israel.
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at each reporting date. Profit or loss items are 
translated at average exchange rates for all periods presented. The resulting translation differences 
are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). 

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are recorded upon initial recognition at the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. After initial recognition, monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency are translated at each reporting date into the functional currency at 
the exchange rate at that date. Exchange rate differences, other than those capitalized to qualifying 
assets or accounted for as hedging transactions in equity, are recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency and measured at cost are 
translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency and measured at fair value are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.

c. Index-linked monetary items:

Monetary assets and liabilities linked to the changes in the Israeli Consumer Price Index    ("Israeli 
CPI") are adjusted at the relevant index at each reporting date according to the terms of the 
agreement. 

d. Cash equivalents:

Cash equivalents are considered as highly liquid investments, including unrestricted short-term bank 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less from the date of investment or with a 
maturity of more than three months, but which are redeemable on demand without penalty and which 
form part of the Company's cash management.

e. Fair value measurement:

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Fair value measurement is based on the assumption that the transaction will take place in the asset's 
or the liability's principal market, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous 
market. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest.  

Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities measured at fair value or for which fair value is disclosed are categorized 
into levels within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
entire fair value measurement:

Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable directly 

or indirectly.
Level 3 - inputs that are not based on observable market data (valuation techniques which 

use inputs that are not based on observable market data).
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f. Inventories:

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories 
comprises costs of purchase and costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business 
less estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Cost of inventories is determined as follows: 

Raw materials - at cost of purchase using the "first-in, first-out" method.

Finished goods - cost of materials, labor and manufacturing costs, including indirect manufacturing 
costs.

g. Property, plant and equipment:

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, including directly attributable costs, less 
accumulated depreciation, and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the assets at annual rates as 
follows:

% Mainly %

Facilities and equipment 5 - 20 10
Office furniture and equipment 13 – 25 13
Computers 33 33
Motor vehicles 11 - 25 17
Leasehold improvements 9 - 10 9.7

Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term 

(including the extension option held by the Company and exercised during 2019) and the useful life 

of the improvement.

The useful life, depreciation method and residual value of an asset are reviewed at least each year-
end and any changes are accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. 
Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale 
and the date that the asset is derecognized. 

h. Impairment of non-financial assets:

The Company evaluates the need to record an impairment of non-financial assets whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount is not recoverable. If the carrying 
amount of non-financial assets exceeds their recoverable amount, the assets are reduced to their 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of sale and value 
in use. The recoverable amount of an asset that does not generate independent cash flows is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are recognized 
in profit or loss.

An impairment loss of an asset, other than goodwill, is reversed only if there have been changes in 
the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognized. Reversal of an impairment loss, as above, shall not be increased above the lower of the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortization) had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years and its recoverable amount. The reversal 
of impairment loss of an asset presented at cost is recognized in profit or loss. 
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i. Revenue recognition:

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when the control over the goods is transferred 

to the customer. The transaction price is the amount of the consideration that is expected to be 

received based on the contract terms, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties (such 

as taxes). 

Variable consideration:

The Company determines the transaction price separately for each contract with a customer. When 
exercising this judgment, the Company evaluates the effect of each variable amount in the contract, 
taking into consideration discounts. In determining the effect of the variable consideration, the 
Company normally uses the "most likely amount" method described in IFRS 15. Pursuant to this 
method, the amount of the consideration is determined as the single most likely amount in the range 
of possible consideration amounts in the contract. According to IFRS 15, variable consideration is 
included in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal 
in the amount of revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable 
consideration is subsequently resolved.

Revenue from the sale of goods:

Revenue from sale of goods is recognized in profit or loss at the point in time when the control of 
the goods is transferred to the customer, generally upon delivery of the goods to the customer.

j. Government grants:

Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be 

received and the Company will comply with the attached conditions. 

Government grants received from the Israel Innovation Authority (the "IIA") are recognized upon 

receipt as a liability if future economic benefits are expected from the research project that will result 

in royalty-bearing sales. 

A liability for the loan is first measured at fair value using a discount rate that reflects a market rate 

of interest. The difference between the amount of the grant received and the fair value of the liability 

is accounted for as a Government grant and recognized as a reduction of research and development 

expenses. After initial recognition, the liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method. Royalty payments are treated as a reduction of the liability. If no economic benefits 

are expected from the research activity, the grant receipts are recognized as a reduction of the related 

research and development expenses. In that event, the royalty obligation is treated as a contingent 

liability in accordance with IAS 37.

On each reporting date, the Company evaluates whether there is reasonable assurance that the 

liability recognized, in whole or in part, will not be repaid (since the Company will not be required 

to pay royalties) based on the best estimate of future sales and using the original effective interest 

method, and if so, the appropriate amount of the liability is derecognized against a corresponding 

reduction in research and development expenses.

Amounts paid as royalties are recognized as settlement of the liability. 
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k. Leases:

The Company accounts for a contract as a lease when the contract terms convey the right to control 
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For leases in which the Company is the lessee, the Company recognizes on the commencement date 
of the lease a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, excluding leases whose term is up to 12 months 
and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. For these excluded leases, the Company 
has elected to recognize the lease payments as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

Leases which entitle employees to a company car as part of their employment terms are accounted 
for as employee benefits in accordance with the provisions of IAS 19 and not as subleases.

On the commencement date, the lease liability includes all unpaid lease payments discounted at the 
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined, or otherwise using the 
Company's incremental borrowing rate. After the commencement date, the Company measures the 
lease liability using the effective interest rate method.

On the commencement date, the right-of-use asset is recognized in an amount equal to the lease 
liability plus lease payments already made on or before the commencement date and initial direct 
costs incurred. The right-of-use asset is measured applying the cost model and depreciated over the 
shorter of its useful life and the lease term. Land and buildings - 10 years; Motor vehicles - between 

2.5 to 3 years.

The Company tests for impairment of the right-of-use asset whenever there are indications of 
impairment pursuant to the provisions of IAS 36.

Variable lease payments that depend on an index:

On the commencement date, the Company uses the index rate prevailing on the commencement date 
to calculate the future lease payments.

For leases in which the Company is the lessee, the aggregate changes in future lease payments 
resulting from a change in the index are discounted (without a change in the discount rate applicable 
to the lease liability) and recorded as an adjustment of the lease liability and the right-of-use asset, 
only when there is a change in the cash flows resulting from the change in the index (that is, when 
the adjustment to the lease payments takes effect). 

Lease extension and termination options:

A non-cancelable lease term includes both the periods covered by an option to extend the lease when 
it is reasonably certain that the extension option will be exercised and the periods covered by a lease 
termination option when it is reasonably certain that the termination option will not be exercised. 

In the event of any change in the expected exercise of the lease extension option or in the expected 
non-exercise of the lease termination option, the Company remeasures the lease liability based on 
the revised lease term using a revised discount rate as of the date of the change in expectations. The 
total change is recognized in the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset until it is reduced to zero, 
and any further reductions are recognized in profit or loss.
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l. Research and development expenditures:

Research expenditures are recognized in profit or loss when incurred. An intangible asset arising 
from a development project or from the development phase of an internal project is recognized if 
the Company can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it 
will be available for use or sale; the Company's intention to complete the intangible asset and use or 
sell it; the ability to use or sell the intangible asset; how the intangible asset will generate future 
economic benefits; the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete 
the intangible asset; and the ability to measure reliably the respective expenditure asset during its 
development.

In respect of its development projects the Company has not met all of the abovementioned criteria 
for capitalization, and accordingly, all development expenditures have been recognized in profit or 
loss as incurred.

m. Financial instruments:

1. Financial assets:

Financial assets are measured upon initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.

The Company classifies and measures debt instruments in the financial statements based on 
the following criteria:

- The Company's business model for managing financial assets; and
- The contractual cash flow terms of the financial asset.

Debt instruments are measured at amortized cost when:

The Company's business model is to hold the financial assets in order to collect their 
contractual cash flows, and the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. After initial recognition, the instruments in this category are measured according 
to their terms at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less any provision 
for impairment.

2. Impairment of financial assets:

The Company has short-term financial assets, trade receivables, in respect of which the 
Company applies a simplified approach and measures the loss allowance in an amount equal 
to the lifetime expected credit losses. 

An impairment loss on debt instruments measured at amortized cost is recognized in profit 
or loss with a corresponding loss allowance.

3. Derecognition of financial assets:

A financial asset is derecognized only when:

- The contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset has expired; or
- The Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards deriving from the 

contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset or has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset; or

- The Company has retained its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial asset but has assumed a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party.
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

4. Financial liabilities:

a) Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:

Financial liabilities, such as payables, loans and borrowings, are initially recognized 
at fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the 
financial liability.

After initial recognition, the Company measures these financial liabilities at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method.

b) Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held 
for trading, such as derivatives, and financial liabilities meeting certain criteria that 
are designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. At initial 
recognition, the Company measures these financial liabilities at fair value. 
Transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss.

At initial recognition, the Company may designate a financial liability in respect of a 

hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative as measured at fair value through 

profit or loss.

After initial recognition, changes in fair value are recognized in profit or loss, except 
for changes in fair value of liabilities designated at initial recognition that can be 
attributed to changes in the financial liability's credit risk, which are recorded in other 
comprehensive income.

5. Derecognition of financial liabilities:

A financial liability is derecognized only when it is extinguished, that is when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged or canceled or expires. A financial liability is 
extinguished when the debtor discharges the liability by paying in cash, other financial assets, 
goods or services; or is legally released from the liability.

When there is a modification in the terms of an existing financial liability, the Company 
evaluates whether the modification is substantial, taking into account qualitative and 
quantitative information.

If the terms of an existing financial liability are substantially modified or a liability is 
exchanged for another liability from the same lender with substantially different terms, the 
modification or exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original liability and 
the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying amounts of the above 
liabilities is recognized in profit or loss. 

If the modification in the terms of an existing liability is not substantial or if a liability is 
exchanged for another liability from the same lender whose terms are not substantially 
different, the Company recalculates the carrying amount of the liability by discounting the 
revised cash flows at the original effective interest rate and any resulting difference is 
recognized in profit or loss. 
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6. Offsetting financial instruments: 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the 
statement of financial position if there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously. The right of set-off must be legally enforceable not only during 
the ordinary course of business of the parties to the contract but also in the event of 
bankruptcy or insolvency of one of the parties. In order for the right of set-off to be currently 
available, it must not be contingent on a future event, there may not be periods during which 
the right is not available, or there may not be any events that will cause the right to expire.

7. Issue of a unit of securities:

The issue of a unit of securities involves the allocation of the proceeds received (before issue 
expenses) to the securities issued in the unit based on the following order: financial 
derivatives and other financial instruments measured at fair value in each period. Fair value 
is then determined for financial liabilities that are measured at amortized cost. The proceeds 
allocated to equity instruments are determined to be the residual amount. Issue costs are 
allocated to each component pro rata to the amounts determined for each component in the 
unit.

          Warrants for which the exercise price is denominated in foreign currency are initially 

recognized as a financial derivative at fair value. For convertible debt that is denominated in 

foreign currency, the conversion component is initially recognized as a financial derivative 

at fair value.  

n. Employee benefit liabilities:

The Company has several employee benefit plans:

1. Short-term employee benefits:

Short-term employee benefits are benefits that are expected to be settled wholly before twelve 
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related 
services. These benefits include salaries, paid annual leave, recreation and social security 
contributions and are recognized as expenses as the services are rendered. A liability in 
respect of a cash bonus is recognized when the Company has a legal or constructive 
obligation to make such payment as a result of past service rendered by an employee and a 
reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 

2. Post-employment benefits:

The plans are normally financed by contributions to insurance companies and pension funds 
and classified as defined contribution plans.

The Company has defined contribution plans pursuant to section 14 to the Israeli Severance 
Pay Law under which the Company pays fixed contributions and will have no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient 
amounts to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior 
periods.

Contributions to the defined contribution plan in respect of severance or retirement pay are 
recognized as an expense when contributed concurrently with performance of the employee's 
services.
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o. Share-based payment transactions:

The Company's employees and the chairman of the board of directors are entitled to remuneration 
in the form of equity-settled share-based payment transactions.

Equity-settled transactions:

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured at the fair value of the equity 
instruments granted at grant date. The fair value is determined using an acceptable option pricing 
model. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized in profit or loss together with a corresponding 
increase in equity during the period which the service conditions are to be satisfied ending on the 
date on which the relevant employees become entitled to the award (the "vesting period"). The 
cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period 
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Company's 
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.

No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is 
conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market 
condition is satisfied, provided that all other vesting conditions (service and/or performance) are 
satisfied.

If the Company modifies the conditions on which equity-instruments were granted, an additional 
expense is recognized for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
payment arrangement or is otherwise beneficial to the employee/other service provider at the 
modification date. 

If a grant of an equity instrument is canceled, it is accounted for as if it had vested on the cancelation 
date and any expense not yet recognized for the grant is recognized immediately. However, if a new 
grant replaces the canceled grant and is identified as a replacement grant on the grant date, the 
canceled and new grants are accounted for as a modification of the original grant, as described above. 

p. Taxes on income:

Current or deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that they relate to items 

which are recognized in other comprehensive income or equity. 

Current taxes:

The current tax liability is measured using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the reporting date as well as adjustments required in connection with the 

tax liability in respect of previous years. 

Deferred taxes:

Deferred taxes are computed in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts in 

the financial statements and the amounts attributed for tax purposes. 

Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply when the asset is realized, or 

the liability is settled, based on tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 

reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is not 

probable that they will be utilized. Deductible carryforward losses and temporary differences for 

which deferred tax assets had not been recognized are reviewed at each reporting date and a 

respective deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that their utilization is probable. 
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Deferred taxes are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset a current tax asset against a 

current tax liability and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxpayer and the same taxation 

authority. 

q. Loss per share:

Loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company 
by the weighted number of Ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

Potential Ordinary shares are included in the computation of diluted loss per share when their 
conversion decreases loss per share from continuing operations. Potential Ordinary shares that are 
converted during the period are included in diluted loss per share only until the conversion date and 
from that date in basic loss per share.

r. Disclosure of new standards in the period prior to their adoption:

1. Amendments to IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements 
  

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 to specify the requirements for classifying 
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

• What is meant by a right to defer settlement  
• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period  
• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its 

deferral right  
• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument 

would the terms of a liability not impact its classification

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 
and must be applied retrospectively. The Company is currently assessing the impact the amendments 
will have on its existing loan agreements. 

2. Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

In August 2020 the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7, IAS 39, IFRS 4, and IFRS 16 (the 
“Amendments”). The Amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting 
effects when an interbank offered rate (“IBOR”) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free 
interest rate (“RFR”). 

The Amendments include a practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash 
flows that are directly required by the IBOR reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest 
rate, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest, without adjusting the carrying amount. 
The use of this practical expedient is subject to the requirement that the transition from the IBOR to 
RFR takes place on an economically equivalent basis. 

The Amendments also permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations 
and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship being discontinued. 

The Amendments require additional disclosures regarding how the transition to RFRs is being 
managed and the risks arising from financial instruments to which the Company is exposed due to 
IBOR reform. 

The amendments are to be applied retrospectively, without a requirement to restate prior periods, 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, Early application is permitted. 

The Company is currently assessing the impact the Amendments may have on its financial 
statements during the transition from IBOR to RFR. 
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NOTE 3:- SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS IN THE

PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In the process of applying the significant accounting policies, the Company has made the following 

judgments which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements:

a. Judgments:

1. Discount rate for a lease liability:

When the Company is unable to readily determine the discount rate implicit in a lease in 
order to measure the lease liability, the Company uses an incremental borrowing rate. That 
rate represents the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow over a 
similar term and with similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value 
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. When there are no financing 
transactions that can serve as a basis, the Company determines the incremental borrowing 
rate based on its credit risk, the lease term and other economic variables deriving from the 
lease contract's conditions and restrictions. In certain situations, the Company is assisted by 
an external valuation expert in determining the incremental borrowing rate.

b. Estimates and assumptions:

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates, assessments 

and assumptions that have an effect on the application of the accounting policies and on the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Changes in accounting estimates are reported 

in the period of the change in estimate. 

The key assumptions made in the financial statements concerning uncertainties at the reporting date 

and the critical estimates computed by the Company that may result in a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
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1. Grants from the Israel Innovation Authority (the "IIA"):

Government grants received from the IIA at the Ministry of Industry, Trade and Labor are 
recognized as a liability if future economic benefits are expected from the research and 
development activity that will result in royalty-bearing sales. There is uncertainty regarding 
the estimated future cash flows used to measure the amount of the liability.

2. Impairment of property, plant and equipment:

The Company evaluates the need to record an impairment of property, plant and equipment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount is not 
recoverable. This requires management to estimate the recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment is their fair value less costs of 
sale based on a valuation of an appraiser. The valuation takes into consideration the 
mechanical condition of the assets, their level of maintenance, hours of operation and year of 
manufacture. The valuation measures fair value using a market approach based on current 
prices and other relevant information generated from recent market transactions involving 
comparable assets. This information is subject to change due to possible future changes in 
market conditions that are uncertain and difficult to estimate. These changes could have a 
material impact on the fair value of these assets. 

3. Lease extension options:

In evaluating whether it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise an option to 
extend a lease, the Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive for the Company to exercise the option to extend such as: significant 
amounts invested in leasehold improvements, the significance of the underlying asset to the 
Company's operation and whether it is a specialized asset, the Company's past experience 
with similar leases, etc.

After the commencement date, the Company reassesses the term of the lease upon the 
occurrence of a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that affects whether 
the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an option or not exercise an option previously 
included in the determination of the lease term, such as significant leasehold improvements 
that had not been anticipated on the lease commencement date, sublease of the underlying 
asset for a period that exceeds the end of the previously determined lease period, etc.

NOTE 4:- TRADE RECEIVABLES

a. Trade receivables, net:

December 31, January 1,

2019 2018 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands

Open accounts 1,382 1,466 992

Less – allowance for doubtful accounts 874 817 698

Trade receivables, net 508 649 294

Impaired debts are accounted for through recording an allowance for doubtful accounts. 
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b. Movement in allowance for doubtful accounts: 

U.S. dollars
in thousands

Balance as of January 1, 2018 698

Provision for the year 178
Reversal in respect of collected doubtful accounts (1)
Adjustments arising from translating financial statements from functional 

currency to presentation currency (58)

Balance as of December 31, 2018 817

Provision for the year (12)
Adjustments arising from translating financial statements from functional 

currency to presentation currency 69

Balance as of December 31, 2019 874

The Company grants its customers interest-free credit for periods of up to 90-120 days. 

c. Following is information about the credit risk exposure of the Company's trade 

receivables:

December 31, 2019:
Past due trade receivables

Not past due 
< 60 
days

> 60 
days Total

U.S. dollars in thousands

Gross carrying amount 538 2 842 1,382

Allowance for doubtful accounts 32 - 842 874

December 31, 2018:
Past due trade receivables

Not past due 
< 60 
days

> 60 
days Total

U.S. dollars in thousands

Gross carrying amount 678 17 771 1,466

Allowance for doubtful accounts 34 12 771 817

January 1, 2018:
Past due trade receivables

Not past due 
< 60 
days

> 60 
days Total

U.S. dollars in thousands

Gross carrying amount 253 70 669 992

Allowance for doubtful accounts 25 4 669 698
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NOTE 5:- OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

December 31, January 1,

2019 2018 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands

Advances to suppliers 34 80 128
Government authorities 19 23 20
Prepaid expenses 2 3 12
Income receivable - - 83
Related party - 28 -

55 134 243

NOTE 6:- LEASES

Disclosures for leases in which the Company acts as lessee:

The Company has entered into leases of land and building and motor vehicles which are used for the 

Company's operations.

Leases of land and building have lease original terms of 10 years and two extension options of additional 5 

years each, whereas leases of motor vehicles have lease terms of between 2.5 and 3 years.

a. Information on leases: 

Year ended December 31,

2019 2018

  U.S. dollars in thousands

Interest expense on lease liabilities 113 110

Total cash outflow for leases 225 191

b. Lease extension options:

The Company's land and building lease include extension options. These options provide flexibility 

in managing the leased assets and align with the Company's business needs.

The Company exercises significant judgement in deciding whether it is reasonably certain that the 

extension options will be exercised.
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c. Disclosures in respect of right-of-use assets:

December 31, 2019

Land and 
buildings

Motor 
vehicles Total

U.S. dollars in thousands
Cost:
Balance as of January 1, 2019 1,176 126 1,302
Additions during the year: 

New leases - 30 30
Adjustment for index 4 1 5
Adjustments arising from translating financial 
statements from functional currency to presentation 

currency 98 12 110

Balance as of December 31, 2019 1,278 169 1,447

Accumulated depreciation:
Balance as of January 1, 2019 105 35 140
Additions during the year: 

Depreciation and amortization 110 52 162
Adjustments arising from translating financial 
statements from functional currency to presentation 

currency 13 5 18

Balance as of December 31, 2019 228 92 320

Depreciated cost at December 31, 2019 1,050 77 1,127

December 31, 2018

Land and 
buildings

Motor 
vehicles Total

U.S. dollars in thousands
Cost:
Balance as of January 1, 2018 1,258 54 1,312
Additions during the year: 

New leases - 79 79
Adjustments arising from translating financial statements 
from functional currency to presentation currency (95) (7) (102)
Adjustment for index 13 - 13

Balance as of December 31, 2018 1,176 126 1,302

Accumulated depreciation:
Balance as of January 1, 2018 - - -
Additions during the year: 

Depreciation and amortization 109 36 145
Adjustments arising from translating financial statements 
from functional currency to presentation currency (4) (1) (5)

Balance as of December 31, 2018 105 35 140

Depreciated cost at December 31, 2018 1,071 91 1,162

d. For an analysis of maturity dates of lease liabilities, see Note 12.
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NOTE 7:- PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

a. Composition and movement:

December 31, 2019

Facilities 
and 

equipment 

Office 
furniture 

and 
equipment Computers

Motor 
vehicles

Leasehold 
improvements Total

U.S. dollars in thousands
Cost:

Balance at January 1, 2019 4,291 44 65 417 278 5,095
Additions during the year:
Purchases 85 - 11 - 13 109
Adjustments arising from 

translating financial 
statements from functional 
currency to presentation 
currency 366 4 5 35 25 435

Balance at December 31, 
2019 4,742 48 81 452 316 5,639

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance at January 1, 2019 2,687 41 61 386 201 3,376
Additions during the year:
Depreciation 160 1 2 14 9 186
Adjustments arising from 

translating financial 
statements from functional 
currency to presentation 
currency 232 5 4 33 17 291

Balance at December 31, 
2019 3,079 47 67 433 227 3,853

Depreciated cost at December 
31, 2019 1,663 1 14 19 89 1,786

December 31, 2018

Facilities 
and 

equipment

Office 
furniture 

and 
equipment Computers

Motor 
vehicles

Leasehold 
improvements Total

U.S. dollars in thousands
Cost:

Balance at January 1, 2018 7,870 80 69 522 555 9,096
Additions during the year:
Purchases 328 - 4 - 80 412
Adjustments arising from 

translating financial 
statements from 
functional currency to 
presentation currency (330) (4) (4) (35) (18) (391)

Disposals during the year - - - (115) - (115)
Balance at December 31, 

2018 7,868 76 69 372 617 9,002

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment:

Balance at January 1, 2018 
b) 6,343 75 69 451 555 7,493

Additions during the year:
Depreciation 131 1 - 14 1 147
Adjustments arising from 

translating financial 
statements from 
functional currency to
presentation currency (210) (3) (4) (31) (16) (264)

Disposals during the year - - - (93) - (93)

6,264 73 65 341 540 7,283
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Balance at December 31, 
2018 1,604 3 4 31 77 1,719

b. Provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment:

As of January 1, 2018, property, plant and equipment have an accumulated impairment loss in the 
amount of approximately $ 4,000 thousand. As of December 2018 and 2019, the Company received 
updated valuations according to which no adjustment to the accumulated impairment loss needs to 
be recorded.

NOTE 8:- CREDIT FROM BANKS

December 31, January 1,

2019 2018 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands

Credit from banks 148 144 118
Current maturities of long-term loans - 13 77

148 157 195

NOTE 9:- TRADE PAYABLES

December 31, January 1,

2019 2018 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands

Accounts payable 211 433 520
Checks payable 375 473 571

586 906 1,091

NOTE 10:- OTHER PAYABLES

December 31, January 1,

2019 2018 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands

Employees and payroll accruals 171 180 179
Accrued expenses 52 157 167
Current liability for grants received from the IIA 63 42 26

Other payables -see Note 13a 238 209 217

524 588 589

NOTE 11:- OTHER LIABILITIES

December 31, January 1,

2019 2018 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands

Liability for grants received from the IIA 231 132 120
Less – current maturities (63) (42) (26)

168 90 94
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The Company is obligated to pay royalties to the Government of Israel of 1.3%-3% from the sale of 
products developed with the support of Government grants from the IIA.

During 2019 and 2018, the Company received additional payments as part of the grant for program 
No. 60745 "Development of Finished Products - Sheets" in the amount of approximately $ 27 
thousand and $ 83 thousand. 

NOTE 11:- OTHER LIABILITIES (Cont.)

During 2019, the Company received a grant for program No. 63143 "Second Generation Product 
Development" in the amount of $ 148 thousand.

As of December 31, 2019, and 2018, gross royalty-bearing grants from the IIA less royalties paid 
amounted to approximately $ 382 thousand and $ 222 thousand, respectively, and the aggregate 
discounted liability to the IIA in respect of these royalties amounted to approximately $ 231 
thousand and $ 132 thousand, respectively.

NOTE 12:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Financial and lease liabilities at amortized cost: 

December 31, January 1,
2019 2018 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands
Current liabilities:

Credit from banks 148 144 118
Current maturities of bank loans -  13 77  
Current liability for grants 

received from the IIA 63 42  26
Current maturities of lease 

liabilities 131  104 69

Total current liabilities 342 303 290

Non-current liabilities:

Liability for grants received 
from the IIA 168 90 94  

Lease liabilities 1,071 1,096 1,240
Loan from related party - 906 27,303

Total non-current liabilities 1,071 2,002 28,637  

Total financial and lease 
liabilities 1,350 2,263 28,927

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies:

The Company's principal financial liabilities are comprised of loans, convertible loans and borrowings and 

payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Company's operations to support 

its operations. The Company's principal financial assets include receivables and cash that derive directly 

from its operations.

The Company is exposed to credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company's senior management oversees the 

management of these risks. The management provides assurance to the senior management that the 

Company's financial risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial 

risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Company's policies and objectives. The 

Board reviews and approves the policies for each of the risks summarized below.
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NOTE 12:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont.)

1. Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations as a customer leading to a loss 

to the Company. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activity (primarily trade 

receivables) and from its financing activity, including deposits with banks and other financial 

institutions, foreign currency transactions and other financial instruments.

Credit risk may arise from the exposure of holding several financial instruments with a single entity 

or from entering into transactions with several groups of debtors with similar economic 

characteristics whose ability to discharge their obligations will be similarly affected by changes in 

economic or other conditions. Factors that have the potential of creating concentrations of risks 

consist of the nature of the debtors' activities, such as their business sector, the geographical area of 

their operations and financial strength.

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposit and other financial 

instruments in various financial institutions in Israel. According to the Company's policy, the relative 

credit stability of the various financial institutions is evaluated on a regular basis. 

2. Trade receivables:

The Company sells to its customers in cash or credit of current plus up to 120-day term. The 

Company regularly monitors the credit extended to its customers and the general financial condition 

of their environment.

Customer credit risk is managed by the Company subject to the Company's policy, procedures and 

control relating to customer credit risk management. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based 

on a credit analysis and rating and individual credit limits are defined in accordance with this 

assessment. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored. As of December 31, 2019, 

the Company had five customers (2018: five customers) with balances greater than $ 45 thousand 

(representing about 86% (2018: 90%) of all the receivables outstanding.
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NOTE 12:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont.)

4. Liquidity risk:

The Company monitors the risk to a shortage of funds. The Company's objective is to maintain a 

balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of overdrafts and bank loans.
The table below presents the maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities based on

contractual undiscounted payments: 

December 31, 2019: 

Less 
than 

one year
1 to 2 
years

2 to 3
years

3 to 4 
years

4 to 5 
years

> 5 
years Total

U.S. dollars in thousands

Credit from banks 148 - - - - - 148
Trade payables 586 - - - - - 586
Other accounts payable 461 - - - - - 461
Lease liabilities 206 183 173 173 185 773 1,693
Other liabilities 22 42 70 114 65 69 382

1,423 225 243 287 250 842 3,270

December 31, 2018: 

Less 
than 

one year
1 to 2 
years

2 to 3
years

3 to 4 
years

4 to 5 
years

> 5 
years Total

U.S. dollars in thousands

Credit from banks 157 - - - - - 157
Trade payables 906 - - - - - 906
Other accounts payable 546 - - - - - 546
Lease liabilities 202 177 162 160 160 883 1,744
Other liabilities 48 24 26 49 63 12 222

1,859 201 188 209 223 895 3,575

5. Fair value:

The table below is a comparison between the carrying amount and fair value of the Company's 

financial instruments that are presented in the financial statements not at fair value (other than those 

whose amortized cost is a reasonable approximation of fair values):

Carrying amount Fair value
December 31, December 31,

2019 2018 2019 2018
U.S. dollars in thousands

Financial liabilities:

Liability for grants received 
from the IIA 231 132 241 133

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other accounts receivable, trade 

payables and other payables and short-term credit from banks approximate their fair value due to 

their short-term maturities.
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NOTE 12:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont.)

c. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

Credit 
from 
banks

Long-term 
loans

Liability for 
grants 

received from 
the IIA

Lease 
liabilities

Shareholder' 
loan

Total 
liabilities 

arising from 
financing 
activities

U.S. dollars in thousands

Balance as of January 1, 2018 118 99 120 1,309 300 1,946
Cash flows 36 (81) 70 (93) (44) (112)
Adjustments arising from 

translating financial 
statements

    from functional currency to 
presentation currency (10) (5) (58) (108) (2) (183)

Conversion of shareholders' 
loan - - - - (254) (254)

New finance lease obligation 
recognized - - - 92 - 92

Balance as of December 31, 
2018 144 13 132 1,200 - 1,489

Cash flows (7) (13) 69 (129) - (80)
Adjustments arising from 

translating financial 
statements

   from functional currency to 
presentation currency 11 - 30 101 - 142

New finance lease obligation 
recognized - - - 30 - 30

Balance as of December 31, 
2019 148 - 231 1,202 - 1,581
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NOTE 13:- TAXES ON INCOME

a. Tax laws applicable to the Company: 

The Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959 ("the Law"):

Grants track:

The Company's investment program of approximately ILS 10 million ($ 2.9 million) was granted 

the status of an "approved enterprise", in accordance with the Law. Accordingly, the Company was 

entitled to government grants from the “Encouragement of Investments for Industrial Companies” 

plan at the rate of 20%, according to the development area in which the plant is located: national 

priority area A.

In the framework of this program, the Company invested an aggregate amount of approximately ILS 

10 million ($ 2.9 million). Receipt of the grant of approximately ILS 2 million ($ 580 thousand) was 

conditional upon the fulfillment of all the conditions of the Law and the terms of the letter of 

approval and the implementation of the investment plan.

In 2014, the Company received governmental grants in the aggregate amount of approximately ILS 

660 thousand ($ 190 thousand) that was deducted from the cost of property, plant and equipment. 

According to this plan the Company had to meet certain condition, including, inter alia, export 

thresholds. As the Company did not meet the thresholds set under the plan, the Company hasn’t 

received all of the amounts approved under the plan. At present, the Company is negotiating with 

the authorities whether it has to repay the amounts received (including interest and linkage 

differences).  The Company cannot asses how and when the abovementioned negotiations will 

conclude. The Company’s financial statements as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 include in other 

payables a full provision for the aforesaid matter in the total amount of approximately $ 236 

thousand and $ 209 thousand, respectively.

The Law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxation), 1969:

The Company has the status of an "industrial company", as defined by this law. According to this 

status and by virtue of regulations published thereunder, the Company is entitled to claim a 

deduction of accelerated depreciation on equipment used in industrial activities, as determined in 

the regulations issued under the Inflationary Law. The Company is also entitled to amortize a patent 

or rights to use a patent or intellectual property that are used in the enterprise's development or 

advancement, to deduct issuance expenses for shares listed for trading, and to file a consolidated 

income tax report under certain conditions.

b. Tax rates applicable to the Company: 

The Israeli corporate income tax rate was 23% in 2019 and 2018.

c. Tax assessments: 

The Company's tax assessments are deemed final through the tax year 2013.

d. Carryforward losses for tax purposes: 

Carryforward operating tax losses of the Company total approximately ILS 102 million ($ 29.5 

million) as of December 31, 2019. 

Deferred tax assets relating to carryforward operating losses and other temporary differences were 

not recognized because their utilization in the foreseeable future is not probable. 
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NOTE 13:- TAXES ON INCOME (Cont.)

e. Theoretical tax: 

The reconciliation between the tax expense, assuming that all the income, expenses, gains and losses 

in profit or loss were taxed at the statutory tax rate and the taxes on income recorded in profit or loss 

is as follows:

Year ended December 31, 

2019 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands

loss before taxes on income (2,410) (3,011)

Statutory tax rate 23% 23%

Tax benefit computed at the statutory tax rate (554) (693)

Increase (decrease) in taxes on income resulting from the 
following: 

Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes 12 8
Increase in unrecognized tax losses and other temporary 

differences in the year 542 685

Taxes on income - -
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NOTE 14:- CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

a. Contingent liabilities:

1. A lawsuit was filed against the Company regarding the rights of an employee who previously 

worked for the Company in the total amount of ILS 1 million ($ 281 thousand). On April 18, 2019, 

the parties reached an agreement, which was validated by a court decree according to which the 

Company would pay the former employee ILS 212 thousand ($ 59 thousand) in several installments

2. On October 27, 2019, the Company received a letter of approval for a Gateway to International 

Marketing program of the Ministry of Economy according to which the Company is entitled to 

participation of 50% of the expenses as in the approved budget; a total of up to ILS 151 thousand 

($ 42 thousand) for a period of two years. This program is liable for royalty payments to the 

Government of Israel. Under this program, during 2019, the Company received a grant of 

approximately ILS 32 thousand ($ 9 thousand) which was included as a deduction from selling 

expenses, since the Company presently estimates that there is no reasonable assurance that royalties 

will be paid in respect of this program.

b. Charges and guarantees:

1. To secure its liabilities to banks, the Company pledged its plant and all its assets and rights.

2. To secure its commitment to meet its vehicle lease payments, the Company pledged the 

leased vehicle.

3. To secure its commitment to the IIA, the Company pledged its plant and all its assets and 

rights.

4. To secure its contractual commitments to T.M.I.R. - Manufacturers Recycling Corporation 

in Israel Ltd., the Company issued a guarantee in the total amount of $ 14 thousand and 

deposited a restricted amount of $36 thousand. These commitments expired at the end of 

December 2019.

NOTE 15:- EQUITY

a. Composition of share capital: 

December 31, 

2019, 2018 and 

January 1, 2018

December 31, 

2019

December 31, 

2018

             

January 1, 

2018

Authorized Issued and outstanding

Number of shares

Ordinary shares of ILS 1 

par value each 2,000,000 628,900 578,900 578,200

b. Changes in share capital and shareholders' loans conversion: 

1. Shareholders' loans are loans received from the Company's' shareholders that, according to 

the terms of the loan agreements, will be repayable (principal and interest) only by a 

resolution of the Company's board of directors or shareholders. Accordingly, these loans 

are classified as equity.

2. During 2018 the shareholders of the Company granted Shareholders’ loans in a total 

amount of $ 2,036 thousand with terms as described in 1 above.

3. In July 2018, the Company renegotiated the terms of the Shareholders' loans with its 

holders and the holders agreed to convert the Shareholders' loans in the amount of $ 28,687 

thousand (including a loan in the amount of $254 thousand classified as a long-term 

liability) into 700 Ordinary shares.
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4. In 2019 and 2018, the Company's shareholders made equity investments (with no issuance 

of Ordinary shares) in the aggregate amounts of $ 2,470 thousand and $ 1,504 thousand, 

respectively.

5. On March 26, 2018, a settlement agreement was signed between a supplier of the Company 

(a company held by a former shareholder of the Company), Shai Ki Metals Trading (2001) 

Ltd. (In Liquidation) (the "former shareholder"), through a liquidator, and the other 

shareholders in the Company.  According to the settlement agreement, the Company will 

pay to the former shareholder's liquidation account an aggregate amount of ILS 350 

thousand ($ 98 thousand) to settle an outstanding trade payable amounting to 

approximately $ 229 thousand, for final waiver of mutual claims and for the conversion 

into Ordinary shares (to be purchased by the other shareholders)  of the balance of the 

Shareholder’s loans amounting to $906 thousand.  On July 16, 2019, the competent court 

to hear bankruptcy proceedings approved the settlement agreement. Accordingly, the 

Shareholder’s loans in the amount of $ 906 thousand were converted to Ordinary shares 

and an amount of $ 131 thousand (representing the difference between the carrying amount 

of the trade payable and the settlement amount paid) was recorded as a deduction from cost 

of sales.

NOTE 16:- SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Expenses recognized in the financial statements: 

The expense recognized in the financial statements for employee services received is shown in the following 

table:

Year ended December 31, 

2019 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands

Equity-settled share-based payment plans 10 4

The share-based payment transaction entered into between the Company and the Chairman of the Board of 

Directors is described below. There has been no modification or cancelation to the benefit plan during 2019 

or 2018.

In August 2018, the Company signed a services agreement with the former Chairman of the Board of 

Directors (the "Former Chairman"), pursuant to which the Company granted the Former Chairman 3% of 

its Ordinary shares that shall vest over a period of three (3) years, in three (3) equal portions of 1% per year.

The fair value of the shares was determined at $ 19 thousand at the grant date.

Subsequent to the reporting period, at the end of January 2020, the services agreement with the Former 

Chairman was terminated and 2% of the 3% of the shares were forfeited.

As of the date of the financial statements, the shares have not yet been issued.
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NOTE 17:- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO THE STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
ITEMS

Year ended
December 31,

2019 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands 

a. Cost of sales:
Salaries and related expenses 1,031 1,004
Materials 290 459
Municipal taxes and other expenses 490 629
Utilities 364 343
Depreciation 303 263
Shipping 171 187
Insurance 87 86
Maintenance of vehicles 34 50
Other 58 69

2,828 3,090

b. Development expenses (net of government grants):
Materials 30 61
Salaries and related expenses 77 94
Subcontracted work 2 52
Other - 21
Less – Government grants (89) -

20 228

c. Selling expenses:
Salaries and related expenses 176 117
Advertisement and marketing 50 7
Travelling expenses 75 59
Shipping 48 61
Professional services 4 7
Depreciation 13 7

366 258
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NOTE 17:- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO THE STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
ITEMS (Cont.)

Year ended
December 31,

2019 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands 

d. General and administrative expenses:

Salaries and related expenses 258 264
Management fees 96 130
Professional services 58 102
Maintenance of offices and communication 48 42
Maintenance of vehicles 52 50
Allowance for doubtful accounts (12) 178
Depreciation 32 25
Other 20 -

552 791

e. Finance expenses:

Bank commissions 13 47
Lease liabilities- interest expense 113 110
Other interest expenses 24 44
Other 4 21

154 222

f. Defined contribution plans expenses:

Expenses in respect of defined contribution plans 56 50
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NOTE 18:- LOSS PER SHARE

Details of the number of shares and loss used in the computation of loss per share:

Year ended December 31, 
2019 2018

Weighted 
number of 

shares

Loss 
attributable 

to equity 
holders of 

the 
Company

Weighted 
number of 

shares

Loss 
attributable 

to equity 
holders of 

the 
Company

In 
thousands

U.S. dollars 
in 

thousands
In 

thousands

U.S. dollars 
in 

thousands

Number of shares and loss used in the computation 
of basic and diluted loss per share 602 (2,410) 579 (3,011)

NOTE 19:- OPERATING SEGMENTS

a. General: 

The Company operates in one principal business segments - recycled plastic industrial products. 

All revenues are generated from customers in Israel and all non-current assets are located in Israel.

b. Additional information about revenues:

Revenues from major customers which each account for 10% or more of total revenues reported in 
the financial statements:

Year ended December 31, 

2019 2018
U.S. dollars in thousands

Customer A - 425 325
Customer B - 334 197
Customer C - 295 190
Customer D - 227 188
Customer E - 185 187

1,466 1,087

Revenues reported in the financial statements for a group of similar products or services: 

Year ended December 31, 

2019 2018
U.S. dollars in thousands

Revenues from sales of Polypropylene 289 495

Revenues from sales of Sheets 1,221 1,083
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NOTE 20:- BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

a. Balances with related parties:

December 31, 2019:

For details 
see below

Shareholde
rs

Affiliated 
companies

Key 
management 

personnel
U.S. dollars in thousands

Receivables:
Trade receivables a - 14 -

Payables:
Trade payables c - - -
Other payables b - - 15

Additional information:

(a) A current balance bears no interest. 

(b) Current balance for management fees for the former Chairman of the Board of Directors and 

the former CEO.

(c) See note 15(b)(5).

December 31, 2018:

For details 
see 

below
Shareholder

s

Affiliated 
companie

s

Key 
managemen
t personnel

U.S. dollars in thousands

Payables:
Trade payables b 229 - -
Other payables a - - 20

Additional information:

(a) Current balance for management fees for the former Chairman of the Board of Directors and 

the former CEO.

(b) See note 15(b)(5).

Shareholders’ Loans - See Note 15(b)(1), Note 15(b)(2) and Note 15(b)(3). 

As of January 1, 2018, the Company had an outstanding long-term liability to a shareholder in the 

amount of $300, a portion of which was repaid in 2018 and the balance of $254 was converted to 

Ordinary shares – see Note 15(b) (3). 

c. Transactions with interested and related parties:

Year ended December 31, 2019:

For details 
see below

Shareholde
rs

Affiliated 
companies

Key 
manageme

nt 
personnel

U.S. dollars in thousands

Sales a - 20 -

(a) Sales of the Company's products in the ordinary course of business.
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NOTE 20:- BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (Cont.)

Year ended December 31, 2018:

For details 
see below

Shareholde
rs

Affiliated 
companies

Key 
manageme

nt 
personnel

Interested 
party and 

other 
related 
parties

U.S. dollars in thousands

Sales a - 49 - -

(a) Sales of the Company's products in the ordinary course of business.

d. Commitments from related parties:

On January 7, 2019, each of the Company’s shareholders, Tedea Technological Development and Automation 

Ltd. (“Tedea”) and Sullam Holdings L.R Ltd. (“Sullam” and together with Tedea, the “Shareholders”), provided 

separate guarantees in favor of Bank Leumi LeIsrael B.M. (“Bank Leumi”), for the Company’s debts and 

obligations to Bank Leumi. As of December 31, 2019, the bank credit line amounted to $ 148 thousand. In August 

2020, the Shareholders entered into a shareholders agreement, pursuant to which they agreed to split any required 

payments of the guaranteed amount to Bank Leumi between them in equal portions.

e. Compensation and benefits to key management personnel:

The Company's key management personnel are the directors and senior executives. 

Year ended December 31,

2019 2018

U.S. dollars in thousands

Short-term benefits 165 119

Share-based payment benefits 10 4

(1) In August 2018, the Company signed a service agreement with its former Chairman of the Board of 
Directors, pursuant to which the Company paid the former Chairman monthly management fee of $ 5 
thousand. The former Chairman of the Board of Directors was also entitled to share based payment 
compensation, see Note 16 for further details.

(2) In May 2012 the Company signed a service agreement with its former CEO, pursuant to which the 
Company paid the former CEO monthly fees of $ 8 thousand. The former CEO resigned his position as 
CEO in May 2020 but continues to provide services to the Company as a director for business development 
and technology for the same compensation. In October 2020, the Company signed an employment 
agreement and service agreement with the former CEO (see Note 21 (6)).
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NOTE 21: - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

1. In February 2020, the Company signed an employment and services agreements with the 

Company’s Chief Executive Officer (the "CEO"), and the Chairman of the Board (the 

"Chairman"), pursuant to which the Company granted each of them options to purchase 17,400 

Ordinary shares  at an exercise price per share of ILS 20 ($ 6) . The options shall vest over a 

period of three years, in three equal portions of 5,800 options.

The CEO's options shall expire at the third anniversary of the relevant vesting date and the 

Chairman's options shall expire at the seventh anniversary from the date of grant.

          In November 2020 the Company signed amended agreements with the CEO and the Chairman, 

according to which;

(1) the Company undertook to grant each of them options to purchase 19,735 Ordinary shares 

(instead of 17, 400 shares) and the options shall vest over a period of three years, in three 

equal portions of 6,577 options.

(2) The above undertakings to grant options are subject to (i) the approval of the Board of such 

grants, and (ii) the adoption by the Company of a share incentive plan and the receipt of the 

approval of the Israel Tax Authority to such plan, pursuant to Section 102 of the Israeli Tax 

Ordinance [New Version], 5721-1961.

(3) The Chairman is also entitled to immediate accelerations of all options in the event that the 

Company will have a net profit in any given year. 

On January 7, 2021 the grants were approved by the Board of Directors and the share incentive 

plan was filed with the Israel Tax Authority on January 17, 2021.

2. On March 29, 2020, the Company entered into a service agreement, supplemented and amended 

on January 10, 2021 (the “A-Labs Agreement”) with A-Labs Finance and Advisory Ltd. (“A-

Labs”), pursuant to which A-Labs will provide the Company with investment banking services 

for a term commencing at the execution of the agreement until the earlier of (a) the date of the 

public offering of the Company, (b) 12 months as of execution date of the agreement, or (c) until 

terminated by either party to the agreement, by providing the other party a 30 (thirty) days prior 

written notice (the “Term”). Pursuant to the A-Labs Agreement, the Company shall pay A-Labs 

a total consulting retainer fee of $ 15 thousand in three monthly payments. Furthermore, upon the 

closing of an investment round, private placement or a public offering of the Company’s shares 

or an M&A transaction (a “Transaction”), A-Labs shall be entitled to the following additional 

compensation: (a) a cash consideration equal to 5% of all amounts actually received by the 

Company or its shareholders in such Transaction; and (b) shares of the Company equal to 5% of 

the total funds received by Company in the Transaction, calculated on the basis of the fully diluted 

share capital of the Company only upon and subject to the conversion of any convertible notes or 

other convertible instrument issued or sold by the Company (including pursuant to the 

Convertible Note Purchase Agreement – see 5 below) into Ordinary shares upon a public offering 

of the Company’s shares.

On the January 10, 2021 amendment to the agreement, the Company and A-Labs agreed that in 
addition to the $ 15 thousand consulting retainer fee the Company shall pay A-Labs an amount 
of $ 10 thousand per month for the period commencing on July 2020 until the date of the public 
offering of the Company. Subject to the Company going public an amount of $ 40 thousand shall 
be deducted and offset from the cash consideration mentioned in 5 below.
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NOTE 21: - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (Cont.)

3. In August 2020, the Company entered into a Convertible Note Purchase Agreement with an Israeli 

fund (the "Purchaser") for the issuance of (i) a Convertible Note with a principal amount of 

$3,000 thousand and (ii) a Warrant to purchase Ordinary shares, for cash consideration of $1,500 

thousand. The Convertible Note includes the  following terms: (i) the principal amount of the 

Convertible Note will be automatically converted  into Ordinary shares immediately prior to an 

initial public offering of the Company’s Ordinary shares (the “Closing”)  at a conversion price 

obtained by dividing (A) $ 10,000 thousand by (B) the Company’s fully diluted share capital 

immediately prior to such conversion (the “Conversion Price”), and (ii) in the event that the 

Closing will not take place within 12 months from the date of the Convertible Note Purchase 

Agreement (i.e., by August 19, 2021 – the “Long Stop Date”), the Purchaser may elect to (i) 

convert the principal amount underlying the  Convertible Note into Ordinary shares at the 

Conversion Price, or (ii) to receive full repayment of  the principal, together with interest 

calculated at a rate of 5% per annum.

The Warrant entitles the holder to purchase Ordinary shares equivalent to (a) $1,500 thousand 

divided by (b) the Conversion Price multiplied by 1.75, at an exercise price equal to (b). 

The Warrant may be exercised, in whole or part, at any time for a period of five years from the 

Closing.

In November 2020, the  Convertible Note Purchase Agreement was amended such that the Long 

Stop Date is extended to August 19, 2022, and the Company’s fully diluted share capital as 

described in (B) above is the fully diluted share capital of the Company as of the date of the 

amendment. 

4. In October 2020, the Company signed an employment and service agreement with the Company's 

former CEO (the agreement was supplemented in January 2021) to serve as a director for business 

development and technology. Pursuant to the agreement the Company undertook to grant the 

former CEO options to purchase 32,892 Ordinary shares, of which 13,158 options will vest on 

the grant date with an exercise price equal to the par value of the shares, and 19,734 options shall 

vest over a period of three years commencing March 2020, in three equal portions of 6,578 

options with an exercise price per share of ILS 20 ($ 6). Furthermore, under the agreement, the 

Company undertook to provide the former CEO with additional compensation in the form of an 

option to acquire  1.5% of the Company's Ordinary shares (on a fully diluted basis) at an exercise 

price equal to the par value of the shares, subject to the establishment of two new plants outside 

of Israel. The above undertaking to grant options is subject to (i) the approval of the Board of 

such grants, and (ii) the adoption by the Company of a share incentive plan and the receipt of the 

approval of the Israel Tax Authority to such plan, pursuant to Section 102 of the Israeli Tax 

Ordinance [New Version], 5721-1961.

5. On January 14, 2021, the board of directors of the Company approved and recommended that the 

Shareholders of the Company approve the issuance to each of Tedea and Sullam warrants to 

purchase an aggregate additional amount of Ordinary Shares that shall constitute 13% of the 

Company’s share capital on a fully diluted basis as of immediately after the closing of the public 

offering of the Company’s shares (the “Founders Warrants”). The exercise price of the 

Founders Warrants is equal to the par value of the Ordinary Shares, the Founders Warrants may 

be exercised in accordance with the following terms and as further detailed therein:

a. Each of Sullam and Tedea shall have the right to purchase at a price per share equal to the 

par value of each Ordinary Share, 2.5% of the Company’s share capital on a fully diluted 

basis as of immediately after the closing of the public offering upon the cumulative 

occurrence of: (A) the Offering; and (B) establishment of an operational manufacturing site 

outside of Israel for the production of the Company’s products, whether through the purchase 

of an existing site, construction of a new factory, or following a joint venture, partnership or 

entering into a sub-contracting agreement with any third party for the production of the 
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Company’s products in a pre-existing factory (a “Manufacturing Site”) within 2 (two) years 

as of the Closing.

b. Each of Sullam and Tedea shall have the right to purchase at a price per share equal to the 

par value of each Ordinary Share, an additional 2.5% of our share capital on a fully diluted 

basis as of immediately after the closing of the public offering upon the cumulative 

occurrence of: (A) the Offering, and (B) establishment of an additional Manufacturing Site 

within 2 (two) years as of the Closing.

Each of Sullam and Tedea shall have the right to purchase, at a price per share equal to the 

par value of each ordinary Share, an additional 1.5% of our share capital on a fully diluted 

basis as of immediately after the Closing upon the cumulative occurrence of: (A) the 

Offering, and (B) our annual revenues, based on our annual audited financial statements, 

together with the Company’s proportional share in the annual revenues of a Manufacturing 

Site the financial results of which are not fully consolidated into the Company’s audited 

financial statements for any of the calendar years 2021, 2022, or 2023 exceeds $ 8,000 

thousand.

NOTE 22: - RECONCILIATION BETWEEN ISRAELI GAAP AND IFRS

a. General:

According to the provisions of IFRS 1 which deals with the first-time adoption of IFRS, and taking 

into account the date on which the Company elected to initially adopt IFRS, the financial statements 

as of December 31, 2019 and for the year then ended are the first financial statements the Company 

has prepared in accordance with IFRS. The date of transition to reporting pursuant to IFRS, as 

defined in IFRS 1, is January 1, 2018 ("the date of transition") and, accordingly, the Company 

prepared an opening statement of financial position as of January 1, 2018 ("the opening statement 

of financial position"). 

The Company did the following in the opening statement of financial position:  

- Recognize all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by IFRSs

- Not recognize items as assets or liabilities if IFRSs do not permit such recognition

- Reclassify type of assets, liabilities and equity under IFRSs

- Apply IFRSs in measuring all recognized assets and liabilities 

IFRS 1 determines that the adoption of IFRSs in the opening statement of financial position will be 

retrospectively. However, IFRS 1 grants exemptions that are not required to be applied 

retrospectively. As for the exemptions adopted by the Company, see e below. 

This note has been prepared based on current IFRS and the related Interpretations which have been 

published and became effective at the reporting date for the first annual IFRS financial statements, 

i.e., December 31, 2019. 

Following are the statements of financial position and the equity components of the Company as of 

January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2018 and the statements of comprehensive loss and changes in 

equity for the year  ended December 31, 2018, in accordance with IFRS together with an explanation 

of the material adjustments (see b below) that were made in the transition from reporting pursuant 

to Israeli GAAP to reporting pursuant to IFRS. 
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NOTE 22: - RECONCILIATION BETWEEN ISRAELI GAAP AND IFRS (Cont.)

a. Reconciliations to the statements of financial position:

January 1, 2018 December 31, 2018

Israeli 
GAAP

Effect of 
transition
to IFRS IFRS

Israeli 
GAAP

Effect of 
transition
to IFRS IFRS

U.S. dollars in thousands

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 101 - 101 40 - 40
Restricted deposits - - - 33 - 33
Trade receivables 294 - 294 649 - 649
Other accounts receivable 243 - 243 134 - 134
Inventories 198 - 198 137 - 137

Total current assets 836 - 836 993 - 993

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Long-term deposits 66 - 66 61 - 61
Right of use assets - 1,312 1,312 - 1,162 1,162
Property, plant and equipment 1,627 (25) 1,602 1,738 (19) 1,719

Total non-current assets 1,693 1,287 2,980 1,799 1,143 2,942

Total assets 2,529 1,287 3,816 2,792 1,143 3,935

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Credit from banks 195 - 195 157 - 157
Current maturities of lease liabilities 12 57 69 12 92 104
Trade payables 1,091 - 1,091 906 - 906
Other payables 577 12 589 562 26 588

Total current liabilities 1,875 69 1,944 1,637 118 1,755

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Loans from banks 22 - 22 - - -
Loans from shareholders 300 - 300 - - -
Lease liabilities 16 1,224 1,240 3 1,093 1,096
Other liabilities - 94 94 - 90 90

Total non-current liabilities 338 1,318 1,656 3 1,183 1,186

EQUITY:
Share capital and share premium 809 - 809 31,000 - 31,000
Shareholders' loans 27,303 - 27,303 906 - 906
Adjustments arising from translating 

financial statements from functional 
currency to presentation currency - - - (20) 11 (9)

Reserve from share-based payment 
transactions - - - 4 - 4

Accumulated deficit (27,796) (100) (27,896) (30,738) (169) (30,907)

Total equity 316 (100) 216 1,152 (158) 994

Total liabilities and equity 2,529 1,287 3,816 2,792 1,143 3,935



K.B. RECYCLING INDUSTRIES LTD.

F-45

NOTE 22: - RECONCILIATION BETWEEN ISRAELI GAAP AND IFRS (Cont.)

b. Reconciliations to the statements of comprehensive loss:

Year ended December 31, 2018

Israeli 

GAAP

Effect of 

transition

to IFRS IFRS

U.S. dollars in thousands

Revenues from sales 1,578 - 1,578

Cost of sales 3,145 (55) 3,090

Gross loss 1,567 (55) 1,512

Development expenses (net of Government grants) 245 (17) 228

Selling and marketing expenses 251 7 258

General and administrative expenses 803 (12) 791

Operating loss (2,866) 77 (2,789)

Finance expenses (76) (146) (222)

Loss (2,942) (69) (3,011)

Other comprehensive loss:

Amounts that will not be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss:

Adjustments arising from translating financial

statements from functional currency to

presentation currency

(20) 11 (9)

Total comprehensive loss (2,962) (58) (3,020)
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NOTE 22: - RECONCILIATION BETWEEN ISRAELI GAAP AND IFRS (Cont.)

c. Reconciliations to the statements of changes in equity:

Share capital 
and share 
premium

Shareholders' 
loans

Reserve from 
share-based 

payment 
transactions 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Accumulated 
deficit 

Total
equity 

U.S. dollars in thousands

Balance at January 1, 2018, 
according to Israeli GAAP 809 27,303 - - (27,796) 316

Adjustment to IFRS - - - - (100) (100)

Balance at January 1, 2018, 
according to IFRS 809 27,303 - - (27,896) 216

Balance at December 31, 
2018, according to Israeli 
GAAP 31,000 906 4 (20) (30,738) 1,152

Adjustment to IFRS - - - 11 (169) (158)

Balance at December 31, 
2018, according to IFRS 31,000 906 4 (9) (30,907) 994

d. Notes to the reconciliations to the financial statements:

1. Liability for grants received from the IIA:

According to Israeli GAAP, grants from the IIA were recorded as a deduction of expenses 

when received. Royalties representing the refund of the grant were recorded in cost of sales 

when actually paid. 

Upon the transition to IFRS, Government grants from the IIA are recognized upon receipt as 

a liability if there is reasonable assurance that the research project will result in royalty-

bearing sales. 

A liability for the loan is first measured at fair value using a discount rate that reflects a 

market rate of interest. The difference between the amount of the grant received and the fair 

value of the liability is accounted for as a Government grant and recognized as a reduction 

of research and development expenses. After initial recognition, the liability is measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method. Royalty payments are accounted for as a 

reduction of the liability. If no economic benefits are expected from the research activity, the 

grant receipts are recognized as a reduction of the related research and development expenses. 

In that event, the royalty obligation is accounted for as a contingent liability in accordance 

with IAS 37.

2. Leases:

According to Israeli GAAP, rental expenses were recognized as a current expense over the 

lease term. 
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According to IFRS, on the commencement date of the lease, a right-of-use asset and lease 

liability are recognized at the present value of the minimum future lease payments. After the 

commencement date, the Company measures the lease liability using the effective interest 

method. The right-of-use asset is measured by applying the cost model and depreciated over 

the shorter of its useful life and the lease term. 

e. IFRS 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the retrospective application of certain 

requirements under IFRS.

The Company has applied the following exemptions:

- The cumulative adjustments arising from translating financial statements from functional 

currency to presentation currency are deemed to be zero at the date of transition to IFRS.

- Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted 

using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2018. Right-of-use assets were 

measured at the amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or 

accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognized in the statement of financial position 

immediately before 1 January 2018. The lease payments associated with leases for which the 

lease term ends within 12 months of the date of transition to IFRS have been recognized as an 

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

September 30, December 31,

2020 2019
U.S. dollars in thousands

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,640 55
Restricted deposits - 36

Trade receivables 320 508

Other accounts receivable 172 55

Inventories 78 144

3,210 798

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:

Right of use assets 1,029 1,127

Long-term deposits 67 66

Property, plant and equipment, net 1,712 1,786

2,808 2,979

6,018 3,777

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Credit from banks 95 148

Current maturities of lease liabilities 111 131

Trade payables 375 586

Other payables 587 524

Convertible Note 3,010 -

4,178 1,389

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Lease liabilities 1,022 1,071

Other liabilities 186 168

Warrant 158 -

1,366 1,239

EQUITY:

Share capital and share premium 35,697 34,376

Adjustments arising from translating financial statements from 

functional currency to presentation currency 74 76

Reserve from share-based payment transactions 72 14

Accumulated deficit (35,369) (33,317)

Total equity 474 1,149

6,018 3,777

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

January 31, 2021
Date of approval of the Yoav Horowitz Shmuel Porre Danny Haklai

financial statements Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Nine months ended

September 30,

Three months ended

September 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
U.S. dollars in thousands 

Revenues from sales 710 1,183 172 414

Cost of sales 1,452 2,033 436 653

Gross loss (742) (850) (264) (239)

Development expenses (net of Government grants)

62 (7) 19 30

Selling and marketing expenses 115 307 26 98

General and administrative expenses 684 404 301 126

Other expenses (income), net 5 - (9) -

Operating loss (1,608) (1,554) (601) (493)

Finance expenses (444) (113) (364) (42)

Loss (2,052) (1,667) (965) (535)

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Amounts that will not be reclassified subsequently 

to profit or loss:

Adjustments arising from translating financial 

statements from functional currency to 

presentation currency (2) 89 8 33

Total comprehensive loss (2,054) (1,578) (957) (502)

Basic and diluted loss per share (in U.S. dollars) (3.26) (2.81) (1.53) (0.86)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share capital 
and share 
premium 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Reserve from 
share-based 

payment 
transactions

Accumulated 
deficit

Total
equity

U.S. dollars in thousands

Balance at January 1, 2020 34,376 76 14 (33,317) 1,149

Loss - - - (2,052) (2,052)

Total other comprehensive loss - (2) - - (2)

Total comprehensive loss - (2) - (2,052) (2,054)

Cost of share-based payment - - 58 - 58
Equity investments 1,321 - - - 1,321

Balance at September 30, 2020 35,697 74 72 (35,369) 474

Share 
capital and 

share 
premium 

Shareholders' 
loans

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Reserve from 
share-based 

payment 
transactions

Accumulated 
deficit

Total
equity

U.S. dollars in thousands

Balance at January 1, 2019 31,000 906 (9) 4 (30,907) 994

Loss - - - - (1,667) (1,667)

Total other comprehensive income - - 81 - - 81

Total comprehensive loss - - 81 - (1,667) (1,586)

Cost of share-based payment - - - 8 - 8
Conversion of shareholders' loans 

into equity 906 (906) - - - -
Equity investments 1,837 - - - - 1,837

Balance at September 30, 2019 33,743 - 72 12 (32,574) 1,253

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Nine months ended

September 30,

2020 2019
U.S. dollars in thousands

Cash flows from operating activities:

Loss (2,052) (1,667)

Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Adjustments to the profit or loss items: 

Depreciation 148 138

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 115 121

Finance expenses 133 110

Cost of share-based payment 58 8

Valuation loss of Convertible Note and Warrant 168 -

622 377

Changes in asset and liability items:

Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 188 (11)

Decrease (increase) in other accounts receivable (115) 95

Decrease in inventories 66 15

Decrease in trade payables (211) (228)

Increase (decrease) in other payables 55 (165)

(17) (294)

Cash paid and received during the period for:

Interest paid (92) (88)

Net cash used in operating activities (1,539) (1,672)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Nine months ended

September 30,

2020 2019
U.S. dollars in thousands

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (68) (101)

Withdrawal of restricted deposits 35 -

Net cash used in investing activities (33) (101)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Receipt of grants from the IIA - 86

Repayment of grants received from the IIA (20) (17)

Repayment of long-term loans from banks - (13)

Credit from banks, net (53) (40)

Repayment of lease liabilities (88) (97)

Equity investments 1,321 1,837

Proceeds from Convertible Note and Warrant 3,000 -

Net cash provided by financing activities 4,160 1,756

Exchange rate differences on balances of cash and cash equivalents (3) 11

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,585 (6)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 55 40

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 2,640 34

Significant non-cash transaction:

Right-of-use asset recognized with corresponding lease liabilities 38 35

Conversion of shareholders' loans into equity - 906

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTE 1:- GENERAL

a. K.B. Recycling Industries Ltd. (the "Company") was incorporated under the laws of Israel as a 

private company. The Company's registered address is 3 Ha'avoda St., Beit Shean, Israel. The 

Company began its operations in April 2008 and operates in the plastic recycling market.

The Company recycles post consumed household waste plastic bags and sheets combined with post 
consumed agricultural plastic sheet and manufactures polyurethane sheets and geomembranes 
utilized mainly by the building and infrastructure industry. The sheets are used for underground 
water and gas sealing systems, surfaces and floor protection, and sub terrain barriers against roots. 
The Company's manufacturing process was developed over the course of a number of years. The 
Company’s process involves the processing of the waste and its direct conversion of the waste into 
a finished product. The Company recycles nylon plastic bags that are generally not recycled and are 
usually incinerated or stored.

b. Company's financial position and management's plans:

The Company incurred losses totaling $ 2,052 thousand and $ 1,667 thousand and had negative cash 
flows from operating activities totaling $ 1,539 thousand and $ 1,672 thousand during the nine 
months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. In addition, the Company had a working 
capital deficiency in the amount of $ 1,126 thousand and $ 591 thousand as of September 30, 2020 
and December 31, 2019, respectively. The deficiency at September 30, 2020, includes a current 
lability for repayment of the Convertible Note in the amount of $3,010 thousand. As described in 
Note 4c, subsequent to the reporting period, in November 2020, the repayment date of the 
Convertible Note was extended to August 2022. 

          The Company’s management has prepared a cash flow forecast for its through April 2022. The 
forecast includes the effects of measures already taken by the Company to reduce employee and 
other operating costs while maintaining its current revenue stream from existing customers. Based 
on this forecast and its existing cash balances, the Company’s management and Board of Directors 
estimate that the Company will have sufficient funds to continue its operations and meet its financial 
obligations at least through April 2022. 

See also c below. 

c. The implications of COVID-19:

In December 2019, an outbreak of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) ("COVID-19") occurred in China 

and, after the reporting date, it spread around the world, including in Israel. The spread of COVID-

19 is a large-scale event, dynamic and emerging which is characterized by uncertainty and frequent 

and rapid changes in Israel and in many countries around the world. Following this " ongoing event", 

declared by the World Health Organization as a global pandemic, many countries, including Israel, 

have taken significant steps in an effort to prevent the spread of COVID-19, such as restrictions on 

citizen mobility, gatherings, travel and trade, border closures, and restrictions on the transportation 

of goods. 

The Company obtained an approval to characterize its plant as an "exempted industry" and the 
Company has acted in accordance with the related instructions for maintaining employees' good 
health while preparing for various scenarios and taking various steps to ensure its business 
continuity. 

In the meantime, in March 2020, as a result of the effects of Covid-19 pandemic, and in order to 

allow the Company to sustain its activity and to extend its runway, the Company implemented a 

material restructuring plan, according to which management  significantly reduced the Company's 

work force and other operating expenses to the minimum required to allow the continuous of its 

operations and R&D efforts.

Since the end of May 2020, when most of the COVID-19 restrictions were removed at that time, 

the Company’s production lines have been operating adjusted for changes in sales volume, in 

accordance with the guidelines of the Israeli regulated "purple badge" for businesses. 
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NOTE 1:- GENERAL (Cont.)

During August 2020, Israel experienced a second wave of COVID-19 infections and varying 

restrictions were imposed on mobility, gatherings and of activity in the public sphere, which had an 

adverse effect on the scope and nature of activities in the public and private business sectors.

The outbreak of COVID-19 and the restrictions imposed in an effort to prevent the spread of 

COVID-19, mainly the " lockdown restrictions" introduced in Israel from mid-March until the end 

of May 2020 and since September 2020 had a material adverse impact on the Company's operations 

and have caused a decrease in the Company's revenues during the nine and three month periods 

ended September 30, 2020.

In addition, due to the restrictions on movement of passengers and border closures around the world 
the Company delayed its plans to explore new markets mainly in Europe and most of its marketing 
efforts were put on hold from April 2020. As a result, the Company’s managements estimate that 
this will cause a delay in the Company's export plans.

d. These financial statements have been prepared in a condensed format as of September 30, 2020 and 

for the nine months and three months then ended (the "interim financial statements"). These financial 

statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's annual financial statements as of 

December 31, 2019 and for the year then ended and accompanying notes (the "annual financial 

statements").

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Basis of preparation of the interim financial statements:

The interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34, "Interim Financial 

Reporting".

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of the interim financial statements are 

consistent with those followed in the preparation of the annual financial statements, except as 

described below: 

b. Initial adoption of amendments to existing financial reporting and accounting standards:

Amendment to IFRS 16, "Leases":

In view of the global coronavirus crisis, in May 2020, the IASB issued "COVID-19-Related Rent 
Concessions - Amendment to IFRS 16, Leases" (the "IFRS 16 Lease Amendment"). The objective 
of the IFRS 16 Lease Amendment is to allow a lessee to apply a practical expedient according to 
which COVID -19 related rent concessions will not be accounted for as lease modifications but as 
variable lease payments. The relief applies to lessees only.

The IFRS 16 Lease Amendment applies only to COVID-19 related rent concessions and only if all 
of the following conditions are met:

 The revised future lease payments are substantially the same or less than the original lease 
payments immediately preceding the change;

 The reduction in lease payments relates to payments due on or before June 30, 2021; and
   No other substantive changes have been made to the terms of the lease.

The Amendment is to be applied retrospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
June 1, 2020, with earlier application permitted.

The IFRS 16 Lease Amendment had no material impact on the financial statements since no material 
COVID -19 related rent concessions have occurred or are expected to occur.
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NOTE 3:- DISCLOSURE OF NEW STANDARDS IN THE PERIOD PRIOR TO THEIR 
ADOPTION

1. Amendment to IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements:

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 to specify the requirements for classifying 
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

 What is meant by a right to defer settlement  
 That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period  
 That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its 

deferral right  
 That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument 

would the terms of a liability not impact its classification.

  The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 
and must be applied retrospectively. The Company is currently assessing the impact the amendments 
will have on its existing loan agreements. 

2. Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2:

In August 2020 the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7, IAS 39, IFRS 4, and IFRS 16 (the 
“Amendments”). The Amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting 
effects when an interbank offered rate (“IBOR”) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free 
interest rate (“RFR”). 

The Amendments include a practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash 
flows that are directly required by the IBOR reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest 
rate, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest, without adjusting the carrying amount. 
The use of this practical expedient is subject to the requirement that the transition from the IBOR to 
RFR takes place on an economically equivalent basis. 

The Amendments also permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations 
and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship being discontinued. 

The Amendments require additional disclosures regarding how the transition to RFRs is being 
managed and the risks arising from financial instruments to which the Company is exposed due to 
IBOR reform. 

The amendments are to be applied retrospectively, without a requirement to restate prior periods, 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, Early application is permitted. 

The Company is currently assessing the impact the Amendments may have on its financial 
statements during the transition from IBOR to RFR. 
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NOTE 4:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Fair value:

The table below is a comparison between the carrying amount and fair value of the Company's 
financial instruments that are presented in the financial statements not at fair value (other than 
those whose amortized cost is a reasonable approximation of fair values):

Carrying amount Fair value
September 

30,
December 

31,
September 

30,
December 

31,
2020 2019 2020 2019

Unaudited Audited Unaudited Audited

U.S. dollars in thousands

Financial liabilities:

Liability for grants received 
from the IIA 249 231 253 241

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other accounts receivable, 

trade payables and other payables and short-term credit from banks approximate their fair value 

due to their short-term maturities.

b. Fair value hierarchy:

The table below is an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. 

The different levels have been defined as follows: 

 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments 

 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either 

directly or indirectly 

 Level 3: inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

September 30, 2020:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

U.S. dollars in thousands

Financial liabilities:

Convertible Note (c) - - 3,010 3,010

Warrant (c) - - 158 158
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NOTE 4:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In August 2020, the Company entered into a Convertible Note Purchase Agreement with an 

Israeli fund (the "Purchaser") for the issuance of (i) a Convertible Note with a principal amount 

of $ 3,000 thousand and (ii) a Warrant to purchase Ordinary shares, for cash consideration of $ 

1,500 thousand.  The Convertible Note includes the  following terms: (i) the principal amount of 

the Convertible Note will be automatically converted  into Ordinary shares immediately prior to 

an initial public offering of the Company’s Ordinary shares (the “Closing”)  at a conversion price 

obtained by dividing (A) $ 10,000 thousand by (B) the Company’s fully diluted share capital 

immediately prior to such conversion (the “Conversion Price”), and (ii) in the event that the 

Closing will not take place within 12 months from the date of the Convertible Note Purchase 

Agreement (i.e., by August 19, 2021 – the “Long Stop Date”), the Purchaser may elect to (i) 

convert the principal amount underlying the  Convertible Note into Ordinary shares at the 

Conversion Price, or (ii) to receive full repayment of  the principal, together with interest 

calculated at a rate of 5% per annum.

The Warrant entitles the holder to purchase Ordinary shares equivalent to (a) $1,500 thousand 

divided by (b) the Conversion Price multiplied by 1.75 at an exercise price equal to (b). 

The Warrant may be exercised, in whole or part, at any time for a period of five years from the 

Closing.

In November 2020, the  Convertible Note Purchase Agreement was amended such that the Long 

Stop Date has been extended to August 19, 2022, and the Company’s fully diluted share capital 

as described in (B) above is the fully diluted share capital of the Company as of the date of the 

amendment.

The conversion component of the Convertible Note is accounted for as an embedded derivative 

liability. Upon initial recognition, the Company designated the entire Convertible Note as a 

financial liability to be measured at fair value through profit or loss. The Warrant is initially 

recognized as a derivative liability which is accounted for at fair value. 

Upon initial recognition of the Convertible Note and the Warrant, the Company allocated the 

proceeds received of $ 3,000 thousand between the Convertible Note and the Warrant based on 

their fair value of $ 2,873 thousand and $ 127 thousand, respectively. As of September 30, 2020, 

the fair value of the Convertible Note and the Warrant is $ 3,010 thousand and $158 thousand, 

respectively. The change in fair value amounting to $ 168 thousand is recorded in finance 

expense. 

The fair value of the Convertible Note and Warrant have been measured using a hybrid model 

combining the Option Pricing Model and an IPO scenario. The key assumptions used in the 

valuation include the probability of an IPO realization, the IPO price, the cost of capital, the 

expected volatility of the Company's equity.

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation as of September 30, 2020:
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Significant 
unobservable inputs

Input 
used

Sensitivity of the input to fair 
value

Financial liabilities:

Convertible Note

IPO scenario probability 40% 5% increase or (decrease) in the 
IPO scenario probability would 
result in increase or (decrease) 
in fair value by 96.9

IPO price 21.94 5% increase or (decrease) in the 
IPO price would result in 
increase or (decrease) in fair 
value by 93.3 or (92.9), 
respectively

Cost of capital 21% 1% increase or (decrease) in the 
cost of capital would result in 
increase or (decrease) in fair 
value by (7.1) or 7.2, 
respectively

Equity expected volatility 65% 10% increase or (decrease) in the 
equity expected volatility would 
result in increase or (decrease) 
in fair value by (64.6) or 67.1, 
respectively

Warrant

IPO scenario probability 40% 5% increase or (decrease) in the 
IPO scenario probability would 
result in increase or (decrease) 
in fair value by 19.7

IPO price 21.94 5% increase or (decrease) in the 
IPO price would result in 
increase or (decrease) in fair 
value by 14.6 or (14.2), 
respectively

Cost of capital 21% 1% increase or (decrease) in the 
cost of capital would result in 
increase or (decrease) in fair 
value by (0.6) or 0.7, 
respectively

Equity expected volatility 47% 10% increase or (decrease) in the 
equity expected volatility would 
result in increase or (decrease) 
in fair value by 36.5 or (38.5), 
respectively
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NOTE 5: - EVENTS DURING THE REPORTED PERIOD

On March 29, 2020, the Company entered into a service agreement, supplemented and amended 

on January 10, 2021 (the “A-Labs Agreement”) with A-Labs Finance and Advisory Ltd. (“A-

Labs”), pursuant to which A-Labs will provide the Company with investment banking services 

for a term commencing at the execution of the agreement until the earlier of (a) the date of the 

public offering of the Company, (b) 12 months as of execution date of the agreement, or (c) until 

terminated by either party to the agreement, by providing the other party a 30 (thirty) days prior 

written notice (the “Term”). Pursuant to the A-Labs Agreement, the Company shall pay A-Labs 

a total consulting retainer fee of $ 15 thousand in three monthly payments. Furthermore, upon 

the closing of an investment round, private placement or a public offering of the Company’s 

shares or an M&A transaction (a “Transaction”), A-Labs shall be entitled to the following 

additional compensation: (a) a cash consideration equal to 5% of all amounts actually received

by the Company or its shareholders in such Transaction; and (b) shares of the Company equal to 

5% of the total funds received by Company in the Transaction, calculated on the basis of the 

fully diluted share capital of the Company only upon and subject to the conversion of any 

convertible notes or other convertible instrument issued or sold by the Company (including 

pursuant to the Convertible Note Purchase Agreement – see 4b above) into Ordinary shares upon 

a public offering of the Company’s shares.

On the January 10, 2021 amendment to the agreement, the Company and A-Labs agreed that in 
addition to the $ 15 thousand consulting retainer fee the Company shall pay A-Labs an amount 
of $ 10 thousand per month for the period commencing on July 2020 until the date of the public 
offering of the Company. Subject to the Company going public an amount of $ 40 thousand shall 
be deducted and offset from the cash consideration mentioned in 4b above.

NOTE 6:- SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

a. Expense recognized in the financial statements: 

The expense recognized in the financial statements for employee services received is shown in 

the following table:

Nine months ended
September 30,

Three months ended
September 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
Unaudited

U.S. dollars in thousands 

Equity-settled share-based payment 
plans 58 8 36 2

The share-based payment transactions entered into between the Company and two of its officers 

are described below. 

There have been no modifications to or cancelations of any of the officers' benefit plans during 

the nine months ended September 30, 2020. 

In February 2020, the Company signed an employment and services agreements with the 

Company’s CEO (the “CEO”) and the Chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), pursuant to 

which the Company granted each of them options to purchase 17,400 Ordinary shares for an 

exercise price of NIS 20 each. The options shall vest over a period of three years, in three equal 

portions of 5,800 options.
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NOTE 6:- SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Cont.)

The CEO's options shall expire at the third anniversary of the relevant vesting date and the 

Chairman's options shall expire at the seventh anniversary from the date of grant.

In November 2020 the Company signed an amendment agreement with the CEO and the 

Chairman, under these amendment agreements;

(1) the Company undertook to grant each of them options to purchase 19,735 Ordinary shares 

of the Company (instead of 17, 400 options), the options shall vest over a period of three 

years, in three equal portions of 6,577 options.

(2) The above undertakings to grant options are subject to (i) the approval of the Board of 

such grants, and (ii) the adoption by the Company of a share incentive plan and the receipt 

of the approval of the Israel Tax Authority to such plan, pursuant to Section 102 of the 

Israeli Tax Ordinance [New Version], 5721-1961.

(3) The Chairman is also entitled to immediate accelerations of all options in the event that 

the Company will have a net profit.

On January 7, 2021 the grants were approved by the Board of Directors and the share incentive 

plan was filed with the Israel Tax Authority on January 17, 2021.

b. Measurement of the fair value of equity-settled share options: 

The Company uses the binomial model when estimating the fair value of equity-settled share 

options. The measurement was made at each reporting date, based on the estimated fair value of 

the options at the grant date, for the purposes of recognizing the services received during the 

period between service commencement date and grant date of these options since as of the 

reporting date of the interim financial statements the options had not yet been approved by the 

Board of Directors. 

The following table lists the inputs to the binomial model used for the fair value measurement of 

equity-settled share options for the above plan: 

Dividend yield (%) -

Expected volatility of the share price (%) 43-55

Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.2-1.4

Share price (NIS) 24.6-29.8

Expected life (years) 4-5

Based on the above inputs, the fair value of the options was determined at NIS 581 thousand ($ 

169 thousand) and NIS 444 thousand ($ 128 thousand) at September 30, 2020 and June 30, 2020, 

respectively. 

The expected life of the share options is based on comparable companies and is not necessarily 

indicative of the exercise patterns of share options that may occur in the future. 

The expected volatility of the share price reflects the assumption that the volatility of the share 

price of comparable companies is reasonably indicative of expected future trends. 
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NOTE 7: - OPERATING SEGMENTS 

a. General: 

As described in the annual financial statements, the Company operates in one principal business

segment - recycled plastic industrial products.

All revenues are generated from customers in Israel and all non-current assets are located in 

Israel.

c. Additional information about revenues:

Revenues reported in the financial statements for a group of similar products or services:

Nine months ended
September 30,

Three months ended
September 30,

2020 2019 2020 2019
Unaudited

U.S. dollars in thousands 

Revenues from sales of 
Polypropylene 83 209 - 41

Revenues from sales of Sheets 627 974 172 373

NOTE 8: - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

1. In October 2020, the Company signed an employment and service agreement with the Company's 

former CEO (the agreement was supplemented in January 2021), pursuant to the agreement the 

Company undertook to grant the former CEO options to purchase 32,892 ordinary shares of the 

Company, out of which 13,158 options shall vest on the grant date with an exercise price of NIS 1 

(the shares nominal value), and 19,734 options shall vest over a period of three years commencing 

March 2020, in three equal portions of 6,578 for an exercise price of NIS 20 each. Furthermore, 

under the agreement, the Company undertook to provide the former CEO with additional 

compensation in the form of Company options for 1.5% of company's shares (on a fully diluted 

basis), subject to the establishment of two new plants outside of Israel. The above undertaking to 

grant options is subject to (i) the approval of the Board of such grant, and (ii) the adoption by the 

Company of a share incentive plan and the receipt of the approval of the Israel Tax Authority to 

such plan, pursuant to Section 102 of the Israeli Tax Ordinance [New Version], 5721-1961.

2. On January 14, 2021, the board of directors of the Company approved and recommended that the 

Shareholders of the Company approve the issuance to each of Tedea and Sullam warrants to 

purchase an aggregate additional amount of Ordinary Shares that shall constitute 13% of the 

Company’s share capital on a fully diluted basis as of immediately after the closing of the public 

offering of the Company’s shares (the “Founders Warrants”). The exercise price of the Founders 

Warrants is equal to the par value of the Ordinary Shares, the Founders Warrants may be exercised 

in accordance with the following terms and as further detailed therein:
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NOTE 8: - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (Cont.)

a. Each of Sullam and Tedea shall have the right to purchase at a price per share equal to 

the par value of each Ordinary Share, 2.5% of the Company’s share capital on a fully 

diluted basis as of immediately after the closing of the public offering upon the 

cumulative occurrence of: (A) the Offering; and (B) establishment of an operational 

manufacturing site outside of Israel for the production of the Company’s products, 

whether through the purchase of an existing site, construction of a new factory, or 

following a joint venture, partnership or entering into a sub-contracting agreement with 

any third party for the production of the Company’s products in a pre-existing factory (a 

“Manufacturing Site”) within 2 (two) years as of the Closing.

b. Each of Sullam and Tedea shall have the right to purchase at a price per share equal to 

the par value of each Ordinary Share, an additional 2.5% of our share capital on a fully 

diluted basis as of immediately after the closing of the public offering upon the 

cumulative occurrence of: (A) the Offering, and (B) establishment of an additional 

Manufacturing Site within 2 (two) years as of the Closing.

c. Each of Sullam and Tedea shall have the right to purchase, at a price per share equal to 

the par value of each ordinary Share, an additional 1.5% of our share capital on a fully 

diluted basis as of immediately after the Closing upon the cumulative occurrence of: (A) 

the Offering, and (B) our annual revenues, based on our annual audited financial 

statements, together with the Company’s proportional share in the annual revenues of a 

Manufacturing Site the financial results of which are not fully consolidated into the 

Company’s audited financial statements for any of the calendar years 2021, 2022, or 2023 

exceeds $ 8,000 thousand.
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APPENDIX A — AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

K.B. RECYCLING INDUSTRIES LTD.

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

This charter (the “Charter”) sets forth the purpose, composition, responsibilities and authority of the Audit 
Committee (the “Committee”) of the board of directors (the “Board”) of K.B Recycling Industries Ltd. 
(the “Company”).

Section 1  Purpose and Rules:

(1) The purpose of the Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to:

(a) financial reporting and related financial disclosure;

(b) the implementation of risk management and internal control over financial reporting and disclosure 
controls and procedures;

(c) external and internal audit processes;

(d) matters associated with the Committee in the Companies Law or Canadian securities laws.

Section 2  Composition and Qualification:

(1) Subject to available exemptions under applicable laws, the composition of the Committee shall be compliant 
with both the Israeli Companies Law, 5759-1999, as amended, (the “Companies Law”), including the 
regulations promulgated thereunder and National Instrument 52-110 — Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”).

(2) Pursuant to the Companies Law, the members of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board and shall 
comprise of a minimum of three (3) directors, provided that (a) the majority of the members of the 
Committee meet the required independence criteria, (b) the Committee comprises all of the Company’s 
external directors as such term is defined under the Companies Law, (c) the Chair of the Board and any 
director employed by the Company or employed by its controlling shareholder (the “Controlling 
Shareholder”) or by a company controlled by the Controlling Shareholder, a director who regularly provides 
them services will not be a member of the Committee, and (d) the Controlling Shareholder or a family 
member thereof will not be members of the Committee.

(3) Pursuant to NI 52-110, the Committee shall be comprised of a minimum of three directors, each of whom is 
an independent director under NI 52-110.

(4) Subject to exemptions available under applicable law, all members of the Committee shall be financially 
literate and thus be able to read and understand a set of financial statements that have a level of complexity 
of accounting that is comparable to that of the Company’s financial statements. At least one member of the 
Committee shall have accounting or related financial expertise. This may include past employment 
experience in finance or accounting, requisite professional certification in accounting, or any other 
comparable experience or background which results in the individual’s financial sophistication, including 
being or having been a chief executive officer, chief financial officer or other senior officer of an entity with 
financial oversight responsibilities.

(5) The chair of the Committee (the “Chair”) shall be appointed by the Board from among one of the Company’s 
external directors.

(6) Members shall be appointed by the Board, taking into account any recommendation that may be made by the 
Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”). Any member of the Committee, 
other than the Company’s external/outside directors, may be removed and replaced at any time by the Board, 
and will automatically cease to be a member if he or she ceases to meet the qualifications required of 
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Members. The Board will fill vacancies on the Committee by appointment from among qualified directors 
of the Board, taking into account any recommendation that may be made by the Compensation Committee. 
If a vacancy exists on the Committee, the remaining Members may exercise all of its powers provided that 
at such time: (i) there are at least two Committee members who are also outside/external directors that serve 
on the Board of the Company, (ii) all such directors referred to in (ii) are members of the Committee, and 
(iii) for so long as there is a quorum. 

Section 3  Meetings:

(1) The Committee will meet on a quarterly basis and will hold special meetings as circumstances require. The 
Chair, in consultation with the other members of the Committee, shall determine the schedule and frequency 
of meetings of the Committee. Meetings of the Committee shall be held at such times and places as the Chair 
may determine. To the extent possible, advance notice of each meeting will be given to each member of the 
Committee unless all members are present and waive notice, or if those absent waive notice before or after a 
meeting. Members may attend all meetings of the Committee either in person or by telephone, video or other 
electronic means. Powers of the Committee may also be exercised by written resolutions signed by 
all member of the Committee.

(2) At the request of the external or internal auditors of the Company, the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief 
Financial Officer of the Company or any Member, the Chair shall convene a meeting of the Committee upon 
giving reasonable notice to the members. Any such request shall set out in reasonable detail the business 
proposed to be conducted at the meeting so requested.

(3) At any Committee meeting a majority of the members who are “unaffiliated directors” and of whom at least 
one is an external director shall constitute a quorum.

(4) All actions of the Committee will require the vote of a majority of its members who are lawfully entitled to 
participate in the meeting and vote thereon and present when such resolution is put to a vote and voting 
thereon.

(5) Non-members of the Committee may not be present at Committee meetings during discussions or resolutions 
of the Committee, unless the Chair of the Committee determined that the presence of such person is necessary 
to present a specific matter; however, an employee who is not a controlling shareholder or a family member 
thereof may be present during discussions of the Committee, but not during resolutions, and if such employee 
is the legal counsel or corporate secretary of the Company, they may be present during the discussions and 
resolutions of the Committee, at the request of the Committee.

Section 4  Committee Operations:

Agenda and Reporting:

(1) In advance of every meeting of the Committee, the Chair shall prepare and distribute, or cause to be prepared 
and distributed, to the members of the Committee and others as deemed appropriate by the Chair, an agenda 
of matters to be addressed at the meeting together with appropriate briefing materials. The Committee may 
require senior executives and other employees of the Company to produce such information and reports as 
the Committee may deem appropriate in order for it to fulfill its duties.

(2) The Chair shall report to the Board on the Committee’s activities since the last Board meeting. However, the 
Chair may report orally to the Board on any matter in his or her view requiring the immediate attention of 
the Board. Minutes of each meeting of the Committee shall be circulated to the Directors following approval 
of the minutes by the Members. The Committee shall oversee the preparation of, review and approve the 
applicable disclosure for inclusion in the Company’s annual information form.

Secretary and Minutes:

(1) The secretary of the Company may act as secretary of the Committee unless an alternative secretary is 
appointed by the Committee. The secretary of the Committee shall keep regular minutes of Committee 
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proceedings and shall circulate such minutes to all members of the Committee and to the chair of the 
Board (and to any other Director that requests that they be sent to him or her) on a timely basis.

Section 5  Role pursuant to the Companies Law

Pursuant to the Companies Law, the Committee shall be responsible to among others:

(a) identify defects in the Company’s business management, inter alia by consulting with the 
Company’s internal auditor or with the auditor, and to make proposals to the Board regarding ways 
to correct such defects, to approve conflicting interests acts and transactions executed by the 
Company with interested parties (including transactions with controlling shareholders), which 
require its approval, and to decide, based on grounds to be described, whether to approve said acts 
and transactions that require the approval of the Committee, whether or not those are fundamental 
acts and whether or not they are extraordinary transactions;

(b) determine, with respect to the transactions with controlling shareholders or another person to whom 
the controlling shareholder has a personal interest in, whether there is an obligation to hold a 
competitive process, under supervision of the Committee or of anyone who shall be determined for 
that matter, according to criteria to be set, or, to determine that other proceedings shall be held to be 
determined by the audit committee prior to entering into said transactions;

(c) determine the manner of approval of transaction with controlling shareholders which are not 
negligible and which are not extraordinary, as specified in the provisions of the Companies Law;

(d) examine the work plan of the external auditor before submission for approval by the Board (if the 
plan is approved by the Board) and propose changes thereto;

(e) examine the work plan of the internal auditor before submission for approval by the Board (if the 
plan is approved by the Board) and propose changes thereto, and if the plan is not approved by the 
Board, the Committee will also approve such plan; and

(f) review the internal audit system of the Company and the functioning of the internal auditor, to 
examine the scope of work of the internal auditor and the internal auditor’s remuneration and to 
make arrangements regarding the manner of handling complaints of the Company’s employees in 
connection with the defects in its business management and as regards the protection to be provided 
to those employees who have complained as aforesaid.

Section 6  Duties and Responsibilities:

To the extent not addressed under Section 5 above, the Committee shall be responsible for performing the 
duties set out below and any other duties that may be assigned to it by the Board as well as any other functions that 
may be necessary or appropriate for the performance of its duties.

Financial Reporting and Disclosure:

(1) Review and recommend to the Board for approval, the audited annual financial statements, including the 
auditors’ report thereon, the quarterly financial statements, management discussion and analysis, financial 
reports, and other applicable financial disclosure, prior to the public disclosure of such information.

(2) Review and recommend to the Board for approval, where appropriate, financial information contained in any 
prospectuses, annual information forms, annual reports to shareholders, management proxy circulars, 
material change disclosures of a financial nature and similar disclosure documents prior to the public 
disclosure of such documents or information.

(3) Review with senior executives of the Company, and with external auditors, significant accounting principles 
and disclosure issues and alternative treatments under IFRS, with a view to gaining reasonable assurance that 
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financial statements are accurate, complete and present fairly the Company’s financial position and the results 
of its operations in accordance with IFRS, as applicable.

(4) Seek to ensure that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Company’s public disclosure of 
financial information extracted or derived from the Company’s financial statements, the Company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures and periodically assess the adequacy of those procedures and recommend 
any proposed changes to the Board for consideration.

Internal Controls and Internal Audit:

(5) Review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal control and management information 
systems through discussions with senior executives of the Company and the external auditor relating to the 
maintenance of (i) necessary books, records and accounts in sufficient detail to accurately and fairly reflect 
the Company’s transactions; (ii) effective internal control over financial reporting; and (iii) adequate 
processes for assessing the risk of material misstatements in the financial statements and for detecting control 
weaknesses or fraud. From time to time, the Committee shall assess any requirements or changes with respect 
to the establishment or operations of the internal audit function having regard to the size and stage of 
development of the Company at any particular time.

(6) Satisfy itself, through discussions with senior executives of the Company that the adequacy of internal 
controls, systems and procedures has been periodically assessed in accordance with regulatory requirements 
and recommendations.

(7) Review and discuss the Company’s major financial risk exposures and the steps taken to monitor and control 
such exposures, including the use of any financial derivatives and hedging activities.

(8) Review and make recommendations to the Board regarding, the adequacy of the Company’s risk management 
policies and procedures with regard to identification of the Company’s principal risks and implementation of 
appropriate systems and controls to manage such risks including an assessment of the adequacy of insurance 
coverage maintained by the Company.

(9) Periodically review the Company’s policies and procedures for reviewing and approving or ratifying related-
party transactions.

External Audit:

(10) Recommend to the Board a firm of external auditors to be nominated for appointment as the external auditor 
of the Company.

(11) Ensure the external auditors report directly to the Committee on a regular basis. Review the independence of 
the external auditors.

(12) Review and recommend to the Board the fee, scope and timing of the audit and other related services rendered 
by the external auditors.

(13) Review the audit plan of the external auditors prior to the commencement of any audit. Establish and maintain 
a direct line of communication with the Company’s external auditors.

(14) Oversee the work of the external auditors of the Company with respect to preparing and issuing an audit 
report or performing other audit or review services for the Company, including the resolution of issues 
between senior executives of the Company and the external auditors.

(15) Review the results of the external audit and the external auditor’s report thereon, including, discussions with 
the external auditors as to the quality of accounting principles used and any alternative treatments of financial 
information that have been discussed with senior executives of the Company and any other matters.
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(16) Review any material written communications between senior executives of the Company and the external 
auditors and any significant disagreements between the senior executives and the external auditors.

(17) Discuss with the external auditors their perception of the Company’s financial and accounting personnel, 
records and systems, the cooperation which the external auditors received during their course of their review 
and availability of records, data and other requested information and any recommendations with respect 
thereto.

(18) Discuss with the external auditors their perception of the Company’s identification and management of risks, 
including the adequacy or effectiveness of policies and procedures implemented to mitigate such risks.

(19) Review the reasons for any proposed change in the external auditors which is not initiated by the Committee 
or Board and any other significant issues related to the change, including the response of the incumbent 
auditors, and enquire as to the qualifications of the proposed auditors before making its recommendations to 
the Board.

(20) Review annually a report from the external auditors in respect of their internal quality-control procedures, 
any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review, or peer review of the external 
auditors, or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities, within the preceding 
five years, respecting one or more independent audits carried out by the external auditors, and any steps taken 
to address any such issues.

Section 7  Associated Responsibilities:

(1) Monitor and periodically review the Whistleblower Policy of the Company and associated procedures for:

• the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, 
internal accounting controls or auditing matters; and

• the confidential, anonymous submission by directors, officers and employees of the
• Company of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters; and
• if applicable, any violations of applicable law, rules or regulations that relates to corporate reporting and 

disclosure, or violations of the Company’s Code of Conduct.

(2) Review and approve the Company’s hiring policies regarding employees and partners, and former employees 
and partners, of the present and former external auditors of the Company.

Non-Audit Services:

(3) Pre-approve or establish procedures for the pre-approval of all non-audit services to be provided to the 
Company or any subsidiary entities by its external auditors or by the external auditors of such subsidiary 
entities. The Committee may delegate to one or more of its members the authority to pre-approve non-audit 
services but pre-approval by such member or members so delegated shall be presented to the full Committee 
at its first scheduled meeting following such pre-approval.

Other Duties:

(4) Direct and supervise the investigation into any matter brought to its attention within the scope of the 
Committee’s duties. Perform such other duties as may be assigned to it by the Board from time to time or as 
may be required by applicable law.

Delegation

(5) Subject to applicable law, the Committee may delegate any or all of its functions to any of its members or 
any sub-set thereof, or other persons, from time to time as it sees fit.
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Section 8  The Committee Chair:

In addition to the responsibilities of the Chair described above, the Chair has the primary responsibility for 
overseeing and reporting on the evaluations to be conducted by the Committee, as well as monitoring developments 
with respect to accounting and auditing matters in general and reporting to the Committee on any related significant 
developments.

Section 9  Committee Evaluation:

The performance of the Committee shall be evaluated by the Board as part of its regular evaluation of the 
Board committees.

Section 10  Access to Information and Authority to Retain Independent Advisors:

(1) The Committee shall be granted unrestricted access to all information regarding the Company that is 
necessary or desirable to fulfill its duties and all directors of the Company, officers and employees will be 
directed to cooperate as requested by members of the Committee. The Committee has the authority to retain, 
at the Company’s expense, independent legal, financial, and other advisors, consultants and experts to assist 
the Committee in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities, including sole authority to retain and to approve 
their fees. The Committee shall select such advisors, consultants and experts after taking into consideration 
factors relevant to their independence from management and other relevant considerations.

(2) The Committee shall discharge its responsibilities, and shall assess the information provided by the 
Company’s management and the external advisers, in accordance with its business judgment. Members are 
entitled to rely, absent knowledge to the contrary, on the integrity of the persons and organizations from 
whom they receive information, and on the accuracy and completeness of the information provided. Nothing 
in this Charter is intended or may be construed as imposing on any member of the Committee or the Board a 
standard of care or diligence that is in any way more onerous or extensive than the standard to which the 
directors are subject under applicable law.

(3) The Committee also has the authority to communicate directly with internal and external auditors. While the 
Committee has the responsibilities and powers set forth in this Charter, it is not the duty of the Committee to 
plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company’s financial statements are complete and accurate or 
comply with IFRS and other applicable requirements. These are the responsibilities of the senior executives 
of the Company responsible for such matters and the external auditors. The Committee, the Chair and any 
members identified as having accounting or related financial expertise are members of the Board, appointed 
to the Committee to provide broad oversight of the financial, risk and control related activities of the 
Company, and are specifically not accountable or responsible for the day to day operation or performance of 
such activities. Although the designation of a member as having accounting or related financial expertise for 
disclosure purposes is based on that individual’s education and experience, which that individual will bring 
to bear in carrying out his or her duties on the Committee, such designation does not impose on such person 
any duties, obligations or liability that are greater than the duties, obligations and liability imposed on such 
person as a member of the Committee and Board in the absence of such designation. Rather, the role of a 
member of the Committee who is identified as having accounting or related financial expertise, like the role 
of all members, is to oversee the process, not to certify or guarantee the internal or external audit of the 
Company’s financial information or public disclosure. This Charter is not intended to change or interpret the 
constituting documents of the Company or applicable law or stock exchange rule to which the Company is 
subject, and this Charter should be interpreted in a manner consistent with all such applicable laws and rules.

(4) The Board may, from time to time and subject to applicable law, permit departures from the terms of this 
Charter, either prospectively or retrospectively. This Charter is not intended to give rise to civil liability on 
the part of the Company or its Directors or officers to shareholders, security holders, customers, suppliers, 
competitors, employees or other persons, or to any other liability whatsoever on their part.
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Section 11  Review of Charter:

The Committee shall periodically review and assess the adequacy of this Charter and recommend any 
proposed changes to the Board for consideration.

Dated March 23, 2021.
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